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Net operating loss carryforward
26,463,000 25,112,000

26,316,000 25,415,000
Less valuation allowance
(26,316,000) (25,415,000)

Net deferred tax asset

$ S

At December 29, 2001 the Company had net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $70,000,000 for tax reporting purposes. The
losses are available for carryforward for fifteen and twenty year periods and will expire beginning in 2002. Any future significant changes in
ownership of the Company may limit the annual utilization of the tax net operating loss carryforwards.

10. Note Receivable and Subsequent Events

On November 16, 2001, HEARX loaned $700,000 to Helix for use by Helix as part of the $3.5 million acquisition of substantially all of the
capital stock of Auxiliary Benefits Corporation, a Colorado corporation doing business as National Ear Care Plan ( NECP ). The note is secured
by substantially all of the assets of NECP, bears interest at a rate of 12% per annum and matures on November 16, 2002. On January 10, 2002,
HEARX loaned to Helix an additional $2 million to complete the NECP transaction. On January 14, 2002 HEARx and Helix entered into a
subscription agreement pursuant to which HEARX purchased 4,853,932 common shares of Helix for an aggregate purchase price of $2.7 million.
The purchase price was paid using the $2.7 million in loans to Helix.

F-23
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11. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company established the HEARx Ltd. 401(k) plan in October 1998. All employees who have attained age 21 with at least three months
of service are eligible to participate in the plan. The Company s contribution to the plan is determined from year to year by the Board of
Directors. The Company s contributions to the plan were approximately $45,800, $45,400 and $42,400 for the years ended December 29, 2001,
December 29, 2000 and December 31, 1999, respectively.

Effective December 14, 1999 the Company entered into five year employment agreements with certain of its executive officers that provide
for annual salaries, severance payments, and accelerated vesting of stock options upon termination of employment under certain circumstances
or a change in control, as defined.

12. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

Year Ended December 29, 2001

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Net Revenues(a) $12,488,191 $11,341,188 $12,370,798 $12,595,933
Operating Expenses 15,436,835 14,037,415 13,100,630 14,420,580
Loss from Operations (2,948,644) (2,696,227) (729,832) (1,824,647)
Interest Income(a) 46,574 54,290 73,919 47,566
Net Loss applicable to Common
stockholders (3,113,224) (2,995,535) (1,157,723) (2,175,254)
Earnings per share (.25) (.23) (.09) (.15)
Year Ended December 29, 2000
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Net Revenues(a) $13,081,825 $15,101,443 $13,242,307 $14,689,257
Operating Expenses 13,797,022 15,596,502 14,306,798 15,996,496
Loss from Operations (715,197) (495,059) (1,064,491) (1,307,239)
Interest Income(a) 39,942 72,973 104,725 76,492
Net Loss applicable to Common
stockholders(b) (819,495) (596,898) (1,227,839) (2,019,217)
Earnings per share .07) (.05) (.10) (.17)

(a) Netrevenues for the first, second, and third quarters of both 2001 and 2000 differ from net revenues reported in the corresponding
quarterly financial statements in Form 10-Q due to the reclassification of interest income from net revenues to non-operating income.

(b) Net loss applicable to common stockholders for the fourth quarter of 2000 includes a deemed dividend of approximately $571,000
recorded as a result of implementing EITF 00-27 Application of Issue 98-5 to Certain Convertible Instruments.
13. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

SFAS 107 requires the disclosure of fair value of financial instruments. The estimated fair value amounts have been determined by the
Company s management using available market information and other valuation methods. However, considerable judgment is required to
interpret market data in developing the estimates of fair value. Accordingly, the estimates presented herein are not necessarily indicative of the
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amounts the Company could realize in a current market exchange. The use of different market assumptions and/or estimation methods may have
a material effect on the estimated fair value amounts. Furthermore, the
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Company does not intend to dispose of a significant portion of its financial instruments and thus, any aggregate unrealized gains or losses should
not be interpreted as a forecast of future earnings and cash flows. SFAS 107 excludes certain financial instruments from its disclosure
requirements, such as leases. In addition, disclosure of fair value estimates are not required for nonfinancial assets and liabilities, such as fixed
assets, intangibles and anticipated future business. As a result, the following fair values are not comprehensive and therefore do not reflect the
underlying value of the Company.

The following methods and assumptions were used in estimating fair value disclosure for financial instruments:

Cash and Cash Equivalents the carrying amounts reported in the consolidated balance sheets approximate those assets fair value due to
the short term nature of these assets.

Investment Securities  the carrying amounts reported in the consolidated balance sheets approximate those assets fair value (Note 2).

Accounts and Notes Receivable the carrying amounts reported in the consolidated balance sheets approximate those assets fair value
due primarily to the short term nature of these assets.

Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses  the carrying amounts reported in the consolidated balance sheets approximate those liabilities
fair value, due primarily to the short term nature of these liabilities.

Long-Term Debt the carrying amounts reported in the consolidated balance sheets approximate those liabilities fair value, as current
borrowing rates approximate the actual fixed interest rates of these liabilities.
14. Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2001, the FASB finalized FASB Statements No. 141, Business Combinations (SFAS 141), and No. 142, Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets (SFAS 142). SFAS 141 requires the use of the purchase method of accounting and prohibits the use of the pooling-of-interest
method of accounting for business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001. SFAS 141 also requires that the Company recognize acquired
intangible assets apart from goodwill if the acquired intangible assets meet certain criteria. SFAS 141 applies to all business combinations
initiated after June 30, 2001 and for purchase business combinations completed on or after July 1, 2001. It also requires, upon adoption of SFAS
142, that the Company reclassify the carrying amounts of intangible assets and goodwill based on the criteria in SFAS 141.

SFAS 142 requires, among other things, that companies no longer amortize goodwill, but instead test goodwill for impairment at least
annually. In addition, SFAS 142 requires that the Company identify reporting units for the purpose of assessing potential future impairments of
goodwill, reassess the useful lives of other existing recognized intangible assets, and cease amortization of intangibles assets with an indefinite
useful life. An intangible asset with an indefinite useful life should be tested for impairment in accordance with the guidance in SFAS 142.

SFAS 142 is required to be applied in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001 to all goodwill and other intangible assets recognized at
that date, regardless of when those assets were initially recognized. SFAS 142 requires the Company to complete transitional goodwill
impairment test six months from the date of adoption. The Company is also required to reassess the useful lives of other intangible assets within
the first interim quarter after adoption of SFAS 142. The Company s previous business combinations were accounted for using the purchase
method. The impact of the adoption of SFAS 141 and SFAS 142 on the Company s financial position and results of operations is not expected to
be material.

In October 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144 Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets which resolves
significant implementation issues related to FASB Statement No. 121, Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived
Assets to be Disposed Of, and

F-25

Table of Contents 7



Edgar Filing: PROASSURANCE CORP - Form 4

Table of Contents
HEARx LTD.
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supersedes the accounting and reporting provisions of APB Opinion No. 30, Reporting the Results of Operations Reporting the Effects of
Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions, for the disposal of a
business segment. SFAS 144 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001, and interim periods within those fiscal years, with
early application encouraged. The impact of adoption of SFAS 144 on the Company s financial position and results of operations is not expected
to be material.

15. Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

The consolidated financial statements of HEARX, Ltd. have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in
the United States ( US GAAP ) which differ in certain respects from accounting principles generally accepted in Canada ( Canadian GAAP ). The
following represents the principle difference affecting net loss and stockholders equity.

Convertible Preferred Stock

Under US GAAP the intrinsic value of the beneficial conversion option of the Convertible Preferred Stock was recorded as a deemed
dividend. Under Canadian GAAP there is no requirement to record a deemed dividend. The effect of this difference for the year ended
December 29, 2000 would have been to increase Accumulated Deficit and decrease Additional Paid-in capital by $571,241 and decrease net loss
applicable to common stockholders by $571,241 and decrease net loss per common share  basic and diluted by $.04.

F-26
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT
To the Board of Directors of

Helix Hearing Care of America Corp.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Helix Hearing Care of America Corp. as at November 30, 2001 and 2000
and the related consolidated statements of loss, deficit and cash flows for each of the years in the three year period ended November 30, 2001.
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.

With respect to the consolidated financial statements for each of the years ended in the three year period ended November 30, 2001, we
conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America. These standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as at
November 30, 2001 and 2000 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three year period ended
November 30, 2001 in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Deloitte & Touche LLP

Montréal, Québec
February 15, 2002

F-27
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HELIX HEARING CARE OF AMERICA CORP.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF LOSS

Years Ended November 30,
2001 2000 1999
$ $ $
(in Canadian dollars)

Revenues 47,198,866 35,981,994 24,803,824
Operating costs:

Cost of goods sold 20,515,317 15,269,400 12,197,321

Compensation expense 13,654,946 8,573,500 6,347,050

Operating expenses 9,759,532 6,820,335 2,758,205
Total operating costs 43,929,795 30,663,235 21,302,576
Corporate expenses 4,746,000 2,944,700 2,706,194
(Loss) earnings before the following items (1,476,929) 2,374,059 795,054
Depreciation and amortization 2,252,964 1,632,201 1,505,684
Write-off of deferred charges 260,918
Interest on long-term debt and convertible debentures 2,300,077 1,379,286 1,251,655
Loss before income taxes and goodwill charges (6,029,970) (637,428) (2,223,203)
Provision (recovery) for income taxes (Note 11) 1,110,666 (237,949) (927,499)
Loss before goodwill charges (7,140,636) (399,479) (1,295,704)
Goodwill charges, net of income taxes (Note 6) 1,751,399 (1,289,334) (1,365,990)
Net loss (8,892,035) (1,688,813) (2,661,694)

| | |

Per common share

Basic (0.22) (0.06) (0.09)

Basic before goodwill charges net of income taxes (0.18) (0.01) (0.05)

| | |

Weighted average number of common shares
outstanding 39,582,941 30,683,763 28,238,717
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HELIX HEARING CARE OF AMERICA CORP.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF (DEFICIT) RETAINED EARNINGS

Years Ended November 30,
2001 2000 1999
$ $ $
(in Canadian dollars)

(Deficit) retained earnings at beginning of year (3,617,181) (1,792,719) 1,353,530
Net loss (8,892,035) (1,688,813) (2,661,694)
Share issue costs, net of income taxes of nil ($83,000 in
2000 and $297,000 in 1999) (104,167) (135,649) (484,555)
Deficit at end of year (12,613,383) (3,617,181) (1,792,719)

.| | |
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HELIX HEARING CARE OF AMERICA CORP.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

As at November 30,
2001 2000
$ $
(in Canadian dollars)
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 2,797,039 2,593,513
Accounts receivable 8,865,830 10,144,957
Income taxes receivable 116,539 216,446
Inventories 899,700 1,554,904
Prepaid expenses 400,393 350,906
13,079,501 14,860,726
Capital assets (Note 5) 5,106,766 5,443,267
Intangible assets (Note 6) 35,299,452 32,123,011
Other assets (Note 7) 2,411,259 1,578,891
Future income taxes (Note 11) 2,212,504 3,269,024
58,109,482 57,274,919
.| |
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 9,236,335 8,466,056
Current portion of long-term debt (Note 8) 4,665,662 3,868,153
Current portion of convertible debentures (Note 9) 1,000,000
14,901,997 12,334,209
Long-term debt (Note 8) 13,207,836 9,458,667
Convertible debentures (Note 9) 7,859,000 8,678,000
35,968,833 30,470,876
Shareholders equity
Capital stock (Note 10) 33,759,093 30,228,004
Deficit (12,613,383) (3,617,181)
Cumulative translation adjustment 994,939 193,220
22,140,649 26,804,043
58,109,482 57,274,919
.| |

F-30

Table of Contents



Edgar Filing: PROASSURANCE CORP - Form 4

Table of Contents

HELIX HEARING CARE OF AMERICA CORP.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Operating activities
Net loss
Items not affecting cash
Depreciation and amortization
Write-off of goodwill
Future income taxes
Other
Changes in non-cash operating working capital items
(Note 12)

Financing activities
Net change in bank loan
Increase in long-term debt
Repayment of long-term debt and capital leases
Issuance of convertible debentures
Issuance of common shares
Redemption of common shares
Share issue costs

Investing activities
Business acquisitions net of cash acquired (Note 4)
Acquisition of capital assets
Proceeds on disposal of capital assets
Other assets

Effect of exchange rate changes on foreign cash

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Years Ended November 30,
2001 2000 1999
$ $ $
(in Canadian dollars)
(8,892,035) (1,688,813) (2,661,694)
4,004,363 2,545,949 1,944,153
1,084,134 1,962,678
1,110,666 (1,022,808) (1,701,738)
(99,162) 103,500 (33,918)
3,067,059 399,145 (235,626)
(809,109) 1,421,107 (726,145)
(396,118)
6,578,560 1,587,011 89,768
(5,322,135) (1,116,445) (691,366)
4,567,800
3,426,100 5,259,500 8,114,700
(97,073) (22,035)
(104,167) (218,649) (781,555)
4,578,358 5,414,344 10,881,194
(1,023,968) (7,440,519) (3,288,731)
(945,463) (1,331,254) (1,381,647)
51,148
(1,627,333) (398,291) (1,240,061)
(3,596,764) (9,170,064) (5,859,291)
31,041 10,669 (45,422)
203,526 (2,323,944) 4,250,336
2,593,513 4,917,457 667,121
2,797,039 2,593,513 4,917,457
I I I

F-31

Table of Contents



Edgar Filing: PROASSURANCE CORP - Form 4

Table of Contents
HELIX HEARING CARE OF AMERICA CORP.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(in Canadian dollars)

1. Description of the business

Helix Hearing Care of America Corp. ( Helix orthe Company ) was formed on August 26, 1996 by Articles of Incorporation issued pursuant
to the provisions of the Business Corporations Act (Alberta). The Company s articles have been amended on July 9, 1999, for the continuance of
the Company under the Canada Business Corporations Act. The Company owns a network of clinics in Ontario and the United States and
provides management, administration, supply and marketing services to clinics in Quebec. Revenues include sales of hearing aids and
accessories and management advisory services fees.

2. Merger agreement

On July 27, 2001, Helix signed a definitive merger agreement with HEARx Ltd. ( HEARX ) in order to combine their operations. The parties
amended and restated the merger agreement as of November 6, 2001. Pursuant to the merger agreement, HEARX will issue up to 14.61 million
shares of common stock or exchangeable shares of HEARx Canada, Inc. to Helix shareholders other than HEARX based on the number of Helix
common shares currently outstanding. Helix shareholders will receive 0.3537 shares of HEARx common stock or exchangeable shares for every
one common share of Helix. The Boards of Directors of both companies have approved the transaction. The transaction is subject to shareholder
and regulatory approval.

3. Accounting policies

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles ( GAAP ).
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts and related disclosures. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Canadian
generally accepted accounting principles differ in certain material respects with United States GAAP, significant differences relevant to the
Company are presented in Note 17.

Revenue recognition
Revenues are recognized upon delivery of hearing aids or when management, administration, supply and marketing services are rendered.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and those of its majority-owned subsidiaries. Business
acquisitions are accounted for under the purchase method and the results of operations of these businesses are included in the consolidated
financial statements from the effective date of acquisition.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and short-term investments in money market instruments with maturities of three months or less.
Inventories

The inventories are valued at the lower of cost and replacement value. Cost is determined on a first in, first out basis.

F-32
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Capital assets

Capital assets are stated at cost and amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Professional equipment 20%

Computer equipment and software 30%

Office equipment 20%

Leasehold improvements lesser of lease term and 20%
Intangible assets

Goodwill represents the excess of purchase price over the value assigned to the net tangible and intangible assets of businesses acquired.
Goodwill is stated at cost and amortized on a straight-line basis over 20 years. Helix continuously evaluates the value of the goodwill to
determine if the unamortized portion has sustained a permanent impairment in value. The method used to determine whether there has been a
permanent impairment in value is based upon projected operating results.

Intangible assets also comprise contractual agreements that are amortized on a straight-line basis over their remaining terms.

Other assets

Other assets comprise financing charges, deferred charges and unrealized foreign currency (gain) loss related to long-term debt and
convertible debentures. These charges are stated at cost less accumulated amortization and are amortized over a maximum period of five years.

Impairment of long-lived assets

Helix evaluates the carrying value of its long-lived assets on an ongoing basis. In order to determine whether an impairment exists,
management considers the projected operating results as well as other indicators. An impairment loss is measured as the amount by which the
carrying amount of assets exceeds their fair value. Fair value is based on anticipated discounted future cash flows generated by the related asset.
Any permanent impairment in the carrying value of assets is charged against earnings in the period an impairment is determined.

Stock option plan

The Company has a stock option compensation plan, which is described in Note 10. No compensation expense is recognized for this plan
when stock options are granted to employees and directors. Any consideration paid by employees and directors on exercise of stock options is
credited to share capital.

Foreign currency translation

The foreign subsidiary is considered as a self-sustaining foreign company and the current rate method is used to translate its financial
statements into Canadian dollars. The resulting translation adjustment is reported under a separate component of shareholders equity and
recognized in income when a reduction of the investment in the subsidiary is realized.

Unrealized translation gains and losses resulting from the conversion of long-term liabilities are deferred and amortized over the remaining
life of these long-term liabilities on a straight-line basis.
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Warranties

Hearing aids sold by Helix are covered by manufacturers warranties.

New accounting pronouncement

On December 1, 2000, Helix adopted the recommendation of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants ( CICA ) Handbook
Section 3465, Income Taxes, which modifies the method of accounting for income taxes. The existing deferral method, which focuses on the
statement of earnings, was replaced with the liability method of tax allocation, which focuses on the balance sheet. Future income taxes
represent temporary differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their carrying values for accounting purposes. A valuation
allowance is provided for the amount of future income tax assets which are not considered more likely than not to be realized. The liability
method requires all future income tax assets and liabilities to be remeasured at the tax rate that is expected to apply when the temporary
differences reverse. The adoption of the new standard did not have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements of the Company.

Future Accounting Changes

In 2001, the CICA issued Handbook Section 3500, Earnings Per Share ( EPS ) effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1,
2001. The revised section requires the use of the treasury stock method to compute the dilutive effect of potential common shares. Helix will
adopt the new standard for the year ending November 30, 2002.

The CICA recently issued Handbook Sections 1581, Business Combinations, and 3062, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. Effective
July 1, 2001, the standards require that all business combinations be accounted for using the purchase method. Goodwill resulting from business
acquisitions on or after July 1, 2001 is not being amortized. Additionally, effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2002,
goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite life will no longer be amortized to earnings and will be assessed for impairment on an annual
basis in accordance with the new standards, including a transitional impairment test whereby any resulting impairment will be charged to
opening retained earnings. Helix intends to adopt Handbook Section 3062 in fiscal 2002 and as a result will not recognize any goodwill
amortization in 2002 or subsequent years. Had Handbook Section 3062 been effective in fiscal 2001, pretax net loss would have been lower by
approximately $1,751,000 as goodwill would not have been amortized for the year ended November 30, 2001. At November 30, 2001, goodwill
on the balance sheet amounts to approximately $35 million. Because of the extensive effort needed to comply with adopting Handbook Sections
1581 and 3062, it is not practicable to accurately determine the complete impact of adopting these standards on our financial statements at the
date of this report, including whether any transitional impairment losses will be recognized as the cumulative effect of a change in accounting
policy.

In addition, the CICA recently issued amendments to Handbook Section 1650, Foreign Currency Translation. Effective for the Company s
year ending November 30, 2003, the standards require that all unrealized translation gains and losses on assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies be included in earnings for the year, including gains and losses on long-term monetary assets and liabilities, such as long-term
debt, which were previously deferred and amortized on a straight-line basis over the remaining lives of the related items. These amendments will
be applied retroactively with restatement of prior periods. At November 30, 2001, included in Other assets was approximately $350,000 relating
to unrealized foreign currency losses.

The CICA also recently issued Handbook Section 3870, Stock-based compensation and other stock-based payments. This Section
establishes standards for the recognition, measurement and disclosure of stock-based compensation and other stock-based payments made in
exchange for goods and services and applies to
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transactions, including non-reciprocal transactions, in which an enterprise grants shares of common stock, stock options, or other equity
instruments, or incurs liabilities based on the price of common stock or other equity instruments. This Section sets out a fair value based method
of accounting and is required for certain stock-based transactions, effective January 1, 2002 and applied to awards granted on or after that date.
Helix s management does not expect the adoption of the new standard to have a significant impact on its financial statements.

Comparative figures

Certain prior period amounts presented for comparative purposes have been reclassified to conform with the presentation adopted in the
current year.

4. Business acquisitions

On November 15, 2001, Helix acquired 100% of the shares of Auxiliary Health Benefits Corporation, a private company located in
Colorado, for a total consideration of $5,653,147. Auxiliary Health Benefits Corporation, doing business as National Ear Care Plan, promotes
accessible, cost-managed and quality-controlled hearing care by establishing, maintaining and supporting a nationwide network of qualified
audiologists and marketing to individuals health care organizations and benefit plan administrators. As disclosed in Note 3, this acquisition was
accounted for in accordance with the new standards of Handbook Sections 1581 and 3062. Consequently, the goodwill resulting from the
acquisition, has not been amortized and will be assessed for impairment on an annual basis. Contractual agreements are amortized on a
straight-line basis over their remaining terms.

On October 25, 2000, Helix acquired all the assets of Hear USA, Inc., a private company located in Arizona, for a total consideration of
$6,280,594. Hear USA, Inc. owns three clinics offering hearing care services and operates an e-commerce business related to this sector.

On September 30, 2000, Helix acquired all the shares of American Hearing Center, Inc., a private company located in Massachusetts, for a
total consideration of $8,083,748. American Hearing Center, Inc. owns 20 clinics offering hearing care services.

On March 31, 2000, Helix acquired all the assets of Lakeside Audiology and Hearing Services, Inc., a private company located in the state
of Washington, for a total consideration of $2,606,426. Lakeside Audiology and Hearing Services, Inc. owns 16 clinics offering hearing care
services.

During the year ended November 30, 2000, Helix also acquired all of the assets and/or shares of four private companies located in Canada
and in the United States, for a total consideration of $1,487,171. These companies own nine clinics offering hearing care services.

These acquisitions were accounted for by the purchase method, and the results of operations are included in the consolidated financial
statements from the effective date of acquisition. The consideration in excess of
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the fair value of the identifiable net assets has been ascribed to goodwill. The purchase price was allocated as follows:

Current assets (including cash of $1,474,855 in 2001)
Capital assets

Intangible assets

Other assets

Liabilities assumed

Goodwill acquired

Detail of purchase price
Cash
Promissory notes
Common shares (4,976,191 shares in 2000)

5. Capital assets

Professional equipment

Computer equipment and software
Office equipment

Leasehold improvements
Equipment under capital leases

Professional equipment

Table of Contents

2001 2000
$ $
1,704,473 2,310,181
1,371,935
274,438
493,642
(140,893) (7,750,024)
1,838,018 (3,574,266)
3,815,129 22,032,205
5,653,147 18,457,939
| |
2,498,823 7,440,519
3,154,324 2,767,438
8,249,982
5,653,147 18,457,939
| |
2001
Accumulated Net Book
Cost Amortization Value
$ $ $
3,495,914 1,474,062 2,021,852
3,417,705 1,764,148 1,653,557
1,115,047 458,514 656,533
636,471 305,263 331,208
679,072 235,456 443,616
9,344,209 4,237,443 5,106,766
| | |
2000
Accumulated Net Book
Cost Amortization Value
$ $ $
3,454,902 971,928 2,482,974

18
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Computer equipment and software
Office equipment

Leasehold improvements
Equipment under capital leases

Depreciation of capital assets amounted to $1,501,625 in 2001 ($1,219,528 in 2000 and $776,937 in 1999).

2,796,858
860,553
573,888
479,617

8,165,818
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1,156,968
309,253
183,851
100,551

2,722,551

1,639,890
551,300
390,037
379,066

5,443,267
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6. Intangible assets

2001
Accumulated Net Book
Cost Amortization Value
$ $ $
Goodwill 38,890,844 3,865,830 35,025,014
Contractual agreements 274,438 274,438
39,165,282 3,865,830 35,299,452
2000
Accumulated Net Book
Cost Amortization Value
$ $ $
Goodwill 34,170,907 2,047,896 32,123,011
| | |

Goodwill charges amounted to $1,751,399 ($1,997,882 in 2000 and $2,140,229 in 1999) net of income taxes of nil ($708,548 in 2000 and
$774,239 in 1999).

7. Other assets

2001 2000
$ $

Financing charges 305,712 460,678
Unrealized foreign currency loss (gain) on long-term
liabilities 350,398 113,917
Deferred charges 1,755,149 1,004,296

2,411,259 1,578,891

I I

Amortization of other assets amounted to $751,339 in 2001 ($412,673 in 2000 and $728,747 in 1999).
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8. Long-term debt

2001 2000
$ $

Loans totalling US$2,528,096 (US$4,918,801 in 2000),
bearing interest at variable rates, secured by accounts
receivable, inventories and certain equipment, repayable
in various amounts until 2006 3,973,661 7,553,310
Unsecured term loan of US$3,500,000, bearing interest
at 12% and maturing in March 2004® 5,501,300

Loans bearing interest at variable rates, secured by

accounts receivable, inventories and certain equipment,

repayable in various amounts until 2003 128,455 223,956
Promissory notes in connection with business

acquisitions (including an amount of US$2,009,519 in

2001 and US$3,000,925 in 2000), bearing interest at

fixed rates between 4% and 7%, repayable in various

amounts until 2007 3,458,561 5,120,720
Obligation under capital leases bearing interest at rates
between 5.9% to 12%, repayable until 2005 556,937 428,834
Other (US$2,706,823) Note 18 4,254,584
17,873,498 13,326,820
Current portion of long-term debt 4,665,662 3,868,153
13,207,836 9,458,667
I I

(a) On March 19, 2001, Helix entered into an agreement with a supplier which provides Helix with a US$3.5 million credit facility. Under the
debt reduction agreement, if Helix meets minimum monthly purchase levels, Helix will be entitled to credits from the supplier that will be
used to reduce the principal and interest due under this credit facility. During the year, an amount of $223,000 (nil in 2000) has been
applied in reduction of the accrued interest.

Principal repayments of long-term debt (excluding capital leases and other long-term debts) to be made during the next five years and
thereafter are as follows:

$
2002 4,476,513
2003 1,488,395
2004 6,448,272
2005 510,676
2006 68,805
Thereafter 69,316
13,061,977
|
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Future minimum payments under capital leases together with the balance of the obligation due under capital leases are as follows:

$
2002 218,289
2003 210,252
2004 102,795
2005 92,980
2006 1,914
626,230
Less amount representing interest 69,293
Obligation under capital leases 556,937
Less current portion 189,149
367,788
I
9. Convertible debentures
2001 2000
$ $
Unsecured 5% convertible subordinated debentures,
maturing in 2002(a) 1,000,000 1,000,000
13% convertible subordinated debentures, maturing in
2003(US$5,000,000 in 2001 and 2000)(b) 7,859,000 7,678,000
8,859,000 8,678,000
Current portion of convertible debentures 1,000,000
7,859,000 8,678,000
L] |

(a) The debentures are convertible at the option of the holders into common shares of the Company, at any time, at a conversion price of $2.00
per common share before April 2000, $2.50 per common share before April 2001 and $3.00 per common share before April 2002, subject
to adjustments in certain events. The debentures are also convertible at the option of the Company at the same price and conditions
mentioned above only if the quoted market value of the Company s common shares is greater than $3.50 per common share. The
debentures are redeemable at the Company s option.

(b) The convertible debentures are convertible into common shares of the Company at SCDN1.53 per share and are secured by a floating
charge on the Company s present and future assets. The holders of the convertible debentures have also received detachable warrants to
purchase up to 2,525,883 common shares of the Company at $§CDN1.70 per share. The debentures are redeemable at the Company s option
and will be redeemed if the merger agreement disclosed in Note 2 receives final shareholders and regulatory approvals.

10. Capital stock

Authorized, in an unlimited number and without par value
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Common shares, voting, participating

Preferred shares, voting, redeemable at Company s or shareholder s discretion at the value of the consideration received upon issuance.
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Balance, November 30, 1998

Issuance of shares for cash consideration
Conversion of warrants

Exercise of stock options

Issuance as consideration for business acquisitions
Redemption of common shares

Balance, November 30, 1999

Issuance of shares for cash consideration

Issuance as consideration for business acquisitions (Note 4)
Redemption of common shares

Balance, November 30, 2000

Issuance of shares for cash consideration
Issuance of shares for non-cash consideration
Exercise of stock options

Balance, November 30, 2001

The changes in the issued and outstanding common shares of Helix are as follows:

Number of
Common Stated
Shares Capital
$
23,264,362 8,003,824
5,300,000 7,420,000
688,000 683,000
117,000 11,700
575,075 974,847
(15,300) (22,035)
29,929,137 17,071,336
3,610,000 5,259,500
4,976,191 8,249,982
(243,200) (352,814)
38,272,128 30,228,004
2,608,462 3,391,000
84,292 104,989
351,000 35,100
41,315,882 33,759,093
| |

As at November 30, 2001 and 2000, no preferred shares were issued and outstanding.

On June 20, 2001, Helix completed a private placement. Under this agreement, Helix issued 2,608,462 common shares for a total

consideration of $3,391,000 and 531,353 warrants allowing the holder to purchase common shares at a price of $0.01, under certain conditions,
until September 30, 2001. These warrants were cancelled during the year following their expiration.

On November 28, 2000, Helix completed a private placement. Under this agreement, Helix issued 3,110,000 common shares for a total
consideration of $4,509,500 and 122,044 warrants allowing the holder to purchase common shares at a price of $1.65 until June 2002.

On December 22, 1999, Helix completed a private placement. Under this agreement, Helix issued 500,000 common shares for a total
consideration of $750,000 and 10,000 warrants allowing the holder to purchase common shares at a price of $1.50 until December 2001.

On February 18, 1999, Helix completed a private placement. Under this agreement, Helix issued 5,300,000 common shares for a total cash
consideration of $7,420,000 and 2,500,000 warrants allowing the holder to purchase common shares at a price of $1.75 until February 2001. In

February 2000, 1,250,000 warrants were cancelled following their expiration.

Stock options

Under Helix s 1996 stock option plan, stock options were periodically granted to designated directors, officers, employees and unrelated
third parties. These options, which are vested immediately at the grant date, provide the individuals with the right to purchase common shares

from Helix at a fixed strike price. This stock option plan was terminated in May 1999. No stock options were granted under this plan in 2000 and

2001.
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A summary of the status of Helix s 1996 stock option plan as at November 30, 2001, 2000 and 1999 and the changes during the years ended

on those dates are as follows:

Years Ended
2001 2000 1999
Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-
average average average
Exercise Exercise Exercise
Options Price Options Price Options Price
$ $ $
Outstanding at beginning of year 1,176,000 1.02 1,586,000 1.11 1,748,000 1.02
Granted
Cancelled (100,000) 1.40 (410,000) 1.40 (45,000) 1.40
Exercised (351,000) 0.10 (117,000) 0.10
Outstanding at end of year 725,000 1.40 1,176,000 1.02 1,586,000 1.11
| I | I | I
The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at November 30, 2001:
Weighted- Weighted-
Range of average average
exercise price Options Remaining Life exercise price
$
1.40 725,000 0.74 1.40
I | I

In 1999, Helix established its 1999 stock option plan for the benefit of its employees, officers, directors and consultants. Under the plan, a
total of 2,156,425 common shares could be issued. The right to exercise those options, which are vested immediately at the grant date,

terminates up to ten years after such date.

A summary of the status of Helix s 1999 stock option plan as at November 30, 2001, 2000 and 1999, and the changes during the years ended

on those dates are as follows:

Years ended

2001 2000 1999

Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-
average average average
Exercise Exercise Exercise

Options Price Options Price Options Price
$ $ $
Outstanding at beginning of year 746,490 1.42 744,000 1.52
26
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Granted 1,591,000 1.41 252,490 1.40 744,000 1.52
Cancelled (352,400) 1.44 (250,000) 1.70

Outstanding at end of year 1,985,090 1.41 746,490 1.42 744,000 1.52

I I I I I I

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at November 30, 2001:
Weighted- Weighted-
Range of average average
Exercise Price Options Remaining Life Exercise Price
$
1.40 145 1,985,090 1.86 1.41
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Warrants

A summary of the status of Helix s warrants as at November 30, 2001, 2000, 1999, and the changes during the years ended on those dates
are as follows:

Years ended

2001 2000 1999
Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-

average average average

Exercise Exercise Exercise
Warrants Price Warrants Price Warrants Price

$ $ $
Outstanding at beginning of year 5,297,212 1.77 5,850,883 1.81 2,288,000 1.71
Granted 796,329 1.56 4,247,883 1.73
Cancelled (1,600,000) 1.75 (1,350,000) 1.82

Exercised (685,000) 1.00
Outstanding at end of year 3,697,212 1.78 5,297,212 1.77 5,850,883 1.81
| | | | | |

The following table summarizes information about warrants outstanding as at November 30, 2001:

Weighted- Weighted-
Range of average average
Exercise Price Warrants Remaining Life Exercise Price
$
1.50 1.75 3,322,212 1.70 1.67
2.75 375,000 0.19 2.75
3,697,212 1.55 1.78
| I I

11. Income taxes

The provision for income taxes differs from the result that would be obtained by applying combined Canadian federal and provincial
statutory income tax rates to income before income taxes. This difference results from the following:

2001 2000 1999
$ $ $
Income before income taxes (including goodwill charges) (7,781,369) (2,635,310) (4,363,432)
Combined Canadian federal and provincial tax rates 40.74% 37.80% 40.33%
Expected income tax (3,170,129) (996,147) (1,759,772)
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Lower tax rate in other jurisdictions
Non-deductible amortization of goodwill and other
Effect of enacted future rates

Increase in valuation allowance

Other

Effective income tax

141,193
619,226
842,403
2,653,293
24,680

1,110,666
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14,495 12,654
32,940 45,380
2,215
(946,497) (1,701,738)
I I
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Income tax expense for the year ended November 30, 2001 is as follows:

Asset and
liability
method

$
Current
Future 1,110,666
1,110,666
|
Significant components of future tax assets and liabilities as at November 30, 2001, are as follows:
$
Future tax assets
Capital assets 240,421
Operating losses carried forward 4,998,434
5,238,855
Future tax liabilities
Intangible and other assets (373,058)
4,865,797
Less valuation allowance (2,653,293)
Future income taxes 2,212,504
|

Helix and certain subsidiaries have accumulated non-capital income tax losses, the benefit of which has been recognized in these financial
statements, of approximately $5 million which may be used to reduce future taxable income and expire in the following years:

$
2005 401,751
2006 1,720,150
2007 201,674
2008 920,538
2018 444,104
2019 2,275,095
2020 1,797,924
2021 5,292,997
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Changes in non-cash operating working capital items are as follows:

2001 2000 1999
$ $ $
Accounts receivable 1,508,745 (1,923,722) (1,279,367)
Income taxes receivable 99,907 (48,966) (41,627)
Inventories 655,204 (70,295) (327,247)
Prepaid expenses (49,487) 123,741 (228,819)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 852,690 2,318,387 1,641,434
3,067,059 399,145 (235,626)
L] I I
Additional information
2001 2000 1999
$ $ $
Interest paid 1,841,970 1,294,832 1,186,926
Income taxes (refunded) paid (99,907) (28) 56,993
Capital assets acquired under capital lease
arrangements 197,151 326,045 154,305

13. Commitments

Helix is committed under lease agreements. Future minimum payments required in the next five years are as follows:

$
2002 2,169,680
2003 1,661,818
2004 928,745
2005 497,294
2006 194,074

14. Financial instruments

Credit risk

The maximum credit risk exposure in connection with the accounts receivable is $8,865,830 ($10,144,957 in 2000) including an amount of
$4,205,159 ($4,594,356 in 2000) which is denominated in US dollars. Helix s concentration of credit risk is moderate. However, the clients from
whom the accounts are receivable have common characteristics, particularly with regards to the nature of their activities and economic or other
disturbances, which could alter their ability to meet their obligations.

Foreign exchange risk
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Helix is exposed to foreign exchange risk as a result of the activities of its subsidiaries in the United States, and has no financial instruments
that could reduce this risk.

Interest rate risk
As at November 30, 2001 and 2000, most of the long-term debt and all of the convertible debentures were at fixed interest rates.
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Fair value

Helix s financial instruments appearing in the consolidated balance sheet include cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, current
liabilities, long-term debt and convertible debentures.

Fair value approximates amounts at which financial instruments could be exchanged between consenting parties, based on current markets
for instruments of the same risks, principal and remaining maturities. Due to the use of subjective judgement and uncertainties, the aggregate fair
value amount should not be interpreted as being realizable in an immediate settlement of the instruments.

As at November 30, 2001 and 2000, the book value of all financial instruments approximates fair value either because of their short-term
maturities or their variable rates with the following exception:

2001 2000
Book Value Fair Value Book Value Fair Value
$ $ $ $
Fixed rate long-term liabilities 18,375,798 18,631,757 14,227,554 14,777,581

15. Related party transactions

a) The Company leases premises from some directors. During the year ended November 30, 2001, rent of $15,600 ($15,600 in 2000 and
$61,153 in 1999) was paid to those directors.

b) Revenues of $6,017,659 ($6,416,695 in 2000 and $5,067,696 in 1999) were concluded with companies under common control. As at
November 30, 2001, an amount of $2,770,658 ($3,047,527 in 2000 and $3,010,487 in 1999) resulting from these transactions has been included
in the accounts receivable.

These transactions were concluded in the normal course of business and have been recorded at the exchange amounts, which are the
amounts established and agreed upon by the related parties.

16. Segmented information

Helix operates in three business segments, which comprise the operation and management of clinics, the operation of an e-commerce
business and the establishment, maintenance and support of an affiliated network. Its business units are located in Canada and in the United
States.

Industry segment information is not presented for 1999, as the e-commerce and affiliated network segments resulted from acquisitions made
in 2000 and 2001 respectively.

Accounting policies relating to each segment are identical to those used for the purposes of the consolidated financial statements.
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Business segments

2001
Affiliated
Clinics E-commerce network Corporate Total
$ $ $ $ $
Revenues 46,958,186 179,387 61,293 47,198,866
Operating costs:
Cost of good sold 20,364,390 150,927 20,515,317
Compensation expense 12,777,378 785,373 92,195 13,654,946
Operating expense 9,118,128 578,270 63,134 9,759,532
Total operating costs 42,259,896 1,514,570 155,329 43,929,795
Corporate expenses 4,746,000 4,746,000
(Loss) earnings before the
following items: 4,698,290 (1,335,183) (94,036) (4,746,000) (1,476,929)
Depreciation and amortization 1,312,600 57,148 883,216 2,252,964
Interest on long-term debt and
convertible debentures 236,135 2,063,942 2,300,077
(Loss) earnings before income
taxes and goodwill charges 3,149,555 (1,392,331) (94,036) (7,693,158) (6,029,970)
Provision for income taxes 1,110,666 1,110,666
(Loss) earnings before
goodwill charges 3,149,555 (1,392,331) (94,036) (8,803,824) (7,140,636)
Goodwill charges, net of
income taxes 1,432,251 319,148 1,751,399
Net (loss) earnings 1,717,304 (1,711,479) (94,036) (8,803,824) (8,892,035)
I I | I I
Identifiable assets by segment 42,178,019 6,491,837 4,395,477 5,044,149 58,109,482
I I | I I
Net addition to capital assets 324,778 280,065 537,771 1,142,614
I I | I I
F-46

Table of Contents



Edgar Filing: PROASSURANCE CORP - Form 4

Table of Contents

HELIX HEARING CARE OF AMERICA CORP.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2000
Affiliated
Clinics E-commerce network Corporate Total
$ $ $ $ $
Revenues 35,960,562 21,432 35,981,994
Operating costs:
Cost of good sold 15,264,400 5,000 15,269,400
Compensation expense 8,554,600 18,900 8,573,500
Operating expense 6,817,046 3,289 6,820,335
Total operating costs 30,636,046 27,189 30,663,235
Corporate expense 2,944,700 2,944,700
(Loss) earnings before the following items 5,324,516 (5,757) (2,944,700) 2,374,059
Depreciation and amortization 901,855 725 729,621 1,632,201
Interests on long-term debt and
convertible debentures 198,112 1,181,174 1,379,286
(Loss) earnings before income taxes and
goodwill charges 4,224,549 (6,482) (4,855,495) (637,428)
Provision (recovery) for income tax (230,200) (7,749) (237,949)
(Loss) earnings before goodwill charges 4,454,749 1,267 (4,855,495) (399,479)
Goodwill charges, net of income taxes 1,273,543 15,791 1,289,334
Net (loss) earnings 3,181,206 (14,524) (4,855,495) (1,688.,813)
I | - I I
Identifiable assets by segment 44,571,476 6,359,241 6,344,202 57,274,919
I | - I I
Net addition to capital assets 1,072,931 3,037 581,331 1,657,299
I | - I I
Information concerning geographic areas
As of and for the Years Ended November 30,
Canada United States
2001 2000 1999 2001 2000 1999
$ $ $ $ $ $
Revenues 16,144,370 15,505,673 12,313,889 31,054,496 20,476,321 12,489,935
Capital assets and
intangible assets 5,817,271 6,250,074 4,824,731 34,588,947 31,316,204 10,432,460

Information concerning products and services
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Years Ended November 30,
2001 2000 1999
$ $ $
Revenues from Hearing aids and accessories 45,091,883 33,985,187 23,078,143
Management advisory Services 2,106,983 1,996,807 1,725,681
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

17. Reconciliation of results reported in accordance with Canadian GAAP to US GAAP and other supplementary US GAAP disclosures

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, which
differ in some respects from those in the United States. The following table presents amounts that would have been reported had the Company s
consolidated financial statements been prepared on the basis of United States generally accepted accounting principles.

In Canada, the Accounting Standards Board has approved an addendum to Business Combinations, Section No. 1580 that permits goodwill
amortization expense to be presented net-of-tax on a separate line in the Consolidated Income Statement. This presentation is not currently

permitted under United States GAAP.

Reconciliation of net earnings

Years Ended November 30,
2001 2000 1999
$ $ $

Net loss Canadian GAAP (8,892,035) (1,688,813) (2,661,694)
Adjustments

Foreign currency translation(ii) (236,481) (413,917) 343,662

Development charges(iii) (1,015,750) 133,793 (59,900)

Goodwill amortization(iv) 136,000

Convertible debenture(v) (297,578) (297,578) (152,036)

Stock-based compensation(vi) (325,522) (52,500) (23,468)
Net loss United States GAAP (10,631,366) (2,319,015) (2,553,436)

I I I
Basic and diluted EPS  United States GAAP (0.27) (0.08) (0.09)
I I I
Reconciliation of shareholders equity
As at November 30,
2001 2000 1999
$ $ $

Shareholders equity Canadian GAAP 22,140,649 26,804,043 14,940,188
Adjustments

Foreign currency translation(ii) (350,398) (113,917) 300,000

Development charges(iii) (1,697,492) (681,742) (815,535)

Goodwill(iv) (2,584,000) (4,080,000)

Convertible debenture(v) 520,761 818,339 1,115,917
Shareholders equity United States GAAP 18,029,520 22,746,723 15,540,570
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(1) Income taxes and adjustment for change in accounting policy

On December 1, 2000, the Company adopted the recommendations of CICA Handbook Section 3465 Income taxes (see Note 2). The
recommendations of Section 3465 are similar to the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ( SFAS ) No. 109
Accounting for Income Taxes issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board ( FASB ). Under the asset and liability method, future
tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the differences between the carrying amounts
F-48
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@v)

)

(vi)

(vii)

HELIX HEARING CARE OF AMERICA CORP.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

and tax basis of assets and liabilities, and are measured using enacted tax rates and laws in effect as at the date of the financial statements.
Future tax assets are accounted for only if management believes it is more likely than not that they will be realized. The effect of
retroactively applying these new recommendations on the current year s and prior years financial statements is not material.
Translation of foreign currencies

Under Canadian GAAP, unrealized exchange gains and losses arising on the translation, at exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet
date, of long-term debt repayable in a foreign currency are deferred and amortized to income over the remaining life of the related debt.
Under U.S. GAAP, such exchange gains and losses are included in income in the period in which they occurred.

Deferred charges

Under U.S. GAAP, deferred costs and acquisition costs incurred by the acquiree are expensed as incurred, whereas under Canadian
GAAP, costs meeting certain criteria are capitalized on the balance sheet.

Goodwill

Under Canadian GAAP, when the amount of contingent consideration can be reasonably estimated at the date of acquisition and the
outcome of the contingency can be determined beyond reasonable doubt, the amount of contingent consideration is recorded at that date
as part of the cost of the purchase. Under United States GAAP, consideration issuable upon resolution of a contingency is not recorded
unless issuance or distribution is virtually certain.

Convertible debenture

Under Canadian GAAP, the liability and equity components of compound financial instruments, such as the Companys convertible
debentures, are included in long-term debt and shareholders equity, respectively and interest costs pertaining to the equity component are
accreted directly to long-term debt. Under Canadian GAAP, the less easily measurable component (the equity instrument) was

established as the residual amount after deducting from the instrument as a whole the amount separately determined for the component
that is more easily measurable (the debt instrument). As the amounts attributable to the conversion feature and warrants were deemed
immaterial, at the time of issuance, the convertible debentures were recorded entirely as long-term debt, with interest expense charged to
earnings. Under U.S. GAAP the amounts attributable to the warrants are determined separately based on fair values at the time of
issuance.

Stock-based compensation

Under Canadian GAAP, stock options are accounted for at the date of exercise, when the purchase is recorded as an increase to capital
stock. For purposes of reconciliation to U.S. GAAP, stock options granted to employees have been accounted for using the intrinsic value
method prescribed by APB 25. Options or warrants granted to consultants providing services to the Company are accounted for using the
fair value method based on the fair value of the options granted and recorded as an expense in statements of earnings or as share issue
expenses in share capital for underwriters.

Earnings per share

Under Canadian GAAP, fully diluted EPS is calculated by adjusting net income available to common shareholders for imputed earnings
on funds which would have been received on the exercise of options. Under U.S. GAAP, diluted net earnings (loss) per share is
calculated based on the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year, plus the effects of dilutive common share
equivalents, such as options and warrants. This method requires that diluted net earnings (loss) per share be calculated, using the treasury
stock method, as if all common share equivalents had been exercised at the beginning of the reporting period, or period of issue, as the
case may be, and that the funds
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

obtained thereby were used to purchase common shares of the Company at the average trading price of the common shares during the
period. Common stock options and warrants to purchase common shares as disclosed in Note 9 were not included in the computation of
diluted earnings per share because the Company reported a loss under U.S. GAAP for each of the periods presented and the inclusion of
the options would be anti-dilutive.

(viii) Comprehensive income

Cumulative other comprehensive income is comprised solely of foreign currency translation adjustments which result from the process of
translating the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries.

The following table presents comprehensive income in accordance with SFAS 130 Reporting Comprehensive Income :

Years Ended November 30,
2001 2000 1999
$ $ $

Net loss  United States GAAP (10,631,366) (2,319,015) (2,553,436)
Other comprehensive income:

Foreign currency translation

adjustment 801,719 531,649 (344,291)
Comprehensive loss (9,829,647) (1,787,366) (2,897,727)

I I I

(>ix) Income taxes

As a result of above adjustments from Canadian GAAP to US GAAP, future tax assets under US GAAP include an adjustment of
$677,000 ($251,000 in 2000). This would result in a corresponding adjustment in the valuation allowance under US GAAP.

(x) Recent pronouncements

In July 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 Business Combinations and SFAS No. 142 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. SFAS
No. 141 requires business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001, to be accounted for using the purchase method of accounting, and
broadens the criteria for recording intangible assets separate from goodwill. Recorded goodwill and intangibles will be evaluated against
this new criteria and may result in certain intangibles being subsumed into goodwill, or alternatively, amounts initially recorded as
goodwill may be separately identified and recognized apart from goodwill. SFAS No. 142 requires the use of a nonamortization approach
to account for purchased goodwill and certain intangibles. Under a nonamortization approach, goodwill and certain intangibles will not
be amortized into results of operations, but instead would be reviewed for impairment and written down and charged to results of
operations only in the period in which the recorded value of goodwill and certain intangibles is more than its fair value. Helix intends to
adopt SFAS No. 142 in Fiscal 2002 and as a result will not recognize any goodwill amortization in 2002 or subsequent years. Had SFAS
No. 142 been effective in Fiscal 2001, pretax income would have been higher by approximately $1,751,000 as goodwill would not have
amortized for the year ended November 30, 2001. At November 30, 2001, goodwill on the balance sheet is approximately $35,000,000.
Because of the extensive effort needed to comply with adopting SFAS No. 141 and SFAS No. 142, it is not practicable to accurately
determine the complete impact of adopting these Standards on our financial statements at the date of this report, including whether any
transitional impairment losses will be recognized as the cumulative effect of a change in accounting policy.
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In October 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144 Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets which resolves
significant implementation issues related to FASB Statement No. 121, Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for
Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed Of, and supersedes the accounting and reporting provisions of APB Opinion No. 30, Reporting the
Results of Operations  Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently
Occurring Events and Transactions, for the disposal of a business segment. SFAS 144 is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2001, and interim periods within those fiscal years, with early application encouraged. The impact of adoption of
SFAS 144 on Helix s financial position and results of operations is not expected to be material.

18. Subsequent event

On January 14, 2002, Helix completed a private placement with HEARx Ltd. Under this agreement, Helix issued 4,853,932 common shares
for a total consideration of $4,319,999. The proceeds of this private placement have been used to repay a loan of $1,100,260 provided by
HEARX Ltd. on November 16, 2001 and the promissory note of $3,154,324, issued that same day for the acquisition of Auxiliary Health
Benefits Corporation.
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MERGER AGREEMENT
ANNEX A
AMENDED AND RESTATED

MERGER AGREEMENT

THIS AMENDED AND RESTATED MERGER AGREEMENT is made and entered as of this 6" day of November, 2001, by and
between HEARx LTD., a corporation incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware (hereinafter called HEARx ), and HELIX HEARING
CARE OF AMERICA CORP., a corporation incorporated under the laws of Canada (hereinafter called Helix ).

WHEREAS, Helix and HEARX originally entered into a Merger Agreement (the Original Merger Agreement ) dated July 27, 2001 (the
Original Execution Date ), for the purpose of engaging in an arrangement involving Helix, its shareholders and HEARX; and

WHEREAS, the parties wish to amend and restate the Original Merger Agreement as set forth herein;

NOW THEREFORE in consideration of the mutual covenants hereinafter set out, the parties hereby agree as set forth below.

1. THE ARRANGEMENT

1.1 The Arrangement

Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, HEARX and Helix agree to effect a statutory plan of arrangement (the Arrangement )
pursuant to Section 192 of the Canada Business Corporations Act (the Act ). Helix shall:

(a) as soon as reasonably practicable, but in any event not later than twenty (20) business days from the date Helix receives notice from
HEARX that it has cleared all comments received from the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission ( SEC ) on the Registration/ Proxy
Statement (as defined in Section 1.7(a) below) with the SEC, prepare, in a manner reasonably acceptable to HEARX, file, proceed with, and
diligently pursue an application to the Superior Court of the Province of Québec under the Act for an interim order (the Interim Order )
providing:

(1) for the class of persons to whom notice is to be provided in respect of the Arrangement and the meeting of Helix s shareholders
contemplated herein and for the manner in which such notice is to be provided,

(ii) for such shareholder approval, as is required by such Interim Order, on the Arrangement by holders of Helix s securities present
in person or by proxy at the meeting of Helix s shareholders contemplated herein,

(iii) that, in all other respects, the terms, restrictions and conditions of the by-laws and articles of Helix, including the quorum
requirements and all other matters, shall apply in respect of the meeting of Helix s shareholders contemplated herein, and

(iv) for the grant of the right to dissent to the consideration contemplated to be paid for Helix s securities by the Interim Order
( Dissent Rights );

(b) as soon as reasonably practicable:
(i) carry out the terms of the Interim Order,

(ii) prepare and file an information circular reasonably acceptable to HEARX (the Arrangement Circular ) for the Arrangement in
all jurisdictions where the same is required to be filed and mail the same to Helix s security holders as ordered by the Interim Order and
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(iii) duly call, give notice of, convene and hold a meeting (the Helix Meeting ) of Helix s security holders as ordered by the Interim
Order,

(iv) provide notice to HEARX of the Helix Meeting and allow HEARX s representatives to attend the Helix Meeting, and

(v) conduct the Helix Meeting in accordance with the Interim Order, the by-laws of Helix and any instrument governing the Helix
Meeting, and as otherwise required by law;

(c) as soon as reasonably practicable, prepare in a manner reasonably acceptable to HEARX, and file any amendments or supplements
to the Arrangement Circular and mail the same to Helix s security holders as required by the Interim Order and in accordance with applicable
law, in all jurisdictions where the same is required, complying with all applicable legal requirements on the date of mailing thereof;

(d) use its reasonable best efforts to solicit from Helix s security holders proxies in favor of the Arrangement and take all other action
reasonably necessary or advisable to secure any vote or consent of Helix s security holders required by applicable law to approve the
Arrangement;

(e) subject to the approval of the Arrangement at the Helix Meeting in accordance with the provisions of the Interim Order, forthwith,
but in any event not later than ten (10) calendar days after the date of the Helix Meeting, file, proceed with and diligently pursue an
application for final order (the Final Order ) of the court approving the Arrangement; and

(f) forthwith carry out the terms of the Final Order and, upon satisfaction of all conditions set out in Schedule A, file articles of
arrangement and the Final Order with the registrar under the Act in order for the Arrangement to become effective on a date (the Effective
Date ) on or before fifteen (15) business days after the date of the Helix Meeting.

1.2 Effect of the Plan of Arrangement

(a) The Arrangement Circular shall set out the basis upon which all of Helix s outstanding common shares (Helix s common shares being
hereinafter called Helix Common Shares and the holders of Helix Common Shares being hereinafter called the Helix Shareholders ) shall
be exchanged for common stock, $0.10 par value, of HEARXx (with the attached Purchase Rights as that term is defined in Schedule B)
(collectively HEARx Common Stock ) or exchangeable shares ( Exchangeable Shares ) of HEARx Canada Inc., an indirect subsidiary of
HEARX ( HEARx Canada ), on the basis described in Schedule B (including the Exchange Ratio as set forth therein), with such changes as
HEARX and Helix shall deem appropriate, provided, that such changes do not reduce the consideration paid to Helix Shareholders, or
materially and adversely change the tax consequences of the receipt of such consideration.

(b) The Arrangement Circular shall also set out the conditions precedent to the arrangement as set out in Schedule A to this Agreement.

(c) The Arrangement Circular shall set out that as of the Effective Time (as that term is defined in Schedule B), each of the outstanding
Helix Convertible Securities (as that term is defined in Section 1.6 below) shall be deemed exchanged for a similar security convertible into
HEARx Common Shares, adjusted (i) to convert from Canadian dollars to US dollars (using the exchange rate on the business day
immediately preceding the Effective Date); and (ii) to reflect the Exchange Ratio as provided in Schedule B. Each Helix Convertible
Security which is an employee stock option will continue to have, and be subject to, the same vesting schedule, except that the term of such
employee option only shall be extended to a term of ten (10) years from the original issuance date, all as contemplated in Schedule B.
A-2
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1.3 Helix Approval of the Arrangement
(a) Helix represents that its board of directors, upon consultation with its advisors, has determined unanimously that:
(1) the Arrangement is fair to the Helix Shareholders and is in the best interests of Helix and the Helix Shareholders;
(ii) the board of directors will recommend that the Helix Shareholders vote in favor of the Arrangement; and
(iii) this Agreement is in the best interests of Helix and the Helix Shareholders.

(b) Helix represents that its board of directors has received an opinion from Ernst & Young LLP that the Arrangement is fair from a
financial point of view to the Helix Shareholders.
1.4 Cooperation

Helix covenants to cooperate with HEARX, to take all reasonable action to support the Arrangement and to provide HEARx with a draft
copy of the Arrangement Circular and any other circular or document issued by Helix in connection with the Arrangement, from time to time,
prior to the mailing thereof, on a confidential basis, and to provide HEARx with a reasonable opportunity to review and provide comments
thereon and approve the Arrangement Circular (which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld). In the event any administrative or judicial
proceeding is threatened or commenced by a third party relating to the Original Merger Agreement, this Agreement, the Arrangement or any
other transaction contemplated herein, Helix agrees to cooperate with HEARX in the defense of or application to dismiss such proceeding with a
view to fully completing the Arrangement on a timely basis.

1.5 Joint Press Release

The parties issued jointly a press release after the execution of the Original Merger Agreement in the form attached as Schedule C to this
Agreement.

1.6 Outstanding Helix Convertible Securities

The Helix Disclosure Schedule sets forth a list as of the Original Execution Date of all outstanding options, warrants, conversion privileges
or other rights, agreements, arrangements or commitments obligating Helix or any Helix Subsidiary (as hereinunder defined) to issue or sell any
shares in the share capital of Helix or any of the Helix Subsidiaries or securities or obligations of any kind convertible into or exchangeable for
any of the foregoing (collectively, the Helix Convertible Securities ). As of the Effective Time, each of the outstanding Helix Convertible
Securities shall be deemed exchanged for a similar security convertible into HEARx Common Shares, adjusted (i) to convert from Canadian
dollars to US dollars (using the exchange rate on the business day immediately prior to the Effective Date); and (ii) to reflect the Exchange Ratio
as provided in Schedule B. Helix agrees that, subject to any required approval of The Toronto Stock Exchange, each of the stock option plans of
Helix shall be amended, to the extent necessary, to reflect the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and that each such plan shall, after
the Effective Time, be canceled. As soon as practicable after the execution of this Agreement, Helix shall deliver to the holders of Helix
Convertible Securities appropriate notices setting forth such holders rights as set forth herein. The board of directors of Helix shall not exercise
any discretion or take any action that would result in the acceleration of the vesting of any unvested Helix Convertible Securities, or that would
result in any cash becoming payable by Helix or, after the Effective Date, HEARX in respect of any such Helix Convertible Securities.

1.7 Registration Statement/ Proxy Statement; Arrangement Circular

(a) As promptly as practicable after the execution of this Agreement, each of HEARX and Helix shall prepare and HEARX shall file
with the SEC a proxy statement and registration statement (the Registration/ Proxy Statement ) on Form S-4 (or other applicable form) (the
Form S-4 ) registering
A-3
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the HEARx Common Stock to be issued in connection with the Arrangement to Helix Shareholders in exchange for their Helix Common
Shares and upon exchange of the Exchangeable Shares and soliciting proxies from the HEARx Shareholders approving the HEARx
Proposals (as defined in Section 3.6 below), together with any other documents required by the Securities Act of 1933, as amended

( Securities Act ) and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended ( Exchange Act ), in connection with the Arrangement. HEARX shall

file the Form S-4 with the SEC after the approval of same by Helix, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld, and use its reasonable
best efforts to cause the Form S-4 to become effective and to maintain the effectiveness of such registration until the Effective Date and
thereafter for the period that such Exchangeable Shares remain outstanding.

(b) Each party shall promptly furnish to the other party all information concerning such party and its stockholders as may be reasonably
required in connection with any action contemplated by this Section 1.7. The Arrangement Circular and Form S-4 shall comply in all
material respects with all applicable requirements of law. Each of HEARx and Helix shall notify the other promptly of the receipt of any
comments from the SEC or any securities commission or securities regulatory authority of a province or territory of Canada (a Canadian
Securities Commission ) and of any request by the SEC or a Canadian Securities Commission for amendments or supplements to the
Arrangement Circular or Form S-4 or for additional information, and shall supply the other with copies of all correspondence with the SEC
or any Canadian Securities Commission with respect to the Arrangement Circular or the Form S-4. Whenever any event occurs which
should be set forth in an amendment or supplement to the Arrangement Circular or Form S-4, HEARX or Helix, as the case may be, shall
promptly inform the other of such occurrence and cooperate in filing with the SEC and any Canadian Securities Commission and/or mailing
to the Helix or HEARX Shareholders, as may be applicable, such amendment or supplement. Except as required by law, no such amendment
or supplement shall be filed or mailed without the approval of the other party, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.

(c) HEARXx and Helix shall take any action required to be taken under any applicable provincial or state securities laws (including blue
sky laws) in connection with the issuance of the Exchangeable Shares or HEARx Common Stock and the Arrangement; provided, however,
that with respect to the blue sky and Canadian provincial securities qualifications, neither HEARx nor Helix shall be required to register or
qualify as a foreign corporation or reporting issuer where any such entity is not now so registered or qualified except as to matters and
transactions arising solely from the offer and sale of the HEARx Common Stock or the issuance of the Exchangeable Shares pursuant to the
Arrangement.

(d) HEARX shall take such action as shall be necessary to maintain the listing of the HEARx Common Stock on AMEX and to
authorize for listing on AMEX the HEARx Common Stock issuable to the Helix Shareholders initially and upon exchange of the
Exchangeable Shares. From the Original Execution Date through the Effective Date, HEARX shall furnish promptly to Helix copies of all
information concerning the listing of the HEARx Common Stock on AMEX, including without limitation copies of all correspondence in
respect thereof between HEARx and AMEX, and shall consult with Helix regarding, and will give Helix an opportunity to participate in,
any discussions with AMEX regarding such listings. HEARx and Helix shall take such action as shall be necessary to authorize for listing
on The Toronto Stock Exchange the HEARx Common Stock and the Exchangeable Shares as of the Effective Date.

1.8 Covenants of Management

Simultaneously with the execution of the Original Merger Agreement, and as a condition to the effectiveness of the Original Merger
Agreement and this Agreement, each person or entity (a Management Shareholder ) identified on Schedule D has executed a shareholder s
agreement in the form of Schedule E by which each Management Shareholder agreed to vote his, her or its Helix Common Shares in favor of the
Arrangement and to elect to receive Exchangeable Shares or HEARx Common Stock in exchange for their Helix Common Shares and to
surrender their options as contemplated by Sections 1.2 and 1.6 and Schedule B.
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1.9 Other Effects of the Arrangement

From and after the Effective Time, the individuals identified on Schedule F shall serve as directors and officers of HEARx and Helix, as the
case may be, until the earlier of the resignation or removal of any such individual or until their respective successors are duly elected and
qualified. HEARX and Helix shall take the necessary actions to effect any change in the directors and officers of HEARx and Helix set forth on
Schedule F, including where necessary, the resignation of existing directors or the increase in the size of the board of directors or any
committees thereof and the appointment of new directors to fill any vacancies in the board of directors or any committees thereof. From and
after the Effective Date, the bylaws of HEARx shall be amended to provide for a vote of seven out of nine members of the HEARX board of
directors for the approval of certain matters as set forth on Schedule F.

2. COVENANTS OF HELIX

2.1 Ordinary Course of Business

Helix covenants and agrees that, from the Original Execution Date through and including the Effective Date, unless HEARX shall otherwise
expressly agree in writing or as otherwise expressly contemplated or permitted by this Agreement:

(a) Helix shall, and shall cause each of its direct and indirect subsidiaries (collectively, the Helix Subsidiaries ) to conduct its and their
respective business only in, and not take any action except in, the usual, ordinary and regular course of business and consistent with past
practice and, without limiting the foregoing, Helix shall not enter into any commitments of a capital expenditure nature or incur any
contingent liability which would exceed CDN $100,000 in the aggregate;

(b) Helix shall not directly or indirectly do or permit to occur any of the following:

(1) issue, sell, pledge, lease, dispose of, encumber or agree to issue, sell, pledge, lease, dispose of or encumber (or permit any Helix
Subsidiaries to issue, sell, pledge, lease, dispose of, encumber or agree to issue, sell, pledge, lease, dispose of or encumber):

(A) any additional shares of, or any options, warrants, calls, conversion privileges or rights of any kind to acquire any shares
of, any share capital of Helix or any of the Helix Subsidiaries (other than pursuant to the exercise of employee stock options or
other instruments outstanding on the Original Execution Date or issuable pursuant to contractual rights existing on the Original
Execution Date and which are disclosed in the Helix Disclosure Schedule (without amendment)), or

(B) except for sales of products and services in the ordinary course of business, any assets of Helix or any of the Helix
Subsidiaries,

(i1) amend or propose to amend its articles or by-laws or those of any of the Helix Subsidiaries,

(iii) subdivide, consolidate or reclassify any outstanding securities of Helix, or declare, set aside or pay any dividend or other
distribution payable in cash, securities, property or otherwise with respect to any of the outstanding securities of Helix;

(iv) redeem, purchase or offer to purchase (or permit any of the Helix Subsidiaries to redeem, purchase or offer to purchase) any
outstanding securities of Helix or any of the Helix Subsidiaries,

(v) reorganize, amalgamate or merge Helix or any of the Helix Subsidiaries with any other person, corporation, partnership or other
entity, organization or division whatsoever,

(vi) reduce the stated capital of Helix or any of the Helix Subsidiaries,

(vii) acquire or agree to acquire (by merger, amalgamation, acquisition of shares or assets or otherwise) any person, corporation,
partnership or other business organization or division or acquire or agree to acquire any material assets,
A-5
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(viii) satisfy any material claims or liabilities, repay (other than regularly scheduled principal and interest payments) any
indebtedness for borrowed money or relinquish any material contractual rights other than the repayment of the convertible debentures
issued in favour of the Toronto Dominion Bank and Sirrom Capital Corporation necessary to satisfy the condition precedent provided
for in Schedule A,

(ix) incur or commiit to incur any indebtedness for borrowed money or issue any debt securities, or guarantee or otherwise become
responsible for the obligations of any other person, corporation, partnership or other entity, organization or division whatsoever, or enter
into any interest rate, currency or commodity swaps, hedges or other similar financial instruments,

(x) enter into any new line of business, enter into any material transaction not in the ordinary course of business, enter into any
material contract or agreement, or amend in any material respect any material contracts, including without limitation any agreements or
arrangements with suppliers or vendors, or any real property leases,

(xi) take any action that is intended or that may reasonably be expected to result in any of its representations or warranties set forth
in this Agreement being or becoming untrue, or in any of the conditions of the Arrangement set forth herein not being satisfied,

(xii) change its method of accounting in effect at November 30, 2000 except as required by changes in Canadian GAAP as
concurred to by Helix s and HEARx s independent auditors,

(xiii) enter into any contract, agreement, commitment or arrangement providing for, or amend any contract, agreement,
commitment or arrangement to provide for, the taking of any action that would be prohibited hereunder,

(xiv) enter into any agreement or arrangement that would limit or restrict Helix or any of the Helix Subsidiaries or any successor
thereto, from engaging or competing in any line of business or in any geographic area, or

(xv) authorize, or commit or agree to take, any of the foregoing actions.

(c) Helix shall not, and shall cause each of the Helix Subsidiaries to not (otherwise than pursuant to offers existing on the Original
Execution Date that are capable of acceptance and that have been disclosed in the Helix Disclosure Schedule):

(i) enter into or modify any employment, severance, collective bargaining, incentive stock option or similar agreements, policies or
arrangements with, or grant any bonuses, salary increases, severance or termination pay to, any officers or directors of Helix other than
pursuant to agreements, policies or arrangements in effect (without amendment) on the Original Execution Date,

(ii) in the case of employees who are not officers or directors, take any action other than in the ordinary, regular and usual course of
business and consistent with past practice (none of which actions shall be unreasonable) with respect to the entering into or modifying
of any employment, severance, collective bargaining or similar agreements, policies or arrangements or with respect to the grant of any
bonuses, salary increases, stock options, pension benefits, retirement allowances, deferred compensation, severance or termination pay
or any other form of compensation or profit sharing or with respect to any increase of benefits payable otherwise than pursuant to
agreements, policies or arrangements in effect (without amendment) on the Original Execution Date,

(iii) enter into or modify any consulting or similar commitment, agreement or arrangement, or
(iv) hire any new employees at a rate of compensation including salary and bonuses in excess of US $75,000 annually.

(d) Helix shall use its best efforts to cause its current insurance (or re-insurance) policies not to be cancelled or terminated or any of the
coverage thereunder to lapse, unless simultaneously with such termination, cancellation or lapse, replacement policies underwritten by
insurance and re-insurance
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companies of nationally recognized standing providing coverage equal to or greater than the coverage under the cancelled, terminated or
lapsed policies for substantially similar premiums are in full force and effect;

(e) Helix shall:

(1) use its best efforts, and cause each of the Helix Subsidiaries to use its best efforts, to preserve intact their respective business
organizations and goodwill, to keep available the services of its officers and employees as a group and to maintain satisfactory
relationships with suppliers, agents, distributors, customers and others having business relationships with it or the Helix Subsidiaries,

(i1) maintain all of its properties and assets in good repair, order and condition,

(iii) maintain its books of account and records in the usual, regular and ordinary manner, in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, consistently applied,

(iv) comply with all laws, regulations and orders applicable to it and the conduct of its business,

(v) not take any action, or permit any of the Helix Subsidiaries to take any action that would render, or that reasonably may be
expected to render, any representation or warranty made by it in this Agreement untrue at any time on or prior to the Effective Date if
then made, and

(vi) confer on a regular basis with HEARx with respect to operational matters and promptly notify HEARX orally and in writing of
any material adverse change in the normal course of Helix or the Helix Subsidiaries businesses or in the operation of Helix or the Helix
Subsidiaries businesses or properties (in each case on a consolidated basis), and of any material governmental or third party complaints,
investigations or hearings (or communications indicating that the same may be contemplated);

(f) Helix shall not settle or compromise any claim brought by any present, former or purported holder of any securities of Helix or any
party to any agreement with Helix in connection with the transaction contemplated by this Agreement or the Arrangement on or prior to the
Effective Date without the express prior written consent of HEARX;

(g) Helix shall not enter into or modify any contract, agreement, commitment or arrangement with respect to any of the matters set forth
in this Section 2.1, including any loan agreement, note, bond, indenture or material contract other than the repayment of the convertible
debentures issued in favour of the Toronto Dominion Bank and Sirrom Capital Corporation necessary to satisfy the condition precedent
provided for in Schedule A hereto;

(h) Helix shall ensure that its board of directors refrains from taking any action pursuant to employment agreements or similar
agreements between Helix and any of its officers or employees which would have the effect of permitting such persons to terminate their
employment with Helix and to thereupon become entitled to receive payments from Helix, as a result of the Arrangement or any other action
contemplated hereby; and

(1) Helix shall not enter into any contracts with any party in any country upon which the U.S. Government has imposed international
economic sanctions with respect to U.S. persons doing business.
2.2 Non-Solicitation

From the Original Execution Date through and including the Effective Date,

(a) Helix shall not, directly or indirectly, through any officer, director, employee, representative or agent of Helix or any of the Helix
Subsidiaries or otherwise, (i) solicit or encourage (including by way of furnishing information or entering into any form of agreement,
arrangement or understanding) the initiation of any inquiries or proposals regarding any merger, amalgamation, take-over bid, variation of a
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take-over bid, sale of substantial assets, sale of shares or rights or interests therein or thereto or similar transactions involving Helix or any
Helix Subsidiary (any of the foregoing inquiries or proposals being referred to herein as an Acquisition Proposal ), or (ii) provide any
confidential information to, participate in any discussions or negotiations relating to any such transactions with, or otherwise cooperate with
or assist or participate in any effort to take such action by, any person, corporation, partnership or other entity, organization or division;
provided nothing contained in this Section 2.2 or any other provision of this Agreement shall prevent the board of directors of Helix from
considering, negotiating, approving and recommending to the Helix Shareholders an unsolicited bona fide written Acquisition Proposal, for
which adequate financial arrangements have been made, which the board of directors of Helix determines in good faith (after receiving
advice of its financial advisors, and after receiving a written opinion of outside counsel, or advice of outside counsel that is reflected in the
minutes of the board of directors of Helix, to the effect that the board of directors is required to do so in order to discharge properly its
fiduciary duties) would, if consummated in accordance with its terms, result in a transaction financially superior (taking into account all
relevant factors, including any conditions to such proposal, the timing of the closing thereof, the risk of nonconsummation, the ability of the
person making such proposal to finance the transaction contemplated thereby and any required consents, filings and approvals of any
governmental entity or other person) for the Helix Shareholders than the transaction contemplated by this Agreement (any such Acquisition
Proposal being referred to herein as a Superior Proposal ).

(b) Helix shall, and shall cause its officers, directors, employees, representatives and agents to, immediately cease and cause to be
terminated any existing discussions or negotiations with any parties (other than HEARX) with respect to any potential Acquisition Proposal.
Helix agrees not to release any third party from any confidentiality agreement to which Helix and such third party are parties. Helix further
agrees not to release any third party from any standstill agreement to which Helix and such third party are parties. Helix shall immediately
close its data rooms and immediately request the return or destruction of all information provided to any third parties who have entered into
a confidentiality agreement with Helix relating to a potential Acquisition Proposal and shall use its best efforts to ensure that such requests
are honored.

(c) Helix shall immediately notify HEARX of the details of any existing Acquisition Proposal and of any future Acquisition Proposal or
any request for (or to review) any list of security holders of Helix or any request for non-public information relating to Helix or any of the
Helix Subsidiaries in connection with an Acquisition Proposal or for access to the properties, books or records of Helix or any Helix
Subsidiary, by any person or entity that informs any member of the board of directors of Helix or such Helix Subsidiary, or Helix s advisers,
employees or agents, that it is considering making, or has made, an Acquisition Proposal. Such notice to HEARx shall be made, from time
to time, orally and in writing and shall indicate such details of the proposal, inquiry or contact as HEARx may reasonably request including
the identity of the person making such proposal, inquiry or contact, the progress of any discussions or negotiations and copies of any and all
correspondence or documents provided to Helix in connection therewith.

(d) If the board of directors of Helix receives a request for material non-public information from a party who proposes to Helix an
unsolicited bona fide written Acquisition Proposal and the board of directors of Helix determines in good faith that such proposal is a
Superior Proposal in accordance with Section 2.2(a), then Helix may, subject to the execution of a confidentiality agreement substantially
similar to that then in effect between Helix and HEARX, provide such party with access to information regarding Helix. Helix agrees to send
a copy of any such confidentiality agreement to HEARx immediately upon its execution.

(e) Helix shall ensure that the officers, directors and employees of Helix and the Helix Subsidiaries and any investment bankers, legal
advisors, accountants or other advisors, representatives or agents retained by Helix are aware of the provisions of this Section 2.2, and Helix
shall be responsible for any breach of this Section 2.2.
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2.3 Right of First Refusal

Helix covenants that it will not enter into any agreement regarding a Superior Proposal (the Proposed Agreement ) without providing
HEARX with an opportunity to amend this Agreement to provide for substantially similar financial terms to those included in the Proposed
Agreement. In particular, Helix covenants to provide HEARx with a copy of any Proposed Agreement as executed by the party making the
proposal, at least five days prior to its proposed execution by Helix. In the event HEARX agrees to amend this Agreement prior to the expiration
of such five day period as provided above, Helix covenants not to enter into the Proposed Agreement.

2.4 Access to Information

Subject to the existing confidentiality agreement between Helix and HEARx dated November 30, 2000, upon written request for access
from HEARX, Helix shall (and shall cause each of the Helix Subsidiaries to) afford HEARx s officers, employees, counsel, accountants and other
authorized representatives, advisors and agents reasonable access from the Original Execution Date and until the expiration of this Agreement,
to its properties, books, contracts and records and all information relating to it and the Helix Subsidiaries, as well as to its management
personnel, and, during such period, Helix shall (and shall cause each of the Helix Subsidiaries to) furnish promptly to HEARx all information
concerning it and its business, properties and personnel as HEARx may reasonably request.

2.5 Notification of Certain Matters

Helix shall give notice to HEARX of: (a) the occurrence or failure to occur of any event, which occurrence or failure would cause or may
cause any representation or warranty on its part contained in this Agreement to be untrue or inaccurate in any respect at any time form the
Original Execution Date to the Effective Date; and (b) any failure of Helix, or any of its officers, directors, employees, representatives or agents,
to comply with or satisfy any covenant, condition or agreement to be complied with or satisfied by it hereunder.

3. COVENANTS OF HEARX

3.1 Ordinary Course of Business

HEARX covenants and agrees that, from the Original Execution Date through and including the Effective Date, unless Helix shall otherwise
expressly agree in writing or as otherwise expressly contemplated or permitted by this Agreement:

(a) HEARX shall, and shall cause each of its direct and indirect subsidiaries (collectively the HEARx Subsidiaries ) to, conduct its and
their respective business only in, and not take any action except in, the usual, ordinary and regular course of business and consistent with
past practice and, without limiting the foregoing, except as set forth in the HEARx Disclosure Schedule, HEARx shall not enter into any
commitments of a capital expenditure nature or incur any contingent liability which would exceed the U.S. equivalent of CDN $100,000 in
the aggregate;

(b) HEARX shall not directly or indirectly do or permit to occur any of the following:

(1) issue, sell, pledge, lease, dispose of, encumber or agree to issue, sell, pledge, lease, dispose of or encumber (or permit any
HEARX Subsidiaries to issue, sell, pledge, lease, dispose of, encumber or agree to issue, sell, pledge, lease, dispose of or encumber):

(A) any additional shares of, or any options, warrants, calls, conversion privileges or rights of any kind to acquire any shares
of, any share capital of HEARx or any of the HEARX Subsidiaries (other than pursuant to the exercise of employee stock options
or other instruments outstanding on the Original Execution Date which are disclosed in the HEARX Disclosure Schedule (without
amendment)), or
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(B) except for sales of products and services in the ordinary course of business, any assets of HEARx or any of the HEARx
Subsidiaries,

(i1) amend or propose to amend its articles or by-laws or those of any of the HEARx Subsidiaries,

(iii) subdivide, consolidate or reclassify any outstanding securities of HEARX, or declare, set aside or pay any dividend or other
distribution payable in cash, securities, property or otherwise with respect to any of the outstanding securities of HEARX;

(iv) redeem, purchase or offer to purchase (or permit any of the HEARx Subsidiaries to redeem, purchase or offer to purchase) any
outstanding securities of HEARx or any of the HEARx Subsidiaries,

(v) reorganize, amalgamate or merge HEARX or any of the HEARx Subsidiaries with any other person, corporation, partnership or
other entity, organization or division whatsoever,

(vi) reduce the stated capital of HEARX or any of the HEARx Subsidiaries,

(vii) acquire or agree to acquire (by merger, amalgamation, acquisition of shares or assets or otherwise) any person, corporation,
partnership or other business organization or division or acquire or agree to acquire any material assets,

(viii) satisfy any material claims or liabilities, repay (other than regularly scheduled principal and interest payments) any
indebtedness for borrowed money or relinquish any material contractual rights,

(ix) incur or commiit to incur any indebtedness for borrowed money or issue any debt securities or guarantee or otherwise become
responsible for the obligations of any other person, corporation, partnership or other entity, organization or division whatsoever, or enter
into any interest rate, currency or commodity swaps, hedges or other similar financial instruments,

(x) enter into any new line of business, enter into any material transaction not in the ordinary course of business, enter into any
material contract or agreement, or amend in any material respect any material contracts, including without limitation any agreements or
arrangements with suppliers or vendors, or any real property leases,

(xi) take any action that is intended or that may reasonably be expected to result in any of its representations or warranties set forth
in this Agreement being or becoming untrue, or in any of the conditions of the Arrangement set forth herein not being satisfied,

(xii) change its method of accounting in effect at December 29, 2000 except as required by changes in United States GAAP as
concurred to by HEARx s and Helix s independent auditors,

(xiii) enter into any contract, agreement, commitment or arrangement providing for, or amend any contract, agreement,
commitment or arrangement to provide for, the taking of any action that would be prohibited hereunder,

(xiv) enter into any agreement or arrangement that would limit or restrict HEARX or any of the HEARx Subsidiaries or any
successor thereto, from engaging or competing in any line of business or in any geographic area, or

(xv) authorize, or commit or agree to take, any of the foregoing actions.

(c) HEARX shall not, and shall cause each of the HEARx Subsidiaries to not (otherwise than pursuant to offers existing on the Original
Execution Date that are capable of acceptance and that have been disclosed in the HEARx Disclosure Schedule):

(i) enter into or modify any employment, severance, collective bargaining, incentive stock option or similar agreements, policies or
arrangements with, or grant any bonuses, salary increases, severance or termination pay to, any officers or directors of HEARX other
than pursuant to
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agreements, policies or arrangements in effect (without amendment) on the Original Execution Date,

(ii) in the case of employees who are not officers or directors, take any action other than in the ordinary, regular and usual course of
business and consistent with past practice (none of which actions shall be unreasonable) with respect to the entering into or modifying
of any employment, severance, collective bargaining or similar agreements, policies or arrangements or with respect to the grant of any
bonuses, salary increases, stock options, pension benefits, retirement allowances, deferred compensation, severance or termination pay
or any other form of compensation or profit sharing or with respect to any increase of benefits payable otherwise than pursuant to
agreements, policies or arrangements in effect (without amendment) on the Original Execution Date, or

(iii) enter into or modify any consulting or similar commitment, agreement or arrangement, or
(iv) hire any new employees at a rate of compensation including salary and bonuses in excess of US $75,000 annually;

(d) HEARX shall use its best efforts to cause its current insurance (or re-insurance) policies not to be cancelled or terminated or any of
the coverage thereunder to lapse, unless simultaneously with such termination, cancellation or lapse, replacement policies underwritten by
insurance and re-insurance companies of nationally recognized standing providing coverage equal to or greater than the coverage under the
cancelled, terminated or lapsed policies for substantially similar premiums are in full force and effect;

(e) HEARX shall:

(1) use its best efforts, and cause each of the HEARx Subsidiaries to use its best efforts, to preserve intact their respective business
organizations and goodwill, to keep available the services of its officers and employees as a group and to maintain satisfactory
relationships with suppliers, agents, distributors, customers and others having business relationships with it or with the HEARx
Subsidiaries,

(i1) maintain all of its properties and assets in good repair, order and condition,

(iii) maintain its books of account and records in the usual, regular and ordinary manner, in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, consistently applied,

(iv) comply with all laws, regulations and orders applicable to it and the conduct of its business,

(v) not take any action, or permit any of the HEARX Subsidiaries to take any action that would render, or that reasonably may be
expected to render, any representation or warranty made by it in this Agreement untrue at any time on or prior to the Effective Date if
then made,

(vi) confer on a regular basis with Helix with respect to operational matters and promptly notify Helix orally and in writing of any
material adverse change in the normal course of its or any of the HEARx Subsidiaries businesses or in the operation of its or any of the
HEARXx Subsidiaries businesses or properties (in each case on a consolidated basis), and of any material governmental or third party
complaints, investigations or hearings (or communications indicating that the same may be contemplated);

(f) HEARX shall not settle or compromise any claim brought by any present, former or purported holder of any securities of HEARx or
any party to any agreement with HEARX in connection with the transaction contemplated by this Agreement or the Arrangement on or prior
to the Effective Date without the express prior written consent of Helix;

(g) HEARX shall not enter into or modify any contract, agreement, commitment or arrangement with respect to any of the matters set
forth in this Section 3.1, including any loan agreement, note, bond, indenture or material contract;
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(h) HEARX shall ensure that its board of directors refrains from taking any action pursuant to employment agreements or similar
agreements between HEARx and any of its officers or employees which would have the effect of permitting such persons to terminate their
employment with HEARx and to thereupon become entitled to receive payments from HEARX, as a result of the Arrangement or any other
action contemplated hereby; and

(1) HEARXx shall not enter into any contracts with any party in any country upon which the U.S. Government has imposed international
economic sanctions with respect to U.S. persons doing business.
3.2 Access to Information

Subject to the existing confidentiality agreement between HEARx and Helix dated November 30, 2000, upon written request for access
from Helix, HEARXx shall (and shall cause each of the HEARx Subsidiaries to) afford Helix s officers, employees, counsel, accountants and other
authorized representatives, advisors and agents reasonable access from the Original Execution Date and until the expiration of this Agreement,
to its properties, books, contracts and records and all information relating to it and the HEARX Subsidiaries, as well as to its management
personnel, and, during such period, HEARXx shall (and shall cause each of the HEARx Subsidiaries to) furnish promptly to Helix all information
concerning it and its business, properties and personnel as Helix may reasonably request.

3.3 Notification of Certain Matters

HEARX shall give notice to Helix of: (a) the occurrence or failure to occur of any event, which occurrence or failure would cause or may
cause any representation or warranty on its part contained in this Agreement to be untrue or inaccurate in any respect at any time from the
Original Execution Date to the Effective Date; and (b) any failure of HEARX, or any of its officers, directors, employees, representatives or
agents, to comply with or satisfy any covenant, condition or agreement to be complied with or satisfied by it hereunder.

3.4 Executive Employment Agreements

HEARX agrees that it will negotiate five-year employment agreements becoming effective as of the Effective Date with Steve Forget,
Martin Cousineau and Richard Doucet. All of such employment agreements shall be on terms of employment consistent with those set forth in
the current employment agreements between HEARx and Dr. Paul A. Brown and Stephen Hansbrough.

3.5 Change of Name

HEARX agrees that it shall take all corporate and other actions necessary to effectuate the change of its name on and after the Effective Date
to HearUSA, Inc. , including obtaining shareholder approval as contemplated below.

3.6 Shareholder Approval

As soon as reasonably practicable, HEARX shall take all steps necessary (including the filing of the Registration/ Proxy Statement on
Form S-4 as contemplated by Section 1.7 above) to (i) duly call, give notice of, convene and hold a meeting of its shareholders for the purpose
of approving amendments to the HEARx Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation to increase the number of authorized shares of
HEARx Common Stock, to change the name of HEARx to HearUSA, Inc. , to approve the issuance of the HEARx Common Stock in connection
with the Arrangement and to approve the other transactions contemplated hereby and thereby (the HEARx Proposals ); and (ii) if necessary,
prepare and file any amendments or supplements to the Registration/ Proxy Statement and mail the same to the HEARx Shareholders. HEARx
shall use its reasonable best efforts to solicit from the HEARx Shareholders proxies in favor of the HEARx Proposals and shall take all other
action reasonably necessary or advisable to secure any vote or consent of the HEARx Shareholders required by law to approve the HEARx
Proposals.
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3.7 Board of Director Actions

(a) The board of directors of HEARX has approved the Arrangement, the Original Merger Agreement, this Agreement and the
agreements contemplated by this Agreement for purposes of rendering inapplicable to the Arrangement, the Original Merger Agreement,
this Agreement and the transactions and agreements contemplated by this Agreement, the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware
General Corporation Law.

(b) The board of directors of HEARX has taken all actions required or permitted under the Rights Agreement between HEARx and the
Bank of New York, dated December 14, 1999 (the HEARX Rights Agreement ) such that, as a result of the approval, execution or delivery
of the Original Merger Agreement and this Agreement or the consummation of the transaction contemplated hereby: (i) neither Helix or any
stockholder of Helix or any Affiliate or Associate (as such terms are defined in the HEARx Rights Agreement) of Helix or any stockholder
of Helix, will become an Acquiring Person ; (ii) no Share Acquisition Date or Distribution Date (as such terms are defined in the HEARx
Rights Agreement) will occur; and (iii) the holders of any rights issued pursuant to the HEARx Rights Agreement will not be entitled to
receive any benefits under the HEARX Rights Agreement. From and after the date of the Original Execution Date until the Effective Date,
HEARX shall not take any action that would cause Helix or any stockholder of Helix or any Affiliate or Associate of Helix or any such
stockholder to become an Acquiring Person under the HEARx Rights Agreement, or that would case a Share Acquisition Date or

Distribution Date to occur or give the holders of any Rights any benefits under the HEARx Rights Agreement, as a result of the
Arrangement or any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

(c) HEARX shall provide Helix with a certificate of an officer of HEARX evidencing the existence of a Prior Written Approval of the
Company (as such term is defined in the HEARX Rights Agreement).
3.8 Reservation of HEARx Common Stock; Stock Options

HEARX shall take all corporate action necessary to reserve for issuance a sufficient number of shares of HEARx Common Stock for
delivery upon the exercise of Helix Convertible Securities and the exchange of the Exchangeable Shares after the Effective Time. HEARx shall
take all corporate action necessary to convert Helix stock options into HEARX stock options all as provided herein and as soon as reasonably
practicable after the Effective Time, if necessary and to the extent eligible for registration on Form S-8, shall prepare and file a registration
statement on Form S-8 covering the HEARx Common Stock issuable upon exercise of such HEARX stock options.

4. FEES AND OTHER TERMINATION ARRANGEMENTS

4.1 Break-up Fee
If at any time after the Original Execution Date:

(a) the board of directors of Helix has withdrawn, redefined or changed any of its recommendations or determinations concerning the
Arrangement or this Agreement or the transactions and actions contemplated hereby and thereby in a manner adverse to HEARX or shall
have resolved to do so prior to the Effective Date;

(b) the board of directors of Helix shall have failed to reaffirm its recommendation of the Arrangement by press statement within five
days after the public announcement or commencement of any Acquisition Proposal and in a director s circular, if any, within 10 days after
the mailing of any such Acquisition Proposal;

(c) an Acquisition Proposal is consummated;
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4.2

5.1

(d) Helix fails to fully comply with or breaches any of its representations, warranties or covenants made in this Agreement in any
material respect, including, without limitation, the representations and covenants in Section 1.3;

(e) the board of directors of HEARx has withdrawn, redefined or changed any of its recommendations or determinations (including,
without limiting the generality of the foregoing, those contained in section 3.7) concerning the Arrangement or this Agreement or the
transactions and actions contemplated hereby and thereby in a manner adverse to Helix or shall have resolved to do so prior to the Effective
Date; or

(f) HEARX fails to fully comply with or breaches any of its representations, warranties or covenants made in this Agreement in any
material respect,

(any such case being a Fee Event ), then Helix, upon the occurrence of an event described in Sections 4.1(a), 4.1(b), 4.1(c) or 4.1(d), and
HEARX, upon the occurrence of an event described in Sections 4.1(e) or (f), shall pay to the other party US $1 million (the Break-up Fee )
in immediately available funds to an account designated by the party receiving the Break-up Fee within one business day after the
occurrence of a Fee Event; provided, however, that no Break-up Fee shall be payable in the event this Agreement is terminated pursuant to
Section 8.1(d).

Effect of Termination on Planned HearUSA Network

(a) In the event of a termination of this Agreement by virtue of the occurrence of an event described in Sections 4.1(a), 4.1(b), 4.1(c) or
4.1(d) or Section 8.1(b) (in the event such Section 8.1(b) termination is triggered by Helix), Helix agrees that it shall (in addition to payment
of the Break-up Fee if provided by Section 4.1) transfer all of its right, title and interest in and to 49% of the Network (as that term is
defined below) to HEARx. Upon consummation of such transfer, HEARXx shall not form or operate a competing network of affiliated
providers.

(b) In the event of a termination of this Agreement by virtue of the occurrence of an event described in Section 4.1(e) or Section 4.1(f)
or Section 8.1(a) or Section 8.1(b) (in the event such Section 8.1(b) termination is triggered by HEARXx) or Section 8.1(d), HEARXx shall
have the option to purchase from Helix up to 49% of the Network at a price to be then determined based on an appraisal mutually agreed
upon by HEARX and Helix, or in the event the parties are unable to agree, by a third party arbitrator. Upon consummation of such purchase,
HEARX shall not form or operate a competing network of affiliated providers.

(c) For the purpose of this Agreement, Network shall mean the HearUSA Network being formed through the joint venture among

HEARZX, Helix and Siemens Hearing Instruments Inc.
5. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF HELIX

Representations
Helix hereby makes to HEARX as of the Original Execution Date those representations and warranties as set forth in Schedule H to this

Agreement (and acknowledges that HEARX relied upon, and is relying upon, those representations and warranties in connection with entering
into the Original Merger Agreement and this Agreement and in consummating the Arrangement).

5.2 Investigation

Any investigation by HEARX and its directors, officers, employees, advisors or representatives shall not mitigate, diminish or affect the

representations and warranties of Helix provided pursuant to this Agreement. Where the provisions of Schedule H or elsewhere in this
Agreement refer to disclosure in the Helix Disclosure Schedule, such disclosure shall be made expressly in response to the applicable provision.
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6. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF HEARX

6.1 Representations

HEARX hereby makes to Helix as of the Original Execution Date those representations and warranties set forth in Schedule I to this
Agreement (and acknowledges that Helix relied upon, and is relying upon, those representations and warranties in connection with entering into
the Original Merger Agreement and this Agreement and in consummating the Arrangement).

6.2 Investigation

Any investigation by Helix and its directors, officers, employees, advisors or representatives shall not mitigate, diminish or affect the
representations and warranties of HEARx provided pursuant to this Agreement. Where the provisions of Schedule I or elsewhere in this
Agreement refer to disclosure in the HEARx Disclosure Schedule, such disclosure shall be made expressly in response to the applicable
provision.

7. MUTUAL COVENANTS

7.1 Consultation

HEARX and Helix agree to consult with each other in issuing any press releases or otherwise making public statements with respect to the
Arrangement or any other Acquisition Proposal and in making any filings with any federal, provincial or state governmental or regulatory
agency or with any securities commission or exchange with respect thereto. Each party shall provide the other party with a reasonable
opportunity to review and consent to all such press releases prior to release thereof.

7.2 Further Assurance

Subject to the terms and conditions herein, HEARx and Helix shall use their respective reasonable best efforts to take, or cause to be taken,
all actions and to do, or cause to be done, all things necessary, proper or advisable under applicable laws and regulations, to consummate the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Arrangement. Helix and HEARX shall, and shall cause each of their respective subsidiaries
to, use their respective reasonable best efforts to (a) obtain all necessary waivers, consents and approvals from other parties to material loan
agreements, leases and other contracts or agreements (including, in particular but without limitation, the agreement of any persons as may be
required pursuant to any agreement, arrangement or understanding relating to Helix s operations), (b) obtain all necessary consents, approvals
and authorizations as are required to be obtained under any federal, provincial or foreign law or regulations with respect to this Agreement or the
Arrangement, (c) lift or rescind any injunction or restraining order or other order adversely affecting the ability of the parties to consummate the
transactions contemplated hereby or by the Arrangement and (d) fulfill all conditions and satisfy all provisions of this Agreement and the
Arrangement.

8. TERMINATION

8.1 Termination
This Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the Effective Time (as defined in Schedule B):

(a) by mutual written consent of HEARx and Helix;

(b) by either HEARX or Helix on or after June 30, 2002, if the Arrangement has not become effective; provided, that the right to
terminate this Agreement under this Section 8.1(b) shall not be available to any party whose failure to fulfill any material obligation under
this Agreement shall have been the cause of or shall have resulted in the failure of the Effective Time to occur on or before such date;
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(c) by HEARX upon the occurrence of an event described in Sections 4.1 (a), 4.1(b), 4.1(c) or 4.1(d) (other than upon the occurrence of
an event described in Section 8.1(d)) or by Helix upon the occurrence of an event described in Sections 4.1(e) or (f); or

(d) by HEARX if any Helix Common Shares are issued after the date of this Agreement upon conversion of the convertible debentures
originally issued to Toronto Dominion Bank or Sirrom Capital Corporation or in respect of any preemptive right or subscription rights of
Les Partenaires de Montreal, 175778 Canada Inc., Marcel Dutil or Gestion Fremican Inc.;

except that any obligations to pay the Break-up Fee set forth in Section 4.1 and compliance with Section 4.2 shall survive termination of this
Agreement.
8.2 Effect of Termination

In the event of termination of this Agreement by either HEARX or Helix as provided in Section 8.1, this Agreement shall forthwith become
void and have no effect, without any liability or obligation on the part of HEARx or Helix, other than the provisions of Sections 4.1, 4.2 and 8;
provided, however, that nothing herein shall relieve any party from any liability for any willful and material breach by such party of any of its
representations, warranties, covenants or agreements set forth in this Agreement.

9. MISCELLANEOUS

9.1 Amendment or Waiver

This Agreement may be amended, modified or superseded, and any of the terms, covenants, representations, warranties or conditions hereof
may be waived, but only by written instrument executed by HEARx and Helix; provided, however, that either HEARx or Helix may in its
discretion waive by written instrument a condition herein that is solely for its benefit without the consent of the other party. No waiver of any
nature, in any one or more instances, shall be deemed or construed as a further or continued waiver of any condition or any breach of any other
term, representation or warranty in this Agreement.

9.2 Entire Agreement

This Agreement including the schedules hereto and the documents referred to herein constitute the entire agreement between the parties
with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersede all prior agreements, arrangements or understandings with respect thereto, except the
confidentiality agreement between the parties.

9.3 Headings, etc.

The insertion of descriptive headings in this Agreement is for convenience of reference only and shall not control or affect the meaning or
construction of any of the provisions of this Agreement. Unless otherwise stated, all references herein to sections and schedules are to the
sections and schedules in this Agreement.

9.4 Notices

All notices or other communications that are required or permitted hereunder shall be communicated confidentially and in writing and shall
be delivered personally or by an internationally recognized overnight delivery service, or sent by facsimile (with receipt confirmed by sending
machine) addressed as set forth below. The date of receipt of any such notice or other communication if delivered personally or by overnight
delivery service shall be deemed to be the date of delivery thereof or if sent by facsimile transmission, the date of such transmission, if received
prior to 4:30 p.m. on a business day (at the place of receipt), and otherwise on the next business day.
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To HEARXx: 1250 Northpoint Parkway
West Palm Beach, FL 33407
Attention: President
Fax No.: (561) 688-8893

With a copy to: BRYAN CAVE LLP
700 13™ Street, N.W.
Washington, DC 20005
Attention: LaDawn Naegle
Fax No.: (202) 508-6200

and to: Ogilvy Renault
Suite 1100, Box 11
Merrill Lynch Canada Tower
200 King Street West
Toronto, Canada M5H 3T4
Attention: Richard S. Sutin
Fax No.: (416) 977-5239

To Helix: Helix Hearing Care of America Corp.
7100, Jean-Talon East
Suite 610
Montreal, QC HIM 3S3
Attention: President
Fax No.: (514) 353-0029

with a copy to: FRASER MILNER CASGRAIN LLP
1, Place Ville Marie
39" floor
Montreal, Québec
H3B 4M7
Attention: Paul F. Dingle and
Charles R. Spector
Fax No.: (514) 878-8800
Fax No.: (514) 866-2241
9.5 Counterparts

This agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and each such counterpart shall be deemed to be an original instrument but
all such counterparts together shall constitute one agreement.

9.6 Expenses

Each party will pay its own expenses. HEARx and Helix represent and warrant to each other that no broker, finder or investment banker is
entitled to any brokerage, finder s or other fee or commission, or to the reimbursement of any of its expenses, in connection with the
Arrangement and Helix has provided to HEARx a correct and complete copy of all agreements between Helix and each of its financial advisors
as are in existence at the Original Execution Date. Helix covenants not to amend the terms of any such agreement relating to the payment of fees
and expenses or indemnities without the express prior written approval of HEARX.

9.7 Assignment

Neither this Agreement nor any of the rights, interests or obligations under this Agreement shall be assigned, in whole or in part, by
operation of law or otherwise by either of the parties hereto without the prior written consent of the other party except that HEARx may assign,
in its sole discretion, any or all of its rights,
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interests and obligations hereunder to any direct or indirect wholly owned subsidiary of HEARX; provided, that HEARx shall be obligated to
cause such subsidiary to comply with its obligations under or related to this Agreement. Any assignment in violation of the preceding sentence
shall be void. Subject to the preceding two sentences, this Agreement will be binding upon, inure to the benefit of, and be enforceable by, the
parties and their respective successors and assigns.

9.8 Severability

If any term, provision, covenant or restriction of this Agreement is held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void or
unenforceable, the remainder of the terms, provisions, covenants and restrictions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect and shall
in no way be effected, impaired or invalidated and the parties shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement to preserve each party s
anticipated benefits under this Agreement.

9.9 Choice of Law

This agreement shall be governed by, construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the Province of Québec.

9.10 Currency

All references herein to monetary amounts refer to Canadian dollars unless otherwise specified.

9.11 Remedies

The parties hereto agree that irreparable damage would occur in the event that any of the provisions of this Agreement were not performed
in accordance with their specific terms or were otherwise breached. It is accordingly unconditionally and irrevocably agreed that the parties shall
be entitled to an injunction or injunctions to remedy or prevent non-compliance or breaches with the terms of this Agreement and to enforce
specifically the terms and provisions hereof in any court having jurisdiction, without the requirement to post bond or other security and without
proof of actual damages in the event of any actual or threatened non-compliance or breach; provided that such remedies shall be in addition to,
and not in substitution for, any other remedy to which the parties may be entitled at law or in equity.

9.12 Survival

None of the representations and warranties in this Agreement shall survive the Effective Time. This Section 9.12 shall not limit any
covenant or agreement of the parties that by its terms contemplates performance after the Effective Time.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed and delivered on their behalf by their officers
thereunto duly authorized as of the date first written above.

HEARX LTD.

By: /s PAUL A. BROWN

Paul A. Brown, M.D.
Chief Executive Officer

HELIX HEARING CARE OF AMERICA CORP.

By: /s/ STEVE FORGET

Steve Forget
Chief Executive Officer
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SCHEDULE A
CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO THE ARRANGEMENT

1. HEARx s Conditions of the Arrangement. The obligations of HEARX to complete the Arrangement shall be subject to the following
conditions:

(a) the representations and warranties of Helix in this Agreement shall be true and correct in all material respects on the Original
Execution Date and shall also be true and correct in all material respects at and as of the Effective Time (as that term is defined in
Schedule B below) with the same force and effect as if made on and as of the Effective Time except for such changes as are specifically
contemplated by this Agreement or for representations and warranties that address matters only as of a particular date (which representations
and warranties shall remain true and correct as of such date);

(b) Helix shall have performed and complied in all material respects with all covenants and agreements required by this Agreement to
be performed or complied with by Helix on or before the Effective Time;

(c) the Arrangement and such other matters as shall require approval of the shareholders of HEARx and Helix in order to consummate
the Arrangement and the other transactions contemplated hereby shall have been approved and adopted by the shareholders of HEARx and
Helix as contemplated by this Agreement;

(d) no act, action, suit or proceeding shall have been threatened or taken before or by any federal, provincial, state or foreign court or
other tribunal or governmental agency or other regulatory or administrative agency or commission or by any elected or appointed public
official or private person (including without limitation any individual, corporation, firm, group or other entity) in Canada or elsewhere,
whether or not having the force of law, and no law, regulation or policy shall have been proposed, enacted, promulgated or applied, whether
or not having the force of law, which could reasonably be expected to have the effect of:

(1) making illegal, or otherwise directly or indirectly restraining or prohibiting or making materially more costly, the completion of
the Arrangement or any material part thereof,

(i) prohibiting or materially limiting the ownership or operation by Helix or any Helix Subsidiary, or by HEARX, directly or
indirectly, of all or any material portion of the business or assets of Helix, or any Helix Subsidiary,

(iil) imposing or confirming limitations on the ability of HEARX, directly or indirectly, effectively to acquire or hold or to exercise
full rights of ownership of the Helix Common Shares, including without limitation the right to vote any Helix Common Shares acquired
or owned by HEARX, directly or indirectly, on all matters properly presented to the Helix Shareholders,

(iv) requiring divestiture by HEARX, directly or indirectly, of any Helix Common Shares, or material assets of Helix or the Helix
Subsidiaries, or

(v) materially adversely affecting the business, financial condition or results of operations of Helix and the Helix Subsidiaries taken
as a whole or the value of the Helix Common Shares to HEARx;

(e) there shall not exist any prohibition at law against completion of the Arrangement and the consummation of the Arrangement shall
not result in a breach of or default under, or constitute an event which, with the passage of time or the giving of notice, could constitute a
default under, any loan agreement, indenture, mortgage, lease or other material agreement of HEARx or Helix;

(f) there shall not have occurred any change (or any condition, event or development involving a prospective change) in the business,
operations, assets, capitalization, financial condition, licenses, permits, rights, privileges, prospects or liabilities (including without
limitation any contingent liabilities that may arise through outstanding, pending or threatened litigation or otherwise), whether contractual or
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otherwise, of Helix or any Helix Subsidiary which, in the sole judgment of HEARX, is or would be materially adverse to the business of
Helix and the Helix Subsidiaries considered on a consolidated basis or to the value of the Helix Common Shares to HEARX;

(g) HEARX shall have determined in its sole judgment that Helix has not taken or proposed to take any action, or publicly disclosed that
it intends to take any action, and HEARX shall not have otherwise learned of any previous action taken by Helix which had not been
publicly disclosed, which, in the sole judgment of HEARX, might make it inadvisable for HEARX to proceed with the Arrangement, or that
would be materially adverse to the business of Helix and the Helix Subsidiaries considered on a consolidated basis or to the value of the
Helix Common Shares to HEARX; including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, any action with respect to any agreement,
proposal, offer or understanding relating to any material sale, disposition or other dealing with any of the assets or contracts of Helix or any
of the Helix Subsidiaries (other than any such sale, disposition or other dealing between Helix and any wholly owned Helix Subsidiary), any
issue of shares, options or other securities of Helix to any person other than a wholly owned Helix subsidiary, any material acquisition from
a third party of assets or securities by Helix or any of the Helix Subsidiaries, or any take over bid, amalgamation, statutory arrangement,
capital reorganization, merger, business combination or similar transaction involving Helix or any of the Helix Subsidiaries, or any material
capital expenditure by Helix or any of the Helix Subsidiaries not in the ordinary course of business;

(h) all approvals or exemptions under the Investment Canada Act in connection with the Arrangement shall have been obtained on
terms and conditions satisfactory to HEARX in its sole determination;

(1) any other requisite regulatory approvals (including without limitation those of any stock exchanges, securities authorities or other
regulatory authorities) in connection with the Arrangement shall have been obtained on terms satisfactory to HEARX, in its sole judgment;

(§) () it shall not have been publicly disclosed or HEARX shall not have otherwise become aware that beneficial ownership or control of
15% or more of the outstanding Helix Common Shares has been acquired by any person or group (including without limitation Helix or any
of the Helix Subsidiaries or affiliates), other than HEARx or any of its affiliates, or

(i1) (A) the board of directors of Helix or any committee thereof shall not have approved or recommended any proposal or any
other acquisition of Helix Common Shares other than the Arrangement,

(B) any corporation, partnership, person or other entity or group shall not have entered into a definitive agreement or an
agreement in principle with Helix with respect to a take-over bid (other than the Arrangement), tender offer or exchange offer,
merger, sale of assets, amalgamation, plan of arrangement, reorganization, consolidation, business combination, recapitalization,
liquidation, dissolution or similar transaction with or involving Helix or any of the Helix Subsidiaries, or

(C) the board of directors of Helix or any committee thereof shall not have resolved to do any of the foregoing;

(k) if dissent rights have been granted in respect of the Arrangement, holders of not more than 5% of the Helix Common Shares shall
have exercised the right of dissent;

(1) HEARXx shall have obtained financing for a principal amount of no less than US$25,000,000 with a lender on terms reasonably
acceptable to HEARx and Helix; and

(m) Helix shall have obtained the consent of SCC Canada, Inc., as agent for Sirrom Capital Corporation and The Toronto Dominion
Bank, and Les Partenaires de Montreal, s.e.c. (Montreal Partners) to the Arrangement and the transactions contemplated hereby on such
terms and conditions as are reasonably acceptable to HEARX.
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(n) Helix shall have terminated the Subscription Agreement between Helix and Les Partenaires de Montreal, 175778 Canada Inc.,
Marcel Dutil, Gestion Fremican Inc., Steve Forget, Luc Parent, Martin Cousineau and Richard Doucet on such terms and conditions as are
reasonably acceptable to HEARX.
The foregoing conditions are for the exclusive benefit of HEARx and may be waived by HEARX in whole or in part at any time and from
time to time, both before or after the Effective Date.

2. Helix s Conditions of the Arrangement. The obligations of Helix to complete the Arrangement shall be subject to the following
conditions:

(a) the representations and warranties of HEARX in this Agreement shall be true and correct in all material respects on the Original
Execution Date and shall also be true and correct in all material respects at and as of the Effective Time with the same force and effect as if
made on and as of the Effective Time except for such changes as are specifically contemplated by this Agreement or for representations and
warranties that address matters only as of a particular date (which representations and warranties shall remain true and correct as of such
date);

(b) HEARX shall have performed and complied in all material respects with all covenants and agreements required by this Agreement
to be performed or complied with by HEARX on or before the Effective Time;

(c) the Arrangement and such other matters as shall require approval of the shareholders of HEARx and Helix in order to consummate
the Arrangement and the other transactions contemplated hereby shall have been approved and adopted by the shareholders of HEARx and
Helix as contemplated by this Agreement;

(d) no act, action, suit or proceeding shall have been threatened or taken before or by any federal, provincial, state or foreign court or
other tribunal or governmental agency or other regulatory or administrative agency or commission or by any elected or appointed public
official or private person (including without limitation any individual, corporation, firm, group or other entity) in Canada or the United
States, whether or not having the force of law, and no law, regulation or policy shall have been proposed, enacted, promulgated or applied,
whether or not having the force of law, which could reasonably be expected to have the effect of making illegal, or otherwise directly or
indirectly restraining or prohibiting or making materially more costly, the completion of the Arrangement or any material part thereof,

(e) any requisite regulatory approvals (including without limitation those of any stock exchanges, securities authorities or other
regulatory authorities) in connection with the Arrangement shall have been obtained on terms reasonably satisfactory to Helix;

(f) any other third party approvals and waivers necessary in connection with consummation of the Arrangement and the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement, including the waiver of the right of first refusal by The Permanente Federation LLC in connection with the
HEARx West LLC Agreement as between The Permanente Federation LLC and HEARX, shall have been obtained by HEARX on terms
reasonably satisfactory to Helix;

(g) HEARKX shall have obtained financing for a principal amount of no less than US $25,000,000 with a lender on terms reasonably
acceptable to HEARx and Helix; and

(h) HEARX shall have provided Helix with evidence that the Prior Written Approval of the Company provided pursuant to Section 3.7
of this Agreement remains in effect and has not been rescinded or modified in any way.

The foregoing conditions are for the exclusive benefit of Helix and may be waived by Helix in whole or in part at any time and from time to
time, both before or after the Effective Date.
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SCHEDULE B

TERMS OF PLAN OF ARRANGEMENT

The Plan of Arrangement shall provide for the conversion of the Helix Common Shares, options and other securities to purchase the Helix
Common Shares substantially as described in this Schedule, subject to change as provided in Section 1.2 of the Agreement.

(a) At 12:01 a.m. (the Effective Time ) on the Effective Date shown on the certificate of arrangement issued under the Act giving effect
to the Arrangement, the following shall occur and be deemed to occur without any further act or formality:

(i) each of the outstanding Helix Common Shares, other than shares ( Dissenting Shares ) held by a shareholder who has exercised
its right of dissent in accordance with the Interim Order and is ultimately entitled to be paid the fair value of its Helix Common Shares,
will be transferred to HEARx Canada in consideration for, at the election of the holders of the Helix Common Shares and subject to
section (b) below:

(A) the HEARX Stock Consideration (defined below); or

(B) the Exchangeable Shares Consideration (defined below).

HEARX may, at its discretion, require that each holder of a Helix Common Share receive the HEARx Stock Consideration or the
Exchangeable Shares Consideration.

(ii) as used herein, the following terms have the meanings set forth below:

(A) Exchange Ratio is equal to 0.3537 shares of HEARx Common Stock or Exchangeable Shares for each Helix Common
Share,

(B) Exchangeable Shares Consideration is equal to the number of Exchangeable Shares at the Exchange Ratio to which a
holder of Helix Common Shares electing to receive Exchangeable Shares is entitled,

(C) HEARXx Purchase Rights means the preferred stock purchase rights issued pursuant to the HEARx Rights Agreement,

(D) HEARXx Stock Consideration is the number of shares of HEARx Common Stock at the Exchange Ratio to which a holder
of Helix Common Shares electing to receive HEARx Common Stock is entitled, together with a corresponding number of HEARx
Purchase Rights.

(b) A holder of Helix Common Shares shall make the election in section (a) above by depositing with a Canadian commercial bank
selected by HEARX and reasonably acceptable to Helix (the Depositary ), prior to the date which is two days prior to the date of the Helix
Meeting (the Election Deadline ), a duly completed letter of transmittal and election form (the Letter of Transmittal and Election Form ) in
the form provided by Helix. In the event that a holder of Helix Common Shares has failed to validly make an election in the Letter of
Transmittal and Election Form pursuant to this paragraph, such holder shall be deemed to have made the election to receive the
Exchangeable Shares Consideration. Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, holders of Helix Common Shares
who are not resident in Canada for the purposes of the Income Tax Act (Canada) (the ITA ) shall not be entitled to elect to receive
Exchangeable Shares and any such election shall be deemed to be an election to receive the HEARx Stock Consideration.

(c) Upon the transfer of shares referred to in section (a) above: (A) each holder of a Helix Common Share shall cease to be such a
holder, shall have his name removed from the register of holders of Helix Common Shares and shall be entitled to become a holder of the
number of fully paid Exchangeable Shares and/or shares of HEARx Common Stock to which he is entitled as a result of the transfer of
shares referred to in section (a) and such holder s name shall be added to the register of holders of such securities accordingly; and
(B) HEARx Canada shall become the legal and beneficial owner of all of the Helix Common Shares so transferred.

A-22

Table of Contents 66



Edgar Filing: PROASSURANCE CORP - Form 4

Table of Contents

(d) Holders of Helix Common Shares who are residents of Canada for the purposes of the ITA and who have elected to receive
Exchangeable Shares under section (a)(i)(B) above shall be entitled to make an income tax election pursuant to Section 85 of the ITA (and,
if applicable, analogous provisions of provincial income tax legislation) with respect to the transfer of their Helix Common Shares to
HEARXx Canada referred to in section (a)(i) by providing three signed copies of the necessary election forms to HEARx Canada within
90 days following the Effective Date, duly completed with the details of the number of shares transferred and the applicable agreed amounts
for the purposes of such elections. Thereafter, subject to the election forms complying with the provisions of the ITA (and, if applicable,
analogous provisions of provincial income tax legislation), the forms will be signed by HEARx Canada and two signed copies will be
returned to such holders of Helix Common Shares for filing with the Canada Customs and Revenue Agency and the applicable provincial
tax authorities.

(e) Prior to the Effective Time, HEARX shall cause HEARx Canada to authorize and issue the Exchangeable Shares pursuant to the
agreements and instrument described below, with such changes as HEARx and Helix may deem appropriate, provided that such changes do
not materially alter the economic equivalency of an Exchangeable Share and a share of HEARx Common Stock:

(i) HEARX shall cause HEARx Canada to include the Share Provisions described on Schedule J in HEARx Canada s Articles of
Incorporation;

(i1)) HEARXx shall cause the share of Special Voting Stock described in Schedule K to be duly authorized;

(iii)) HEARXx shall deposit the share of Special Voting Stock with the Depository and shall execute, and cause HEARx Canada and
HEARX Acquisition ULC, a Nova Scotia unlimited liability company ( HEARXx Acquisition ), to execute, the Voting and Exchange
Trust Agreement in the form of Schedule L; and

(iv) HEARX shall, and shall cause HEARx Canada and HEARx Acquisition to, execute the Support Agreement in the form of
Schedule M.

(f) Each of the outstanding options to purchase Helix Common Shares other than options held by a holder who has exercised its right of
dissent in accordance with the Interim Order and is ultimately entitled to be paid the fair value of its options (collectively, the Helix
Options ) will, at the Effective Time, and without any further action on the part of any holder thereof, be exchanged for substantially
identical options issued by HEARX to purchase that number of shares of HEARx Common Stock determined by multiplying the number of
shares of Helix Common Shares subject to such Helix Option at the Effective Time by the Exchange Ratio, at an exercise price per share of
HEARx Common Stock equal to the exercise price per share of such Helix Option immediately prior to the Effective Time (as adjusted for
conversion from Canadian dollars to US dollars as of the Effective Time) divided by the Exchange Ratio. If the foregoing calculation results
in an exchanged Helix Option being exercisable for a fraction of a share of HEARx Common Stock, then the number of shares of HEARx
Common Stock subject to such option shall be rounded down to the nearest whole number of shares and the total exercise price for the
option will be reduced by the exercise price for the fractional share. Such options, whether or not then exercisable or vested, will continue to
have, and be subject to, the same vesting schedule and will otherwise be on substantially the same terms and conditions as the original Helix
Options to which they relate; provided, however, that any Helix Option which is an employee stock option shall be exchanged for a HEARx
Option with a term of ten years from the original issuance date of the Helix Option.

(g) As of the Effective Time, in accordance with the respective terms thereof, all outstanding Helix Convertible Securities (other than
Helix Options) shall be exercisable into Exchangeable Shares based on the Exchange Ratio.

(h) No fractional Exchangeable Share and no fractional shares of HEARx Common Stock shall be issued pursuant to the Arrangement.
Any holder of Helix Common Shares who would otherwise be entitled to receive a fraction of an Exchangeable Share or fraction of a share
of HEARx Common Stock, as the case may be, shall, upon surrender of the certificate or certificates representing Helix Common
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Shares, receive a certificate adjusted to the next lower whole number of Exchangeable Shares or shares of HEARx Common Stock, as the
case may be.

(1) The Exchange Ratio shall be adjusted to reflect fully the effect of any share split, reverse split, share dividend (including any
dividend or distribution of securities convertible into HEARx Common Stock), reorganization, recapitalization, or other like change with
respect to the HEARx Common Stock occurring after the Original Execution Date and prior to the Effective Time.

(j) HEARx Canada shall be incorporated as a corporation under the Act.

(k) HEARx Acquisition shall be incorporated as an unlimited liability company under Section 9 of the Companies Act (Nova Scotia).
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3319725 Canada, Inc.

Les Partenaires de Montreal s.e.c.
Duval Holdings Inc.

Steve Forget

Martin Cousineau

Richard Doucet

Luc Parent

Gestion Fremican Inc.
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SCHEDULE F
OTHER EFFECTS OF ARRANGEMENT
DIRECTORS (NINE TOTAL):

Paul A. Brown (Chairman)
Steve Forget (Vice Chairman)
Stephen J. Hansbrough
Thomas W. Archibald

Joseph L. Gitterman III
David J. MacLachlan

Martin Cousineau

Michel Labadie

Mark Wayne

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE:

Steven Hansbrough
Steve Forget
Martin Cousineau
Francois Tellier
Gino Chouinard
Jim Peklenk

Bryan Burgett
Donna Taylor

OFFICERS:

Paul A. Brown (Chairman)

Stephen J. Hansbrough (Chief Executive Officer)
Steve Forget (President)

James Peklenk (Co-Chief Financial Officer)
Gino Chouinard (Co-Chief Financial Officer)
Donna Taylor (Division COO)

Martin Cousineau (Division COO)

MATTERS REQUIRING SUPER MAJORITY DIRECTOR APPROVAL:
(a) A reorganization, merger, spin-off or sale, in whole or part, of HEARX or any of its affiliates, subsidiaries and divisions;
(b) The issuance of capital stock or any other transaction involving HEARX capital stock;
(c) Any equity or debt financing of more than US $5 million;
(d) Any acquisition for a consideration of more than US $5 million;
(e) Approval of an annual budget;
(f) Material changes to the initial business plan for HEARXx;

(g) Appointment of the Chairman, Vice Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, President, Chief Operating Officer, Chief Financial Officer
of HEARX and each of its subsidiaries or divisions;

(h) Appointment of the members of the Compensation, Corporation Governance, Audit and Executive Committees; and
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SCHEDULE H

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF HELIX

1. Organization. Helix and each partnership, joint venture, corporation, association or other business entity of which more than 50% of the
total votes attached to all outstanding shares, or units of ownership or beneficial interest, entitled to vote in the election of directors (or members
of a comparable governing body) is owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by Helix (collectively in this Schedule H, the Helix Subsidiaries ,
provided that unless the context otherwise requires, all representations and warranties of Helix in this Schedule H shall be deemed to be
representations and warranties of Helix and the Helix Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis), is duly incorporated or formed, duly organized,
validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation or formation, has full requisite power and authority to
carry on its business as it is currently conducted, and to own, lease and operate the properties currently owned, leased and operated by it, and is
duly qualified or licensed to do business and is in good standing as a foreign corporation or organization authorized to do business in all
jurisdictions in which the character of the properties owned or leased or the nature of the business conducted by it would make such qualification
or licensing necessary, except where the failure to be so qualified or licensed would not have a material adverse effect on Helix. The Helix
Disclosure Schedule sets forth a true and complete list of all of the Helix Subsidiaries, together with the jurisdiction of incorporation or
formation for each Helix Subsidiary. All of the outstanding shares of capital stock and other ownership interests of the Helix Subsidiaries are
validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable and, except as set forth in Helix Disclosure Schedule, all such shares and other ownership interests
are owned directly or indirectly by Helix free and clear of all material liens, claims or encumbrances, and there are no outstanding options,
rights, entitlements, understandings or commitments (contingent or otherwise) regarding the right to acquire any shares of capital stock or other
ownership interests in any of the Helix Subsidiaries. Except as set forth in the Helix Disclosure Schedule, Helix does not directly or indirectly
own any shares of capital stock or other ownership interests, or any options, rights, entitlements, understandings or commitments to acquire any
capital stock or other ownership interests, in any partnership, joint venture, corporation, association or other business entity. Helix has made
available to HEARX prior to the execution of this Agreement true and correct copies of the articles of incorporation and by-laws, each as
amended to date, of Helix and each of the Helix Subsidiaries.

2. Capitalization. The authorized share capital of Helix consists of an unlimited number of common shares, an unlimited number of first
preferred shares and an unlimited number of second preferred shares. As of the Original Execution Date, there are 41,064,482 common shares
issued and outstanding and no first preferred shares or second preferred shares issued and outstanding. All issued and outstanding common
shares have been duly authorized, validly issued and are fully paid and non-assessable. As of the Original Execution Date, up to a maximum of
13,231,113 common shares may be issued pursuant to the Helix Convertible Securities, a list of which is included in the Helix Disclosure
Schedule. Except as described in the immediately preceding sentence, there are no options, warrants, conversion privileges or other rights,
agreements, arrangements or commitments (whether by law, preemptive right, contract or otherwise) obligating Helix or any Helix Subsidiaries
to issue or sell any shares in the share capital of Helix or any of the Helix Subsidiaries or securities or obligations of any kind convertible into or
exchangeable for any shares in the share capital of Helix, any of the Helix Subsidiaries or any other person, nor is there outstanding any share
appreciation rights, phantom equity or similar rights, agreements, arrangements or commitments based upon the book value, income or any other
attribute of Helix or the Helix Subsidiaries. To the knowledge of Helix, except as set forth in the Helix Disclosure Schedule, no person or group
beneficially owns 5% or more of Helix s outstanding voting securities.

3. Authority. Helix has the requisite corporate power and authority to enter into this Agreement, to perform its obligations hereunder and to
consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. The execution and delivery of this Agreement by Helix and the consummation by
Helix of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement have been duly authorized by the board of directors of Helix and no other corporate
proceedings on the part of Helix are necessary to authorize this Agreement or the transaction contemplated hereby other than approval by the
Shareholders of Helix as contemplated by Section 1.1. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by Helix and constitutes the legal,
valid and binding

A-30

Table of Contents 75



Edgar Filing: PROASSURANCE CORP - Form 4

Table of Contents

obligation of Helix, enforceable against Helix in accordance with its terms. Except as set forth in the Helix Disclosure Schedule, the execution
and delivery by Helix of this Agreement and performance by it of its obligations hereunder and the completion of the Arrangement and
transactions contemplated by this Agreement will not:

(a) result in a violation or breach of, require any consent to be obtained under or give rise to any termination rights under any provision
of:

(1) its or any of the Helix Subsidiaries certificate of incorporation, articles, by-laws or other charter documents, including any
shareholder agreement or any other agreement or understanding with any party holding an ownership interest in any of the Helix
Subsidiaries;

(i1) any law, regulation, order, judgment or decree; or

(iii) any material contract, agreement, license, franchise or permit to which Helix or any of the Helix Subsidiaries is bound or is
subject or is the beneficiary;

(b) cause any default (with or without notice or lapse of time, or both), or event which would give rise to, cause or permit any right of
termination, amendment, cancellation or acceleration, or cause the loss of any material benefit under any term, condition or provision of any
loan or credit agreement, note, bond, mortgage, indenture or other indebtedness, or cause any indebtedness to come due before its stated
maturity or cause any available credit to cease to be available;

(c) result in the imposition of any encumbrance, charge or lien upon any of its assets or the assets of any of the Helix Subsidiaries, or
restrict, hinder, impair or limit the ability of Helix or any of the Helix Subsidiaries to carry on the business of Helix or any of the Helix
Subsidiaries as and where it is now being carried on or as and where it may be carried on in the future; or

(d) require the consent, approval, order or authorization of, action by, or in respect of, or registration, declaration or filing with, any
regulatory or other governmental authority or any other third party.

4. No Defaults. Neither Helix nor any Helix Subsidiary is, or has received notice that it would be with the passage of time, in default or
violation of any term condition or provision of (i) its charter documents or bylaws; (ii) any judgment, decree or order applicable to it; or (iii) any
loan or credit agreement, note, bond, mortgage, indenture, material contract, agreement, lease, license or other instrument to which Helix or any
of the Helix Subsidiaries is now a party or by which it or any of its properties or assets may be bound, except in the case of item (iii) for defaults
and violations that, individually or in the aggregate, would not have, or would not reasonably be expected to have, a material adverse affect on
Helix or its ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement.

5. Absence of Changes. Since November 30, 2000, and except as set forth in the Helix Disclosure Schedule:
(a) Helix and the Helix Subsidiaries have conducted their respective businesses only in the ordinary course of their businesses;

(b) there has not been any material adverse change in the financial condition, results of operations, prospects, assets, liabilities or
business of Helix or the Helix Subsidiaries;

(c) there has not been any material damage, destruction or loss to the business or properties of Helix or the Helix Subsidiaries (whether
or not covered by insurance);

(d) there has not been any declaration, setting aside or payment of any dividend or other distribution in respect of the Helix Common
Shares, or any direct or indirect redemption, purchase or any other acquisition by Helix of any such shares;

(e) there has not been any change in the Helix Common Shares or in the number of shares or classes of Helix s authorized or outstanding
share capital (other than as a result of exercises of currently outstanding options and warrants);
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(f) no liability or obligation of any nature (whether absolute, accrued, contingent or otherwise) material to Helix or any of the Helix
Subsidiaries has been incurred;

(g) neither Helix nor any of the Helix Subsidiaries has disposed of or acquired any property or assets other than in the ordinary course
of business;

(h) Helix and the Helix Subsidiaries have not made any change in accounting principles and practices as theretofore applied including,
without limitation, the basis upon which its assets and liabilities are recorded on its books and earnings and profits and losses are
ascertained;

(1) Helix and the Helix Subsidiaries have not made any general change in salary and other compensation levels and have not entered
into any agreements, whether in writing or oral, providing for payments to be made to any employees or officers of Helix or the Helix
Subsidiaries in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby;

(j) Helix and the Helix Subsidiaries have not made or incurred any material loans or advances (other than loans or advances between
Helix and any Helix Subsidiary or between Helix Subsidiaries); and

(k) Helix and the Helix Subsidiaries have not made any payments to or entered into any agreement with any person or entity not dealing
atarm s length with Helix or the Helix Subsidiaries, as the case may be.

6. Additional Corporation Information. The Helix Disclosure Schedule sets forth true, complete and correct lists of the following items
with respect to Helix and the Helix Subsidiaries, and Helix has heretofore made available to HEARX true, complete and correct copies of any
documents referred to in such lists and written summaries of all oral contracts or arrangements referred to in such lists (including all
amendments, modifications and supplements thereto and all side letters related thereto):

(a) Material Contracts. All material contracts which may involve annual payments to or from any party of an amount in excess of
US$100,000 or aggregate payments to or from any party over a term of three years in excess of US$500,000;

(b) Employee Compensation Plans. All bonus, retention bonus, company severance policy, employee stock option plans, incentive
compensation, deferred compensation, profit-sharing, retirement, pension, welfare, group insurance, death benefit, or other fringe benefit
plans, arrangements or trust agreements, together with copies of the most recent reports with respect to such plans, arrangements or trust
agreements filed with any governmental entity and all tax determination letters that have been received with respect to such plans;

(c) Employee Agreements. Any collective bargaining agreements with any labour union or other representative of employees, including
amendments and supplements, in each case covering 10 or more employees, all employment agreements involving, individually,
remuneration greater than CDN $100,000 per annum and all executive termination agreements;

(d) Patents. All patents, trademarks, copyrights and other material intellectual property rights owned, licensed or used;
(e) Trade Names. All trade names and fictitious names used or held, whether and where such names are registered and where used;

(f) Promissory Notes. All long-term and short-term promissory notes, installment contracts, loan agreements, credit agreements or any
other evidence of indebtedness and any other agreements relating thereto or with respect to collateral securing the same; and

(g) Guarantees. All indebtedness, liabilities and commitments of others and as to which it is a guarantor, endorser, co-maker, surety or
accommodation maker, or is contingently liable therefor (excluding liabilities as an endorser of checks and the like in the ordinary course of
business) and all letters of credit, whether stand-by or documentary, issued by any third party.
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7. Employment Agreements; Related Party Transactions. Except as set forth in the Helix Disclosure Schedule, neither Helix nor any of
the Helix Subsidiaries is a party to any written or oral policy, agreement, obligation or understanding providing for severance or termination
payments to, or any employment agreement with, any person. Except as set forth in the Helix Disclosure Schedule, there are no transactions or
arrangements between Helix or any Helix Subsidiary and, or any outstanding loans or advances to or any guarantee or credit enhancement for
the benefit of, any director or officer of Helix or any Helix Subsidiary or any person affiliated or related to any such director or officer or any
other person or entity controlling or under common control with Helix.

8. Disclosure. The Helix Disclosure Schedule sets forth all information regarding any event, circumstance or action taken or failed to be
taken which could materially and adversely affect the business, operations, assets, capitalization, financial condition, prospects, rights or
liabilities of or relating to Helix or any of the Helix Subsidiaries. No representation or warranty made by Helix in this Agreement, nor any
document, written information statement, financial statement, certificate or exhibit prepared and furnished or to be prepared and furnished by
Helix or its representatives pursuant hereto or in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, when taken together, contained any
untrue statement of a material fact when made, or omitted to state a material fact necessary to make the statements or facts contained herein or
therein not misleading in light of the circumstances under which they were furnished.

9. Securities Reports and Financial Statements. Helix has filed all forms, reports and documents with the applicable Canadian securities
commissions or regulatory authorities required to be filed by it pursuant to relevant Canadian securities statutes, regulations, policies and rules
(collectively, the Helix Securities Reports ), all of which have complied in all material respects with all applicable requirements of such statutes,
regulations, policies and rules. None of Helix Securities Reports, at the time filed or as subsequently amended, contained any untrue statement of
a material fact or omitted to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements made therein, in light
of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. The financial statements of Helix contained in Helix Securities Reports
complied in all material respects with the then applicable accounting requirements and the published rules and regulations of the relevant
Canadian securities statutes with respect thereto, were prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles applied
on a consistent basis during the periods involved (except as may have been indicated in the notes thereto or, in the case of unaudited statements,
as permitted by applicable laws, rules or regulations) and fairly present in all material respects (subject, in the case of the unaudited statements,
to normal, year-end audit adjustments) the consolidated financial position of Helix and the Helix Subsidiaries as of the respective dates thereof
and the consolidated results of their operations and cash flows for the respective periods then ended. There has been no change in the accounting
policies or the methods of making accounting estimates of Helix or changes in estimates that are material to such financial statements, except as
described in the notes thereto. Except (a) as reflected in such financial statements or in the notes thereto, (b) for liabilities incurred in connection
with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, or (c) for liabilities incurred in the ordinary course of business since the date of
the most recent financial statements included in the Helix Securities Reports, neither Helix nor any Helix Subsidiary has any liabilities of any
kind whatsoever, whether accrued, contingent, absolute, due, to become due, determined, determinable or otherwise that would have, or would
reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse effect on Helix.

10. Books and Records. The books, records and accounts of Helix and the Helix Subsidiaries (a) have been maintained in accordance with
good business practices on a basis consistent with prior years, (b) are stated in reasonable detail and accurately and fairly reflect the transactions
and dispositions of the assets of Helix and the Helix Subsidiaries and (c) accurately and fairly reflect the basis for Helix s financial statements.
Helix has devised and maintains a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide reasonable assurances that (a) transactions are
executed in accordance with management s general or specific authorization; and (b) transactions are recorded as necessary (i) to permit
preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles and any other criteria applicable to
such statements and (ii) to maintain accountability for assets.
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11. Litigation, etc. Except as set forth in the Helix Disclosure Schedule, there is no claim, action, suit, proceeding or investigation pending
or, to the knowledge of Helix, threatened against or relating to Helix or any of the Helix Subsidiaries or affecting any of their properties or assets
before any court or governmental or regulatory authority or body that, if adversely determined, is likely to have a material adverse effect on
Helix or any of the Helix Subsidiaries or prevent or materially delay consummation of the Arrangement and other transactions contemplated by
this Agreement, nor is Helix aware of any basis for any such claim, action, proceeding or investigation. Neither Helix nor any of the Helix
Subsidiaries is subject to any outstanding judgment, rule, order, writ, injunction or decree that has had or is reasonably likely to have a material
adverse effect on Helix or any of the Helix Subsidiaries or prevent or materially delay consummation of the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement.

12. Environmental. Except as set forth in the Helix Disclosure Schedule, neither Helix nor any of the Helix Subsidiaries is aware of, or has
received:

(a) any order or directive which relates to environmental matters, and which requires any material work, repairs, construction, or capital
expenditures; or

(b) any demand or notice with respect to the material breach of any environmental, health, or safety law applicable to Helix or any of
the Helix Subsidiaries, including, without limitation, any regulations respecting the use, storage, treatment, transportation, or disposition of
environmental contaminants.

13. Insurance. Policies of insurance in force as of the Original Execution Date naming Helix as an insured adequately cover all risks
reasonably and prudently foreseeable in the operation and conduct of the business of Helix and the Helix Subsidiaries. All such policies of
insurance shall remain in force and effect and shall not be cancelled or otherwise terminated as a result of the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement.

14. Tax Matters.
(a) Definitions. For purposes of this Agreement (including this Schedule H and Schedule I below), the following definitions shall apply:

(1) The term Taxes shall mean all taxes, however denominated, including any interest, penalties or other additions that may become
payable in respect thereof, imposed by any federal, provincial, territorial, state, local or foreign government or any agency or political
subdivision of any such government, which taxes shall include, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, all income or profits
taxes (including, but not limited to, federal income taxes and provincial income taxes), capital taxes, withholding taxes, payroll and
employee withholding taxes, employment insurance, goods and services taxes, social insurance taxes, sales and use taxes, ad valorem
taxes, excise taxes, franchise taxes, gross receipts taxes, business license taxes, occupation taxes, real and personal property taxes,
stamp taxes, environmental taxes, transfer taxes, workers compensation and other governmental charges, and other obligations of the
same or of a similar nature to any of the foregoing.

(i) The term Returns shall mean all reports, estimates, declarations of estimated tax, information statements and returns relating to,
or required to be filed in connection with, any Taxes.

(b) Returns Filed and Taxes Paid. All Returns required to be filed by or on behalf of Helix or any of the Helix Subsidiaries have been
duly filed on a timely basis and such Returns are true, complete and correct in all material respects. All Taxes shown to be payable on the
Returns or on subsequent assessments with respect thereto have been paid in full on a timely basis, and no other Taxes are payable by Helix
or any of the Helix Subsidiaries with respect to items or periods covered by such Returns which would be material to Helix. Helix and each
of the Helix Subsidiaries has withheld, collected and remitted all amounts required to be withheld, collected and remitted by it in respect of
any Taxes. There are no liens with respect to Taxes upon or, to the knowledge of Helix threatened, against any of the properties or assets,
real or personal, tangible or intangible, of Helix or any of the Helix Subsidiaries (except for Taxes not yet due and payable). Neither Helix
nor any of the Helix Subsidiaries is a party to or bound by any tax allocation agreement, tax sharing agreement or tax indemnification
agreement.
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(c) Tax Reserves. Helix has paid or provided adequate accruals in its financial statements for the year ended November 30, 2000 for
Taxes, including income taxes and related deferred taxes, in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles applicable in Canada
and has made adequate provision in its accounts for all Taxes for periods commencing subsequent to such year and ending prior to the
Original Execution Date.

(d) Returns Furnished. For all periods ending on and after November 30, 1997, HEARX has been furnished by Helix true and complete
copies of:

(i) relevant portions of income tax audit reports, statements of deficiencies, closing or other agreements received by Helix or any of
the Helix Subsidiaries or on behalf of Helix or any of the Helix Subsidiaries relating to Taxes; and

(ii) all pro-forma separate federal and provincial income or franchise tax returns for Helix or any of the Helix Subsidiaries.

(e) Tax Deficiencies Audits: Statues of Limitations. Except as set forth in the Helix Disclosure Schedule, no deficiencies exist or have
been asserted with respect to Taxes of Helix or any of the Helix Subsidiaries. Neither Helix nor any of the Helix Subsidiaries is a party to
any action or proceeding for assessment or collection of Taxes, nor has such event been asserted or threatened against Helix or any of the
Helix Subsidiaries or any of their respective assets. No waiver or extension of any statue of limitations is in effect with respect to Taxes or
Returns of Helix or any of the Helix Subsidiaries. Except as set forth in the Helix Disclosure Schedule, the Returns of Helix and the Helix
Subsidiaries have never been audited by a government or taxing authority, nor is any such audit in process, pending or threatened.

15. Pension and Termination Benefits.

(a) Helix Disclosure Schedule lists all employee benefit plans, all other bonus, stock option, stock purchase, incentive, deferred
compensation, supplemental retirement, severance or termination pay, or medical, life or other insurance, supplemental unemployment
benefits, profit-sharing, pension or retirement plans, programs, agreements or arrangements and other similar fringe or employee benefit
plans, programs, agreements or arrangements and any current or former (solely to the extent obligations thereunder are still enforceable)
employment or executive compensation or severance contracts for the benefit of, or relating to, any employee of Helix as well as each plan
with respect to which Helix or a Helix Subsidiary could incur liability if such plan were terminated (together, along with all amendments
thereto, the Helix Employee Plans ), and a complete and correct copy of each such written Helix Employee Plan has been made available to
HEARX.

(b) Except as set forth in the Helix Disclosure Schedule,

(1) none of Helix Employee Plans promises or provides retiree medical, post termination medical or other retiree or post termination
welfare benefits to any person, except as may be required by applicable law, and none of Helix Employee Plans is a multiemployer plan
as such term is defined in Section 3(37) of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended ( ERISA );

(ii) there has been no transaction or failure to act with respect to any Helix Employee Plan by any person, which could result in any
material liability of Helix or any Helix Subsidiary;

(iii) all Helix Employee Plans are in compliance in all material respects with the requirements prescribed by any and all laws and
orders currently in effect with respect thereto, and Helix and the Helix Subsidiaries have performed all material obligations required to
be performed by them under, are not in any material respect in default or violation of, and have no knowledge of any default or
violation by any other party to, any of Helix Employee Plans;

(iv) each Helix Employee Plan intended to qualify under Section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the
Code ) and each trust intended to qualify under Section 501(a) of the Code is the subject of a favorable determination letter from the
Internal
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Revenue Service ( IRS ), and to the knowledge of Helix nothing has occurred which may reasonably be expected to impair such
determination;

(v) all contributions (including premiums) required to be made to any Helix Employee Plan, under the terms of any Helix
Employee Plan or any collective bargaining agreement, or any law have been made on or before their due dates, the full and proper
amount for contributions (including premiums) to each Helix Employee Plan for the current plan years have been accrued in accordance
with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles and, without limiting the foregoing, there are no material unfunded liabilities
under any Helix Employee Plan;

(vi) with respect to each Helix Employee Plan subject to Title IV of ERISA, no reportable event within the meaning of
Section 4043 of ERISA (excluding any such event for which the thirty (30) day notice requirement has been waived under the
regulations to Section 4043 of ERISA) nor any event described in Section 4062, 4063 or 4041 of ERISA has occurred;

(vii) neither Helix nor any of its affiliates has incurred, nor reasonably expects to incur, any Liability under Title IV of ERISA
(other than liability for premium payments arising in the ordinary course);

(viii) to the knowledge of Helix, no material oral or written representation or communication with respect to any aspect of the Helix
Employee Plans has been made to employees of Helix or any Helix Subsidiary prior to the Original Execution Date that is not in
accordance with the written or otherwise preexisting terms and provisions of such plans; and

(ix) no Helix Employee Plan is an employee pension benefit plan as defined in ERISA § 3(2).

(c) Each Helix Employee Plan that is required or intended to be qualified under applicable law or registered or approved by a
governmental entity has been so qualified, registered or approved by the appropriate governmental entity, and to the knowledge of Helix
nothing has occurred since the date of the last qualification, registration or approval to adversely affect, or cause, the appropriate
governmental entity to revoke such qualification, registration or approval.

(d) There is no pending, or to the knowledge of Helix, threatened claims, actions, suits, proceedings (including, without limitation,
arbitration and mediation) or investigations (collectively, Litigation ) against Helix or any of the Helix Subsidiaries with respect to any of
Helix Employee Plans.

(e) There is no pending or, to the knowledge of Helix, threatened Litigation by former or present employees of Helix and the Helix
Subsidiaries (or their beneficiaries) with respect to the Helix Employee Plans or the assets or fiduciaries thereof (other than routine claims
for benefits).

(f) Except as set forth in the Helix Disclosure Schedule, neither Helix nor the Helix Subsidiaries maintains any 401(k) or other type of
pension plan subject to Section 401(a) of the Code in the United States.

16. Intellectual Property. Helix or the Helix Subsidiaries own or possess licenses to use all patents, patent applications, trademarks and
service marks (including registrations and applications therefor), trade names, copyrights and written know-how, trade secrets and all other
similar proprietary data and the goodwill associated therewith (collectively, the Helix Intellectual Property ) that are either material to the
business of Helix or any of the Helix Subsidiaries or that are necessary for the production, manufacture, use, license or sale of any resources,
services or products produced, manufactured, used, licensed or sold by Helix or the Helix Subsidiaries. Helix Intellectual Property is owned or
licensed by Helix or the Helix Subsidiaries free and clear of any material encumbrance other than such encumbrances as have been disclosed in
the Helix Disclosure Schedule. Except as set forth in the Helix Disclosure Schedule, neither Helix nor any of the Helix Subsidiaries has granted
to any other person any license to use any Helix Intellectual Property. Neither Helix nor any of the Helix Subsidiaries has received any notice of
infringement, misappropriation or conflict with the intellectual property rights of others in connection with the use by Helix or the Helix
Subsidiaries of Helix Intellectual Property.
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17. Title to Properties. Except for goods and other property sold, used or otherwise disposed of in the ordinary course of business for fair
value, Helix has good and indefeasible title to all its properties, interests in properties and assets, real and personal, reflected in its November 30,
2000 financial statements, free and clear of any encumbrance, except (i) encumbrances reflected in the balance sheet of Helix dated
November 30, 2000, (ii) liens for current taxes not yet due and payable, and (iii) such imperfections of title, easements and encumbrances, if
any, which would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on Helix or any of the Helix Subsidiaries. All leases
pursuant to which Helix or any of the Helix Subsidiaries leases (whether as lessee or lessor) any substantial amount of real or personal property
are in good standing, valid, and effective; and there is not, under any such leases, any existing or prospective default or event of default or event
which with notice or lapse of time, or both, would constitute a default by Helix or any of the Helix Subsidiaries which would, individually or in
the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on Helix and in respect to which Helix or any of the Helix Subsidiaries has not taken adequate steps
to prevent a default from occurring. No party to any such leases has given notice to Helix or any of the Helix Subsidiaries of or made a written
claim against Helix or any of the Helix Subsidiaries with respect to any material breach or material default thereunder. The buildings and
premises of Helix and the Helix Subsidiaries that are used in its business are in good operating condition and repair, subject only to ordinary
wear and tear. All major items of operating equipment of Helix and the Helix Subsidiaries are in good operating condition and in a state of
reasonable maintenance and repair, ordinary wear and tear excepted, and are free from any known defects except as may be repaired by routine
maintenance and such minor defects as to not substantially interfere with the continued use thereof in the conduct of normal operations.

18. Brokers and Finders. Neither Helix nor any of the Helix Subsidiaries nor any of their respective directors, officers or employees has
employed any broker or finder or incurred any liability for any financial advisory fees, brokerage fees, commissions or similar payments in
connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
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SCHEDULE I

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF HEARx

1. Organization. HEARx and each partnership, joint venture, corporation, association or other business entity of which more than 50% of
the total votes attached to all outstanding shares, or units of ownership or beneficial interest, entitled to vote in the election of directors (or
members of a comparable governing body) is owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by HEARX (collectively in this Schedule I, the HEARx
Subsidiaries , provided that unless the context otherwise requires, all representations and warranties of HEARX in this Schedule I shall be
deemed to be representations and warranties of HEARx and the HEARx Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis), is duly incorporated or formed,
duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation or formation, has full requisite power
and authority to carry on its business as it is currently conducted, and to own, lease and operate the properties currently owned, leased and
operated by it, and is duly qualified or licensed to do business and is in good standing as a foreign corporation or organization authorized to do
business in all jurisdictions in which the character of the properties owned or leased or the nature of the business conducted by it would make
such qualification or licensing necessary, except where the failure to be so qualified or licensed would not have a material adverse effect on
HEARx. The HEARX Disclosure Schedule sets forth a true and complete list of all of the HEARx Subsidiaries, together with the jurisdiction of
incorporation or formation for each HEARx Subsidiary. All of the outstanding shares of capital stock and other ownership interests of the
HEARX Subsidiaries are validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable and, except as set forth in the HEARx Disclosure Schedule, all such shares
and other ownership interests are owned directly or indirectly by HEARX free and clear of all material liens, claims or encumbrances, and there
are no outstanding options, rights, entitlements, understandings or commitments (contingent or otherwise) regarding the right to acquire any
shares of capital stock or other ownership interests in any of the HEARx Subsidiaries. Except as set forth in the HEARx Disclosure Schedule,
HEARX does not directly or indirectly own any shares of capital stock or other ownership interests, or any options, rights, entitlements,
understandings or commitments to acquire any capital stock or other ownership interests, in any partnership, joint venture, corporation,
association or other business entity. HEARx has made available to Helix prior to the execution of this Agreement true and correct copies of the
articles of incorporation and by-laws (or equivalent organizational documents), each as amended to date, of HEARX and each of the HEARx
Subsidiaries.

2. Capitalization. The authorized capital stock of HEARX consists of 20,000,000 shares of common stock, $0.10 par value per share and
2,000,000 shares of preferred stock, $1.00 par value per share. As of the Original Execution Date, there are 13,211,976 shares of common and
5,340 shares of preferred stock issued and outstanding. Except as set forth on the HEARx Disclosure Schedule, all issued and outstanding shares
of common stock have been duly authorized, validly issued and are fully paid and non-assessable. As of June 30, 2001, (i) there are outstanding
stock options and warrants which may be exercised for up to 2,222,325 shares of common stock; and (ii) based on a conversion price of $1.55,
the outstanding shares of convertible preferred stock (including accrued interest thereon through May 26, 2001) could be converted into up to
6,959,874 shares of common stock. Except as described in the immediately preceding sentence and except as may occur pursuant to the
operation of the HEARx Rights Agreement, there are no options, warrants, conversion privileges or other rights, agreements, arrangements or
commitments (whether by law, preemptive right, contract or otherwise) obligating HEARx or any HEARX Subsidiaries to issue or sell any
shares of capital stock of HEARx or any of the HEARX Subsidiaries or securities or obligations of any kind convertible into or exchangeable for
any shares of capital stock of HEARX, any of the HEARx Subsidiaries or any other person, nor is there outstanding any share appreciation
rights, phantom equity or similar rights, agreements, arrangements or commitments based upon the book value, income or any other attribute of
HEARXx or the HEARXx Subsidiaries. To the knowledge of HEARX, except as set forth in the HEARx Disclosure Schedule no person or group
beneficially owns (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, ( Exchange Act )) 5% or more of HEARx s
outstanding voting securities.

3. Authority. HEARX has the requisite corporate power and authority to enter into this Agreement, to perform its obligations hereunder and
to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. The execution and delivery of this Agreement by HEARX and the
consummation by HEARXx of the transactions
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contemplated by this Agreement have been duly authorized by the board of directors of HEARX and no other corporate proceedings on the part
of HEARX are necessary to authorize this Agreement or the transaction contemplated hereby other than the approval of the HEARx Shareholders
as contemplated by Section 3.6. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by HEARx and constitutes the legal, valid and binding
obligation of HEARX, enforceable against HEARX in accordance with its terms. Except as disclosed on the HEARx Disclosure Schedules, the
execution and delivery by HEARX of this Agreement and performance by it of its obligations hereunder and thereunder and the completion of
the Arrangement and transactions contemplated by this Agreement will not:

(a) result in a violation or breach of, require any consent to be obtained under or give rise to any termination rights under any provision
of:

(1) its or any of the HEARx Subsidiaries certificate of incorporation, articles, by-laws or other charter or equivalent documents,
including any shareholder agreement or any other agreement or understanding with any party holding an ownership interest in any of
the HEARx Subsidiaries;

(i1) any law, regulation, order, judgment or decree; or

(iii) any material contract, agreement, license, franchise or permit to which HEARx or any of the HEARx Subsidiaries is bound or
is subject or is the beneficiary;

(b) cause any default (with or without notice or lapse of time, or both), or event which would give rise to, cause or permit any right of
termination, amendment, cancellation or acceleration, or cause the loss of any material benefit under any term, condition or provision of any
loan or credit agreement, note, bond, mortgage, indenture or other indebtedness, or cause any indebtedness to come due before its stated
maturity or cause any available credit to cease to be available;

(c) result in the imposition of any encumbrance, charge or lien upon any of its assets or the assets of any of the HEARx Subsidiaries, or
restrict, hinder, impair or limit the ability of HEARX or any of the HEARx Subsidiaries to catry on the business of HEARx or any of the
HEARX Subsidiaries as and where it is now being carried on or as and where it may be carried on in the future; or

(d) require the consent, approval, order or authorization of, action by, or in respect of, or registration, declaration or filing with, any
regulatory or other governmental authority or any other third party.

4. No Defaults. Neither HEARx nor any HEARx Subsidiary is, or has received notice that it would be with the passage of time, in default
or violation of any term condition or provision of (i) its charter or equivalent documents or bylaws; (ii) any judgment, decree or order applicable
to it; or (iii) any loan or credit agreement, note, bond, mortgage, indenture, material contract, agreement, lease, license or other instrument to
which HEARX or any of the HEARXx Subsidiaries is now a party or by which it or any of its properties or assets may be bound, except in the case
of item (iii) for defaults and violations that, individually or in the aggregate, would not have, or would not reasonably be expected to have, a
material adverse affect on HEARX or its ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement.

5. Absence of Changes. Since December 29, 2000, and except as set forth in the HEARx Disclosure Schedule or the HEARx SEC filings
(as that term is defined below):

(a) HEARX and the HEARX Subsidiaries have conducted their respective businesses only in the ordinary course of their businesses;

(b) there has not been any material adverse change in the financial condition, results of operations, prospects, assets, liabilities or
business of HEARX or the HEARXx Subsidiaries;

(c) there has not been any material damage, destruction or loss to the business or properties of HEARx or the HEARx Subsidiaries
(whether or not covered by insurance);
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(d) there has not been any declaration, setting aside or payment of any dividend or other distribution in respect of HEARx Common
Stock, or any direct or indirect redemption, purchase or any other acquisition by HEARx of any such shares;

(e) there has not been any change in HEARx Common Stock or in the number of shares or classes of HEARx s authorized or
outstanding share capital (other than as a result of exercises of currently outstanding options and warrants and conversions of outstanding
preferred stock);

(f) no liability or obligation of any nature (whether absolute, accrued, contingent or otherwise) material to HEARX or any of the
HEARX Subsidiaries has been incurred;

(g) neither HEARX nor any of the HEARX Subsidiaries has disposed of or acquired any property or assets other than in the ordinary
course of business;

(h) HEARx and the HEARX Subsidiaries have not made any change in accounting principles and practices as theretofore applied
including, without limitation, the basis upon which its assets and liabilities are recorded on its books and earnings and profits and losses are
ascertained;

(1) HEARx and the HEARx Subsidiaries have not made any general change in salary and other compensation levels and have not
entered into any agreements, whether in writing or oral, providing for payments to be made to any employees or officers of HEARX or the
HEARX Subsidiaries in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby;

(j) HEARx and the HEARx Subsidiaries have not made or incurred any material loans or advances; and

(k) HEARx and the HEARX Subsidiaries have not made any payments to or entered into any agreement with any person or entity not
dealing at arm s length with HEARx or the HEARx Subsidiaries, as the case may be.

6. Additional Corporation Information. The HEARx Disclosure Schedule or the HEARx SEC Filings disclose the following items with
respect to HEARx and the HEARx Subsidiaries, and HEARx has heretofore made available to Helix true, complete and correct copies of any
documents related thereto and written summaries of all oral contracts or arrangements (including all amendments, modifications and
supplements thereto and all side letters related thereto):

(a) Material Contracts. All material contracts which may involve annual payments to or from any party of an amount in excess of
US$100,000 or aggregate payments to or from any party over a term of three years in excess of US$500,000;

(b) Employee Compensation Plans. All bonus, retention bonus, company severance policy, employee stock option plans, incentive
compensation, deferred compensation, profit-sharing, retirement, pension, welfare, group insurance, death benefit, or other fringe benefit
plans, arrangements or trust agreements, together with copies of the most recent reports with respect to such plans, arrangements or trust
agreements filed with any governmental entity and all tax determination letters that have been received with respect to such plans;

(c) Employee Agreements. Any collective bargaining agreements with any labour union or other representative of employees, including
amendments and supplements, in each case covering 10 or more employees, all employment agreements involving, individually,
remuneration greater than US $100,000 per annum and all executive termination agreements;

(d) Patents. All patents, trademarks, copyrights and other material intellectual property rights owned, licensed or used;

(e) Trade Names. All trade names and fictitious names used or held, whether and where such names are registered and where used;
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(f) Promissory Notes. All long-term and short-term promissory notes, installment contracts, loan agreements, credit agreements or any
other evidence of indebtedness and any other agreements relating thereto or with respect to collateral securing the same; and

(g) Guarantees. All indebtedness, liabilities and commitments of others and as to which it is a guarantor, endorser, co-maker, surety or
accommodation maker, or is contingently liable therefor (excluding liabilities as an endorser of checks and the like in the ordinary course of
business) and all letters of credit, whether stand-by or documentary, issued by any third party.

7. Employment Agreements; Related Party Transactions. Except as set forth in the HEARx Disclosure Schedule or the HEARx SEC
Filings, neither HEARX nor any of the HEARX Subsidiaries is a party to any written or oral policy, agreement, obligation or understanding
providing for severance or termination payments to, or any employment agreement with, any person. Except as set forth in the HEARx
Disclosure Schedule or the HEARx SEC Filings, there are no transactions or arrangements between HEARX or any HEARx Subsidiary and, or
any outstanding loans or advances to or any guarantee or credit enhancement for the benefit of, any director or officer of the Company or any
HEARXx Subsidiary or any person affiliated or related to any such director or officer or any other person or entity controlling or under common
control with HEARXx.

8. Disclosure. The HEARXx Disclosure Schedule or the HEARx SEC Filings set forth all information regarding any event, circumstance or
action taken or failed to be taken which could materially and adversely affect the business, operations, assets, capitalization, financial condition,
prospects, rights or liabilities of or relating to HEARX or any of the HEARXx Subsidiaries. No representation or warranty made by HEARX in this
Agreement, nor any document, written information statement, financial statement, certificate or exhibit prepared and furnished or to be prepared
and furnished by HEARX or its representatives pursuant hereto or in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, when taken together,
contained any untrue statement of a material fact when made, or omitted to state a material fact necessary to make the statements or facts
contained herein or therein not misleading in light of the circumstances under which they were furnished.

9. Securities Reports and Financial Statements. HEARX has filed all forms, reports and documents with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the SEC ) required to be filed by it pursuant to the Exchange Act (collectively, the HEARx SEC Filings ), all of which have
complied in all material respects with all requirements of the SEC applicable at the time of filing. None of HEARx SEC Filings, at the time filed
or as subsequently amended, contained any untrue statement of a material fact or omitted to state a material fact required to be stated therein or
necessary in order to make the statements made therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. The financial
statements of HEARx contained in HEARx SEC Filings complied in all material respects with the then applicable accounting requirements and
the published rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission with respect thereto, were prepared in accordance with United
States generally accepted accounting principles applied on a consistent basis during the periods involved (except as may have been indicated in
the notes thereto or, in the case of unaudited statements, as permitted by applicable laws, rules or regulations) and fairly present in all material
respects (subject, in the case of the unaudited statements, to normal, year-end audit adjustments) the consolidated financial position of HEARx
and the HEARx Subsidiaries as of the respective dates thereof and the consolidated results of their operations and cash flows for the respective
periods then ended. Except (a) as reflected in such financial statements or in the notes thereto, (b) for liabilities incurred in connection with this
Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, or (c) for liabilities incurred in the ordinary course of business since the date of the most
recent financial statements included in HEARx SEC Filings, neither HEARx nor any HEARXx Subsidiary has any liabilities of any kind
whatsoever, whether accrued, contingent, absolute, due, to become due, determined, determinable or otherwise that would have, or would
reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse effect on HEARx. HEARX has not received notice of
delisting from AMEX. The HEARx Disclosure Schedule sets forth a list of all correspondence between HEARx and AMEX through the
Original Execution Date concerning deficiencies under AMEX listing requirements for the HEARx Common Stock.
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10. Books and Records. The books, records and accounts of HEARx and the HEARx Subsidiaries (a) have been maintained in accordance
with good business practices on a basis consistent with prior years, (b) are stated in reasonable detail and accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of HEARx and the HEARx Subsidiaries and (c) accurately and fairly reflect the basis for HEARx s
financial statements. HEARx has devised and maintains a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide reasonable assurances that
(a) transactions are executed in accordance with management s general or specific authorization; and (b) transactions are recorded as necessary
(1) to permit preparation of financial statements in conformity with United States generally accepted accounting principles and any other criteria
applicable to such statements and (ii) to maintain accountability for assets.

11. Litigation, etc. Except as set forth in the HEARX Disclosure Schedule or the HEARx SEC Filings, there is no claim, action, suit,
proceeding or investigation pending or, to the knowledge of HEARX, threatened against or relating to HEARX or any of the HEARx Subsidiaries
or affecting any of their properties or assets before any court or governmental or regulatory authority or body that, if adversely determined, is
likely to have a material adverse effect on HEARX or any of the HEARx Subsidiaries or prevent or materially delay consummation of the
Arrangement and other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, nor is HEARX aware of any basis for any such claim, action, proceeding or
investigation. Neither HEARx nor any of the HEARx Subsidiaries is subject to any outstanding judgment, rule, order, writ, injunction or decree
that has had or is reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on HEARX or any of the HEARx Subsidiaries or prevent or materially delay
consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

12. Environmental. Except as set forth in the HEARx Disclosure Schedule, neither HEARx nor any of the HEARx Subsidiaries is aware
of, or has received:

(a) any order or directive which relates to environmental matters, and which requires any material work, repairs, construction, or capital
expenditures; or

(b) any demand or notice with respect to the material breach of any environmental, health, or safety law applicable to HEARX or any of
the HEARXx Subsidiaries, including, without limitation, any regulations respecting the use, storage, treatment, transportation, or disposition
of environmental contaminants.

13. Insurance. Policies of insurance in force as of the Original Execution Date naming HEARX as an insured adequately cover all risks
reasonably and prudently foreseeable in the operation and conduct of the business of HEARx and the HEARx Subsidiaries. All such policies of
insurance shall remain in force and effect and shall not be cancelled or otherwise terminated as a result of the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement.

14. Tax Matters.

(a) Returns Filed and Taxes Paid. All Returns required to be filed by or on behalf of HEARX or any of the HEARX Subsidiaries have
been duly filed on a timely basis and such Returns are true, complete and correct in all material respects. All Taxes shown to be payable on
the Returns or on subsequent assessments with respect thereto have been paid in full on a timely basis, and no other Taxes are payable by
HEARX or any of the HEARx Subsidiaries with respect to items or periods covered by such Returns which would be material to HEARx.
HEARXx and each of the HEARx Subsidiaries has withheld, collected and remitted all amounts required to be withheld, collected and
remitted by it in respect of any Taxes. There are no liens with respect to Taxes upon or, to the knowledge of HEARx threatened, against any
of the properties or assets, real or personal, tangible or intangible, of HEARX or any of the HEARx Subsidiaries (except for Taxes not yet
due and payable). Neither HEARX nor any of the HEARX Subsidiaries is a party to or bound by any tax allocation agreement, tax sharing
agreement or tax indemnification agreement.

(b) Tax Reserves. HEARX has paid or provided adequate accruals in its financial statements for the year ended December 29, 2000 for
Taxes, including income taxes and related deferred taxes, in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles applicable in the
United States and has made
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adequate provision in its accounts for all Taxes for periods commencing subsequent to such year and ending prior to the Original Execution
Date.

(c) Returns Furnished. For all periods ending on and after December 29, 1997, Helix has been furnished by HEARX true and complete
copies of:

(i) relevant portions of income tax audit reports, statements of deficiencies, closing or other agreements received by HEARX or any
of the HEARx Subsidiaries or on behalf of HEARXx or any of the HEARx Subsidiaries relating to Taxes; and

(ii) all pro-forma separate federal and provincial income or franchise tax returns for HEARX or any of the HEARx Subsidiaries.

(d) Tax Deficiencies Audits: Statues of Limitations. Except as set forth in the HEARx Disclosure Schedule, no deficiencies exist or have
been asserted with respect to Taxes of HEARx or any of the HEARX Subsidiaries. Neither HEARX nor any of the HEARXx Subsidiaries is a
party to any action or proceeding for assessment or collection of Taxes, nor has such event been asserted or threatened against HEARx or
any of the HEARX Subsidiaries or any of their respective assets. No waiver or extension of any statue of limitations is in effect with respect
to Taxes or Returns of HEARX or any of the HEARx Subsidiaries. Except as set forth in the HEARx Disclosure Schedule, the Returns of
HEARXx and the HEARx Subsidiaries have never been audited by a government or taxing authority, nor is any such audit in process,
pending or threatened.

15. Pension and Termination Benefits.

(a) The HEARx Disclosure Schedule lists all employee benefit plans, all other bonus, stock option, stock purchase, incentive, deferred
compensation, supplemental retirement, severance or termination pay, or medical, life or other insurance, supplemental unemployment
benefits, profit-sharing, pension or retirement plans, agreements or arrangements and other similar fringe or employee benefit plans,
programs or arrangements and any current or former (solely to the extent obligations thereunder are still enforceable) employment or
executive compensation or severance contracts for the benefit of, or relating to, any employee of HEARX as well as each plan with respect
to which HEARx or a HEARX Subsidiary could incur liability if such plan were terminated (together, along with all amendments thereto,
the HEARx Employee Plans ), and a complete and correct copy of each such written HEARx Employee Plan has been made available to
Helix.

(b) Except as set forth in the HEARx Disclosure Schedule,

(1) none of the HEARx Employee Plans promises or provides retiree medical, post termination medical or other retiree or post
termination welfare benefits to any person, except as may be required by applicable law, and none of the HEARx Employee Plans is a
multiemployer plan as such term is defined in Section 3(37) of ERISA;

(ii) there has been no transaction or failure to act with respect to any HEARx Employee Plan by any person, which could result in
any material liability of HEARx or any HEARx Subsidiary;

(iii) all HEARx Employee Plans are in compliance in all material respects with the requirements prescribed by any and all laws and
orders currently in effect with respect thereto, and HEARx and the HEARXx Subsidiaries have performed all material obligations
required to be performed by them under, are not in any material respect in default or violation of, and have no knowledge of any default
or violation by any other party to, any of the HEARx Employee Plans;

(iv) each HEARx Employee Plan intended to qualify under Section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the
Code ) and each trust intended to qualify under Section 501(a) of the Code is the subject of a favorable determination letter from the
Internal Revenue Service ( IRS ), and to the knowledge of HEARX nothing has occurred which may reasonably be expected to impair

such determination;
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(v) all contributions (including premiums) required to be made to any HEARx Employee Plan, under the terms of any HEARx
Employee Plan or any collective bargaining agreement, or any law have been made on or before their due dates, the full and proper
amount for contributions (including premiums) to each HEARx Employee Plan for the current plan years have been accrued in
accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles and, without limiting the foregoing, there are no material
unfunded liabilities under any HEARx Employee Plan;

(vi) with respect to each HEARx Employee Plan subject to Title IV of ERISA, no reportable event within the meaning of
Section 4043 of ERISA (excluding any such event for which the thirty (30) day notice requirement has been waived under the
regulations to Section 4043 of ERISA) nor any event described in Section 4062, 4063 or 4041 of ERISA has occurred;

(vii) neither HEARX nor any of its affiliates has incurred, nor reasonably expects to incur, any Liability under Title IV of ERISA
(other than liability for premium payments arising in the ordinary course);

(viii) to the knowledge of HEARX, no material oral or written representation or communication with respect to any aspect of the
HEARx Employee Plans has been made to employees of HEARx or any HEARx Subsidiary prior to the Original Execution Date that is
not in accordance with the written or otherwise preexisting terms and provisions of such plans;

(ix) no HEARx Employee Plan is an employee pension benefit plan as defined in ERISA § 3(2).

(c) Each HEARx Employee Plan that is required or intended to be qualified under applicable law or registered or approved by a
governmental entity has been so qualified, registered or approved by the appropriate governmental entity, and to the knowledge of HEARx
nothing has occurred since the date of the last qualification, registration or approval to adversely affect, or cause, the appropriate
governmental entity to revoke such qualification, registration or approval.

(d) There is no pending, or to the knowledge of HEARX, threatened Litigation against HEARX or any of its subsidiaries with respect to
any of the HEARx Employee Plans.

(e) There is no pending or, to the knowledge of HEARX, threatened Litigation by former or present employees of HEARX and the
HEARXx Subsidiaries (or their beneficiaries) with respect to HEARx Employee Plans or the assets or fiduciaries thereof (other than routine
claims for benefits).

(f) Except as set forth in the HEARX Disclosure Schedule, neither HEARx nor the HEARx Subsidiaries maintains any 401(k) or other
type of pension plan subject to Section 401(a) of the Code in the United States.

16. Intellectual Property. HEARX or the HEARX Subsidiaries own or possess licenses to use all patents, patent applications, trademarks
and service marks (including registrations and applications therefor), trade names, copyrights and written know-how, trade secrets and all other
similar proprietary data and the goodwill associated therewith (collectively, the HEARx Intellectual Property ) that are either material to the
business of HEARx or any of the HEARX Subsidiaries or that are necessary for the production, manufacture, use, license or sale of any
resources, services or products produced, manufactured, used, licensed or sold by HEARx or the HEARx Subsidiaries. HEARx Intellectual
Property is owned or licensed by HEARx or the HEARx Subsidiaries free and clear of any material encumbrance other than such encumbrances
as have been disclosed to HEARx. Except as set forth in the HEARx Disclosure Schedule or in the ordinary course of business, neither HEARx
nor any of the HEARx Subsidiaries has granted to any other person any license to use any HEARX Intellectual Property. Neither HEARx nor
any of the HEARX Subsidiaries has received any notice of infringement, misappropriation or conflict with the intellectual property rights of
others in connection with the use by HEARx or the HEARx Subsidiaries of HEARx Intellectual Property.

17. Title to Properties. Except for goods and other property sold, used or otherwise disposed of in the ordinary course of business for fair
value, HEARXx has good and indefeasible title to all its properties, interests
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in properties and assets, real and personal, reflected in its December 29, 2000 financial statements, free and clear of any encumbrance, except
(1) encumbrances reflected in the balance sheet of HEARx dated December 29, 2000, (ii) liens for current taxes not yet due and payable, and
(iii) such imperfections of title, easements and encumbrances, if any, which would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a material adverse
effect on HEARX or any of the HEARx Subsidiaries. All leases pursuant to which HEARx or any of the HEARX Subsidiaries leases (whether as
lessee or lessor) any substantial amount of real or personal property are in good standing, valid, and effective; and there is not, under any such
leases, any existing or prospective default or event of default or event which with notice or lapse of time, or both, would constitute a default by
HEARX or any of the HEARX Subsidiaries which would, individually or in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on HEARx and in
respect to which HEARXx or any of the HEARx Subsidiaries has not taken adequate steps to prevent a default from occurring. No party to any
such leases has given notice to HEARx or any of the HEARx Subsidiaries of or made a written claim against HEARX or any of the HEARx
Subsidiaries with respect to any material breach or material default thereunder. The buildings and premises of HEARx and the HEARx
Subsidiaries that are used in its business are in good operating condition and repair, subject only to ordinary wear and tear. All major items of
operating equipment of HEARx and the HEARx Subsidiaries are in good operating condition and in a state of reasonable maintenance and
repair, ordinary wear and tear excepted, and are free from any known defects except as may be repaired by routine maintenance and such minor
defects as to not substantially interfere with the continued use thereof in the conduct of normal operations.

18. Brokers and Finders. Neither HEARX nor any of the HEARx Subsidiaries nor any of their respective directors, officers or employees
has employed any broker or finder or incurred any liability for any financial advisory fees, brokerage fees, commissions or similar payments in
connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
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SCHEDULE K

DESCRIPTION OF SPECIAL VOTING STOCK

The HEARX Special Voting Stock, par value $.01 per share, shall entitle the holder of record of such share to a number of votes on all
matters submitted to a vote of holders of HEARx Common Stock equal to the number of Exchangeable Shares outstanding from time to time
(other than Exchangeable Shares held by HEARx and HEARX affiliates), which share is to be issued to, deposited with, and voted by, the
Depository as described in a Voting and Exchange Trust Agreement in the form of Schedule L. At such time as the Special Voting Stock has no
votes attached to it because there are no Exchangeable Shares outstanding that are not held by HEARx or HEARX affiliates, the Special Voting
Stock shall be canceled.
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ANNEX C
VOTING AND EXCHANGE TRUST AGREEMENT
THIS MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT made as of the day of , 2001.
AMONG:
HEARXx LTD., a corporation incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware
(hereinafter called HEARXx )
and
HEARXx Acquisition ULC, an unlimited company organized under the laws of the Province of Nova Scotia
(hereinafter called HEARX Acquisition )
and
HEARXx Canada Inc., a corporation incorporated under the laws of Canada
(hereinafter called HEARx Canada )
and
COMPUTERSHARE TRUST COMPANY OF CANADA, a trust company incorporated under the laws of Canada;
(hereinafter called the Trustee ).
WHEREAS pursuant to a Merger Agreement dated as of (the Merger Agreement ) by and between HEARx and Helix Hearing

Care of America Corp. ( Helix ), it was agreed that on the Effective Date (as defined in the Merger Agreement), the parties hereto would execute
and deliver a Voting and Exchange Trust Agreement containing the terms and conditions set forth in Schedule L to the Merger Agreement;

AND WHEREAS pursuant to an arrangement (the Arrangement ) effected by articles of arrangement to be filed pursuant to section 192 of
the Canada Business Corporations Act (the CBCA ), all of the issued and outstanding common shares in the capital of Helix are to be exchanged
for either common stock in the capital of HEARx (the HEARx Common Stock ) or exchangeable non-voting shares in the capital of HEARx
Canada. (the Exchangeable Shares );

AND WHEREAS the aforesaid articles of arrangement set forth the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions (collectively the
Exchangeable Share Provisions ) attaching to the Exchangeable Shares;

AND WHEREAS HEARKX is to provide voting rights in HEARx directly to each holder of Exchangeable Shares equivalent to the voting
rights of holders of HEARx Common Stock;

AND WHEREAS the parties desire to make appropriate provision and to establish a procedure whereby voting rights in HEARX shall be
exercisable by holders of Exchangeable Shares by and through the Trustee, which will hold legal title to one share of HEARX special voting
stock, U.S. $0.01 par value (the HEARXx Special Voting Stock ), to which voting rights attach for the benefit of such holders;

AND WHEREAS these recitals and any statements of fact in this Agreement are made by HEARx and HEARx Canada and not by the
Trustee;
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NOW THEREFORE in consideration of the respective covenants and agreements provided in this Agreement and for other good and
valuable consideration (the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged), the parties agree as follows:

ARTICLE I

DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

L1 Definitions. In this Agreement the following terms shall have the following meanings:
Affiliatdas the meaning ascribed thereto in the Exchangeable Share Provisions.
Arrangemenhas the meaning ascribed thereto in the recitals hereto.

Automatic Exchange Rightsneans the benefit of the obligation of HEARX to effect the automatic exchange of Exchangeable Shares for
shares of HEARx Common Stock pursuant to section 5.12 hereof.

Authorized Personas the meaning ascribed thereto in section 6.20.

Business Dayas the meaning ascribed thereto in the Exchangeable Share Provisions.

Call Rightsneans collectively the Liquidation Call Right, the Redemption Call Right and the Retraction Call Right.
CBCAneans the Canada Business Corporations Act, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-44 as amended.

Current Market Pricdas the meaning ascribed thereto in the Exchangeable Share Provisions.

Current HEARx Common Stock Equivalenhas the meaning ascribed thereto in the Exchangeable Share Provisions.

Default Eventneans any failure, other than by reason of an Insolvency Event, of HEARx Canada to perform any of its obligations
pursuant to the Exchangeable Share Provisions, including, without limitation, its obligation to redeem any Retracted Shares.

Delaware Lavmeans the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware.

Exchange Righhas the meaning ascribed thereto in section 5.1 hereof.

Exchangeable Share Provisionhas the meaning ascribed thereto in the recitals hereto.

Exchangeable Sharehas the meaning ascribed thereto in the recitals hereto.

Helixneans Helix Hearing Care of America Corp., a corporation incorporated under the laws of Canada.

Holder Votehas the meaning ascribed thereto in section 4.2 hereof.

Holdemeans a registered holder from time to time of Exchangeable Shares, other than HEARx and HEARX acquisition.

Insolvency Eventneans the institution by HEARx Canada of any proceeding to be adjudicated a bankrupt or insolvent or to be dissolved
or wound up, or the consent of HEARx Canada to the institution of bankruptcy, insolvency, dissolution or winding up proceedings against
it, or the filing of a petition, answer or consent seeking dissolution or winding up under any bankruptcy, insolvency or analogous laws,
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including, without limitation, the Companies Creditors Arrangement Act (Canada) and the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada), and the
failure by HEARx Canada to contest in good faith any such proceedings commenced in respect of HEARx Canada within fifteen (15) days
of becoming aware thereof, or the consent by HEARx Canada to the filing of any such petition or to the appointment of a receiver, or the
making by HEARx Canada of a general assignment for the benefit of creditors, or the admission in writing by HEARx Canada of its
inability to pay its debts generally as they become due, or
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HEARXx Canada not being permitted, pursuant to solvency requirements of applicable law, to redeem any Retracted Shares pursuant to
section 5.1 of the Exchangeable Share Provisions.

Lierhas the meaning ascribed thereto in the Exchangeable Share Provisions.

Liquidation Call Righhas the meaning ascribed thereto in the Exchangeable Share Provisions.
Liquidation Evenhas the meaning ascribed thereto in subsection 5.12(a) hereof.

Liquidation Event Effective Datas the meaning ascribed thereto in subsection 5.12(c) hereof.
Lishas the meaning ascribed thereto in section 4.6 hereof.

Officer s Certificatecans, with respect to HEARx, HEARx Acquisition or HEARx Canada, as the case may be, a certificate signed by any
one of the Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer, the President, any Vice-President or any other senior officer.

HEARx Common Stoclhas the meaning ascribed thereto in the recitals hereto.
HEARX Consenhas the meaning ascribed thereto in section 4.2 hereof.

HEARx Meetingas the meaning ascribed thereto in section 4.2 hereof.

HEARX Special Voting Stockhas the meaning ascribed thereto in the recitals hereto.
HEARX Successohas the meaning ascribed thereto in subsection 10.1(a).

Persomnncludes an individual, firm, partnership, limited liability company, unlimited liability company, joint venture, venture capital fund,
association, trust, trustee, executor, administrator, legal personal representative, estate, group, body corporate, corporation, unincorporated
association or organization, governmental entity, syndicate or other entity, whether or not having legal status.

Plan of Arrangementneans the plan of arrangement relating to the arrangement of Helix under section 192 of the CBCA, substantially in
the form and content of Schedule B to the Merger Agreement and any amendments or variations thereto made in accordance therewith or at
the direction of the Court.

Redemption Call Right has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Exchange Share Provisions.
Retracted Shares has the meaning ascribed thereto in section 5.7 hereof.
Retraction Call Right has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Exchange Share Provisions.

Support Agreement means that certain support agreement made as of even date herewith between HEARx Canada, HEARX Acquisition
and HEARx.

Trust means the trust created by this Agreement.

Trust Estate means the Voting Share, any other securities, the Exchange Right, the Automatic Exchange Rights and any money or other
property that may be held by the Trustee from time to time pursuant to this Agreement.

Voting Rights means the voting rights attached to the Voting Share.

Table of Contents 99



Edgar Filing: PROASSURANCE CORP - Form 4

Voting Share means the one share of HEARX Special Voting Stock, issued by HEARX, for the benefit of the holders of Exchangeable
Shares, to be deposited with the Trustee, which entitles the holder of record to a number of votes at meetings of holders of HEARx Common
Stock as set forth in section 4.2 hereof.

1.2 Interpretation not Affected by Headings, etc. The division of this Agreement into articles, sections and paragraphs and the insertion of
headings are for convenience of reference only and shall not affect the construction or interpretation of this Agreement.

1.3 Number, Gender, etc. Words importing the singular number only shall include the plural and vice versa. Words importing the use of
any gender shall include all genders.
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1.4 Date for any Action. If any date on which any action is required to be taken under this Agreement is not a Business Day, such action
shall be required to be taken on the next succeeding Business Day.

1.5 Withholding of Tax. All amounts required to be paid, deposited or delivered hereunder shall be paid, deposited or delivered after
deduction of any amount required by applicable law to be deducted or withheld on account of tax and the deduction of such amounts and
remittance to the applicable tax authorities shall, to the extent thereof, satisfy such requirement to pay, deposit or deliver hereunder.

ARTICLE II

PURPOSE OF AGREEMENT

2.1 Establishment of Trust. The purpose of this Agreement is to create the Trust for the benefit of the Holders, as herein provided. The
Trustee will hold the Voting Share in order to enable the Trustee to exercise the Voting Rights and will hold the Exchange Right and the
Automatic Exchange Rights in order to enable the Trustee to exercise such rights, in each case as trustee for and on behalf of the Holders as
provided in this Agreement.

ARTICLE III

VOTING SHARE

3.1 Issue and Ownership of the Voting Share. In consideration of the payment of U.S.$0.01 and other good and valuable consideration
(the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged), the Trustee hereby subscribes for and HEARx hereby issues to and deposits with
the Trustee the Voting Share to be hereafter held of record by the Trustee as trustee for and on behalf of, and for the use and benefit of the
Holders and in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement. During the term of the Trust and subject to the terms and conditions of this
Agreement, the Trustee shall possess and be vested with full legal ownership of the Voting Share and shall be entitled to exercise all of the rights
and powers of an owner with respect to the Voting Share, provided that the Trustee shall:

(a) hold the Voting Share and the legal title thereto as trustee solely for the use and benefit of the Holders in accordance with the
provisions of this Agreement; and

(b) except as specifically authorized by this Agreement, have no power or authority to sell, transfer, vote or otherwise deal in or with
the Voting Share and the Voting Share shall not be used or disposed of by the Trustee for any purpose other than the purposes for which this
Trust is created and pursuant to this Agreement.

3.2 Legended Share Certificates. HEARx Canada shall cause each certificate representing Exchangeable Shares to bear an appropriate
legend notifying the Holders of their right to instruct the Trustee with respect to the exercise of the Voting Rights. HEARx will cause the
certificate representing the Voting Share to bear a legend stating that such Voting Share is non-transferrable except as set forth herein.

3.3 Safe Keeping of Certificate. The certificate representing the Voting Share shall at all times be held in safe keeping by the Trustee.
ARTICLE IV

VOTING RIGHTS

4.1 Voting Rights. The Trustee, as the holder of record of the Voting Share, shall be entitled to all of the Voting Rights, including the right
to consent to or to vote in person or by proxy the Voting Share, on any matter, question or proposition whatsoever that may properly come
before the stockholders of HEARX for their vote at a HEARx Meeting or in connection with a HEARx Consent. The Voting Rights shall be and
remain vested in and exercised by the Trustee. Subject to section 6.15 hereof, the Trustee shall exercise the Voting Rights only on the basis of
instructions received pursuant to this Article 4 from Holders entitled to
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instruct the Trustee as to the voting thereof at the time at which a HEARx Consent is sought or a HEARx Meeting is held. To the extent that no
instructions are received from a Holder with respect to the Voting Rights to which such Holder is entitled to instruct the Trustee hereunder, the
Trustee shall not exercise or permit the exercise of such Voting Rights.

4.2 Number of Votes. With respect to all meetings of stockholders of HEARXx at which holders of HEARx Common Stock are entitled to
vote (2 HEARx Meeting ) and with respect to all written consents sought from the holders of HEARx Common Stock (a  HEARx Consent ), each
Holder shall be entitled to instruct the Trustee to cast and exercise, in the manner instructed, such number of votes comprised in the Voting
Rights as is equal to the Current HEARx Common Stock Equivalent on the record date established by HEARX or by applicable law for such
HEARx Meeting or HEARx Consent, as the case may be, for each Exchangeable Share owned of record by such Holder on such record date (the
Holder Votes ) in respect of each matter, question or proposition to be voted on at such HEARx Meeting or to be consented to in connection with
such HEARx Consent.

4.3 Mailings to Shareholders. With respect to each HEARx Meeting and HEARx Consent, the Trustee shall mail or cause to be mailed (or
otherwise communicate in the same manner as HEARX utilizes in communications to holders of HEARx Common Stock), to each of the Holders
named in the List, on the same day as the initial mailing of notice (or other communication) with respect thereto is given by HEARX to its
stockholders:

(a) a copy of such notice, together with any proxy or information statement and related materials to be provided to stockholders of
HEARX;

(b) a statement that such Holder is entitled to instruct the Trustee as to the exercise of the Holder Votes with respect to such HEARx
Meeting or HEARx Consent, as the case may be, or, pursuant to section 4.7 hereof, to attend such HEARx Meeting and to exercise
personally the Holder Votes thereat;

(c) a statement as to the manner in which such instructions may be given to the Trustee, including an express indication that instructions
may be given to the Trustee to give:

(1) a proxy to such Holder or his designee to exercise personally the Holder Votes; or
(i) a proxy to a designated agent or other representative of the management of HEARX to exercise such Holder Votes;

(d) a statement that if no such instructions are received from the Holder, the Holder Votes to which such Holder is entitled will not be
exercised;

(e) a form of direction whereby the Holder may so direct and instruct the Trustee as contemplated herein; and

(f) a statement of: (i) the time and date by which such instructions must be received by the Trustee in order to be binding upon it, which
in the case of a HEARx Meeting shall not be earlier than the close of business on the second Business Day prior to such meeting; and (ii) the
method for revoking or amending such instructions.

The materials referred to in this section 4.3 are to be provided to the Trustee by HEARx and the materials referred to in section 4.3(c),
(e) and (f) shall be subject to, and shall be provided to the Trustee in sufficient time to permit, reasonable comment by the Trustee in a timely
manner. For the purpose of determining Holder Votes to which a Holder is entitled in respect of any such HEARx Meeting or HEARx Consent,
the number of Exchangeable Shares owned of record by the Holder shall be determined at the close of business on the record date established by
HEARX or by applicable law for purposes of determining stockholders entitled to vote at such HEARx Meeting or to give written consent in
connection with such HEARx Consent. HEARX shall notify the Trustee of any decision of the board of directors of HEARXx with respect to the
calling of any such HEARx Meeting or the seeking by HEARx of any such HEARx Consent and shall provide all necessary information and
materials to the Trustee in each case promptly and in any event in sufficient time to enable the Trustee to perform its obligations contemplated
by this section 4.3.
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4.4 Copies of Stockholder Information. HEARX shall deliver to the Trustee copies of all proxy materials (including notices of HEARx
Meetings but excluding proxies to vote HEARx Common Stock), information statements, reports (including without limitation all interim and
annual financial statements) and other written communications that are to be distributed by HEARX from time to time to holders of HEARx
Common Stock in sufficient quantities and in sufficient time so as to enable the Trustee to send those materials to each Holder at the same time
as such materials are first sent to holders of HEARx Common Stock. The Trustee shall mail or otherwise send to each Holder, at the expense of
HEARX, copies of all such materials (and all materials specifically directed to the Holders or to the Trustee for the benefit of the Holders by
HEARX) received by the Trustee from HEARX at the same time as such materials are first sent to holders of HEARx Common Stock. The
Trustee shall make copies of all such materials available for inspection by any Holder at the Trustee s corporate trust office in the City of
Montreal.

4.5 Other Materials. Immediately after receipt by HEARX of any material sent or given generally to the holders of HEARx Common Stock
by or on behalf of a third party, including without limitation dissident proxy and information circulars (and related information and material) and
tender and exchange offer circulars (and related information and material), HEARX shall use all commercially reasonable efforts to obtain and
deliver to the Trustee copies thereof in sufficient quantities so as to enable the Trustee to forward such material (unless the same has been
provided directly to Holders by such third party) to each Holder as soon as possible thereafter. As soon as practicable after receipt thereof, the
Trustee shall mail or otherwise send to each Holder at the expense of HEARX, copies of all such materials received by the Trustee from HEARX.
The Trustee shall also make copies of all such materials available for inspection by any Holder at the Trustee s corporate trust office in City of
Montreal.

4.6 List of Persons Entitled to Vote. HEARx Canada shall, (a) prior to each annual, general and special HEARx Meeting or the seeking of

any HEARXx Consent, and (b) forthwith upon each request made at any time by the Trustee in writing, prepare or cause to be prepared a list (a
List ) of the names and addresses of the Holders arranged in alphabetical order and showing the number of Exchangeable Shares held of record

by each such Holder, in each case at the close of business on the date specified by the Trustee in such request or, in the case of a List prepared in
connection with a HEARx Meeting or a HEARx Consent, at the close of business on the record date established by HEARx or pursuant to
applicable law for determining the holders of HEARx Common Stock entitled to receive notice of and/or to vote at such HEARx Meeting or to
give consent in connection with such HEARx Consent. Each such List shall be delivered to the Trustee promptly after receipt by HEARx
Canada of such request or the record date for such meeting or seeking of consent, as the case may be, and in any event within sufficient time as
to enable the Trustee to perform its obligations under this Agreement. HEARx agrees to give HEARx Canada notice (with a copy to the Trustee)
of the calling of any HEARx Meeting or the seeking of any HEARx Consent, together with the record dates therefor, sufficiently prior to the
date of the calling of such meeting or seeking of such consent so as to enable HEARx Canada to perform its obligations under this section 4.6.

4.7 Entitlement to Direct Votes. Any Holder named in a List prepared in connection with a HEARx Meeting or a HEARx Consent shall be
entitled (a) to instruct the Trustee in the manner described in section 4.3 hereof with respect to the exercise of the Holder Votes to which such
Holder is entitled or (b) to attend such meeting and personally to exercise thereat or to exercise (with respect to any written consent), as the
proxy of the Trustee, the Holder Votes to which such Holder is entitled pursuant to the procedure set forth in section 4.8 hereof.

4.8 Voting by Trustee, and Attendance of Trustee Representative, at Meeting.

(a) In connection with each HEARx Meeting and HEARx Consent, the Trustee shall exercise, either in person or by proxy, in
accordance with the instructions received from a Holder pursuant to section 4.3 hereof, the Holder Votes to which such Holder is entitled to
direct the vote (or any lesser number thereof as may be set forth in the instructions); provided, however, that such written instructions are
received by the Trustee from the Holder prior to the time and date fixed by it for receipt of such instructions in the notice given by the
Trustee to the Holder pursuant to section 4.3 hereof.
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(b) The Trustee shall cause such representatives as are empowered by it to sign and deliver, on behalf of the Trustee, proxies for Voting
Rights and to attend each HEARx Meeting. Upon submission by a Holder (or its designee) of identification satisfactory to the Trustee s
representatives, at the Holder s request, such Trustee representatives shall sign and deliver to such Holder (or its designee) a proxy to
exercise personally the Holder Votes as to which such Holder is otherwise entitled hereunder to direct the vote, if such Holder either (i) has
not previously given the Trustee instructions pursuant to section 4.3 hereof in respect of such meeting, or (ii) submits to the Trustee s
representatives written revocation of any such previous instructions. At such meeting, the Holder exercising such Holder Votes as provided
in the immediately preceding sentence shall have the same rights as the Trustee to speak at the meeting in respect of any matter, question or
proposition, to vote by way of ballot at the meeting in respect of any matter, question or proposition and to vote at such meeting by way of a
show of hands in respect of any matter, question or proposition.

4.9 Distribution of Written Materials. Any written materials to be distributed by the Trustee to the Holders pursuant to this Agreement
shall be delivered or sent by mail (or otherwise communicated in the same manner as HEARX utilizes in communications to holders of HEARx
Common Stock) to each Holder at its address as shown on the books of HEARx Canada or the transfer agent, as applicable. HEARx Canada
shall provide or cause to be provided to the Trustee for this purpose on a timely basis and without charge or other expense:

(a) a current List; and

(b) upon request of the Trustee, mailing labels to enable the Trustee to carry out its duties under this Agreement.

4.10 Termination of Voting Rights. Except with respect to a HEARx Meeting or HEARx Consent for which the record date has occurred,
all of the rights of a Holder with respect to the Holder Votes exercisable in respect of the Exchangeable Shares held by such Holder, including
the right to instruct the Trustee as to the voting of or to vote personally such Holder Votes, shall be deemed to be surrendered by the Holder to
HEARXx and such Holder Votes and the Voting Rights represented thereby shall cease immediately upon the delivery by such Holder to the
Trustee of the certificates representing such Exchangeable Shares in connection with the exercise by the Holder of the Exchange Right or the
occurrence of the automatic exchange pursuant to the Automatic Exchange Rights (unless in either case HEARXx shall not have delivered or
caused to be delivered the requisite HEARx Common Stock issuable in exchange therefor to the Trustee for delivery to the Holders), or upon the
redemption of Exchangeable Shares pursuant to Article 5 or Article 6 of the Exchangeable Share Provisions, or upon the effective date of the
liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of HEARx Canada pursuant to Article 4 of the Exchangeable Share Provisions, or upon the purchase of
Exchangeable Shares from the Holder thereof by HEARX Acquisition pursuant to the exercise by HEARx Acquisition of the Retraction Call
Right, the Redemption Call Right or the Liquidation Call Right.

4.11 Issue of Additional HEARx Special Voting Stock. During the term of this Agreement, HEARx will not issue any shares of HEARx
Special Voting Stock, other than the Voting Share.

ARTICLE V

EXCHANGE RIGHT AND AUTOMATIC EXCHANGE

5.1 Grant and Ownership of the Exchange Right. HEARX hereby grants to the Trustee as trustee for and on behalf of, and for the use and
benefit of, the Holders (a) the right (the Exchange Right ), upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Insolvency Event or Default
Event, to require HEARx (or HEARx Acquisition, as HEARXx shall direct) to purchase from each Holder all or any part of the Exchangeable
Shares held by such Holder and (b) the Automatic Exchange Rights, all in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement. HEARX hereby
acknowledges receipt from the Trustee as trustee for and on behalf of the Holders of good and valuable consideration (and the adequacy thereof)
for the grant of the Exchange Right and the Automatic Exchange Rights by HEARX to the Trustee for the benefit of the Holders. During the term
of the Trust and subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Trustee shall
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possess and be vested with full legal ownership of the Exchange Right and the Automatic Exchange Rights and shall be entitled to exercise all of
the rights and powers of an owner with respect to the Exchange Right and the Automatic Exchange Rights, provided that the Trustee shall:

(a) hold the Exchange Right and the Automatic Exchange Rights and the legal title thereto as trustee solely for the use and benefit of
the Holders in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement; and

(b) except as specifically authorized by this Agreement, have no power or authority to exercise or otherwise deal in or with the
Exchange Right or the Automatic Exchange Rights, and the Trustee shall not exercise any such rights for any purpose other than the
purposes for which this Trust is created pursuant to this Agreement, and shall not assign such rights except to a successor trustee hereunder.

5.2 Legended Share Certificates. HEARx Canada shall cause each certificate for Exchangeable Shares to bear an appropriate legend
notifying the Holders of:

(a) their right to instruct the Trustee with respect to the exercise of the Exchange Right in respect of the Exchangeable Shares held by a
Holder; and

(b) the Automatic Exchange Rights.

5.3 General Exercise of Exchange Right. The Exchange Right shall be and remain vested in and exercisable by the Trustee. Subject to
section 6.15 hereof, the Trustee shall exercise the Exchange Right only on the basis of instructions received pursuant to this Article 5 from
Holders entitled to instruct the Trustee as to the exercise thereof. To the extent that no instructions are received from a Holder with respect to the
Exchange Right, the Trustee shall not exercise or permit the exercise of the Exchange Right.

5.4 Purchase Price. The purchase price payable for each Exchangeable Share to be purchased by HEARx (or HEARx Acquisition, as
HEARKX shall direct) under the Exchange Right shall be an amount per share equal to (a) the Current Market Price multiplied by the Current
HEARx Common Stock Equivalent, in each case determined on the last Business Day prior to the day of closing of the purchase and sale of such
Exchangeable Share under the Exchange Right, which shall be satisfied in full in respect of the Exchangeable Shares in regard to which a Holder
has exercised the Exchange Right by causing to be delivered to such Holder such whole number of shares of HEARx Common Stock as is equal
to the product obtained by multiplying the number of such Exchangeable Shares by the Current HEARx Common Stock Equivalent, rounded
down to the nearest whole number, plus (b) the aggregate of all dividends declared and unpaid on each such Exchangeable Share (provided that
if the record date for any such declared and unpaid dividends occurs on or after the day of closing of such purchase and sale the purchase price
shall not include such declared and unpaid dividends).

5.5 Exercise Instructions. Subject to the terms and conditions herein set forth, a Holder shall be entitled, upon the occurrence and during
the continuance of an Insolvency Event or a Default Event, to instruct the Trustee to exercise the Exchange Right with respect to all or any part
of the Exchangeable Shares registered in the name of such Holder on the books of HEARx Canada or the transfer agent, as applicable. To cause
the exercise of the Exchange Right by the Trustee, the Holder shall deliver to the Trustee, in person or by certified or registered mail, at its
corporate trust office in the City of Montreal or at such other place as the Trustee may from time to time designate by written notice to the
Holders, the certificates representing the Exchangeable Shares that such Holder desires to have purchased, duly endorsed in blank, and
accompanied by such other documents and instruments as may be required to effect a transfer of Exchangeable Shares under the CBCA and the
by-laws of HEARx Canada and such additional documents and instruments as the Trustee may reasonably require together with (a) a duly
completed form of notice of exercise of the Exchange Right, in the form attached hereto as Schedule A, or attached to the Exchangeable Share
certificates, stating (i) that the Holder thereby instructs the Trustee to exercise the Exchange Right so as to require HEARx (or HEARx
Acquisition, as HEARX shall direct) to purchase from the Holder the number of Exchangeable Shares specified therein, (ii) that such Holder has
good title to and owns all such Exchangeable Shares free and clear of all Liens, (iii) the names in which the certificates representing HEARx
Common Stock issuable in connection with the exercise of the Exchange Right are to be issued and (iv) the names and addresses of
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the persons to whom such new certificates should be delivered; and (b) payment (or evidence satisfactory to the Trustee, HEARx Canada and
HEARXx of payment) of the taxes (if any) payable as contemplated by section 5.8 of this Agreement. If only a part of the Exchangeable Shares
represented by any certificate or certificates delivered to the Trustee are to be purchased under the Exchange Right, a new certificate for the
balance of such Exchangeable Shares shall be issued to the holder at the expense of HEARx Canada.

5.6 Delivery of HEARx Common Stock: Effect of Exercise. Promptly after receipt of the certificates representing the Exchangeable
Shares that the Holder desires to have purchased under the Exchange Right (together with such documents and instruments of transfer and a duly
completed form of notice of exercise of the Exchange Right (and payment of taxes, if any, or evidence thereof in accordance with section 5.8)),
duly endorsed for transfer to HEARX, the Trustee shall notify HEARX of its receipt of the same, by notice in the form of Schedule B hereto,
which notice to HEARXx shall constitute exercise of the Exchange Right by the Trustee on behalf of the Holder and HEARx shall immediately
thereafter deliver or cause to be delivered to the Trustee, for delivery to the Holder of such Exchangeable Shares (or to such other persons, if
any, properly designated by such Holder), the certificates for the number of shares of HEARx Common Stock issuable in connection with the
exercise of the Exchange Right, which shares shall be duly issued as fully paid and non-assessable and shall be free and clear of any Liens, and
cheques for the balance, if any, of the total purchase price therefor (or, if part of the purchase price consists of dividends payable in property,
such property or property the same as or economically equivalent to such property). Immediately upon the giving of notice by the Trustee to
HEARX of the exercise of the Exchange Right, as provided in this section 5.6, the closing of the transaction of purchase and sale contemplated
by the Exchange Right shall be deemed to have occurred, and the Holder of such Exchangeable Shares shall be deemed to have transferred to
HEARXx (or to HEARX Acquisition, as the case may be) all of its right, title and interest in and to such Exchangeable Shares and in the related
interest in the Trust Estate and shall cease to be a Holder and shall not be entitled to exercise any of the rights of a holder in respect thereof,
other than the right to receive the purchase price therefor, unless the requisite number of shares of HEARx Common Stock (together with a
cheque for the balance, if any, of the purchase price therefor or, if part of the purchase price consists of dividends payable in property, such
property or property the same as or economically equivalent to such property) is not allotted, issued and delivered by HEARX to the Trustee for
delivery to such Holder (or to other persons, if any, properly designated by such Holder) within five (5) Business Days of the date of the giving
of such notice by the Trustee, in which case the rights of the Holder shall remain unaffected until such shares of HEARx Common Stock are so
allotted, issued and delivered by HEARX and any such cheque or property is so delivered and paid. Concurrently with such Holder ceasing to
hold Exchangeable Shares, the Holder shall be considered and deemed for all purposes to be the holder of the shares of HEARx Common Stock
delivered to it pursuant to the Exchange Right. The Trustee shall deliver to HEARx Canada s transfer agent and registrar the certificates for the
Exchangeable Shares so transferred to be cancelled and new certificates in the name of HEARX issued in respect thereof and shall deliver or
cause to be delivered such Exchangeable Shares to HEARX (or to HEARx Acquisition, if HEARx Acquisition shall have purchased the Holder s
Exchangeable Shares).

The Trustee shall not be responsible or liable in any manner whatsoever for the sufficiency, correctness, genuineness or validity of any
security deposited with it. The Trustee shall incur no liability with respect to the delivery or non-delivery of any certificate or certificates
whether delivered by hand, mail or any other means.

5.7 Exercise of Exchange Right Subsequent to Retraction. In the event that a Holder has exercised its right under Article 5 of the
Exchangeable Share Provisions to require HEARx Canada to redeem any or all of the Exchangeable Shares held by the Holder (the Retracted
Shares ) and is notified by HEARx Canada pursuant to section 5.6 of the Exchangeable Share Provisions that HEARx Canada is not permitted as
a result of solvency requirements of applicable law to redeem all of such Retracted Shares, and provided that HEARXx Acquisition shall not have
exercised the Retraction Call Right with respect to the Retracted Shares, the retraction request shall constitute and shall be deemed to constitute
notice from the Holder to the Trustee instructing the Trustee to exercise the Exchange Right with respect to those Retracted Shares that HEARx
Canada is unable to redeem. In any such event, HEARx Canada hereby agrees with the Trustee and in favour of the Holder immediately to
notify the Trustee of such prohibition against HEARx Canada redeeming all of the Retracted Shares and immediately to forward or cause to be
forwarded to the Trustee all relevant

C-9

Table of Contents 106



Edgar Filing: PROASSURANCE CORP - Form 4

Table of Contents

materials delivered by the Holder to HEARx Canada or to the transfer agent of the Exchangeable Shares (including, without limitation, a copy of
the retraction request delivered pursuant to section 5.1 of the Exchangeable Share Provisions) in connection with such proposed redemption of
the Retracted Shares and the Trustee shall thereupon exercise the Exchange Right with respect to the Retracted Shares that HEARx Canada is

not permitted to redeem and will require the purchase of such shares in accordance with the provisions of this Article. The Trustee shall deliver

to HEARx Canada s transfer agent and registrar the certificates for the Exchangeable Shares so transferred to be cancelled and new certificates in
the name of HEARx or HEARX Acquisition, as the case may be issued in respect thereof and shall deliver or cause to be delivered such
Exchangeable Shares to HEARx or HEARX Acquisition, as the case may be.

5.8 Stamp or Other Transfer Taxes. Upon any sale of Exchangeable Shares pursuant to the Exchange Right or the Automatic Exchange
Rights, the share certificate or certificates representing HEARx Common Stock to be delivered in connection with the payment of the purchase
price therefor shall be issued in the name of the Holder of the Exchangeable Shares so sold or in such names as such Holder may otherwise
direct in writing without charge to the holder of the Exchangeable Shares so sold, provided, however, that such Holder (a) shall pay (and neither
HEARx, HEARx Acquisition, HEARx Canada nor the Trustee shall be required to pay) any documentary, stamp, transfer or other similar taxes
that may be payable in respect of any transfer involved in the issuance or delivery of such shares to a person other than such Holder and (b) shall
establish to the satisfaction of the Trustee, HEARx, and HEARx Canada that such taxes, if any, have been paid.

5.9 Notice of Insolvency Event or Default Event. Inmediately upon the occurrence of an Insolvency Event or Default Event or any event
that with the giving of notice or the passage of time or both would be an Insolvency Event or Default Event, HEARx Canada and HEARX shall
give written notice thereof to the Trustee. As soon as practicable after receiving notice from HEARx Canada and HEARX or from any other
person of the occurrence of an Insolvency Event or Default Event, the Trustee shall mail to each Holder, at the expense of HEARX, a notice of
such Insolvency Event or Default Event, which notice shall contain a brief statement of the right of the Holders with respect to the Exchange
Right.

5.10 Qualification of HEARx Common Stock. If any HEARx Common Stock (or other shares or securities into which HEARx Common
Stock may be reclassified or changed as contemplated by section 11.4 hereof) to be issued and delivered hereunder require registration, or
qualification with, approval of, or the filing of any document, including any prospectus or similar document or the taking of any proceeding with
or the obtaining of any order, ruling or consent from any governmental or regulatory authority under any Canadian or United States federal,
provincial or state securities or other law or regulation or pursuant to the rules and regulations of any securities or other regulatory authority or
the fulfillment of any other United States or Canadian legal requirement before such shares (or such other shares or securities) may be issued by
HEARXx and delivered by HEARx at the direction of HEARx Canada or HEARX Acquisition, if applicable, to the holder of surrendered
Exchangeable Shares or in order that such shares (or such other shares or securities) may be freely traded thereafter (other than any restrictions
of general application on transfer by reason of a holder being a control person for purposes of Canadian provincial securities law or an affiliate
of HEARX for purposes of United States federal or state securities law), HEARx will, in good faith, expeditiously take all such actions and do all
such things as are necessary or desirable to cause such HEARx Common Stock (or such other shares or securities) to be and remain duly
registered, qualified or approved under United States and/or Canadian law, as the case may be. HEARx will, in good faith, expeditiously take all
such actions and do all such things as are reasonably necessary or desirable to cause all HEARx Common stock (or such other shares or
securities) to be delivered hereunder to be listed, quoted or posted for trading on all stock exchanges and quotation systems on which
outstanding HEARx Common Stock (or such other shares or securities) have been listed by HEARx and remain listed and are quoted or posted
for trading at such time.

5.11 Reservation of HEARx Common Stock. HEARX hereby represents and warrants that it has irrevocably reserved for issuance out of its
authorized and unissued capital stock such number of shares of HEARx Common Stock as is equal to the number of Exchangeable Shares
outstanding at the date hereof and covenants that it will at all times keep available, free from pre-emptive and other rights, out of its authorized
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and unissued capital stock such number of shares of HEARx Common Stock (or other shares or securities into which HEARx Common Stock
may be reclassified or changed) as is necessary to enable HEARx, HEARx Acquisition and HEARx Canada to perform their respective
obligations pursuant to this Agreement, the Exchangeable Share Provisions and the Support Agreement.

5.12 Automatic Exchange on Liquidation of HEARXx.
(a) HEARX shall give the Trustee written notice of each of the following events (a Liquidation Event ) at the time set forth below:

(i) in the event of any determination by the Board of Directors of HEARX to institute voluntary liquidation, dissolution or
winding-up proceedings with respect to HEARX or to effect any other distribution of assets of HEARx among its stockholders for the
purpose of winding up its affairs, at least sixty (60) days prior to the proposed effective date of such liquidation, dissolution, winding-up
or other distribution; and

(i1) immediately, upon the earlier of (A) receipt by HEARx of notice of and (B) HEARX otherwise becoming aware of, any
threatened or instituted claim, suit, petition or other proceedings with respect to the involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of
HEARKX or to effect any other distribution of assets of HEARx among its stockholders for the purpose of winding up its affairs, in each
case when HEARX has failed to contest in good any such proceeding commenced in respect of HEARx within 60 days of becoming
aware thereof.

(b) Immediately following receipt by the Trustee from HEARX of notice of any Liquidation Event, the Trustee shall give notice thereof
to the Holders. Such notice shall include a brief description of the automatic exchange of Exchangeable Shares for HEARx Common Stock
provided for in subsection 5.12(c) below.

(c) In order that the Holders will be able to participate on a pro rata basis with the holders of HEARx Common Stock in the distribution
of assets of HEARX in connection with a Liquidation Event, on the fifth Business Day prior to the effective date of any liquidation, winding
up or dissolution giving rise to a Liquidation Event (the Liquidation Event Effective Date ) all of the then outstanding Exchangeable Shares
shall be automatically exchanged by the Holders directly with HEARx (or HEARx Acquisition, as HEARXx shall direct) for HEARx
Common Stock. To effect such automatic exchange, HEARx (or HEARx Acquisition, as the case may be) shall purchase and each Holder
shall sell each Exchangeable Share outstanding on the fifth Business Day prior to the Liquidation Event Effective Date and held by Holders,
for a purchase price per share equal to (a) the Current Market Price multiplied by the Current HEARx Common Share Equivalent on such
fifth Business Day prior to the Liquidation Event Effective Date, which shall be satisfied in full in respect of the Exchangeable Shares held
by each Holder by HEARX issuing to such Holder such whole number of shares of HEARx Common Stock as is equal to the product
obtained by multiplying the number of such Exchangeable Shares by the Current HEARx Common Share Equivalent, plus (b) the aggregate
of all dividends declared and unpaid on each such Exchangeable Share (provided that if the record date for any such declared and unpaid
dividends occurs on or after the day of closing of such purchase and sale, the purchase price shall not include such additional amount equal
to such declared and unpaid dividends). No certificates or scrip representing fractional HEARx Common Stock shall be delivered to Holders
pursuant to the provisions hereof.

(d) On the fifth Business Day prior to the Liquidation Event Effective Date, the closing of the transaction of purchase and sale
contemplated by the automatic exchange of Exchangeable Shares for shares of HEARx Common Stock shall be deemed to have occurred,
and each Holder of Exchangeable Shares shall be deemed to have transferred to HEARx (or HEARx Acquisition, as HEARX shall direct) all
of the Holder s right, title and interest in and to such Exchangeable Shares and the related interest in the Trust Estate and shall cease to be a
Holder of such Exchangeable Shares and HEARx (or HEARX Acquisition, as the case may be) shall issue to the Holder the HEARx
Common Stock issuable upon the automatic exchange of Exchangeable Shares for HEARx Common Stock and shall deliver to the Trustee
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for delivery to the Holder a cheque for the balance, if any, of the purchase price for such Exchangeable Shares (or, if any part of the
purchase price consists of dividends payable in property, such property or property that is the same as or economically equivalent to such
property). Concurrently with such Holder ceasing to be a holder of Exchangeable Shares, the Holder shall be considered and deemed for all
purposes to be the holder of the HEARx Common Stock issued to it pursuant to the automatic exchange of Exchangeable Shares for HEARx
Common Stock and the certificates held by the Holder previously representing the Exchangeable Shares exchanged by the Holder pursuant
to such automatic exchange shall thereafter be deemed to represent the HEARx Common Stock issued to the Holder pursuant to such
automatic exchange. Upon the request of a Holder and the surrender by the Holder of Exchangeable Share certificates deemed to represent
HEARx Common Stock, duly endorsed in blank and accompanied by such instruments of transfer as HEARx may reasonably require,
HEARX shall deliver or cause to be delivered to the Holder certificates representing the HEARx Common Stock of which the Holder is the
holder. The Trustee shall cause the certificates for the Exchangeable Shares so transferred to be cancelled and new certificates in the name
of HEARx (or HEARX Acquisition, as the case may be) issued in respect thereof.

5.13 Withholding Rights. HEARx, HEARx Acquisition, HEARx Canada and the Trustee shall be entitled to deduct and withhold from the
consideration otherwise payable pursuant to this Agreement to any Holder such amounts as HEARx, HEARx Acquisition, HEARx Canada or
the Trustee is required or permitted to deduct and withhold with respect to the making of such payment under the United States Internal Revenue
Code, as amended, the Income Tax Act (Canada), as amended, or any provision of state, local or provincial tax law. To the extent that amounts
are so withheld, such withheld amounts shall be treated for all purposes of this Agreement as having been paid to the holder of the Exchangeable
Shares in respect of which such deduction and withholding was made, provided that such withheld amounts are actually remitted to the
appropriate taxing authority. To the extent that the amount so required or permitted to be deducted or withheld from any payment to a holder
exceeds the cash portion of the consideration otherwise payable to the holder, HEARx, HEARx Acquisition, HEARx Canada or the Trustee is
hereby authorized to sell or otherwise dispose of at fair market value such portion of the consideration as is necessary to provide sufficient funds
to HEARx, HEARx Acquisition, HEARx Canada or the Trustee, as the case may be, in order to enable it to comply with such deduction or
withholding requirement and shall account to the relevant Holder for any balance of any such sale proceeds. HEARXx represents and warrants
that, based upon facts currently known to it, it has no current intention, as at the date of this Agreement, to deduct or withhold from any dividend
paid to holders of Exchangeable Shares any amounts under the United States Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

If upon the occurrence of an Insolvency Event, a Holder not resident in Canada instructs the Trustee to exercise the Exchange Right,
HEARX shall provide (or shall cause to be provided) the Trustee, by certified cheque money order or bank draft, with sufficient funds to satisfy
any withholding taxes applicable in connection with the sale of such Holder s Exchangeable Shares, otherwise such exchange shall not have
occurred or be deemed to have occurred. The fair market value of a share of HEARx Common Stock at a particular date shall, for the purposes
of calculating any applicable withholding taxes, be the Current Market Price or shall be determined by such other method of valuation which has
been recommended or suggested by Canada Customs and Revenue Agency as providing a satisfactory assessment of such fair market value. Any
determination of Current Market Price or other fair market value assessment shall be made by HEARXx, who shall provide the Trustee and
Holders of Exchangeable Shares with written notice of the same. Such determination shall be binding on the Trustee and Holders, who shall be
able to rely on such determination without further verification of the same. Prior to making any distribution to Holders of Exchangeable Shares,
HEARx, HEARx Acquisition or HEARx Canada, as the case may be, shall ensure that the Trustee has access to sufficient funds (by directly
providing, if necessary, such funds to the Trustee) to enable the Trustee to comply with any applicable withholding taxes in connection with
such distribution.
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ARTICLE VI

CONCERNING THE TRUSTEE

6.1 Powers and Duties of the Trustee. The rights, powers and authorities of the Trustee under this Agreement, in its capacity as trustee of
the Trust, shall include:

(a) receipt and depositing of the Voting Share from HEARX as trustee for and on behalf of the Holders in accordance with the
provisions of this Agreement;

(b) granting proxies and distributing materials to Holders as provided in this Agreement;
(c) voting the Holder Votes in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement;

(d) receiving the grant of the Exchange Right and the Automatic Exchange Rights from HEARX as trustee for and on behalf of the
Holders in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement;

(e) exercising the Exchange Right and enforcing the benefit of the Automatic Exchange Rights, in each case in accordance with the
provisions of this Agreement and in connection therewith receiving from Holders Exchangeable Shares and other requisite documents and
distributing to such Holders the HEARx Common Stock and cheques, if any, to which such Holders are entitled upon the exercise of the
Exchange Right or pursuant to the Automatic Exchange Rights, as the case may be;

(f) holding title to the Trust Estate;
(g) investing any moneys forming, from time to time, a part of the Trust Estate as provided in this Agreement;

(h) taking action on its own initiative or at the direction of a Holder or Holders to enforce the obligations of HEARX under this
Agreement; and

(1) taking such other actions and doing such other things as are specifically provided in this Agreement.

In the exercise of such rights, powers and authorities the Trustee shall have (and is granted) such incidental and additional rights, powers
and authority not in conflict with any of the provisions of this Agreement as the Trustee, acting in good faith and in the reasonable exercise of its
discretion, may deem necessary, appropriate or desirable to effect the purpose of the Trust. Any exercise of such discretionary rights, powers and
authorities by the Trustee shall be final, conclusive and binding upon all persons. For greater certainty, the Trustee shall have only those duties
as are set out specifically in this Agreement.

The Trustee in exercising its rights, powers, duties and authorities hereunder shall act honestly and in good faith with a view to the best
interests of the Holders and shall exercise the care, diligence and skill that a reasonably prudent trustee would exercise in comparable
circumstances.

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, nothing in this Agreement shall obligate the Trustee to have knowledge of, comply
with or otherwise act in accordance with laws or regulations of a jurisdiction other than the Province of Quebec and the laws of Canada
applicable therein.

6.2 No Conflict of Interest. The Trustee represents to the other parties hereto that at the date of execution and delivery of this Agreement
there exists no material conflict of interest in the role of the Trustee as a fiduciary hereunder and the role of the Trustee in any other capacity.
The Trustee shall, within 30 days after it becomes aware that such a material conflict of interest exists, either eliminate such material conflict of
interest or resign in the manner and with the effect specified in Article 9 hereof. If, notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this section 6.2,
the Trustee has such a material conflict of interest, the validity and enforceability of this Agreement shall not be affected in any manner
whatsoever by reason only of the existence of such material conflict of interest. If the Trustee contravenes the foregoing provisions of this
section 6.2, any interested party may apply to the Superior Court of Quebec for an order that the Trustee be replaced as trustee hereunder.
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6.3 Dealings with Transfer Agents, Registrars, etc. HEARx Canada and HEARX irrevocably authorize the Trustee, from time to time, to:

(a) consult, communicate and otherwise deal with the respective registrars and transfer agents, and with any such subsequent registrar
or transfer agent, of the Exchangeable Shares and HEARx Common Stock; and

(b) requisition, from time to time: (i) from any such registrar or transfer agent any information readily available from the records
maintained by it which the Trustee may reasonably require for the discharge of its duties and responsibilities under this Agreement; and
(i1) from the transfer agent of HEARx Common Stock, and any subsequent transfer agent of such shares, the share certificates issuable upon
the exercise from time to time of the Exchange Right and pursuant to the Automatic Exchange Rights in the manner specified in Article 5
hereof.

HEARx Canada and HEARX irrevocably authorize their respective registrars and transfer agents to comply with all such requests. HEARx
covenants that it will supply its transfer agent with duly executed share certificates for the purpose of completing the exercise from time to
time of the Exchange Right and the Automatic Exchange Rights, in each case pursuant to Article 5 hereof.

6.4 Books and Records. The Trustee shall keep available for inspection by HEARx, HEARx Acquisition and HEARx Canada, at the
Trustee s corporate trust office in Montreal, Quebec, correct and complete books and records of account relating to the Trustee s actions under
this Agreement, including without limitation all information relating to mailings and instructions to and from Holders and all transactions
pursuant to the Voting Rights, the Exchange Right and the Automatic Exchange Rights for the term of this Agreement. On or before

and on or before in every year thereafter, so long as the Voting Share is on deposit with the Trustee, the Trustee shall
transmit to HEARx, HEARx Acquisition and HEARx Canada a brief report, dated as of the preceding , with respect to:

(a) the property and funds comprising the Trust Estate as of that date;

(b) the number of exercises of the Exchange Right, if any, and the aggregate number of Exchangeable Shares received by the Trustee
on behalf of Holders in consideration of the issue and delivery of HEARx Common Stock in connection with the Exchange Right, during
the calendar year ended on such date; and

(c) all other actions taken by the Trustee in the performance of its duties under this Agreement that it had not previously reported.

6.5 Income Tax Returns and Reports. The Trustee shall, to the extent necessary, prepare and file on behalf of the Trust applicable United
States and Canadian income tax returns, if any, and any other returns or reports as may be required by applicable law or pursuant to the rules and
regulations of any securities exchange or other trading system through which the Exchangeable Shares are traded and, in connection therewith,
may obtain the advice and assistance of such experts as the Trustee may consider necessary or desirable. If requested by the Trustee, HEARx
shall retain such experts for purposes of providing such advice and assistance.

6.6 Indemnification Prior to Certain Actions by Trustee. The Trustee shall exercise any or all of the rights, duties, powers or authorities
vested in it by this Agreement at the request, order or direction of any Holder upon such Holder furnishing to the Trustee reasonable funding,
security and indemnity against the costs, expenses and liabilities that may be incurred by the Trustee therein or thereby, provided that no Holder
shall be obligated to furnish to the Trustee any such funding, security or indemnity in connection with the exercise by the Trustee of any of its
rights, duties, powers and authorities with respect to (i) the Voting Share pursuant to Article 4 hereof, subject to section 6.15 hereof, (ii) the
Exchange Right pursuant to Article 5 hereof, subject to section 6.15 hereof, and (iii) the Automatic Exchange Rights pursuant to Article 5
hereof.

None of the provisions contained in this Agreement shall require the Trustee to expend or risk its own funds or otherwise incur financial
liability in the exercise of any of its rights, powers, duties or authorities unless funded and given security and indemnity as aforesaid.
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6.7 Actions by Holders. No Holder shall have the right to institute any action, suit or proceeding or to exercise any other remedy authorized
by this Agreement for the purpose of enforcing any of its rights or for the execution of any trust or power hereunder unless the Holder has
requested the Trustee to take or institute such action, suit or proceeding and furnished the Trustee with the funding, security and indemnity
referred to in section 6.6 hereof and the Trustee has failed to act within a reasonable time thereafter. In such case, but not otherwise, the Holder
shall be entitled to take proceedings in any court of competent jurisdiction such as the Trustee might have taken, it being understood and
intended that no one or more Holders shall have any right in any manner whatsoever to affect, disturb or prejudice the rights hereby created by
any such action, or to enforce any right hereunder or under the Voting Rights, the Exchange Right or the Automatic Exchange Rights except
subject to the conditions and in the manner herein provided, and that all powers and trusts hereunder shall be exercised and all proceedings at
law shall be instituted, had and maintained by the Trustee, except only as herein provided, and in any event for the benefit of all Holders.

6.8 Reliance upon Declarations. The Trustee shall not be considered to be in contravention of any of its rights, powers, duties and
authorities hereunder if, when required, it acts and relies in good faith upon lists, mailing labels, notices, statutory declarations, certificates,
opinions, reports or other papers or documents furnished pursuant to the provisions hereof or required by the Trustee to be furnished to it in the
exercise of its rights, powers, duties and authorities hereunder and such lists, mailing labels, notices, statutory declarations, certificates, opinions,
reports or other papers or documents comply with the provisions of this section and with any other applicable provisions of this Agreement.

6.9 Evidence and Authority to Trustee. HEARx, HEARx Acquisition and HEARx Canada shall furnish to the Trustee evidence of
compliance with the conditions provided for in this Agreement relating to any action or step required or permitted to be taken by HEARX,
HEARx Acquisition, HEARx Canada or the Trustee under this Agreement or as a result of any obligation imposed under this Agreement,
including, without limitation, in respect of the Voting Rights, the Exchange Right or the Automatic Exchange Rights and the taking of any other
action to be taken by the Trustee at the request of or on the application of HEARx, HEARx Acquisition or HEARx Canada forthwith if and
when:

(a) such evidence is required by any other section of this Agreement to be furnished to the Trustee in accordance with the terms of this
section 6.9; or

(b) the Trustee, in the exercise of its rights, powers, duties and authorities under this Agreement, gives HEARx, HEARx Acquisition
and HEARXx Canada, or any one or more of them written notice requiring it or them to furnish such evidence in relation to any particular
action or obligation specified in such notice.
Such evidence shall consist of an Officer s Certificate or a statutory declaration or a certificate made by persons entitled to sign an Officer s
Certificate stating that any such condition has been complied with in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

Whenever such evidence relates to a matter other than the Voting Rights, the Exchange Right or the Automatic Exchange Rights, and
except as otherwise specifically provided herein, such evidence may consist of a report or opinion of any solicitor, auditor, accountant, appraiser,
valuer, engineer or other expert or any other person whose qualifications give authority to a statement made by him, provided that if such report
or opinion is furnished by a director, officer or employee of HEARXx, HEARx Acquisition or HEARx Canada it shall be in the form of an
Officer s Certificate or a statutory declaration.

Each statutory declaration, certificate, opinion or report furnished to the Trustee as evidence of compliance with a condition provided for in
this Agreement shall include a statement by the person giving the evidence:

(a) declaring that he has read and understands the provisions of this Agreement relating to the condition in question;

(b) describing the nature and scope of the examination or investigation upon which he based the statutory declaration, certificate,
statement or opinion; and
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(c) declaring that he has made such examination or investigation as he believes is necessary to enable him to make the statements or
give the opinions contained or expressed therein.

6.10 Experts, Advisers and Agents.
The Trustee may:

(a) in relation to this Agreement act and rely in good faith on the opinion or advice of or information obtained from any solicitor,
auditor, accountant, appraiser, valuer, engineer or other expert, whether retained by the Trustee, HEARx Acquisition, HEARx Canada,
HEARX or otherwise, and may employ such assistants as may be necessary to the proper discharge of its powers and duties and
determination of its rights hereunder and may pay proper and reasonable compensation for all such legal and other advice or assistance as
aforesaid; and

(b) employ such agents and other assistants as it may reasonably require for the proper discharge of its powers and duties hereunder,
and may pay proper and reasonable remuneration for all services performed for it in the discharge of the trusts hereof and compensation for
all disbursements, costs and expenses made or incurred by it in the discharge of its duties hereunder and in the management of the Trust.

6.11 Investment of Moneys Held By Trustee. Unless otherwise provided in this Agreement, any moneys held by or on behalf of the
Trustee that under the terms of this Agreement may or ought to be invested or which may be on deposit with the Trustee or that may be in the
hands of the Trustee may be invested and reinvested in the name or under the control of the Trustee in securities in which, under the laws of
Canada, trustees are authorized to invest trust moneys, provided that such securities are stated to mature within two (2) years after their purchase
by the Trustee, and are invested in such specific securities as directed in writing by HEARX. Pending the receipt of any direction and investment
of any moneys as hereinbefore provided, such moneys may be deposited in the name of the Trustee in an interest-bearing trust account of the
Trustee.

6.12 Trustee Not Required to Give Security. The Trustee shall not be required to give any bond or security in respect of the execution of
the trusts, rights, duties, powers and authorities of this Agreement.

6.13 Trustee Not Bound to Act. Except as in this Agreement otherwise specifically provided, the Trustee shall not be bound to act in
accordance with any direction or request of HEARx, HEARx Acquisition, HEARx Canada or of the directors thereof until a duly authenticated
copy of the instrument or resolution containing such direction or request shall have been delivered to the Trustee, and the Trustee shall be
empowered to act and rely upon any such copy purporting to be authenticated and believed by the Trustee in good faith to be genuine.

6.14 Authority to Carry on Business. The Trustee represents to HEARx, HEARx Acquisition and HEARx Canada that at the date of
execution and delivery by it of this Agreement it is authorized to perform its obligations pursuant to this Agreement under all applicable laws but
if, notwithstanding the provisions of this section 6.14, it ceases to be so authorized, the validity and enforceability of this Agreement and the
Voting Rights, the Exchange Right and the Automatic Exchange Rights shall not be affected in any manner whatsoever by reason only of such
event but the Trustee shall, within thirty (30) days after ceasing to be so authorized, either become so authorized or resign in the manner and
with the effect specified in Article 9 hereof.

6.15 Conflicting Claims. If conflicting claims or demands are made or asserted with respect to any interest of any Holder in any
Exchangeable Shares, including any disagreement between the heirs, representatives, successors or assigns succeeding to all or any part of the
interest of any Holder in any Exchangeable Shares resulting in conflicting claims or demands being made in connection with such interest, then
the Trustee shall be entitled, at its sole discretion, to refuse to recognize or to comply with any such claim or demand. In so refusing, the Trustee
may elect not to exercise any Voting Rights, Exchange Rights or Automatic Exchange Rights subject to such conflicting claims or demands and,
in so doing, the Trustee shall not be or become liable to any person on account of such election or its failure or refusal to comply with any
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such conflicting claims or demands. The Trustee shall be entitled to continue to refrain from acting and to refuse to act until:

(a) the rights of all adverse claimants with respect to the Voting Rights, Exchange Rights or Automatic Exchange Rights subject to such
conflicting claims or demands have been adjudicated by a final judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction; or

(b) all differences with respect to the Voting Rights, Exchange Right or Automatic Exchange Rights subject to such conflicting claims
or demands have been conclusively settled by a valid written agreement binding on all such adverse claimants, and the Trustee shall have
been furnished with an executed copy of such agreement.

If the Trustee elects to recognize any claim or comply with any demand made by any such adverse claimant, it may in its discretion require
such claimant to furnish such surety bond or other security satisfactory to the Trustee as it shall deem appropriate fully to indemnify it as
between all conflicting claims or demands.

6.16 Acceptance of Trust. The Trustee hereby accepts the Trust created and provided for by and in this Agreement and agrees to perform
the same upon the terms and conditions herein set forth and to hold all rights, privileges and benefits conferred hereby and by law in trust for the
various persons who shall from time to time be Holders, subject to all the terms and conditions herein set forth.

6.17 Notice to Trustee. The Trustee shall not be bound to give any notice or do or take any act, action or proceeding by virtue of the
powers conferred on it hereby unless and until it shall have been required to do so under the terms of this Agreement; nor shall the Trustee be
required to take notice of, be deemed to have actual or constructive notice or knowledge of any matter under this Agreement, or take any action
in connection with any notice of any HEARx Meeting or the seeking of any HEARx Consent or any prohibition of HEARx Canada against
redeeming any Retracted Shares as set out in section 5.6 of the Exchangeable Share Provisions or of any Insolvency Event, Default Event or
Liquidation Event as set out in Article 5 of this Agreement, respectively (any one of which shall constitute a Notice Event ), unless and until
notified in writing of such Notice Event in accordance with this Agreement, which notice shall distinctly specify the particular Notice Event
desired to be brought to the attention of the Trustee and in the absence of any such notice the Trustee may for all purposes of this Agreement
conclusively assume that no such Notice Event has occurred.

6.18 Merger or Consolidation of Trustee. Any corporation into or which the Trustee may be merged or consolidated or amalgamated, or
any corporation resulting therefrom to which the Trustee may be a party, or any corporation succeeding to the trust business of the Trustee shall
be the successor to the Trustee under this Agreement without any further act on its part or any of the parties hereto, provided that such
corporation would be eligible for appointment as a successor trustee under the provisions of this Agreement.

6.19 No Personal Liability. In the exercise of the powers, authorities or discretion conferred upon the Trustee under this Agreement, the
Trustee is and shall be conclusively deemed to be acting as trustee of the Trust and shall not be subject to any personal liability for any of the
liabilities, obligations, claims, demands, judgments, costs or expenses against or with respect to the Trust.

6.20 Incumbency Certificate. HEARx, HEARx Acquisition and HEARx Canada shall file with the Trustee a certificate of incumbency
setting forth the names of the individuals authorized to give instructions, directions or other instruments to the Trustee ( Authorized Persons ),
together with specimen signatures of such persons, and the Trustee shall be entitled to rely on the latest certificate of incumbency filed with it
unless it receives notice, in accordance with Section 13.3, of a change in Authorized Persons with updated specimen signatures.
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ARTICLE VII

COMPENSATION

7.1 Fees and Expenses of the Trustee. HEARx and HEARx Canada jointly and severally agree to pay to the Trustee reasonable
compensation for all of the services rendered by it under this Agreement and will reimburse the Trustee for all reasonable expenses and
disbursements, including fees and expenses for attendance at any meeting of shareholders, if so requested by HEARx or HEARx Canada, fees
and expenses of experts, advisors and agents retained pursuant to Section 6.10, the cost and expense of any suit or litigation of any character and
any proceedings before any governmental agency reasonably incurred by the Trustee in connection with its rights and duties under this
Agreement; provided that HEARx and HEARx Canada shall have no obligation to reimburse the Trustee for any expenses or disbursements
paid, incurred or suffered by the Trustee in any suit or litigation in which the Trustee is determined to have acted fraudulently, in bad faith or
with gross negligence or wilful misconduct.

ARTICLE VIII

INDEMNIFICATION AND LIMITATION OF LIABILITY

8.1 Indemnification of the Trustee. HEARx, HEARx Acquisition and HEARx Canada jointly and severally agree to indemnify and hold
harmless the Trustee and each of its directors, officers, employees and agents appointed and acting in accordance with this Agreement
(collectively the Indemnified Parties ) against all claims, losses, damages, costs, penalties, fines and reasonable expenses (including reasonable
expenses of the Trustee s legal counsel) which, without fraud, gross negligence, willful misconduct or bad faith on the part of such Indemnified
Party, may be paid, incurred or suffered by the Indemnified Party by reason of or as a result of the Trustee s acceptance or administration of the
Trust, its compliance with its duties set forth in this Agreement, or any written or oral instructions delivered to the Trustee by HEARx, HEARx
Acquisition or HEARx Canada pursuant hereto. In no case shall HEARx, HEARx Acquisition or HEARx Canada be liable under this indemnity
for any claim against any of the Indemnified Parties unless HEARx, HEARx Acquisition and HEARx Canada shall be notified by the Trustee of
the written assertion of a claim or of any action commenced against the Indemnified Parties, promptly after any of the Indemnified Parties shall
have received any such written assertion of a claim or shall have been served with a summons or other legal process giving information as to the
nature and basis of the claim. Subject to (ii), below, HEARx, HEARx Acquisition and HEARx Canada shall be entitled to participate at their
own expense in the defense and, if HEARx, HEARx Acquisition or HEARx Canada so elect at any time after receipt of such notice, either of
them may assume the defense of any suit brought to enforce any such claim. The Trustee shall have the right to employ separate counsel in any
such suit and participate in the defense thereof but the fees and expenses of such counsel shall be at the expense of the Trustee unless: (i) the
employment of such counsel has been authorized by HEARx, HEARx Acquisition or HEARx Canada or (ii) the named parties to any such suit
include both the Trustee and HEARx, HEARXx Acquisition or HEARx Canada and the Trustee shall have been advised by counsel acceptable to
HEARx, HEARx Acquisition or HEARx Canada that there may be one or more legal defenses available to the Trustee that are different from or
in addition to those available to HEARx, HEARx Acquisition or HEARx Canada and that an actual or potential conflict of interest exists (in
which case HEARx, HEARx Acquisition and HEARx Canada shall not have the right to assume the defense of such suit on behalf of the Trustee
but shall be liable to pay the reasonable fees and expenses of one counsel for the Trustee), or (iii) HEARx, HEARx Acquisition or HEARx
Canada shall not have retained legal counsel on behalf of the Trustee within a reasonable time after it has given them notice of a written
assertion of a claim or action against any Indemnified Party.

8.2 Limitation of Liability. The Trustee shall not be held liable for any loss that may occur by reason of depreciation of the value of any
part of the Trust Estate or any loss incurred on any investment of funds pursuant to this Agreement, except to the extent that such loss is
attributable to fraud, gross negligence, willful misconduct or bad faith on the part of the Trustee.
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ARTICLE IX

CHANGE OF TRUSTEE

9.1 Resignation. The Trustee, or any trustee hereafter appointed, may at any time resign by giving written notice of such resignation to
HEARx, HEARx Acquisition and HEARx Canada specifying the date on which it desires to resign, provided that such notice shall never be
given less than sixty (60) days before such desired resignation date unless HEARx, HEARx Acquisition and HEARx Canada otherwise agree
and provided further that such resignation shall not take effect until the date of the appointment of a successor trustee and the acceptance of such
appointment by the successor trustee. Upon receiving such notice of resignation, HEARx, HEARx Acquisition and HEARx Canada shall
promptly appoint a successor trustee by written instrument in duplicate, one copy of which shall be delivered to the resigning trustee and one
copy to the successor trustee. Failing acceptance by a successor trustee, a successor trustee may be appointed by an order of a Court of
competent jurisdiction in the Province of Quebec upon application of one or more of the parties hereto.

9.2 Removal. The Trustee, or any trustee hereafter appointed, may be removed with or without cause, at any time on thirty (30) days prior
notice by written instrument executed by HEARx and HEARx Canada, in duplicate, one copy of which shall be delivered to the trustee so
removed and one copy to the successor trustee.

9.3 Successor Trustee. Any successor trustee appointed as provided under this Agreement shall execute, acknowledge and deliver to
HEARx, HEARx Acquisition and HEARx Canada and to its predecessor trustee an instrument accepting such appointment. Thereupon the
resignation or removal of the predecessor trustee shall become effective and such successor trustee, without any further act, deed or conveyance,
shall become vested with all the rights, powers, duties and obligations of its predecessor under this Agreement, with like effect as if originally
named as trustee in this Agreement. However, on the written request of HEARx, HEARx Acquisition and HEARx Canada or of the successor
trustee, the trustee ceasing to act shall, upon payment of any amounts then due it pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement, execute and
deliver an instrument transferring to such successor trustee all the rights and powers of the trustee so ceasing to act. Upon the request of any such
successor trustee, HEARx, HEARx Acquisition and HEARx Canada and such predecessor trustee shall execute any and all instruments in
writing for more fully and certainly vesting in and confirming to such successor trustee all such rights and powers.

9.4 Notice of Successor Trustee. Upon acceptance of appointment by a successor trustee as provided herein, HEARx shall cause to be
mailed notice of the succession of such trustee hereunder to each Holder specified in a List. If HEARX shall fail to cause such notice to be
mailed within 10 days after acceptance of appointment by the successor trustee, the successor trustee shall cause such notice to be mailed at the
expense of HEARx.

ARTICLE X

HEARX SUCCESSORS

10.1 Certain Requirements in Respect of Combination, etc. HEARX shall not enter into any transaction (whether by way of reconstruction,
reorganization, consolidation, merger, transfer, sale, lease or otherwise) whereby all or substantially all of its undertaking, property and assets
would become the property of any other person or, in the case of a merger, of the continuing corporation resulting therefrom, unless:

(a) such other person or continuing corporation is a corporation (herein called the HEARXx Successor ) incorporated under the laws of
any state of the United States or the laws of Canada or any province thereof; and

(b) HEARX Successor, by operation of law, becomes bound by the terms and provisions of this Agreement or, if not so bound, executes,
prior to or contemporaneously with the consummation of such transaction an agreement supplemental hereto and such other instruments (if
any) as are satisfactory to the Trustee acting reasonably to evidence the assumption by HEARx Successor of liability for all moneys
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payable and property deliverable hereunder and the covenant of such HEARX Successor to pay and deliver or cause to be delivered the same

and its agreement to observe and perform all the covenants and obligations of HEARX under this Agreement.

10.2 Vesting of Powers in Successor. Whenever the conditions of section 10.1 hereof have been duly observed and performed, the Trustee,
if required, by section 10.1 hereof, HEARx Successor, HEARx Acquisition and HEARx Canada shall execute and deliver the supplemental
agreement provided for in Article 11 hereof and thereupon HEARx Successor shall possess and from time to time may exercise each and every
right and power of HEARXx under this Agreement in the name of HEARx or otherwise and any act or proceeding by any provision of this
Agreement required to be done or performed by the board of directors of HEARX or any officers of HEARx may be done and performed with
like force and effect by the directors or officers of such HEARx Successor.

10.3 Wholly-Owned Subsidiaries. Subject to paragraph 10.1 hereof, nothing herein shall be construed as preventing the amalgamation or
merger of any wholly-owned subsidiary of HEARx with or into HEARX.

ARTICLE XI

AMENDMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTAL TRUST AGREEMENTS

11.1 Amendments, Modifications, etc. This Agreement may not be amended or modified except by an agreement in writing executed by
HEARx, HEARx Acquisition, HEARx Canada and the Trustee and approved by the Holders in accordance with section 11.2 of the
Exchangeable Share Provisions.

11.2 Ministerial Amendments. Notwithstanding the provisions of section 11.1 hereof, the parties to this Agreement may, in writing, at any
time and from time to time, without the approval of the Holders, amend or modify this Agreement for the purposes of:

(a) adding to the covenants of any or all of the parties hereto for the protection of the Holders hereunder;

(b) making such amendments or modifications not inconsistent with this Agreement as may be necessary or desirable with respect to
matters or questions that, in the opinion of the Board of Directors of each of HEARx, HEARx Acquisition and HEARx Canada and in the
opinion of the Trustee, on the advice of counsel having in mind the best interests of the Holders as a whole, such amendments and
modifications will not be prejudicial to the interests of the Holders as a whole; or

(c) making such changes or corrections required for the purpose of curing or correcting any ambiguity or defect or inconsistent
provision or clerical omission or mistake or manifest error, provided that the Trustee and the Board of Directors of each of HEARx, HEARx
Acquisition and HEARx Canada shall be of the opinion, on the advice of counsel, that such changes or corrections will not be prejudicial to
the interests of the Holders as a whole.

11.3 Meeting to Consider Amendments. HEARx Canada, at the request of HEARX, shall call a meeting or meetings of the Holders for the
purpose of considering any proposed amendment or modification requiring approval pursuant hereto. Any such meeting or meetings shall be
called and held in accordance with the by-laws of HEARx Canada, the Exchangeable Share Provisions and all applicable laws.

11.4 Changes in Capital of HEARx and HEARx Canada. Notwithstanding section 11.1, at all times after the occurrence of any HEARx
Common Stock Reorganization or Capital Reorganization (as such terms are respectively defined in the Exchangeable Share Provisions) or other
change in either the HEARx Common Stock or the Exchangeable Shares or both, this Agreement shall forthwith be amended and modified as
necessary in order that it shall apply with full force and effect, mutatis mutandis, to all new securities into which HEARx Common Stock or the
Exchangeable Shares or both are so changed and the parties hereto shall execute and deliver a supplemental agreement giving effect to and
evidencing such necessary amendments and modifications.
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11.5 Execution of Supplemental Trust Agreements. Notwithstanding section 11.1, from time to time HEARx Canada, HEARx
Acquisition and HEARXx (when authorized by a resolution of their respective boards of directors) and the Trustee may, subject to the provisions
hereof, and they shall, when so directed by these presents, execute and deliver by their proper officers, agreements or other instruments
supplemental hereto, which thereafter shall form part hereof, for any one or more of the following purposes:

(a) evidencing the succession of HEARx Successors to HEARx and the covenants of and obligations assumed by each such HEARx
Successor in accordance with the provisions of Article 10 and the succession of any successor trustee in accordance with the provisions of
Article 9;

(b) making any additions to, deletions from or alterations of the provisions of this Agreement or the Voting Rights, the Exchange Right
or the Automatic Exchange Rights that, in the opinion of counsel to the Trustee are necessary or advisable in order to incorporate, reflect or
comply with any legislation the provisions of which apply to HEARx, HEARx Acquisition, HEARx Canada, the Trustee or this Agreement;
and

(c) for any other purposes not inconsistent with the provisions of this Agreement including, without limitation, to make or evidence any
amendment or modification to this Agreement as contemplated hereby, provided that, in the opinion of the Trustee, on the advice of counsel,
the rights of the Trustee and the Holders as a whole will not be prejudiced thereby.

ARTICLE XII

TERMINATION
12.1 Term. The Trust created by this Agreement shall continue until the earliest to occur of the following events:
(a) no outstanding Exchangeable Shares are held by any Holder;

(b) HEARx Canada, HEARx Acquisition and HEARX each elect in writing to terminate the Trust and such termination is approved by
the Holders of the Exchangeable Shares in accordance with Section 11.2 of the Exchangeable Share Provisions; and

(c) 21 years after the death of the last survivor of the descendants of His Majesty King George VI of the United Kingdom of Great
Britain and Northern Ireland living on the date of the creation of the Trust.
12.2 Survival. The provisions of Article VII and VIII hereof shall survive any termination of the Trust pursuant to section 12.1 or the
resignation or removal of the Trustee pursuant to Article IX.

ARTICLE XIII

GENERAL

13.1 Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the validity, legality or enforceability of
the remainder of this Agreement shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby and this Agreement shall be carried out as nearly as
possible in accordance with its original terms and conditions; provided, however, that if the provision or provisions so held to be invalid, in the
reasonable judgment of the parties, is or are so fundamental to the intent of the parties and the operation of this Agreement that the enforcement
of the other provisions hereof, in the absence of such invalid provision or provisions, would damage irreparably the intent of the parties in
entering into this Agreement, the parties shall agree (i) to terminate this Agreement, or (ii) to amend or otherwise modify this Agreement so as to
carry out the intent and purposes hereof and the transactions contemplated hereby.

13.2 Enurement. This Agreement shall be binding upon and enure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and
permitted assigns and to the benefit of the Holders.
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13.3 Notices to Parties. All notices and other communications between the parties hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to
have been given if delivered personally or by confirmed telecopy to the parties at the following addresses (or at such other address for such party
as shall be specified in like notice):

(a) if to HEARx, HEARX Acquisition or HEARx Canada at:
1250 Northway Parkway

West Palm Beach, Florida 33407

Attention: President

Fax: 561.688.8893

(b) if to the Trustee at:

Attention:

Fax:

Any notice or other communication given personally shall be deemed to have been given and received upon delivery thereof and if given by
telecopy shall be deemed to have been given and received on the date of receipt thereof unless such day is not a Business Day in which case
it shall be deemed to have been given and received upon the immediately following Business Day.

13.4 Notice to Holders. Any and all notices to be given and any documents to be sent to any Holders may be given or sent to the address of
such Holder shown on the register of Holders in any manner permitted by the by-laws of HEARx Canada from time to time in force in respect of
notices to shareholders and shall be deemed to be received (if given or sent in such manner) at the time specified in such by-laws, the provisions
of which by-laws shall apply mutatis mutandis to notices or documents as aforesaid sent to such Holders.

13.5 Risk of Payments by Post. Whenever payments are to be made or documents are to be sent to any Holder by the Trustee, HEARX,
HEARXx Acquisition or HEARx Canada, or by such Holder to the Trustee, HEARx, HEARx Acquisition or HEARx Canada, the making of such
payment or sending of such document sent through the post shall be at the risk of the maker of such payments or the sender of such documents.

13.6 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which taken
together shall constitute one and the same instrument.

13.7 Jurisdiction. This Agreement shall be construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the Province of Quebec and the laws of
Canada applicable therein.

13.8 Attornment. HEARx and HEARX Acquisition agree that any action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement may be
instituted in the courts of Quebec, waive any objection which they may have now or hereafter to the venue of any such action or proceeding,
irrevocably submit to the jurisdiction of the said court in any such action or proceeding, agree to be bound by any judgment of the said courts
and agree not to seek, and hereby waive, any review of the merits of any such judgment by the courts of any other jurisdiction and hereby
appoint HEARx Canada at its registered office in the Province of Ontario as their attorney for service of process.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed the day and year first above written.

HEARX LTD.
Per:
Title
HEARX ACQUISITION ULC
Per:
Title
HEARX CANADA INC.
Per:
Title
Per:
Per:
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SCHEDULE A
NOTICE OF EXERCISE OF EXCHANGE RIGHT
TO:
RE: Voting and Exchange Trust Agreement between HEARx ( HEARx ), HEARx Acquisition ULC ( HEARx Acquisition ), HEARx

Canada, Inc. ( HEARx Canada ), and COMPUTERSHARE TRUST COMPANY OF CANADA as Trustee (the Trust Agreement ).

The undersigned holder of Exchangeable Shares instructs COMPUTERSHARE TRUST COMPANY OF CANADA (the Trustee ) to
exercise the Exchange Right in accordance with Section 5.5 of the Trust Agreement so as to require HEARX to purchase or to cause HEARx
Acquisition to purchase from the undersigned Exchangeable Shares and to issue and deliver or to cause HEARX Acquisition to deliver
certificates representing shares of HEARx Common Stock as follows:

Name in full:

(Please state full names in which certificates are to be issued)
Address in full:

Number of
Exchangeable Shares:
The undersigned hereby represents and warrants as follows:
(1) the undersigned has good title to and owns all such Exchangeable Shares to be acquired by HEARX free and clear of all Liens.

(ii) the undersigned shall pay any documentary, stamp, transfer or other taxes that may be payable in respect of any transfer involved in
the issuance or delivery of shares.
All capitalized terms not defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Voting Trust Agreement.

DATED this day of , 2001.

Name:

Signature:
C-24
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SCHEDULE B
NOTICE OF EXERCISE OF EXCHANGE RIGHT

TO: HEARx ( HEARx )

This notice is given pursuant to Section 5.6 of the Voting and Exchange Trust Agreement (the Trust Agreement ) between HEARx, HEARx
Acquisition ULC, HEARx Canada Inc. and COMPUTERSHARE TRUST COMPANY OF CANADA as Trustee (the Trust Agreement ). All
capitalized words and expressions used in this notice that are defined in the Trust Agreement have the meanings ascribed to such words and
expressions in such Trust Agreement.

The Trustee hereby notifies HEARX that it is exercising the Exchange Right on behalf of the Holder of the Exchangeable Shares referred to
in the notice received from such Holder, a copy of which is attached hereto (the Holder Notice ). Please deliver or direct HEARX Acquisition
ULC to deliver the HEARx Common Stock deliverable in connection with the exercise of the Exchange Right in accordance with the
instructions set forth in the attached Holder Notice.

By:

Name

Title:
Date:
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ANNEX D
SUPPORT AGREEMENT
THIS MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT made as of the day of , 2001.
BETWEEN:

HEARX LTD., a corporation incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware
(hereinafter called HEARXx )

and
HEARXx Acquisition ULC, an unlimited company organized under the laws of the Province of Nova Scotia
(hereinafter called HEARX Acquisition )

and
HEARXx Canada Inc., a corporation incorporated under the laws of Canada

(hereinafter called HEARx Canada )

WHEREAS pursuant to a Merger Agreement dated as of July  , 2001, by and between HEARx and Helix Hearing Care of America Corp.
( Helix ), a corporation incorporated under the laws of Canada, the parties thereto agreed that on the Effective Date (as defined in the Merger
Agreement), HEARx, HEARx Acquisition and HEARx Canada would execute and deliver a Support Agreement containing the terms and
conditions set forth in Schedule M to the Merger Agreement;

AND WHEREAS pursuant to an arrangement (the Arrangement ) effected by articles of arrangement to be filed pursuant to the Canada
Business Corporations Act (the CBCA ), all of the issued and outstanding common shares in the capital of Helix are to be exchanged for either
common stock in the capital of HEARx ( HEARx Common Stock ) or exchangeable non-voting shares in the capital of HEARx Canada (the

Exchangeable Shares );

AND WHEREAS the aforesaid articles of arrangement set forth the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions (collectively the
Exchangeable Share Provisions ) attaching to the Exchangeable Shares;

AND WHEREAS the parties hereto desire to make appropriate provisions and to establish a procedure whereby HEARx will take certain
actions and make certain payments and deliveries necessary to ensure that HEARx Acquisition and HEARx Canada will be able to make certain
payments and to deliver or cause HEARx Acquisition to deliver shares of HEARx Common Stock in satisfaction of the obligations of HEARx
Canada under the Exchangeable Share Provisions with respect to the payment and satisfaction of dividends, Liquidation Amounts, Retraction
Prices and Redemption Prices, all in accordance with the Exchangeable Share Provisions;

NOW THEREFORE in consideration of the respective covenants in this agreement and for other good and valuable consideration (the
receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged), the parties agree as follows:

ARTICLE I

DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION
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thereto in the Exchangeable Share Provisions, unless the context requires otherwise.
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1.2 Interpretation not Affected by Headings, etc. The division of this agreement into articles, sections and paragraphs and the insertion of
headings are for convenience of reference only and shall not affect the construction or interpretation of this agreement.

1.3 Number, Gender, etc. Words importing the singular number only shall include the plural and vice versa. Words importing the use of
any gender shall include all genders.

1.4 Date for any Action. If any date on which any action is required to be taken under this agreement is not a Business Day, such action
shall be required to be taken on the next succeeding Business Day.

ARTICLE II

COVENANTS OF HEARX AND HEARX ACQUISITION

2.1 Covenants of HEARx Regarding Exchangeable Shares. So long as any Exchangeable Shares are outstanding, HEARx or HEARx
Acquisition, as the context requires, shall:

(a) not declare or pay any dividend on HEARx Common Stock unless: (i) HEARx Canada shall have sufficient assets, funds and other
property (including, where applicable, shares of HEARx Common Stock or other securities of HEARX) available to enable the due
declaration and the due and punctual payment in accordance with applicable law, of a dividend on the Exchangeable Shares in accordance
with the Exchangeable Share Provisions; and (ii) HEARx Canada shall simultaneously declare or pay, as the case may be, a dividend on the
Exchangeable Shares in accordance with the Exchangeable Share Provisions;

(b) cause HEARx Canada to declare simultaneously with the declaration of any dividend on shares of HEARx Common Stock a
dividend on the Exchangeable Shares and, when such dividend is paid on HEARx Common Stock, cause HEARx Canada to pay
simultaneously therewith such dividend on the Exchangeable Shares, in each case in accordance with the Exchangeable Share Provisions;

(c) advise HEARx Canada sufficiently in advance of the declaration by HEARX of any dividend on shares of HEARx Common Stock
and take all such other actions as are necessary, in cooperation with HEARx Canada, to ensure that the declaration date, record date and
payment date for any dividend on the Exchangeable Shares shall be the same as the declaration date, record date, and payment date for the
corresponding dividend on shares of HEARx Common Stock and such dates in respect of dividends on the Exchangeable Shares shall be in
accordance with any requirement of the Exchangeable Share Provisions and the stock exchange(s) (if any) on which the Exchangeable
Shares may be listed;

(d) ensure that the record date for any dividend declared on shares of HEARx Common Stock, HEARx Common Stock Reorganization,
Rights Offering, Special Distribution or Capital Reorganization is not less than ten (10) Business Days after the declaration date for such
dividend or effective date of such HEARx Common Stock Reorganization, Rights Offering, Special Distribution or Capital Reorganization;

(e) take all such actions and do all such things as are necessary or desirable to enable and permit HEARx Canada, in accordance with
applicable law, to pay and otherwise perform its obligations with respect to the satisfaction of the Liquidation Amount in respect of each
issued and outstanding Exchangeable Share upon the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of HEARx Canada, including without limitation
all such actions and all such things as are necessary or desirable to enable and permit HEARx Canada to cause to be delivered shares of
HEARx Common Stock to the holders of Exchangeable Shares in satisfaction of the Liquidation Amount for each such Exchangeable Share,
in accordance with the provisions of Article 4 of the Exchangeable Share Provisions;

(f) take all such actions and do all such things as are necessary or desirable to enable and permit HEARx Canada, in accordance with
applicable law, to pay and otherwise perform its obligations with respect to the satisfaction of the Retraction Price and the Redemption
Price, including without limitation all such actions and all such things as are necessary or desirable to enable and permit HEARx Canada to
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cause to be delivered shares of HEARx Common Stock to the holders of Exchangeable Shares, upon the retraction or redemption of the
Exchangeable Shares in accordance with the provisions of Article 5 or Article 6 of the Exchangeable Share Provisions, as the case may be;

(g) not exercise its vote as a shareholder of HEARXx Canada to initiate, consent to or approve the voluntary liquidation, dissolution or
winding-up of HEARx Canada nor take any action that is designed to, or omit to take any action that would result in, the liquidation,
dissolution or winding-up of HEARx Canada; and

(h) not exercise its vote as a shareholder of HEARX Canada to authorize the continuance or other transfer of the corporate existence of
HEARXx Canada to any jurisdiction outside Canada.

2.2 Ownership of HEARx Acquisition Shares. HEARX hereby represents and warrants that, so long as there are any Exchangeable Shares
outstanding, it shall remain the direct or indirect beneficial holder of all of the issued and outstanding shares of HEARx Acquisition.

2.3 Segregation of Funds. HEARx will cause HEARx Canada to deposit a sufficient amount of funds in a separate account and segregate a
sufficient amount of such assets and other property as is necessary to enable HEARx Canada to pay or otherwise satisfy the applicable
dividends, Liquidation Amount, Retraction Price or Redemption Price, in each case for the benefit of holders from time to time of the
Exchangeable Shares, and will cause HEARx Canada to use such funds, assets and other property so segregated exclusively for the payment of
dividends and the payment or other satisfaction of the Liquidation Amount, the Retraction Price or the Redemption Price, as applicable, in each
case in accordance with the Exchangeable Share Provisions.

2.4 Reservation of Shares of HEARx Common Stock. HEARX hereby represents and warrants that it has irrevocably reserved for issuance
out of its authorized and unissued capital stock such number of shares of HEARx Common Stock as is equal to the number of Exchangeable
Shares outstanding immediately following the Effective Date and covenants that at all times in the future while any Exchangeable Shares are
outstanding it will keep reserved and available, free from pre-emptive and other rights, out of its authorized and unissued capital stock such
number of shares of HEARx Common Stock (or other shares or securities into which HEARx Common Stock may be reclassified or changed) as
is necessary to enable HEARx, HEARx Acquisition and HEARx Canada to perform their respective obligations pursuant to this Agreement, the
Exchangeable Share Provisions and the Voting and Exchange Trust Agreement.

2.5 Notification of Certain Events. In order to assist HEARX to comply with its obligations hereunder, HEARx Canada will give, or cause
the Transfer Agent to give, HEARx and HEARx Acquisition notice of each of the following events at the time set forth below:

(a) in the event of any determination by the Board of Directors of HEARx Canada to institute voluntary liquidation, dissolution or
winding up proceedings with respect to HEARx Canada or to effect any other distribution of the assets of HEARx Canada among its
shareholders for the purpose of winding up its affairs at least sixty (60) days prior to the proposed effective date of such liquidation
dissolution, winding up or other distribution;

(b) immediately, upon the earlier of (i) receipt by HEARx Canada of notice of, and (ii) HEARx Canada otherwise becoming aware of,
any threatened or instituted claim, suit, petition or other proceedings with respect to the involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of
HEARXx Canada or to effect any other distribution of the assets of HEARx Canada among its shareholders for the purpose of winding up its
affairs;

(c) immediately, upon receipt by the Transfer Agent of a Retraction Request;

(d) at least one hundred and thirty (130) days prior to any accelerated redemption date determined by the Board of Directors of HEARx
Canada in accordance with the Exchangeable Share Provisions; and

(e) as soon as practicable upon the issuance by HEARx Canada of any Exchangeable Shares or rights to acquire Exchangeable Shares.
D-3
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2.6 Delivery of HEARx Common Stock. In furtherance of its obligations under subsections 2.1(e) and (f) hereof, upon notice of any event
that requires HEARx Canada to cause to be delivered HEARx Common Stock to any holder of Exchangeable Shares, HEARX shall forthwith
deliver or cause to be delivered the requisite shares of HEARx Common Stock to or to the order of the former holder of the surrendered
Exchangeable Shares, as HEARx Canada shall direct. All such shares of HEARx Common Stock shall be duly issued as fully paid and
non-assessable and shall be free and clear of any Liens. In consideration of the delivery of each such shares of HEARx Common Stock, HEARx
Canada shall issue to HEARX, or as HEARXx shall direct, such number of common shares of HEARx Canada as is equal to the fair value of such
HEARx Common Stock.

2.7 Qualification of HEARx Common Stock. If any HEARx Common Stock (or other shares or securities into which HEARx Common
Stock may be reclassified or changed as contemplated by section 2.12 hereof) to be issued and delivered hereunder require registration, or
qualification with, approval of, or the filing of any document, including any prospectus or similar document or the taking of any proceeding with
or the obtaining of any order, ruling or consent from any governmental or regulatory authority under any Canadian or United States federal,
provincial or state securities or other law or regulation or pursuant to the rules and regulations of any securities or other regulatory authority or
the fulfillment of any other United States or Canadian legal requirement before such shares (or such other shares or securities) may be issued by
HEARXx and delivered by HEARx at the direction of HEARx Canada or HEARXx Acquisition, if applicable, to the holder of surrendered
Exchangeable Shares or in order that such shares (or such other shares or securities) may be freely traded thereafter (other than any restrictions
of general application on transfer by reason of a holder being a control person for purposes of Canadian provincial securities law or an affiliate
of HEARX for purposes of United States federal or state securities law), HEARx will, in good faith, expeditiously take all such actions and do all
such things as are necessary or desirable to cause such HEARx Common Stock (or such other shares or securities) to be and remain duly
registered, qualified or approved under United States and/or Canadian law, as the case may be. HEARx will, in good faith, expeditiously take all
such actions and do all such things as are reasonably necessary or desirable to cause all HEARx Common stock (or such other shares or
securities) to be delivered hereunder to be listed, quoted or posted for trading on all stock exchanges and quotation systems on which
outstanding HEARx Common Stock (or such other shares or securities) have been listed by HEARx and remain listed and are quoted or posted
for trading at such time.

2.8 Tender Offers, etc. In the event that a tender offer, share exchange offer, issuer bid, take-over bid or similar transaction with respect to
HEARx Common Stock (an Offer ) is proposed by HEARX or is proposed to HEARX or its stockholders and is recommended by the Board of
Directors of HEARX, or is otherwise effected or to be effected with the consent or approval of the Board of Directors of HEARx, HEARx will
use all commercially reasonable efforts expeditiously and in good faith to take all such actions and do all such things as are necessary or
desirable to enable and permit holders of Exchangeable Shares to participate in such Offer to the same extent and on an economically equivalent
basis as the holders of HEARx Common Stock, without discrimination. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, HEARx will use all
commercially reasonable efforts expeditiously and in good faith to ensure that holders of Exchangeable Shares may participate in all such Offers
without being required to retract Exchangeable Shares as against HEARx Canada (or, if so required, to ensure that any such retraction shall be
effective only upon, and shall be conditional upon, the closing of the Offer and only to the extent necessary to tender or deposit to the Offer).

2.9 Ownership of Outstanding Shares. HEARX covenants and agrees in favour of HEARx Canada that, as long as any outstanding
Exchangeable Shares are owned by any person or entity other than HEARX or any of its Affiliates, HEARx will be and remain the direct or
indirect beneficial owner of all issued and outstanding shares in the capital of HEARx Canada (other than Exchangeable Shares and Class A
Special Shares of HEARx Canada) and all outstanding securities of HEARx Canada carrying or otherwise entitled to voting rights in any
circumstances (other than Exchangeable Shares), unless HEARXx shall have obtained the prior approval of HEARx Canada and the holders of the
Exchangeable Shares given in accordance with section 8.2 of the Exchangeable Share Provisions.

D-4

Table of Contents 128



Edgar Filing: PROASSURANCE CORP - Form 4

Table of Contents

2.10 HEARx Not To Vote Exchangeable Shares. HEARX covenants and agrees that it will appoint or cause to be appointed proxyholders
with respect to all Exchangeable Shares held by HEARx and its Affiliates for the sole purpose of attending each meeting of holders of
Exchangeable Shares in order to be counted as part of the quorum for each such meeting. HEARXx further covenants and agrees that it will not,
and will cause its Affiliates not to, exercise any voting rights that may be exercisable by holders of Exchangeable Shares from time to time
pursuant to the Exchangeable Share Provisions or pursuant to the provisions of the CBCA with respect to any Exchangeable Shares held by it or
by its Affiliates in respect of any matter considered at any meeting of holders of Exchangeable Shares, including without limitation any approval
to be given by holders of Exchangeable Shares pursuant to section 8.2 of the Exchangeable Share Provision.

2.11 Purchases. For greater certainty, nothing contained in this Agreement, including without limitation, the obligations of HEARx
contained in section 2.8 hereof, shall limit the ability of HEARx or HEARx Canada to make a Rule 106-18 Purchase of HEARx Common Stock
pursuant to Rule 10b-18 of the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or any successor provisions thereof.

2.12 Due Performance. On and after the Effective Date, HEARX shall, and shall cause HEARx Acquisition to duly and timely perform all
of their respective obligations provided for in the Plan of Arrangement, including any obligations that may arise upon the exercise of HEARx s or
HEARX Acquisition s rights under the Exchangeable Share Provisions.

2.13 Economic Equivalence. HEARX hereby acknowledges that it will be bound by any determination of economic equivalence made by
the Board of Directors of HEARx Canada pursuant to section 9.1 of the Exchangeable Share Provisions, where applicable.

2.14 Stock Exchange Listing. HEARX covenants and agrees in favour of HEARx Canada that, as long as any outstanding Exchangeable
Shares are owned by any person or entity other than HEARX or any of its affiliates, HEARx will use its reasonable efforts to maintain a listing
for such Exchangeable Shares on a Canadian stock exchange.

ARTICLE III

HEARX SUCCESSORS

3.1 Certain Requirements in Respect of Combination, etc. HEARX shall not enter into any transaction (whether by way of reconstruction,
reorganization, consolidation, merger, transfer, sale, lease or otherwise) whereby all or substantially all of its undertaking, property and assets
would become the property of any other person or, in the case of a merger, of the continuing corporation resulting therefrom, unless:

(a) such other person or continuing corporation is a corporation (herein called the HEARX Successor ) incorporated under the laws of
any state of the United States or the laws of Canada or any province thereof; and

(b) HEARX Successor, by operation of law, becomes bound by the terms and provisions of this Agreement or, if not so bound, executes,
prior to or contemporaneously with the consummation of such transaction an agreement supplemental hereto and such other instruments (if
any) to evidence the assumption by HEARx Successor of liability for all moneys payable and property deliverable hereunder and the
covenant of such HEARXx Successor to pay and deliver or cause to be delivered the same and its agreement to observe and perform all the
covenants and obligations of HEARx under this Agreement.

3.2 Vesting of Powers in Successor. Whenever the conditions of section 3.1 hereof have been duly observed and performed, HEARx
Successor, HEARx Acquisition and HEARx Canada shall execute and deliver a supplemental agreement and thereupon HEARx Successor shall
possess and from time to time may exercise each and every right and power of HEARXx under this Agreement in the name of HEARx or
otherwise and any act or proceeding by any provision of this Agreement required to be done or performed by the board of directors of HEARx
or any officers of HEARx may be done and performed with like force and effect by the directors or officers of such HEARx Successor.
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3.3 Wholly-Owned Subsidiaries. Subject to paragraph 3.1 hereof, nothing herein shall be construed as preventing the amalgamation or
merger of any wholly-owned subsidiary of HEARx with or into HEARX.

ARTICLE IV

GENERAL

4.1 Term. This Agreement shall come into force and be effective as of the date hereof and shall terminate and be of no further force and
effect at such time as there are no Exchangeable Shares (or securities or rights convertible into or exchangeable for or carrying rights to acquire
Exchangeable Shares) held by any party other than HEARx and its Affiliates.

4.2 Changes in Capital of HEARx and HEARx Canada. Notwithstanding the provisions of section 4.4 hereof, at all times after the
occurrence of any event effected pursuant to section 2.8 hereof as a result of which either shares of HEARx Common Stock or the Exchangeable
Shares or both are in any way changed, this agreement shall forthwith be amended and modified as necessary in order that it shall apply with full
force and effect, mutatis mutandis, to all new securities into which shares of HEARx Common Stock or the Exchangeable Shares or both are so
changed and the parties hereto shall execute and deliver an agreement in writing giving effect to and evidencing such necessary amendments and
modifications.

4.3 Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the validity, legality or enforceability of
the remainder of this agreement shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby and this agreement shall be carried out as nearly as possible
in accordance with its original terms and conditions.

4.4 Amendments, Modifications, etc. This Agreement may not be amended or modified except by an agreement in writing executed by
HEARx, HEARx Acquisition and HEARx Canada and approved by the holders of the Exchangeable Shares in accordance with section 10.2 of
the Exchangeable Share Provisions.

4.5 Ministerial Amendments. Notwithstanding the provisions of section 4.4, the parties to this Agreement may without the approval of the
holders of the Exchangeable Shares, at any time and from time to time, amend or modify this agreement in writing for the purposes of:

(a) adding to the covenants of either or both parties for the protection of the holders of the Exchangeable Shares;

(b) making such amendments or modifications not inconsistent with this agreement as may be necessary or desirable with respect to
matters or questions which, in the opinion of the Board of Directors of each of HEARx Canada, HEARx Acquisition and HEARYX, it may be
expedient to make, provided that each such board of directors shall be of the opinion that such amendments or modifications will not be
prejudicial to the interests of the holders of the Exchangeable Shares; or

(c) making such changes or corrections which, on the advice of counsel to HEARx Canada, HEARx Acquisition and HEARX, are
required for the purpose of curing or correcting any ambiguity or defect or inconsistent provision or clerical omission or mistake or manifest
error herein, provided that the boards of directors of each of HEARx Canada, HEARXx Acquisition and HEARX shall be of the opinion that
such changes or corrections will not be prejudicial to the interests of the holders of the Exchangeable Shares.

4.6 Meeting to Consider Amendments. HEARx Canada, at the request of HEARx Acquisition or HEARX, shall call a meeting or meetings
of the holders of the Exchangeable Shares for the purpose of considering any proposed amendment or modification requiring approval pursuant
to section 4.4 hereof. Any such meeting or meetings shall be called and held in accordance with the by-laws of HEARx Canada, the
Exchangeable Share Provisions and applicable law.

4.7 Waivers Only in Writing. No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement otherwise permitted hereunder shall be effective unless
made in writing and signed by both of the parties hereto.
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4.8 Enurement. This Agreement shall be binding upon and enure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and
permitted assigns.

4.9 HEARx Successors. HEARX shall not enter into any transaction (whether by way of reconstruction, reorganization, consolidation,
merger, transfer, sale, lease or otherwise) whereby all or substantially all its undertaking, property and assets would become the property of any
other person or in the case of a merger, of the continuing corporation resulting therefrom, unless:

(a) such other person or continuing corporation is a corporation (the HEARXx Successor ) incorporated under the laws of any state of the
United States or the laws of Canada or any province thereof; and

(b) the HEARx Successor, by operation of law, becomes, without more, bound by the terms and provisions of this Agreement or, if not
so bound, executes, prior to or contemporaneously with the consummation of such transaction, an agreement to be bound by the provisions
hereof as if it were an original party hereto and to observe and perform all of the covenants and obligations of HEARx pursuant to this

Agreement.
Nothing herein shall be construed as preventing the amalgamation or merger of any wholly-owned subsidiary of HEARx with or into HEARx.

4.10 Notices to Parties. All notices and other communications between the parties shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been
given if delivered personally or by confirmed telecopy to the parties at the following addresses (or at such other address for either such party as
shall be specified in like notice):

(a) if to HEARx, HEARx Acquisition or HEARx Canada at:

1250 Northway Parkway

West Palm Beach, Florida 333407
Attention: President

Fax: 561.688.8893

Any notice or other communication given personally shall be deemed to have been given and received upon delivery thereof and if given by
telecopy shall be deemed to have been given and received on the date of confirmed receipt thereof unless such day is not a Business Day in
which case it shall be deemed to have been given and received upon the immediately following Business Day.

4.11 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, and all of which taken
together shall constitute one and the same instrument.

4.12 Jurisdiction. This Agreement shall be construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the Province of Quebec and the laws of
Canada applicable therein.

4.13 Attornment. HEARx and HEARx Acquisition agree that any action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this agreement may be
instituted in the courts of Quebec, waive any objection which they may have now or hereafter to the venue of any such action or proceeding,
irrevocably submit to the jurisdiction of the said courts in any such action or proceeding, agree to be bound by any judgment of the said courts
and not to seek, and hereby waive, any review of the merits of any such judgment by the courts of any other jurisdiction and hereby appoint
HEARx Canada at its registered office as their attorney for service of process.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this agreement to be duly executed as of the date first above written.

HEARx LTD.

Per:
Title

HEARX ACQUISITION ULC

Per:
Title

HEARX CANADA INC.

Per:
Title
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ANNEX E

STOCKHOLDERS AGREEMENT

STOCKHOLDERS AGREEMENT, dated as of July 27, 2001, among HEARx LTD., a Delaware corporation ( HEARX ), and the
stockholders named in Exhibit A hereto (each a Stockholder ).

RECITALS

A. Simultaneously herewith, HEARX is entering into an Merger Agreement, dated as of the date hereof (as amended from time to time, the
Merger Agreement ), with Helix Hearing Care of America Corp., a Canadian corporation ( Helix ), which contemplates, among other things, that
all Helix s outstanding common shares (the Helix Common Shares ) shall be exchanged for common stock, $.10 par value of HEARx ( HEARx
Common Stock ) or exchangeable shares ( Exchangeable Shares ) of a direct or indirect subsidiary of HEARx ( HEARx Canada Inc. ) on the basis
described in Schedule B to the Merger Agreement (the Arrangement ).

B. As of the date hereof, each Stockholder directly or indirectly owns (either beneficially or of record) the number of shares of the Helix
Common Shares set forth opposite such Stockholder s name on Exhibit A hereto (all such shares set forth on Exhibit A together with any shares
of Helix Common Shares as well as all shares and other securities which such Helix Common Shares may be converted into, exchanged for or
otherwise changed into hereafter acquired directly or indirectly by any Stockholder prior to the termination of this Agreement, the Shares ).

C. As a condition to the willingness of HEARX to enter into the Merger Agreement, HEARX has requested that each Stockholder agree, and
in order to induce HEARX to enter into the Merger Agreement, each Stockholder has agreed, severally and not jointly, to enter into this
Agreement.

Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Merger Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual covenants and agreements contained herein, and intending to be
legally bound hereby, the parties hereto agree as follows:

ARTICLE I
VOTING AGREEMENT

Section 1.1. Voting Agreement

Each Stockholder hereby agrees that, at any meeting of the stockholders of Helix, however called, or in connection with any written consent
of the holders of shares of the Helix Common Shares, each such Stockholder shall vote, cause to be voted and cause all acts and things to be
done to vote his or her Shares (a) in favour of the approval and adoption of the Merger Agreement, the Arrangement and all the transactions
contemplated by the Merger Agreement and this Agreement and any other actions required in furtherance thereof and hereof and (b) against any
Acquisition Proposal and any actions in furtherance thereof.

Section 1.2. Irrevocable Proxy

Each Stockholder hereby irrevocably constitutes and appoints Paul A. Brown and Stephen J. Hansbrough, and each or either of them, as his
or her attorney and proxy with full power of substitution, to vote and otherwise act (by written consent or otherwise) with respect to the Shares
which such Stockholder is entitled to vote at any meeting of stockholders of Helix (whether annual or special and whether or not an adjourned or
postponed meeting) or consent in lieu of any such meeting or otherwise, on, and only on, the matters described in Section 1.1 hereof and to
execute and deliver any and all consents, instruments or other agreements or documents in order to take any and all such actions in connection
with or in furtherance of the obligations of
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such Stockholder set forth in this Agreement and each of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the Merger Agreement. THIS
PROXY AND POWER OF ATTORNEY ARE IRREVOCABLE, SUBJECT TO SECTION 4.4, AND COUPLED WITH AN INTEREST. Each
Stockholder hereby revokes all other proxies and powers of attorney with respect to such Stockholder s Shares that it may have heretofore
appointed or granted, and no subsequent proxy or power of attorney shall be given or written consent executed (and if given or executed, shall
not be effective) by such Stockholder with respect thereto. All authority herein conferred or agreed to be conferred shall survive the death or
incapacity of a Stockholder and any obligation of such Stockholder under this Agreement shall be binding upon the heirs, personal
representatives, successors and assigns of such Stockholder.

ARTICLE II
AGREEMENT TO EXCHANGE

Section 2.1 Agreement to Exchange

Each Stockholder hereby agrees that such Stockholder shall exchange all of the Shares then beneficially owned by such Stockholder to
HEARXx Canada Inc. in exchange for HEARx Common Stock or Exchangeable Shares of HEARx Canada Inc.. Each Stockholder hereby agrees
to permit HEARX to publish and disclose in the Arrangement Circular and the Registration/ Proxy Statement (including all documents and
schedules filed with the SEC), their respective identity and ownership of Helix Common Shares and the nature of their respective commitments,
arrangements and understandings under this Agreement.

ARTICLE IIT
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

Section 3.1 Representations and Warranties of the Stockholder
Each Stockholder represents and warrants to HEARX as follows:

(a) Such Stockholder has all requisite power, authority and legal capacity to execute, deliver and perform its obligations under this
Agreement. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by such Stockholder and, assuming its due authorization, execution and
delivery by HEARX, constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of such Stockholder, enforceable against such Stockholder in accordance
with its terms.

(b) The execution and delivery of this Agreement by such Stockholder does not, and the performance of this Agreement by such
Stockholder will not, (i) conflict with or violate any statutes, laws, ordinances, rules or regulations or (ii) conflict with or violate any contract or
other instrument to which the Stockholder is a party or by which such Stockholder is bound, including, without limitation, any voting agreement,
stockholders agreement or voting trust.

(c) The execution and delivery of this Agreement by such Stockholder does not, and the performance of this Agreement by such
Stockholder will not, require such Stockholder to obtain any consent, approval, order, authorization or permit of, or to make any filing with or
notification to, any governmental entity or any other person, except as may be required by The Toronto Stock Exchange.

(d) There is no suit, action, investigation or proceeding pending or, to the knowledge of such Stockholder, threatened against such
Stockholder at law or in equity before or by any governmental entity that could reasonably be expected to impair the ability of such Stockholder
to perform its obligations hereunder, and there is no judgment, decree, injunction, rule, order or writ of any governmental entity to which such
Stockholder is or its assets are subject that could reasonably be expected to impair the ability of such Stockholder to perform its obligations
hereunder.

E-2

Table of Contents 134



Edgar Filing: PROASSURANCE CORP - Form 4

Table of Contents

(e) Each Stockholder owns beneficially and of record the shares of Helix Common Shares set forth opposite such Stockholder s name on
Exhibit A hereto (with respect to such Stockholder, the Existing Shares ). The Existing Shares constitute all the shares of Helix Common Shares
owned beneficially and of record by such Stockholder. Such Stockholder has sole voting power, sole power of disposition, sole power to demand
appraisal rights and all other stockholder rights with respect to all of its Existing Shares, with no restrictions, other than restrictions on
disposition pursuant to applicable securities laws, on such Stockholder s rights of voting or disposition pertaining thereto. Such Stockholder has
good and valid title to all Existing Shares, free and clear of all claims, liens, charges, encumbrances and security interests of any kind or nature
whatsoever ( Liens ) (other than any Liens created hereby and Liens existing pursuant to an Escrow Agreement dated July 3, 1997 between Helix,
The Montreal Trust Company of Canada and certain of the Stockholders and pursuant to a Loan Agreement (and related Securities Pledge
Agreements) between Helix and SCC Canada, Inc. as agent for Toronto Dominion Bank and Sirrom Capital Corporation dated August 6, 1998)
and, when delivered by such Stockholder to HEARx Canada Inc. in accordance with the Arrangement, good, marketable and valid title in and to
such Existing Shares will be transferred to HEARx Canada Inc. free and clear of all Liens.

Section 3.2 Survival

Notwithstanding anything otherwise provided for herein, each Stockholder s representations and warranties contained in this Article III shall
be true and correct as of the Effective Date.

ARTICLE IV

COVENANTS OF THE STOCKHOLDER

Section 4.1  No Shop Provision

(a) Each Stockholder shall immediately cease any discussions or negotiations relating to an Acquisition Proposal, other than with respect to
the Arrangement, with any parties conducted heretofore.

(b) Each Stockholder shall not, directly or indirectly, (i) solicit, initiate or encourage (including by way of furnishing information or
assistance), or take any other action to facilitate, any inquiries, any expression of interest or the making of any proposal which constitutes an
Acquisition Proposal or (ii) participate in any discussions or negotiations regarding any Acquisition Proposal.

(c) Each Stockholder shall not take any steps, directly or indirectly, that may in any way adversely affect, and will use reasonable best
efforts to complete successfully, the Arrangement and all the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement and this Agreement.

(d) Anything in this Section 4.1 to the contrary notwithstanding, nothing in this Section 4.1 shall limit in any way a Stockholder who is a
director or officer of Helix from exercising any of his rights or performing any of his duties as a director or officer of Helix, including as
provided in Section 2.2 of the Merger Agreement.

Section 4.2 Restriction on Transfer

Until and unless this Agreement has been terminated, each Stockholder shall not, except as expressly provided for in this Agreement,
(a) sell, exchange, pledge, encumber or otherwise transfer or dispose of, or agree to sell, exchange, pledge, encumber or otherwise transfer or
dispose of, any of its Shares (which for avoidance of doubt shall not include any option to purchase Helix Common Shares exercisable for
Shares pursuant to the terms of such option), or any interest therein, (b) deposit its Shares into a voting trust or enter into a voting agreement or
arrangement with respect to such Shares or grant any proxy with respect thereto, or (c) enter into any agreement, arrangement, understanding, or
undertaking to do any of the foregoing. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Luc Parent may, upon prior written notice to HEARX, sell from time to
time up to an aggregate of 200,000 Shares during the period from the date hereof through the Effective Date and the Shares so sold shall no
longer be subject to this Agreement.
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Section 4.3 Waiver of Dissenters Rights

Each Stockholder hereby waives, and covenants and agrees that such Stockholder will not exercise, any right of dissent provided under
Section 190 of the Canada Business Corporations Act or the Interim Order or otherwise in connection with the Arrangement, or any other
corporate transaction considered at the meetings of stockholders of Helix in connection therewith.

Section 4.4 Termination
The covenants and agreements contained herein with respect to the Shares shall terminate upon the termination of the Merger Agreement in
accordance with its terms.

Section 4.5 Assist in Obtaining Approvals

Each Stockholder shall take all reasonable steps necessary to assist HEARx, HEARx Canada Inc. and Helix in obtaining all regulatory and
governmental, and any other third party, consents or approvals, that may be necessary for the Arrangement and all the transactions contemplated
by the Merger Agreement and by this Agreement and to cooperate in the defense of any suit, action, inquiry, investigation or other proceeding
that may have an adverse effect on the ability of HEARx, HEARx Canada Inc. and Helix to complete the Arrangement.

ARTICLE V

MISCELLANEOUS

Section 5.1 Severability

If any term or other provision of this Agreement is or is deemed to be invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced by any applicable rule
of law or public policy, all other conditions and provisions of this Agreement shall nevertheless remain in full force and effect so long as the
economic or legal substance of this Agreement is not affected in any manner materially adverse to any party. Upon such determination that any
term or other provision is invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced, the parties hereto shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement
so as to effect the original intent of the parties as closely as possible in a mutually acceptable manner so that the terms of this Agreement remain
as originally contemplated to the fullest extent possible.

Section 5.2 Entire Agreement

This Agreement constitutes the entire understanding between HEARX and each Stockholder with respect to the subject matter hereof and
supersedes all prior agreements and understandings, both written and oral, between HEARx and each Stockholder with respect to the subject
matter hereof.

Section 5.3 Counterparts

This Agreement may be executed and delivered (including by facsimile transmission) in one or more counterparts, and by the different
parties hereto in separate counterparts, each of which when executed and delivered shall be deemed to be an original but all of which taken
together shall constitute one and the same instrument.

Section 5.4 Assignment

This Agreement shall not be assigned by operation of law or otherwise without the prior written consent of the other parties hereto, provided
that HEARx may assign its rights hereunder to any direct or indirect wholly owned subsidiary of HEARX.
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Section 5.5 Amendments

This Agreement may not be amended, supplemented, waived or otherwise modified or terminated, except upon the execution and delivery
of a written agreement executed by the parties hereto.

Section 5.6 Notices

All notices, requests, claims, demands and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be given (and shall be deemed to
have been duly received if so given) by delivery in person, facsimile transmission, registered or certified mail (postage prepaid, return receipt
requested), or courier service providing proof of delivery to the respective parties at the following addresses (or to such other address for a party
as shall be specified in a notice given in accordance with this Section 5.6).

(a) if to HEARX, to:
HEARX LTD.
1250 Northpoint Parkway
West Palm Beach, FL 33407
Fax No.: (561) 688-8893
Attention: President

with copies to:
Bryan Cave LLP

700 13" Street, N.W.
Washington, DC 20005
Fax No.: (202) 508-6200
Attention: LaDawn Naegle

and to
Meighen Demers LLP

Suite 1100, Box 11

Merrill Lynch Canada Tower
200 King Street West
Toronto, Canada MSH 3T4
Attention: Richard S. Sutin
Fax No.: (416) 977-5239

(b) if to the Stockholders, to
Helix Hearing Care of America Corp.
7100, Jean-Talon East
Suite 610
Montreal, QC HIM 3S3
Fax No.: (514) 353-0029
Attention: President

with copies to:

Fraser Milner Casgrain LLP
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1, Place Ville Marie
39" Floor
Montreal, QC H3B 4M7
Fax No.: (514) 878-8800
(514) 866-2241
Attention: Paul F. Dingle
Charles R. Spector
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and to:
Fasken Martineau DuMoulin LLP

The Stock Exchange Tower
P.O. Box 242, 34th Floor
800 Victoria Square
Montreal, Quebec H4Z 1E9
Fax No.: (514) 397-7600
Attention: Gilles Leclerc

Section 5.7 No Third Party Beneficiaries
This Agreement is not intended to be for the benefit of, and shall not be enforceable by, any person or entity not a party hereto.
Section 5.8 Specific Performance

Each of the parties hereto acknowledges that a breach by it of any agreement contained in this Agreement will cause the other party to
sustain damage for which it would not have an adequate remedy at law for money damages, and therefore each of the parties hereto agrees that
in the event of any such breach the aggrieved party shall be entitled to the remedy of specific performance of such agreement and injunctive and
other equitable relief in addition to any other remedy to which it may be entitled, at law or in equity.

Section 5.9 Remedies Cumulative

All rights, powers and remedies provided under this Agreement or otherwise available in respect hereof at law or in equity shall be
cumulative and not alternative, and the exercise of any thereof by any party shall not preclude the simultaneous or later exercise of any other
right, power or remedy by such party.

Section 5.10 No Waiver

The failure of any party hereto to exercise any right, power or remedy provided under this Agreement or otherwise available in respect
hereof at law or in equity, or to insist upon strict compliance by any other party hereto with its obligations hereunder, and any custom or practice
of the parties at variance with the terms hereof, shall not constitute a waiver by such party of its rights to exercise any such or other right, power
or remedy or to demand such compliance.

Section 5.11 Governing Law
This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the Province of Quebec.

Section 5.12  Waiver of Jury Trial

EACH OF HEARx AND THE STOCKHOLDER HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY
ACTION, PROCEEDING OR COUNTERCLAIM (WHETHER BASED ON CONTRACT, TORT OR OTHERWISE) ARISING OUT OF OR
RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE ACTIONS OF HEARx OR THE STOCKHOLDER IN THE NEGOTIATION,
ADMINISTRATION, PERFORMANCE AND ENFORCEMENT THEREOF.

Section 5.13 Headings
The descriptive headings contained in this Agreement are included for convenience of reference only and shall not affect in any way the

meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.

[Signatures appear on next page.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Stockholders Agreement to be duly executed as of the date first written above.
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HEARX LTD.:

By: /s PAUL A. BROWN

Name:
Title:

STOCKHOLDERS:

3319725 CANADA, INC.

By: /s/ STEVE FORGET

Name: Steve Forget
Title: President

LES PARTENAIRES DE MONTREAL S.E.C.

By: /s/ PIERRE BOURGIE

Name:
Title:

DUVAL HOLDINGS INC.

By: /s/ DUKE RODRIGUEZ

Name: Duke Rodriguez
Title: President

GESTION FREMICAN INC.

By: /s/ MICHEL LABADIE

Name: M. Labadie
Title: President

/s/ STEVE FORGET

Name: Steve Forget

/sl MARTIN COUSINEAU

Name: Martin Cousineau

/s/ RICHARD DOUCET

141



Edgar Filing: PROASSURANCE CORP - Form 4

Name: Richard Doucet

/s/ LUC PARENT

Name: Luc Parent
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STOCKHOLDER S AGREEMENT

Exhibit A
Name Shares
3319725 Canada, Inc. 10,350,000
Les Partenaires de Montreal s.e.c. 4,200,000
Duval Holdings Inc. 3,200,000
Steve Forget 491,464
Martin Cousineau 223,396
Richard Doucet 433,564
Luc Parent 622,500
Gestion Fremican Inc. 2,075,000
E-8
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ANNEX F
Special Resolution for Helix Stockholders on Arrangement
FORM OF ARRANGEMENT RESOLUTION
SPECIAL RESOLUTION OF THE HELIX STOCKHOLDERS

BE IT RESOLVED THAT:

1. The arrangement under Section 192 of the Canada Business Corporations Act involving Helix Hearing Care of America Corp.
( Helix ), as more particularly described and set forth in the joint proxy statement/ prospectus accompanying the notice of this meeting (as the
arrangement may be modified or amended) is hereby authorized, approved and adopted.

2. The plan of arrangement involving Helix, the full text of which is set out as Annex K to the joint proxy statement/prospectus
accompanying the notice of this meeting (as the arrangement may be contemplated thereby or may have been amended) is hereby approved
and adopted.

3. Notwithstanding that this resolution has been passed (and the arrangement adopted) by the stockholders of Helix or that the
arrangement has been approved by the Superior Court of Justice of Québec, the directors of Helix are hereby authorized and empowered
(i) to amend the merger agreement, or the arrangement to the extent permitted by the merger agreement, and (ii) not to proceed with the
arrangement without further approval of the stockholders of Helix, but only if the merger agreement is terminated in accordance with
Section its terms.

4. Any one officer or director of Helix is hereby authorized and directed for and on behalf of Helix to execute and to deliver articles of
arrangement and such other documents as are necessary or desirable to the Director under the Canada Business Corporations Act in
accordance with the merger agreement for filing.

5. Any one officer or director of Helix is hereby authorized and directed for and on behalf of Helix to execute or cause to be executed
and to deliver or cause to be delivered, all such other documents and instruments and perform or cause to be performed all such other acts
and things as in such person s opinion may be necessary or desirable to give full effect to the foregoing resolution and the matters authorized
thereby, such determination to be conclusively evidenced by the expedition and delivery of such document, agreement or instrument or the
doing of any such act or thing.

F-1
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ANNEX G
July 27, 2001
Board of Directors

HEARX Ltd.
1250 Northpoint Parkway
West Palm Beach, FL 33407

Members of the Board:

You have requested our opinion as to the fairness, from a financial point of view, to the shareholders of the common stock, par value $0.10
(the Common Stock ) of HEARx Ltd. ( HEARx orthe Company ) of the consideration to be paid by HEARX to the shareholders of HELIX
HEARING CARE OF AMERICA CORP. ( Helix ) in connection with the proposed acquisition (the Merger ) of Helix by a newly formed wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company ( HEARx Canada Inc. ) pursuant and subject to the Merger Agreement between the Company and Helix dated
as of July 27, 2001 (the Agreement ). As a result of the Merger, Helix will be acquired by HEARx Canada Inc. and each common share of Helix
shall be exchanged for either (i) 0.3537 shares of HEARx Common Stock or (ii) 0.3537 exchangeable shares of HEARx Canada Inc.
( Exchangeable Shares). The Exchangeable Shares will be exchangeable on a one-for-one basis for HEARx Common Stock. The terms and
conditions of the Merger are more fully set forth in the Agreement.

In connection with the opinion set forth below, we have, among other things:
1. reviewed the financial terms and conditions of the Merger as set forth in the Agreement;
2. reviewed the audited financial statements for Helix and the Company for fiscal years 1999 and 2000;
3. reviewed the annual reports to shareholders for Helix and the Company for fiscal years 1999 and 2000;
4. reviewed financial projections for Helix on a stand-alone and consolidated basis with the Company;

5. discussed with members of the senior management of Helix and the Company certain information relating to the Merger and such
other matters as we deemed relevant to our analysis;

6. reviewed certain other publicly available information on Helix and the Company; and

7. reviewed other Helix and Company financial and operating information provided by Helix and the Company.
G-1

Table of Contents 145



Edgar Filing: PROASSURANCE CORP - Form 4

Table of Contents
Board of Directors

HEARX Ltd.
July 27, 2001
Page 2

We have assumed and relied upon the accuracy and completeness of all information provided or otherwise made available to us by the
Company, Helix or any other party and have not attempted to verify independently any of such information. We have not made or obtained an
independent appraisal of the assets or liabilities (contingent or otherwise) of the Company or Helix. With respect to financial projections and
other information provided to or otherwise reviewed by or discussed with us, we have assumed that such forecasts and other information and
data have been reasonably prepared in good faith on bases reflecting the best currently available estimates and judgments of management, and
we have relied upon each party to advise us promptly if any information previously provided became inaccurate or was required to be updated
during the period of our review.

For purposes of our opinion, we have not attempted to determine a value for the Common Stock but instead we have assumed that its
current price value fairly reflects its value and that the Exchangeable Shares will have the same value as the underlying HEARx Common Stock
into which they are exchangeable.

Our opinion is based upon market, economic, financial and other circumstances and conditions existing and disclosed to us as of July 27,
2001, and any material change in such circumstances and conditions would require a reevaluation of this opinion, which we are under no
obligation to undertake.

We express no opinion as to the underlying business decision to effect the merger, the structure or tax consequences of the Merger or the
availability or advisability of any alternatives to the Merger. We did not structure the Merger or negotiate the final terms of the Merger. This
letter does not express any opinion as to the likely trading range of the Company stock following the Merger, which may vary depending on
numerous factors that generally impact the price of securities or on the financial performance and condition of the Company at that time. Our
opinion is limited to the fairness, from a financial point of view, of the Merger to the Shareholders. We express no opinion with respect to any
other reasons, legal, business, or otherwise, that may support the decision of the Board of Directors to approve the Merger.

In conducting our investigation and analyses and in arriving at our opinion expressed herein, we have taken into account such accepted
financial and investment banking procedures and considerations as we have deemed relevant, including the review of (i) historical and projected
revenues, operating earnings, net income and capitalization of Helix and the Company and certain other publicly held companies in businesses
we believe to be comparable to Helix and the Companys; (ii) the current and projected financial position and results of operations of Helix and
the Company; (iii) the historical market prices and trading activity of the common stock of Helix and the Company; (iv) financial and operating
information concerning selected business combinations which we deemed comparable in whole or in part; and (v) the general condition of the
securities markets.

G-2
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HEARX Ltd.
July 27, 2001
Page 3

In arriving at this opinion, Raymond James did not attribute any particular weight to any analysis or factor considered by it, but rather made
qualitative judgments as to the significance and relevance of each analysis and factor. Accordingly, Raymond James believes that its analyses
must be considered as a whole and that selecting portions of its analyses, without considering all analyses, would create an incomplete view of
the process underlying this opinion.

Raymond James & Associates, Inc. ( Raymond James ) is actively engaged in the investment banking business and regularly undertakes the
valuation of investment securities in connection with public offerings, private placements, business combinations and similar transactions.
Raymond James will receive a fee upon the delivery of this opinion. In addition, the Company has agreed to indemnify us against certain
liabilities arising out of our engagement.

In the ordinary course of our business, Raymond James may trade in the securities of Helix or the Company for our own account or for the
accounts of our customers and, accordingly, may at any time hold a long or short position in such securities.

It is understood that this letter is for the information of the Board of Directors of the Company in evaluating the proposed Merger and does
not constitute a recommendation to any shareholder of the Company regarding how said shareholder should vote on the proposed Merger. This
opinion is not to be quoted or referred to, in whole or in part, without our prior written consent, which will not be unreasonably withheld.

Based upon and subject to the foregoing, it is our opinion that, as of July 27, 2001, the consideration to be paid by the Company to the
shareholders of Helix pursuant to the Agreement is fair, from a financial point of view, to the holders of the Company s Common Stock.

Very truly yours,
RAYMOND JAMES & ASSOCIATES, INC.

G-3
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ANNEX H
July 11, 2001
PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL
The Board of Directors of Helix Hearing Care of America Inc.

7100 Jean-Talon East
Montreal, Quebec
HI1M 3S3

Dear Sirs:

We understand that Helix Hearing Care of America Inc. ( Helix ) has entered into a Merger Agreement (the Agreement ) with HEARx Ltd.
( HEARx ) envisaging a combination of the businesses and operations of Helix and HEARX to be effected pursuant to a plan of arrangement (the
Plan ) under the Canada Business Corporations Act and involving Helix, its shareholders and HEARX (such merger is hereinafter referred to as
the Transaction ).

The Agreement provides that each shareholder of Helix (save for those who exercise the right of dissent stipulated under the Canada
Business Corporations Act to be paid the fair market value) will exchange each of its common shares in Helix for, at its option, either 0.3537
common shares in HEARx or 0.3537 exchangeable shares of a direct or indirect subsidiary of HEARx. After the exchange, the shares of Helix,
will be transferred into a newly formed wholly-owned subsidiary of HEARX.

The terms and conditions of the Agreement, including information concerning Helix and HEARX, and proforma information describing the
combined entity to be formed pursuant to the Transaction will be included in the joint proxy statement (the Proxy ) to be mailed to all the
shareholders of Helix. The Board of Directors of Helix (the Board ) will provide its recommendation to Helix s shareholders regarding the
Transaction in the Proxy.

ENGAGEMENT

The Board originally contacted Ernst & Young Corporate Finance Inc. ( EYCF ) on or about April 9, 2001, with respect to the preparation of
an opinion as to the fairness, from a financial point of view, of the Transaction to shareholders of Helix (the Opinion ). EYCF was formally
retained on May 7, 2001 to prepare the Opinion which is set out herein.

The Opinion has been provided for the exclusive use of the Board and is not to be published or communicated to other persons, without our
prior written consent. However, we consent to a reference to our Opinion and a copy of this letter being included in the Joint Proxy Statement/
Prospectus.

EYCF CREDENTIALS AND INDEPENDENCE

Ernst & Young LLP is one of North America s largest public accounting and professional services firms, and through its affiliated company,
EYCEF, provides corporate finance advisory services related to mergers and acquisitions, divestitures, valuations and strategic finance. The
opinion expressed herein is the opinion of EYCF and the form and content hereof have been approved by a committee of senior practitioners of
EYCF, who have not been involved in the development of the Opinion and each of whom is experienced in merger, acquisition, divestiture and
valuation matters.

Except for the services rendered under the terms of this engagement, EYCF has not provided financial advisory services or like services to
Helix or any parties related thereto in the last two years. There are no understanding or agreements between EYCF and Helix or with persons
with whom said corporation has ties, with respect to future business dealings. In the future, EYCEF could, in the course of its normal activities,
provide professional services to Helix or to persons with whom it has ties. Moreover, in the ordinary course of business, employees or partners
of EYCF or Ernst & Young LLP could, at any time, hold securities of Helix or HEARX.

H-1
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Under the terms of the engagement letter, the remuneration of EYCF does not depend, in whole or in part, on the conclusions of the Opinion
nor on the success of the Transaction.

We also confirm that to the best of our knowledge, EYCF is independent of Helix for purposes of providing the Opinion.

SCOPE OF REVIEW

In the course of preparing this Opinion, EYCF reviewed, considered, analyzed and relied upon the following documents:

a)

b)

©)

d)

e

)

h)

i)

k)

D

m)

n)

0)

p)

Q

s)

The draft Agreement dated as of July 9, 2001 and schedules thereto;

The draft Support Agreement dated as of July 6, 2001 and the draft Voting and Exchange Trust Agreement made as of May 15, 2001;

The draft stockholders agreement dated as of July 9, 2001;

The initial letter of intent dated March 5, 2001 and the revised letter of intent dated May 22, 2001;

A draft financing commitment letter dated May 3, 2001 from Siemens Hearing Instruments Inc. and addressed to Helix and HEARX;

The press release dated May 23, 2001 announcing the Transaction;

The press release dated June 25, 2001 announcing the proposed financing from Siemens Hearing Instruments Inc.;

The annual reports, including the audited financial statements, annual information forms for Helix for the four-year period ended in
2000 and similar documents for the five consecutive fiscal years ended December 31, 2000 of HEARX;

The interim reports for the first quarter of fiscal 2001 for Helix and HEARX;

The fiscal 2001 budgets prepared by the management of Helix and HEARX;

An information memorandum on Helix prepared by Montreal Partners (Spring 2000);

The forecasts prepared by the management of Helix and HEARX for the five-year period ending in 2006 on the basis that the
Transaction does not take place;

Other financial information, operating information and future plans relating to the expected performance of Helix and HEARX and their
respective major business units and investments;

Certain confidential information, documents and discussions with the management of Helix and HEARx regarding, among other things,
their respective assets, liabilities, operations, investments and business prospects;

The description of the combined entity;

The forecasts for the combined entity prepared by the management of Helix and HEARX for the five-year period ending in 2006;

Material contracts or agreements for both Helix and HEARX;

Tax information prepared by Helix s advisors regarding the tax implications of the Transaction;

Public information relating to the business, operations, financial performance and stock trading history of Helix, HEARx and other
selected public companies that we considered relevant for purposes hereof;
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u) Data with respect to other transactions of a comparable nature that we considered relevant for purposes hereof;
v) Analysts reports for the industry;

w) Such other information, investigations and analyses as we considered appropriate in the circumstances.

Moreover, we have discussed with the management of Helix and HEARX, among others, the Transaction and the expected combination
benefits, cost reductions and incremental revenue opportunities and market position enhancements that are expected to result from the
Transaction. We also held discussions with the management of Helix and HEARx regarding the results of their financial, business and legal due
diligence reviews.

EYCF was granted full access to Helix s senior management and was not denied access by Helix and HEARX to any requested information,
and to the best of its knowledge, was not denied access to any information which might be material to the Opinion.

RESTRICTIONS AND ASSUMPTIONS

We understand that the Board will use the Opinion to advise its shareholders as to the fairness of the Transaction. The Opinion may not be
used for any other purposes. We cannot be held liable for any losses sustained by Helix, its shareholders or any other person should the Opinion
be circulated, distributed, published, reproduced or used contrary to the provisions of this paragraph. Our opinion is not, and should not be
construed as, a valuation of Helix or HEARX or any of their respective assets. Moreover, our opinion does not constitute advice or
recommendation to vote for or against the Transaction.

We have relied upon, and have assumed the completeness, accuracy and fair presentation of all financial and other information, data,
advice, opinions and representations obtained by us from public sources or provided to us by Helix or HEARx s management or advisors or
otherwise pursuant to our engagement. The Opinion is conditional upon such completeness, accuracy and fair presentation. Subject to the
exercise of professional judgment and except as expressly described herein, we have not attempted to verify independently the accuracy or
completeness of any such information, data, advice, opinions or representations.

The senior management of Helix have represented to us, in a letter delivered as at the date hereof, amongst other things, that the
information, data, advice, opinions, representations and other materials (the Information ) provided to us by or on behalf of Helix are complete
and accurate at the date the Information was provided to us and that since the date of the Information (i) there has been no material change,
financial or otherwise, in Helix, or its assets, liabilities (contingent or otherwise), business or operations, and (ii) there has been no change of any
material fact which is of a nature as to render the Information untrue or misleading in any material respect. In addition, the management of Helix
have represented to us that they have no reason to believe there are any inaccuracies in information they have provided to us with respect to the
business, operations and financial position of HEARx. No similar letter of representation has been provided to us by HEARx.

The Opinion is rendered on the basis of securities markets, economic and general business and financial conditions prevailing as at the date
hereof and the condition and prospects, financial and otherwise, of Helix and HEARX as they were reflected in the information or the materials
concerning Helix and HEARX reviewed by us and as they were represented to us in our discussions with the management of both Helix and
HEARKX. In our analyses and in connection with the preparation of the Opinion, we made numerous assumptions with respect to industry
performance, general business, market and economic conditions and other matters, many of which are beyond the control of any party involved
in the Transaction. While EYCEF believes that assumptions used are appropriate in the circumstances, some or all of the assumptions may prove
to be incorrect.

We have assumed that no documents in draft form reviewed by us will be finalized with substantial changes.

H-3
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We believe that our analysis must be considered as a whole and that selecting portions of our analysis or the factors considered by us,
without considering all factors and analyses together, could create a misleading view of the process underlying the Opinion. The preparation of
the Opinion is a complex process and is not necessarily susceptible to partial analysis or summary description. Any attempt to do so could lead
to undue emphasis on particular factors or elements of the analysis.

We reserve the right (with no obligation on our part) to review our Opinion as described in this report and, should we deem it necessary, to
revise it in light of any information that existed as of the date of this report which might become known to us at a later date.

APPROACH

In considering the fairness of the Transaction, from a financial point of view, to the shareholders of Helix, EYCF performed a variety of
financial and comparative analyses, including:

1. Comparing the historic and current market prices and volume for the shares of both Helix and HEARx. From this analysis we, among
other things, took the fallowing factors into account:

a. Activity on Helix s shares is very low (average monthly volume approximates less than 1% of outstanding shares). Therefore, if a large
block of shares was sold on the market it could have a depressing effect on the quoted market price;

b. Based on HEARX s historical trading volume, the shareholders should have a more liquid market available to them to dispose of their
shares after the Transaction;

2. Comparing the proposed exchange ratio to the relative value of Helix and HEARX implied by our analysis of value for both
corporations as stand-alone entities. For this analysis, we have used the following methods and criteria: discounted cash flow, multiple
of revenue, capitalization of operating earnings (before corporate expenses) and net tangible assets;

a. The application of the discounted cash flow method requires that estimation be made regarding the future cash flows of each
corporation as stand-alone entities. Management of each corporation prepared these future cash flows. We analysed and discussed
with management of each corporation these projections and their underlying assumptions. The discounted cash flow approach also
required that assumptions be made regarding the discount rate and terminal value. In determining the appropriate discount rates and
terminal value, we took into account the risk related to achieving the financial forecasts, the general conditions in the industry, the
general economic conditions and rates of return available on other type of investments as well as the growth potential at the end of the
projections period;

b. For the analysis based on a multiple of revenue and the capitalization of operating earnings (before corporate expenses), we reviewed
the current and projected results for the next fiscal year and considered, among other things, trading multiples of comparable public
companies, implied multiples from comparable transactions, general economic conditions and rates of return available on other types
of investments;

c. Finally, for all analyses, we performed sensitivity analysis on certain key assumptions;

3. Comparing the value of Helix as a stand-alone entity before the Transaction with the value of the new combined entity belonging to
Helix s shareholders after the Transaction:

a. The value of the new combined entity belonging to Helix s shareholders after the Transaction was derived from applying the proposed
percentage ownership for Helix s shareholders to the value of the new combined entity. The value was based on the result of the
application of the discounted cash flow method. Management of both corporations prepared together the future cash flows used in our
discounted cash flow analysis. We analysed and discussed with management of each corporation these projections and their
underlying assumptions. In determining the appropriate
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discount rates and terminal value, we took into account the factors mentioned previously in the context of the combined entity;

b. The value of Helix was based on the result of the application of the discounted cash flow method as well as Helix s recent equity
financings and prices that potential purchasers could be willing to pay for Helix. The discounted cash flow analysis was performed
based on the financial forecasts prepared by management for Helix on a stand-alone basis;

4. Considering any other factors or analyses which we judged, based upon our experience, to be relevant in the circumstances.

In arriving at our Opinion, we have not attributed any particular weight to any specific analysis or factor considered by us, but rather have
made a qualitative judgment based upon our experience in rendering such opinions and on the circumstances of the Transaction as well as the
information, taken as a whole, concerning Helix, HEARx and the possible combined entity that was reviewed by us.

OPINION

Based on the proposed exchange ratio and on the current quoted market prices for the Helix Shares and the HEARX Shares, the Transaction
results in an erosion of value for the holders of Helix s Shares. Accordingly, for holders of Helix shares who want to dispose of a small block of
their shares, the Transaction may not be fair, from a financial point of view, if the market value of the HEARX shares, following the
consummation of the Transaction, does not recover.

Subject to the previous comments, it is our opinion that, as of the date hereof, the transaction is fair, from a financial point of view, to the
shareholders of Helix. We base our opinion that the Transaction is fair, from a financial point of view, on a variety of factors, including, amongst
others, our assessment of the inherent value of Helix, HEARX and of the new combined entity as well as their respective profitability and
prospects for growth.

Yours very truly,
ERNST & YOUNG CORPORATE FINANCE INC.
Denis Labreche, CA, CBV Nathalie Ladouceur, CA, CBV
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ANNEX I
February 1, 2002
Board of Directors

Helix Hearing Care of America Corp.
7100 Jean-Talon East, Suite 610
Montreal, QC

HIM 3S3

Members of the Board of Directors:

It is our understanding that HEARx LTD. ( HEARx orthe Acquiror ) and Helix Hearing Care of America Corp. ( Helix or the Company ) ha
agreed to combine businesses through an arrangement (the Arrangement ) under Canadian law (the Merger ). When the arrangement is completed,
Helix will become an indirect subsidiary of HEARx. Helix stockholders, other than stockholders who exercise and perfect their dissent rights
will, subject to certain conditions, have the option to receive as consideration for each share of Helix common stock (the Company Shares )

(a) 0.3537 shares of HEARXx common stock (the Acquiror Shares ), or (b) 0.3537 exchangeable shares of HEARx Canada Inc. ( Exchangeable
Shares ) (the Exchange Ratio ), a newly formed Canadian subsidiary of HEARX. Helix stockholders who are not Canadian residents for Canadian
tax purposes will not be entitled to receive Exchangeable Shares. Each Exchangeable Share may be exchanged by the holder for one share of
HEARx common stock. The Exchangeable Shares will be subject to mandatory exchange on and after the fifth anniversary of the effective date

of the Arrangement, subject to earlier mandatory exchange in certain circumstances.

You have asked us whether, in our opinion, the Exchange Ratio is fair from a financial point of view to the holders of the Company Shares.
In arriving at the opinion set forth below, we have, among other things:

(1) Reviewed certain publicly available business and financial information relating to the Company and the Acquiror that we deemed to
be relevant;

(2) Reviewed certain information, including financial forecasts, relating to the business, earnings, cash flow, assets, liabilities and
prospects of the Company and the Acquiror, furnished to us by the Company and the Acquiror, respectively;

(3) Conducted discussions with members of senior management and representatives of the Company and the Acquiror concerning the
matters described in clauses 1 and 2 above, as well as their respective business and prospects before and after giving effect to the Merger;

(4) Reviewed the trading volumes, market prices and valuation multiples for the Company Shares and the Acquiror Shares and
compared them with those of certain publicly traded companies that we deemed to be relevant;

(5) Compared the proposed financial terms of the Merger with the financial terms of certain other transactions that we deemed to be
relevant;

(6) Reviewed the potential pro forma impact of the Merger;
(7) Reviewed the Amended and Restated Merger Agreement (the Agreement ) dated November 6, 2001; and

(8) Reviewed the HEARx Amendment No. 1 to the Form S-4 Registration Statement.

In preparing our opinion, we have assumed and relied on the accuracy and completeness of all information supplied or otherwise made
available to us, discussed with or reviewed by or for us, or publicly available, and we have not assumed any responsibility for independently
verifying such information or undertaken and independent evaluation or appraisal of any of the assets or liabilities of the Company or the
Acquiror. In addition, we have not assumed any obligation to conduct, nor have we conducted, any physical
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inspection of the properties or facilities of the Company or the Acquiror. With respect to the financial forecast information furnished to or
discussed with us by the Company or the Acquiror, we have assumed that they have been reasonably prepared and reflect the best currently
available estimates and judgement of the Company s or the Acquiror s management as to the expected future financial performance of the
Company or the Acquiror, as the case may be. We have also assumed that the final form of the Agreement will be substantially similar to the last
draft reviewed by us.

Our opinion is necessarily based upon market, economic and other conditions as they exist and can be evaluated on, and on the information
made available to us as of, the date hereof. We have assumed that in the course of obtaining the necessary regulatory or other consents or
approvals (contractual or otherwise) for the Merger, no restrictions including any divestiture requirements or amendments or modifications, will
be imposed that will have a material adverse effect on the contemplated benefits of the Merger. In the event that there is any material change in
any fact or matter affecting the opinion after the date hereof, we reserve the right to change, modify or withdraw the opinion.

In connection with the preparation of this opinion, we have not been authorized by the Company or the Board of Directors to solicit, nor
have we solicited, third-party indications of interest for the acquisition of all or any part of the Company.

The Company has agreed to indemnify us for certain liabilities arising out of our engagement. In the ordinary course of our business, we
may actively trade the Company Shares, as well as the Acquiror Shares for our own account and for the accounts of customers and, accordingly,
may at any time hold a long or short position in such securities.

In arriving at this opinion, we did not attribute any particular weight to any analysis or factor considered by it, but rather, we made
qualitative judgements as to the significance and relevance of each analysis and factor. Accordingly, we believe that its analyses must be
considered as a whole and that selecting portions of its analyses, without considering all analyses, would create an incomplete view of the
process underlying this opinion.

This opinion is for the use and benefit of the Board of Directors of the Company. Our opinion does not address the merits of the underlying
decision by the Company to engage in the Merger and does not constitute a recommendation to any shareholder as to how such shareholder
should vote on the proposed Merger.

We are not expressing any opinion herein as to the prices at which the Acquiror Shares or the Exchangeable Shares will trade following the
consummation of the Merger.

On the basis of and subject to the foregoing, we are of the opinion that, as of the date hereof, the Exchange Ratio is fair from a financial
point of view to the holders of the Company Shares.

Very truly yours,
YORKTON SECURITIES INC.

I-2
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ANNEX J
Canada Business Corporation Act § 190 Dissenters Rights

SECTION 190 OF THE CANADA BUSINESS CORPORATION ACT ( CBCA )

Please note that the right provided in the interim order to Helix stockholders to dissent from the arrangement resolution differs from the
dissent right set out in Section 190 of the Canada Business Corporations Act in one respect. In order for a Helix stockholder to exercise its
dissent right, the Helix stockholder must provide a notice of dissent to the Corporation prior to 5:00 p.m. on the business day preceding the
meeting. This differs from the CBCA dissent right set out below, which requires that a shareholder wishing to exercise the dissent right in
respect of a proposed resolution must provide a notice of dissent at or before the meeting at which the resolution is to be voted on.

Canada Business Corporations Act
R.S.C. 1985, c. C-44 as amended

Part XV Fundamental Changes

190.

(1) Right to dissent  Subject to sections 191 and 241, a holder of shares of any class of a corporation may dissent if the corporation is subject
to an order under paragraph 192(4)(d) that affects the holder or if the corporation resolves to :

a) amend its articles under section 173 or 174 to add, change or remove any provisions restricting or constraining the issue, transfer or
ownership of shares of that class;

b) amend its articles under section 173 to add, change or remove any restriction on the business or businesses that the corporation may
carry on;

¢) amalgamate otherwise than under section 184;
d) be continued under section 188; or

e) sell, lease or exchange all or substantially all its property under subsection 189(3).

(2) Further right ~ A holder of shares of any class or series of shares entitled to vote under section 176 may dissent if the corporation resolves
to amend its articles in a manner described in that section.

(3) Payment for shares In addition to any other right he may have, but subject to subsection (26), a shareholder who complies with this
section is entitled, when the action approved by the resolution from which he dissents or an order made under subsection 192(4) becomes
effective, to be paid by the corporation the fair value of the shares held by him in respect of which he dissents, determined as of the close of
business on the day before the resolution was adopted or the order was made.

(4) No partial dissent A dissenting shareholder may only claim under this section with respect to all the shares of a class held by him on
behalf of any one beneficial owner and registered in the name of the dissenting shareholder.

(5) Objection A dissenting shareholder shall send to the corporation, at or before any meeting of shareholders at which a resolution referred
to in subsection (1) or (2) is to be voted on, a written objection to the resolution, unless the corporation did not give notice to the shareholder of
the purpose of the meeting and of his right to dissent.

(6) Notice of resolution The corporation shall, within ten days after the shareholders adopt the resolution, send to each shareholder who has
filed the objection referred to in subsection (5) notice that the resolution has been adopted, but such notice is not required to be sent to any
shareholder who voted for the resolution or who has withdrawn his objection.
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(7) Demand for payment A dissenting shareholder shall, within twenty days after he receives a notice under subsection (6) or, if he does not
receive such notice, within twenty days after he learns that the resolution has been adopted, send to the corporation a written notice containing

a) his name and address;
b) the number and class of shares in respect of which he dissents; and

¢) a demand for payment of the fair value of such shares.

(8) Share certificate A dissenting shareholder shall, within thirty days after sending a notice under subsection (7), send the certificates
representing the shares in respect of which he dissents to the corporation or its transfer agent.

(9) Forfeiture A dissenting shareholder who fails to comply with subsection (8) has no right to make a claim under this section.

(10) Endorsing certificate A corporation or its transfer agent shall endorse on any share certificate received under subsection (8) a notice
that the holder is a dissenting shareholder under this section and shall forthwith return the share certificates to the dissenting shareholder.

(11) Suspension of rights  On sending a notice under subsection (7), a dissenting shareholder ceases to have any rights as a shareholder
other than the right to be paid the fair value of his shares as determined under this section except where

a) the dissenting shareholder withdraws his notice before the corporation makes an offer under subsection (12),
b) the corporation fails to make an offer in accordance with subsection (12) and the dissenting shareholder withdraws his notice, or

c) the directors revoke a resolution to amend the articles under subsection 173(2) or 174(5), terminate an amalgamation agreement
under subsection 183(6) or an application for continuance under subsection 188(6), or abandon a sale, lease or exchange under
subsection 189(9),

in which case his rights as a shareholder are reinstated as of the date he sent the notice referred to in subsection (7).

(12) Offer to pay A corporation shall, not later than seven days after the later of the day on which the action approved by the resolution is
effective or the day the corporation received the notice referred to in subsection (7), send to each dissenting shareholder who has sent such notice

a) a written offer to pay for his shares in an amount considered by the directors of the corporation to be the fair value thereof,
accompanied by a statement showing how the fair value was determined; or

b) if subsection (26) applies, a notification that it is unable lawfully to pay dissenting shareholders for their shares.
(13) Same terms  Every offer made under subsection (12) for shares of the same class or series shall be on the same terms.

(14) Payment Subject to subsection (26), a corporation shall pay for the shares of a dissenting shareholder within ten days after an offer
made under subsection (12) has been accepted, but any such offer lapses if the corporation does not receive an acceptance thereof within thirty
days after the offer has been made.

(15) Corporation may apply to court Where a corporation fails to make an offer under subsection (12), or if a dissenting shareholder fails to
accept an offer, the corporation may, within fifty days after the action approved by the resolution is effective or within such further period as a
court may allow, apply to a court to fix a fair value for the shares of any dissenting shareholder.
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(16) Shareholder application to court If a corporation fails to apply to a court under subsection (15), a dissenting shareholder may apply to a
court for the same purpose within a further period of twenty days or within such further period as a court may allow.

(17) Venue An application under subsection (15) or (16) shall be made to a court having jurisdiction in the place where the corporation has
its registered office or in the province where the dissenting shareholder resides if the corporation carries on business in that province.

(18) No security for costs A dissenting shareholder is not required to give security for costs in an application made under subsection (15) or
(16).

(19) Parties  On an application to a court under subsection (15) or (16),

a) all dissenting shareholders whose shares have not been purchased by the corporation shall be joined as parties and are bound by the
decision of the court; and

b) the corporation shall notify each affected dissenting shareholder of the date, place and consequences of the application and of his
right to appear and be heard in person or by counsel.

(20) Powers of court  On an application to a court under subsection (15) or (16), the court may determine whether any other person is a
dissenting shareholder who should be joined as a party, and the court shall then fix a fair value for the shares of all dissenting shareholders.

(21) Appraisers A court may in its discretion appoint one or more appraisers to assist the court to fix a fair value for the shares of the
dissenting shareholders.

(22) Final order The final order of a court shall be rendered against the corporation in favour of each dissenting shareholder and for the
amount of his shares as fixed by the court.

(23) Interest A court may in its discretion allow a reasonable rate of interest on the amount payable to each dissenting shareholder from the
date the action approved by the resolution is effective until the date of payment.

(24) Notice that subsection (26) applies If subsection (26) applies, the corporation shall, within ten days after the pronouncement of an
order under subsection (22), notify each dissenting shareholder that it is unable lawfully to pay dissenting shareholders for their shares.

(25) Effect where subsection (26) applies If subsection (26) applies, a dissenting shareholder, by written notice delivered to the corporation
within thirty days after receiving a notice under subsection (24), may

a) withdraw his notice of dissent, in which case the corporation is deemed to consent to the withdrawal and the shareholder is reinstated
to his full rights as a shareholder; or

b) retain a status as a claimant against the corporation, to be paid as soon as the corporation is lawfully able to do so or, in a liquidation,
to be ranked subordinate to the rights of creditors of the corporation but in priority to its shareholders.

(26) Limitation A corporation shall not make a payment to a dissenting shareholder under this section if there are reasonable grounds for
believing that

a) the corporation is or would after the payment be unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or

b) the realizable value of the corporation s assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities.
J-3
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PLAN OF ARRANGEMENT INCLUDING EXCHANGEABLE SHARE PROVISIONS

PLAN OF ARRANGEMENT

UNDER SECTION 192
OF THE CANADA BUSINESS CORPORATIONS ACT

1. INTERPRETATION

1.1 Definitions

In this Plan of Arrangement, unless there is something in the subject matter or context inconsistent therewith, the following terms shall have
the respective meanings set out below and grammatical variations of such terms shall have corresponding meanings:

Affiliatef any Person means any other Person directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by, or under common control of, that Person.
For the purposes of this definition, control (including, with correlative meanings, the terms controlled by and under common control of ), as
applied to any Person, means the possession by another Person, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the
management and policies of that first mentioned Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise.

Arrangementneans the arrangement under section 192 of the CBCA on the terms and subject to the conditions set out in this Plan of
Arrangement, subject to any amendments or variations thereto made in accordance with Section 6.1 hereof, the Merger Agreement or at the
direction of the Court.

Arrangement Resolutiomneans the special resolution of the holders of Helix Shares and Helix Options, voting together as a single class,
approving the Arrangement.

Articles of Arrangementneans the articles of arrangement of Helix in respect of the Arrangement required by the CBCA to be sent to the
Director after the Final Order is made.

Business Dayneans any day other than a Saturday, a Sunday or a day when banks are not open for business in either New York, New York
or Montreal, Québec.

Call Rightsneans collectively the Liquidation Call Right, the Redemption Call Right and the Retraction Call Right.
CBCAneans the Canada Business Corporations Act, as amended from time to time.

Certificateneans the certificate of arrangement giving effect to the Arrangement, issued pursuant to subsection 192(7) of the CBCA after
the Articles of Arrangement have been filed.

Circulameans the notice of the Helix Meeting and accompanying management proxy circular sent to holders of Helix Shares in
connection with the Helix Meeting.

Courteans the Superior Court of the Province of Quebec.

Current Market Priceneans, in respect of a share of HEARx Common Stock on any date, the closing sale price of a share of HEARx
Common Stock on such date (or, if no trades of any HEARx Common Stock occurred on such date, on the last trading day prior thereto on
which such trades occurred) reported on The American Stock Exchange or, if shares of HEARx Common Stock are not then quoted on The
American Stock Exchange, on such other stock exchange or automated quotation system on which shares of HEARx Common Stock are listed
or quoted, as the case may be, as may be selected by the Board of Directors for such purpose; provided, however, that if in the opinion of the
Board of Directors the public distribution or trading activity of HEARx Common Stock during such period does not create a market that reflects
the fair market value of HEARx Common Stock, then the Current Market Price of a share of HEARx Common Stock shall be determined by the
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Depositaryneans Computershare Trust Company of Canada at its offices set out in the Letter of Transmittal and Election Form.
Directomeans the Director appointed under section 260 of the CBCA.
Dissent Proceduresas the meaning set out in section 3.1.
Dissent Righthas the meaning set out in section 3.1.

Dissenting Shareholdemeans a holder of Helix Shares who dissents in respect of the Arrangement in strict compliance with the Dissent
Procedures.

Dividend Amounhas the meaning set out in section 5.1(a).

Effective Dateneans the date shown on the Certificate.

Effective Timeneans 12:01 a.m. (Montreal time) on the Effective Date.
Electiorhas the meaning set out in section 2.3(a).

Election Deadlineneans 5:00 p.m. (local time) at the place of deposit on the date which is two Business Days prior to the date of the Helix
Meeting.

Exchange Ratias equal to 0.3537 shares of HEARx Common Stock or Exchangeable Shares for each Helix Share.

Exchangeable Sharesneans the non-voting exchangeable shares of HCI having the rights privileges, restrictions and conditions set forth
in Annex A.

Exchangeable Share Rights Agreementneans the Rights Agreement dated ?, as amended from time to time, between HCI and the
Depositary.

Exchangeable Share Purchase Rightsneans the exchangeable share purchase rights issued pursuant to the Exchangeable Share Rights
Agreement.

Exchangeable Shares Considerations the number of Exchangeable Shares at the Exchange Ratio to which a holder of Helix Shares
electing to receive Exchangeable Shares is entitled, together with a corresponding number of Exchangeable Share Purchase Rights.

Exchangeable Share Provisionsneans the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attaching to the Exchangeable Shares substantially
as set forth in Annex A.

Final Ordemeans the final order of the Court approving the Arrangement as same may be amended from time to time.

HCeans HEARx Canada Inc., a corporation incorporated under the CBCA, and any successor corporation.

HEARxmeans HEARX Ltd., a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware, and any successor corporation.
HEARX Acquisitiomneans HEARX Acquisition ULC, an unlimited company organized under the laws of the Province of Nova Scotia.

HEARx Common Stockneans the common stock of HEARX, with a par value of U.S.$0.10 per share and having one vote per share, and
any other securities into which such shares may be changed.
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HEARX Elected Shareneans any Helix Share and associated rights that the holder shall have elected, in a duly completed Letter of
Transmittal and Election Form deposited with the Depositary no later than the Election Deadline, to transfer to HEARx Acquisition under the
Arrangement for that fraction of HEARx Common Stock equal to the Exchange Ratio.

HEARX Purchase Rightsneans the preferred stock purchase rights issued pursuant to the HEARx Rights Agreement.
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HEARX Rights Agreementneans the Rights Agreement as amended, supplemented and/or restated from time to time, between HEARx
and the Bank of New York.

HEARX Stock Considerations the number of shares of HEARx Common Stock at the Exchange Ratio to which a holder of Helix Shares
electing to receive HEARx Common Stock is entitled, together with a corresponding number of HEARx Purchase Rights.

HEARX Partiesneans HEARx, HEARx Acquisition and HCI, collectively.

HEARX Special Sharesneans the one share of the Special Voting Preferred Stock of HEARX with a par value of U.S.$1.00 and having
voting rights at meetings of holders of shares of HEARx Common Stock equal to the number of Exchangeable Shares outstanding from time to
time, (other than Exchangeable Shares held by HEARX or its Affiliates) to be issued to, and voted by the Trustee pursuant to the Voting and
Exchange Trust Agreement.

Helixneans Helix Hearing Care of America Corp., a corporation existing under the laws of Canada.
Helix Convertible Securitiehas the meaning ascribed thereto in the Merger Agreement.

Helix Meetingneans the special meeting of the holders of Helix Shares (including any adjournment thereof) convened as provided by the
Interim Order to consider, and if deemed advisable, approve the Arrangement.

Helix Optiomneans an option to purchase Helix Shares granted under the Helix Stock Option Plans, and being outstanding and
unexercised on the Effective Date.

Helix Sharesneans the outstanding common shares in the capital of Helix.
Helix Stock Option Plansneans the Helix Employee Stock Option Plan and the Restated Helix Employee Stock Option Plan, as amended.

Interim Orderneans the interim order of the Court made in connection with the process for obtaining shareholder approval of the
Arrangement and related matters, as the same may be amended by the Court from time to time.

IT Ameans the Income Tax Act (Canada) and the Regulations thereto, as the same may be amended from time to time.

Letter of Transmittal and Election Formmeans the letter of transmittal and election form for use by holders of Helix Shares, in the form
accompanying the Circular.

Liquidation Amounhas the meaning ascribed thereto in the Exchangeable Share Provisions.
Liquidation Call Purchase Pricdas the meaning ascribed thereto in section 5.1(a).
Liquidation Call Righhas the meaning ascribed thereto in section 5.1(a).

Liquidation Datdas the meaning ascribed thereto in the Exchangeable Share Provisions.

Merger Agreementneans the Amended and Restated Merger Agreement made as of November 6, 2001, among HEARX and Helix, as
may be further amended, supplemented and/or restated in accordance therewith prior to the Effective Date, providing for, among other things,
the Arrangement.

Original Execution Dateneans July 27, 2001.

Plan of Arrangementneans this Plan of Arrangement including the attachments and exhibits hereto and any agreement or instrument
supplementary or ancillary hereto and any amendments or variations hereto made in accordance with section 6.1 hereof or at the direction of the
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Persomnncludes any individual, firm, partnership, joint venture, venture capital fund, association, trust, trustee, executor, administrator,
legal personal representative, estate, group, body corporate, corporation, unincorporated association or organization, government body, syndicate
or other entity, whether or not having legal status.
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Redemption Call Purchase Pricdas the meaning set out in section 5.2(a).
Redemption Call Righhas the meaning set out in section 5.2(a).
Redemption Dathas the meaning set out in the Exchangeable Share Provisions.
Retraction Call Righhas the meaning set out in Exchangeable Share Provisions.

Support Agreementneans the Support Agreement made among HCI, HEARx Acquisition and HEARx substantially in the form of
Schedule M to the Merger Agreement.

Transfer Agenhas the meaning set out in section 5.1(b).

Trusteeneans Computershare Trust Company of Canada, a corporation organized and existing under the laws of Canada and any
successor trustee appointed under the Voting and Exchange Trust Agreement.

Voting and Exchange Trust Agreementneans the Voting and Exchange Trust Agreement made among HCI, HEARx Acquisition,
HEARXx and the Trustee, substantially in the form and content of Schedule L to the Merger Agreement.

1.2 Sections and Headings

The division of this Plan of Arrangement into sections and the insertion of headings are for reference purposes only and shall not affect the
interpretation of this Plan of Arrangement. Unless otherwise indicated, any reference in this Plan of Arrangement to a section or an exhibit refers
to the specified section of or exhibit to this Plan of Arrangement.

1.3 Currency

Except as expressly set forth otherwise, all sums of money referred to herein are expressed in lawful money of the United States of
America.

1.4 Number, Gender and Persons

In this Plan of Arrangement, unless the context otherwise requires, words importing the singular number include the plural and vice versa
and words importing any gender include all genders.

2. ARRANGEMENT

2.1 Binding Effect

This Plan of Arrangement will become effective at the Effective Time and will thereafter be binding on (i) Helix, (ii) HEARX, (iii) HEARx
Acquisition, (iv) HCI, (v) all holders of Helix Shares, (vi) all holders of Exchangeable Shares, and (vii) all holders of rights to purchase or of
securities exchangeable for or convertible into Helix Shares, including all holders of Helix Options.

2.2 Exchange of Securities

Commencing at the Effective Time on the Effective Date, the following shall occur and be deemed to occur in the following order and
without any further act or formality:

(a) Each holder of the Shares, other than Dissenting Shareholders who have exercised their right of dissent in accordance with the Interim
Order and are ultimately entitled to be paid the fair value of their Helix Shares and other than HEARXx, will transfer all of the holder s
Helix Shares to HCI in consideration for, at the election of the holders of the Helix Shares and subject to section (b) below:
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Notwithstanding the election made by a holder of Helix Shares, HEARx may, at its discretion, require that certain holders of Helix
Shares receive the HEARx Stock Consideration or the Exchangeable Shares Consideration.

A holder of Helix Shares shall make the election in section (a) above by mailing to the Depositary, prior to the Election Deadline, a
duly completed Letter of Transmittal and Election Form in the form provided by Helix. Notwithstanding any provision contained in
this Plan of Arrangement to the contrary, holders of Helix Shares who are not resident in Canada for the purposes of the ITA shall not
be entitled to elect to receive Exchangeable Shares and any such election shall be deemed to be an election to receive the HEARx
Stock Consideration.

Upon the transfer of shares referred to in section (a) above: (A) each holder of Helix Shares shall cease to be such a holder, shall have
its name removed from the register of holders of Helix Shares and shall be entitled to become a holder of the number of fully paid
Exchangeable Shares and/or shares of HEARx Common Stock to which it is entitled as a result of the transfer of shares referred to in
section (a) and such holder s name shall be added to the register of holders of such securities accordingly; and (B) HCI shall become
the legal and beneficial owner of all of the Helix Shares so transferred.

Holders of Helix Shares who are residents of Canada for the purposes of the ITA and who have elected to receive Exchangeable
Shares under section (a)(ii) above shall be entitled to make an income tax election pursuant to Section 85 of the ITA (and, if
applicable, analogous provisions of provincial income tax legislation) with respect to the transfer of their Helix Shares to HCI referred
to in section (a) by providing three signed copies of the necessary tax election forms to HCI within 90 days following the Effective
Date, duly completed with the details of the number of shares transferred and the applicable agreed amounts for the purposes of such
tax elections. Thereafter, subject to the tax election forms complying with the provisions of the ITA (and, if applicable, analogous
provisions of provincial income tax legislation), the forms will be signed by HCI and two signed copies will be returned to such
holders of Helix Shares for filing with the Canada Customs and Revenue Agency and the applicable provincial tax authorities.

Prior to the Effective Time, HEARx shall cause HCI to authorize and issue the Exchangeable Shares pursuant to the agreements and
instruments described below, with such changes as HEARx and Helix may deem appropriate, provided that such changes do not
materially alter the economic equivalency of an Exchangeable Share and a share of HEARx Common Stock:

HEARX shall cause HCI to include the Exchangeable Share Provisions in HCI s Articles of Incorporation;

(i1) HEARKX shall cause the HEARx Special Share to be duly authorized;

(iii) HEARX shall deposit the HEARx Special Share with Helix and shall execute, and cause HCI and HEARx Acquisition, to

execute, the Voting and Exchange Trust Agreement; and

@iv) HEARKX shall, and shall cause HCI and HEARX Acquisition to, execute the Support Agreement.

Each Helix Option other than Helix Options held by a holder who has exercised its right of dissent in accordance with the Interim
Order and is ultimately entitled to be paid the fair value of its Helix Options will, at the Effective Time, and without any further action
on the part of any holder thereof, be exchanged for substantially identical options issued by HEARX to purchase that number of shares
of HEARx Common Stock determined by multiplying the number of shares of Helix Shares subject to such Helix Option at the
Effective Time by the Exchange Ratio, at an exercise price per share of HEARx Common Stock equal to the exercise price per share
of such Helix Option immediately prior to the Effective Time (as adjusted for conversion from Canadian dollars to US dollars as of
the Effective Time) divided by the Exchange Ratio. If the foregoing calculation results in an exchanged Helix Option being
exercisable for a fraction of a share of HEARx Common Stock, then the number
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(h)

of shares of HEARx Common Stock subject to such option shall be rounded down to the nearest whole number of shares and the total
exercise price for the option will be reduced by the exercise price for the fractional share. Such options, whether or not then
exercisable or vested, will continue to have, and be subject to, the same vesting schedule and will otherwise be on substantially the
same terms and conditions as the original Helix Options to which they relate; provided, however, that any Helix Option which is an
employee stock option shall be exchanged for a HEARx Option with a term of ten years from the original issuance date of the Helix
Option.

As of the Effective Time, in accordance with the respective terms thereof, all outstanding Helix Convertible Securities (other than
Helix Options and Helix Convertible Securities held by HEARX) shall be exercisable into Exchangeable Shares or, in the case of
holders of Helix Convertible Securities who are not resident in Canada for purposes of the ITA, HEARx Common Stock based on the
Exchange Ratio.

The Exchange Ratio shall be adjusted to reflect fully the effect of any share split, reverse split, share dividend (including any dividend
or distribution of securities convertible into HEARx Common Stock), reorganization, recapitalization, or other like change with
respect to the HEARx Common Stock occurring after the Original Execution Date and prior to the Effective Time.

2.3 Letter of Transmittal and Election Form

(a)

(b)

©)

Election. In accordance with the terms hereof, each holder of Helix Shares will be entitled to elect to receive either Exchangeable
Shares or HEARx Common Stock in exchange for its Helix Shares (an Election ). Each Letter of Transmittal and Election Form shall
provide for the ratification, by each person who elects to receive Exchangeable Shares, of the grant and transfer to HEARx Acquisition
of the Call Rights. Holders of Helix Shares who hold such shares as nominees, trustees or in other representative capacities may

submit separate Letters of Transmittal and Election Forms in respect of Helix Shares held by separate beneficial owners.

Timely Elections. Etc. Elections shall be made by holders of Helix Shares by mailing to the Depositary a Letter of Transmittal and
Election Form. To be effective, a Letter of Transmittal and Election Form must be properly completed, signed and submitted to the
Depositary prior to the date that is two (2) days prior to the date of the Helix Meeting. Helix will have the discretion, which it may
delegate in whole or in part to the Depositary, to determine whether Letters of Transmittal and Election Forms have been properly
completed, signed and submitted or revoked and to disregard immaterial defects in Letters of Transmittal and Election Forms. The
decision of Helix (or the Depositary) in such matters shall be conclusive and binding. Neither Helix nor the Depositary will be under
any obligation to notify any person of any defect in a Letter of Transmittal and Election Form submitted to the Depositary.

Deemed Non-Election. For the purposes hereof, a holder of Helix Shares who does not submit a Letter of Transmittal and Election
Form within such time limits as may be established by Helix, the Depositary or the Court or who has otherwise failed to make a proper
Election shall be deemed not to have made an Election, and shall receive Exchangeable Shares, unless such holder is not a resident of
Canada for the purposes of the Income Tax Act (Canada), in which case such holder shall receive HEARx Common Stock. If Helix or

the Depositary shall determine that any purported Election was not properly made. such purported Election shall be deemed to be of
no force and effect.

3.  RIGHTS OF DISSENT

3.1 Rights of Dissent

Holders of Helix Shares may exercise rights of dissent ( Dissent Rights ) with respect to such shares pursuant to and in the manner set forth
in section 190 of the CBCA and this section 3.1 (the Dissent Procedures ) in connection with the Arrangement, provided that, notwithstanding
subsection 190(5) of the CBCA, the written objection to the Arrangement Resolution referred to in subsection 190(5) of the CBCA
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must be received by Helix not later than 5:00 p.m. (Montreal time) on the Business Day preceding the Helix Meeting. Holders of Helix Shares
who duly exercise such rights of dissent and who:

(a) are ultimately entitled to be paid fair value for their Helix Shares shall be deemed to have transferred such Helix Shares to Helix
immediately prior to the Effective Time, without any further act or formality and free and clear of all liens, claims and encumbrances
and such shares shall be cancelled as of the Effective Time; or

(b) are ultimately not entitled, for any reason, to be paid fair value for their Helix Shares shall be deemed to have participated in the
Arrangement on the same basis as a non-dissenting holder of Helix Shares which are not HEARx Elected Shares and shall receive
Exchangeable Shares of HCI on the basis determined in accordance with section 2.2,

but in no case shall HEARx, HEARx Acquisition, Helix or any other Person be required to recognize such holders as holders of Helix Shares
after the Effective Time, and the names of such holders of Helix Shares shall be deleted from the registers of holders of Helix Shares at the
Effective Time. Each of Helix and the HEARx Parties shall cause any payments to be made to the Dissenting Shareholders to be made by Helix
using Helix s assets. The HEARx Parties will not directly or indirectly provide any funds for the purposes of making payments to Dissenting
Shareholders.

4. CERTIFICATES AND FRACTIONAL SHARES

4.1 Issuance of Certificates Representing Exchangeable Shares

At or promptly after the Effective Time, HCI shall deposit with the Depositary, for the benefit of the holders of Helix Shares who will
receive Exchangeable Shares in connection with the Arrangement, certificates representing the Exchangeable Shares issued pursuant to
section 2.2 upon the transfer and exchange of Helix Shares. Upon surrender to the Depositary for cancellation of a certificate which immediately
prior to the Effective Time represented one or more Helix Shares that were exchanged for one or more Exchangeable Shares under the
Arrangement, together with such other documents and instruments as would have been required to effect the transfer of the shares formerly
represented by such certificate under the CBCA and the by-laws of Helix and such additional documents and instruments as the Depositary may
reasonably require, the holder of such surrendered certificate shall be entitled to receive in exchange therefor, and the Depositary shall deliver to
such holder, a certificate representing that number (rounded down to the nearest whole number) of Exchangeable Shares which such holder has
the right to receive (together with any dividends or distributions with respect thereto pursuant to section 4.3) and the certificate so surrendered
shall forthwith be cancelled. In the event of a transfer of ownership of Helix Shares that is not registered in the transfer records of Helix, a
certificate representing the proper number of Exchangeable Shares may be issued to the transferee if the certificate representing such Helix
Shares is presented to the Depositary, accompanied by all documents required to evidence and effect such transfer. Until surrendered as
contemplated by this section 4.1, each certificate which immediately prior to the Effective Time represented Helix Shares that were exchanged
for Exchangeable Shares shall be deemed at all times after the Effective Time to represent only the right to receive upon such surrender (i) the
certificate representing Exchangeable Shares as contemplated by this section 4.1, and (ii) any dividends or distributions with a record date after
the Effective Time theretofore paid or payable with respect to Exchangeable Shares as contemplated by section 4.3.

4.2 Issuance of Certificates representing HEARx Common Stock

At or promptly after the Effective Time, HEARx Acquisition shall deposit with the Depositary, for the benefit of the holders of Helix Shares
who have elected in a duly completed Letter of Transmittal and Election Form deposited with the Depositary no later than the Election Deadline
to receive HEARx Common Stock in connection with the Arrangement, certificates representing the HEARx Common Stock issued pursuant to
section 2.2 upon the transfer and exchange of Helix Shares. Upon surrender to the Depositary for cancellation of a certificate which immediately
prior to the Effective Time represented outstanding Helix Shares that were exchanged for HEARx Common Stock, together with such other
documents and instruments as would have been required to effect the transfer of the shares formerly represented by such certificate under the
CBCA and

K-7

Table of Contents 171



Edgar Filing: PROASSURANCE CORP - Form 4

Table of Contents

the by-laws of Helix and such additional documents and instruments as the Depositary may reasonably require, the holder of such surrendered
certificate shall be entitled to receive in exchange therefor, and the Depositary shall deliver to such holder, a certificate representing that number
(rounded down to the nearest whole number) of HEARx Common Stock which such holder has the right to receive (together with any dividends
or distributions with respect thereto pursuant to section 4.3), and the certificate so surrendered shall forthwith be cancelled. In the event of a
transfer of ownership of Helix Shares which is not registered in the transfer records of Helix, a certificate representing the proper number of
HEARx Common Stock may be issued to the transferee if the certificate representing such Helix Shares is presented to the Depositary,
accompanied by all documents required to evidence and effect such transfer. Until surrendered as contemplated by this section 4.2, each
certificate which immediately prior to the Effective Time represented one or more outstanding Helix Shares that were transferred and exchanged
for HEARx Common Stock shall be deemed at all times after the Effective Time to represent only the right to receive upon such surrender (i) the
certificate representing HEARx Common Stock as contemplated by this section 4.2, and (ii) any dividends or distributions with a record date
after the Effective Time theretofore paid or payable with respect to HEARx Common Stock as contemplated by section 4.3.

4.3 Distributions with Respect to Unsurrendered Certificates

No dividends or other distributions declared or made after the Effective Time with respect to Exchangeable Shares or HEARx Common
Stock with a record date after the Effective Time shall be paid to the holder of any unsurrendered certificate which immediately prior to the
Effective Time represented outstanding Helix Shares that were transferred and exchanged pursuant to section 2.2 unless and until the holder of
record of such certificate shall surrender such certificate in accordance with section 4.1 or 4.2. Subject to applicable law, at the time of such
surrender of any such certificate, there shall be paid to the record holder of the certificates representing Helix Shares, without interest, (i) the
amount of dividends or other distributions with a record date after the Effective Time theretofore paid with respect to whole Exchangeable
Shares or HEARx Common Stock, as the case may be, to which such holder is entitled and (ii) on the appropriate payment date, the amount of
dividends or other distributions with a record date after the Effective Time but prior to surrender and a payment date subsequent to surrender
payable with respect to whole Exchangeable Shares or HEARx Common Stock, as the case may be.

4.4 Fractional Shares

No fractional Exchangeable Share and no fractional shares of HEARx Common Stock shall be issued pursuant to the Arrangement. Any
holder of Helix Shares who would otherwise be entitled to receive a fraction of an Exchangeable Share or fraction of a share of HEARx
Common Stock, as the case may be, shall, upon surrender of the certificate or certificates representing Helix Shares, receive a certificate
adjusted to the next lower whole number of Exchangeable Shares or shares of HEARx Common Stock, as the case may be.

4.5 Lost Certificates

In the event any certificate which immediately prior to the Effective Time represented one or more outstanding Helix Shares that were
transferred and exchanged pursuant to section 2.2 shall have been lost, stolen or destroyed, upon the making of an affidavit of that fact by the
Person claiming such certificate to be lost, stolen or destroyed, the Depositary will issue in exchange for such lost, stolen or destroyed certificate,
one or more certificates representing one or more Exchangeable Shares or HEARx Common Stock (and any dividends or distributions with
respect thereto pursuant to section 4.3) in accordance with the foregoing provisions of this Article 4. When authorizing such payment in
exchange for any lost, stolen or destroyed certificate, the Person to whom certificates representing Exchangeable Shares or HEARx Common
Stock are to be issued shall, as a condition precedent to the issuance thereof, give a bond satisfactory to HCI, HEARXx and their respective
transfer agents in such sum as HCI or HEARx may direct or otherwise indemnify HCI and HEARX in a manner satisfactory to HCI and HEARx
against any claim that may be made against HCI or HEARX with respect to the certificate alleged to have been lost, stolen or destroyed.
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4.6 Extinguishment of Rights

Any certificate which immediately prior to the Effective Time represented outstanding Helix Shares that were transferred and exchanged
pursuant to section 2.2 and not deposited, with all other instruments required by section 4.1 or 4.2, on or prior to the fifth anniversary of the
Effective Date shall cease to represent a claim or interest of any kind or nature as a shareholder of HCI or HEARX. On such date, the
Exchangeable Shares or HEARx Common Stock to which the former registered holder of the certificate referred to in the preceding sentence
was ultimately entitled shall be deemed to have been surrendered to HCI or HEARX, as the case may be, together with all entitlements to
dividends, distributions and interest thereon held for such former registered holder.

4.7 Withholding Rights

HEARx, HEARx Acquisition, HCI and the Depositary shall be entitled to deduct and withhold from any amounts required to be paid,
deposited or delivered under this Plan of Arrangement such amounts as HEARx, HEARx Acquisition, HCI or the Depositary are required to
deduct and withhold with respect to such amounts under the ITA, the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986 or any provision of
provincial, state, local or foreign tax law, in each case, as amended. To the extent that amounts are so withheld, such withheld amounts shall be
treated for all purposes hereof as having been paid to the holder of the shares in respect of which such deduction and withholding was made,
provided that such withheld amounts are actually remitted to the appropriate taxing authority. To the extent that the amount so required to be
deducted or withheld from any payment to a holder exceeds the cash portion of the consideration otherwise payable to the holder, HEARXx,
HEARXx Acquisition, HCI or the Depositary is hereby authorized to sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of at fair market value such portion of the
consideration as is necessary to provide sufficient funds to HEARx, HEARx Acquisition, HCI or the Depositary, as the case may be, to enable it
to comply with such deduction or withholding requirement and shall account to the relevant Holder for any balance of any such sale proceeds.
HCI represents and warrants that, based upon facts currently known to it, it has no current intention, as at the date hereof, to deduct or withhold
from any dividend paid to holders of Exchangeable Shares any amounts under the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

5. CERTAIN RIGHTS OF HEARX ACQUISITION TO ACQUIRE EXCHANGEABLE SHARES
5.1 HEARKx Acquisition Liquidation Call Right

(a) HEARX Acquisition shall have the overriding right (the Liquidation Call Right ), in the event of and notwithstanding the proposed
liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of HCI or any other distribution of the assets of HCI among its shareholders for the purpose of
winding up its affairs pursuant to Article 5 of the Exchangeable Share Provisions, to purchase from all but not less than all of the
holders of Exchangeable Shares (other than HEARX or any holder of Exchangeable Shares which is a subsidiary of HEARX) on the
effective date of such liquidation, dissolution, winding-up or other distribution (the Liquidation Date ) all but not less than all of the
Exchangeable Shares held by each such holder on payment by HEARx Acquisition of an amount per Exchangeable Share (the

Liquidation Call Purchase Price ) equal to the Current Market Price of a share of HEARx Common Stock on the last Business Day
prior to the Liquidation Date which shall be satisfied in full by HEARx Acquisition causing to be delivered to such holder one share of
HEARx Common Stock, plus, to the extent not paid by HCI, an additional amount equivalent to the full amount of all declared and
unpaid dividends on each such Exchangeable Share held by such holder on any dividend record date which occurred prior to the
Liquidation Date (as used in this section, the Dividend Amount ). In the event of the exercise of the Liquidation Call Right by HEARx
Acquisition, each holder shall be obligated to sell all the Exchangeable Shares held by the Holder to HEARx Acquisition on the
Liquidation Date on payment by HEARx Acquisition to the holder of the Liquidation Call Purchase Price for each such share, and
HCI shall have no obligation to pay any Liquidation Amount to the holders of such Exchangeable Shares so purchased by HEARx
Acquisition.
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(b) To exercise the Liquidation Call Right, HEARx Acquisition must notify HCI s transfer agent (the Transfer Agent ), as agent for the
holders of Exchangeable Shares, and HCI of HEARx Acquisition s intention to exercise such right at least 45 days before the
Liquidation Date in the case of a voluntary liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of HCI or any other voluntary distribution of the
assets of HCI among its shareholders for the purpose of winding up its affairs and at least five Business Days before the Liquidation
Date in the case of an involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of HCI or any other involuntary distribution of the assets of
HCI among its shareholders for purposes of winding up its affairs. The Transfer Agent will notify the holders of Exchangeable Shares
as to whether or not HEARx Acquisition has exercised the Liquidation Call Right forthwith after the earlier of (i) receipt of notice by
the Transfer Agent from HEARx Acquisition of its intention to exercise such right and (ii) the expiry of the period during which the
same may be exercised by HEARx Acquisition. If HEARx Acquisition exercises the Liquidation Call Right, then on the Liquidation
Date, HEARx Acquisition will purchase and the holders will sell all of the Exchangeable Shares then outstanding for a price per share
equal to the Liquidation Call Purchase Price.

(c) For the purposes of completing the purchase of the Exchangeable Shares pursuant to the Liquidation Call Right, HEARx Acquisition
shall deposit with the Transfer Agent, on or before the Liquidation Date, certificates representing the aggregate number of HEARx
Common Stock deliverable by HEARx Acquisition and a cheque or cheques of HEARx Acquisition payable at par at any branch of
the bankers of HEARx Acquisition representing the aggregate Dividend Amount, if any, in payment of the total Liquidation Call
Purchase Price, less any amounts withheld pursuant to section 4.7 hereof. Provided that HEARx Acquisition has complied with the
immediately preceding sentence, on and after the Liquidation Date the rights of each holder of Exchangeable Shares will be limited to
receiving, without interest, such holder s proportionate part of the total Liquidation Call Purchase Price payable by HEARx Acquisition
upon presentation and surrender by the holder of certificates representing the Exchangeable Shares held by such holder and the holder
shall on and after the Liquidation Date be considered and deemed for all purposes to be the holder of the HEARx Common Stock to
which it is entitled. Upon surrender to the Transfer Agent of a certificate or certificates representing Exchangeable Shares, together
with such other documents and instruments as may be required to effect a transfer of Exchangeable Shares under the laws applicable
to HCI and the by-laws of HCI and such additional documents and instruments as the Transfer Agent may reasonably require, the
holder of such surrendered certificate or certificates shall be entitled to receive in exchange therefor, and the Transfer Agent on behalf
of HEARx Acquisition shall deliver to such holder, certificates representing the HEARx Common Stock to which the holder is entitled
and a cheque or cheques of HEARx Acquisition payable at par at any branch of the bankers of HEARx Acquisition in payment of any
Dividend Amount less any amounts withheld pursuant to section 4.7 hereof. If HEARx Acquisition does not exercise the Liquidation
Call Right in the manner described above, on the Liquidation Date the holders of the Exchangeable Shares will be entitled to receive
in exchange therefor the Liquidation Amount otherwise payable by HCI in connection with the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up
of HCI pursuant to Article 5 of the Exchangeable Share Provisions.

5.2 HEARx Acquisition Redemption Call Right

(a) HEARX Acquisition shall have the overriding right (the Redemption Call Right ), notwithstanding the proposed redemption of the
Exchangeable Shares by HCI pursuant to Article 7 of the Exchangeable Share Provisions, to purchase from all but not less than all of
the holders of Exchangeable Shares (other than HEARX or any holder of Exchangeable Shares which is an affiliate of HEARX) on the
Redemption Date all but not less than all of the Exchangeable Shares held by each such holder on payment by HEARx Acquisition to
each holder of an amount per Exchangeable Share (the Redemption Call Purchase Price ) equal to the Current Market Price of a
share of HEARx Common Stock on the last Business Day prior to the Redemption Date, which shall be satisfied in full by HEARx
Acquisition causing to be delivered to such holder one share of
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HEARx Common Stock, plus to the extent not paid by HCI, an additional amount equivalent to the full amount of all declared and
unpaid dividends on each such Exchangeable Share held by such holder on any dividend record date which occurred prior to the
Redemption Date (as used in this section, the Dividend Amount ). In the event of the exercise of the Redemption Call Right by HEARx
Acquisition, each holder shall be obligated to sell all the Exchangeable Shares held by the holder to HEARX Acquisition on the
Redemption Date on payment by HEARx Acquisition to the holder of the Redemption Call Purchase Price for each such

Exchangeable Share, and HCI shall have no obligation to redeem such Exchangeable Shares so purchased by HEARx Acquisition.

(b) To exercise the Redemption Call Right, HEARx Acquisition must notify the Transfer Agent, as agent for the holders of Exchangeable
Shares, and HCI of HEARx Acquisition s intention to exercise such right at least 60 days before the Redemption Date. The Transfer
Agent will notify the holders of the Exchangeable Shares as to whether or not HEARx Acquisition has exercised the Redemption Call
Right forthwith after the earlier of (i) receipt of notice by the Transfer Agent from HEARx Acquisition of its intention to exercise such
right and (ii) the expiry of the period during which the same may be exercised by HEARx Acquisition. If HEARx Acquisition
exercises the Redemption Call Right, on the Redemption Date HEARx Acquisition will purchase and the holders will sell all of the
Exchangeable Shares then outstanding for a price per share equal to the Redemption Call Purchase Price.

(c) For the purposes of completing the purchase of the Exchangeable Shares pursuant to the Redemption Call Right, HEARx Acquisition
shall deposit with the Transfer Agent, on or before the Redemption Date, certificates representing the aggregate number of HEARx
Common Stock deliverable by HEARx Acquisition upon exercise of such right and a cheque or cheques of HEARx Acquisition
payable at par at any branch of the bankers of HEARXx Acquisition representing the aggregate Dividend Amount, if any, in payment of
the total Redemption Call Purchase Price, less any amounts withheld pursuant to section 4.7 hereof. Provided that HEARX Acquisition
has complied with the immediately preceding sentence, on and after the Redemption Date the rights of each holder of Exchangeable
Shares will be limited to receiving such holder s proportionate part of the total Redemption Call Purchase Price payable by HEARx
Acquisition upon presentation and surrender by the holder of certificates representing the Exchangeable Shares held by such holder
and the holder shall on and after the Redemption Date be considered and deemed for all purposes to be the holder of the HEARx
Common Stock to which it is entitled. Upon surrender to the Transfer Agent of a certificate or certificates representing Exchangeable
Shares, together with such other documents and instruments as may be required to effect a transfer of Exchangeable Shares under the
laws applicable to HCI and the by-laws of HCI and such additional documents and instruments as the Transfer Agent may reasonably
require, the holder of such surrendered certificate or certificates shall be entitled to receive in exchange therefor, and the Transfer
Agent on behalf of HEARx Acquisition shall deliver to such holder, certificates representing the HEARx Common Stock to which the
holder is entitled and a cheque or cheques of HEARX Acquisition payable at par at any branch of the bankers of HEARX Acquisition
in payment of any Dividend Amount, less any amounts withheld pursuant to section 4.7 hereof. If HEARx Acquisition does not
exercise the Redemption Call Right in the manner described above, on the Redemption Date the holders of the Exchangeable Shares
will be entitled to receive in exchange therefor the redemption price otherwise payable by HCI in connection with the redemption of
the Exchangeable Shares pursuant to Article 7 of the Exchangeable Share Provisions.

6. AMENDMENTS

6.1 Amendments to Plan of Arrangement

(a) Helix reserves the right to amend, modify and/or supplement this Plan of Arrangement at any time and from time to time prior to the
Effective Date, provided that each such amendment, modification and/or supplement must be (i) set out in writing, (ii) approved by
HEARX, (iii) filed with the
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Court and, if made following the Helix Meeting, approved by the Court, and (iv) communicated to holders of Helix Shares and, Helix
Options if and as required by the Court.

(b) Any amendment, modification or supplement to this Plan of Arrangement may be proposed by Helix at any time prior to the Helix
Meeting (provided that HEARXx shall have consented thereto) with or without any other prior notice or communication (except as may
be required under the Interim Order), and if so proposed and accepted by the Persons voting at the Helix Meeting, shall become part of
this Plan of Arrangement for all purposes.

(c) Any amendment, modification or supplement to this Plan of Arrangement that is approved by the Court following the Helix Meeting
shall be effective only if (i) it is consented to by each of Helix and HEARX, and (ii) if required by the Court, it is consented to by
holders of the Helix Shares, voting together as a single class in the manner directed by the Court.

Any amendment, modification or supplement to this Plan of Arrangement may be made following the Effective Date unilaterally by HEARX,
provided that it concerns a matter which, in the reasonable opinion of HEARX, is of an administrative nature required to better give effect to the
implementation of this Plan of Arrangement and is not adverse to the financial or economic interests of any holder of Exchangeable Shares or
HEARx Common Stock.
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ANNEX A
HEARx Canada Inc. ( HCI )
SHARE PROVISIONS

PROVISIONS ATTACHING TO THE EXCHANGEABLE SHARES

The Exchangeable Shares in the capital of HCI, a corporation incorporated under the CBCA, shall have the following rights, privileges,
restrictions and conditions.

ARTICLE I

Interpretation
1.1  For the purposes of these share provisions:

Affiliatef any Person means any other Person directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by, or under common control of, that Person.
For the purposes of this definition, control (including, with correlative meanings, the terms controlled by and under common control of ), as
applied to any Person, means the possession by another Person, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the
management and policies of that first mentioned Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise.

Board of Directorsneans the board of directors of HCI.

Business Dayneans any day other than a Saturday, a Sunday or a day when banks are not open for business in either New York, New York
or Montreal, Québec.

CBCAneans the Canada Business Corporations Act, as amended from time to time.

Capital Reorganizatiorhas the meaning ascribed thereto in section 11.4 of these share provisions.

Common Sharesneans the common shares of HCI having the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions set forth herein.

Class A Special Sharesneans the Class A Special Shares of HCI having the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions set forth herein.

Current HEARx Common Stock Equivalentneans, on any date, the equivalent as at such date of one share of HEARx Common Stock
as at the Effective Date, expressed to four decimal places, (the Current HEARx Common Stock Equivalent as of the Effective Date being 1.0000
subject to adjustment in accordance with the Merger Agreement) determined by applying on a cumulative basis the following adjustments, to the
extent applicable by reason of any transactions occurring in respect of HEARx Common Stock between the Effective Date and such date:

(a) if HEARx shall (A) subdivide, redivide, convert or otherwise amend its then outstanding shares of HEARx Common Stock into a
greater number of shares of HEARx Common Stock, unless HCI is permitted under applicable law without a vote of its shareholders
to make, and shall simultaneously make, the same or an economically equivalent change to the rights of the holders of Exchangeable
Shares, (B) combine, consolidate, convert or otherwise amend its then outstanding shares of HEARx Common Stock into a lesser
number of shares of HEARx Common Stock, unless HCI is permitted under applicable law without a vote of its shareholders to make,
and shall simultaneously make, the same or an economically equivalent change to the rights of the holders of Exchangeable Shares, or
(C) issue shares of HEARx Common Stock (or securities exchangeable or convertible into HEARx Common Stock, but excluding any
securities issued in a Rights Offering, other than pursuant to the HEARx Shareholders Rights Plan, or in a Special Distribution) to the
holders of all or substantially all of its then outstanding shares of HEARx Common Stock by way of stock dividend or other
distribution (other than to holders of HEARx Common Stock who exercise an
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(b)

@

option to receive stock dividends in lieu of receiving cash dividends), unless HCI is permitted under applicable law without a vote of
its shareholders to issue or distribute, and shall simultaneously issue and distribute, equivalent numbers of shares of HEARx Common
Stock or other securities (adjusted if necessary in accordance with the Current HEARx Common Stock Equivalent), or the economic
equivalent on a per share basis, to the holders of the Exchangeable Shares (any of such events being herein called the HEARx
Common Stock Reorganization ), the Current HEARx Common Stock Equivalent shall be adjusted effective immediately after the
record date at which the holders of HEARx Common Stock are determined for the purpose of the HEARx Common Stock
Reorganization by multiplying the Current HEARx Common Stock Equivalent in effect on such record date by the quotient obtained
when:

the number of shares of HEARx Common Stock outstanding after the completion of such HEARx Common Stock
Reorganization (but before giving effect to the issue or cancellation of any shares of HEARx Common Stock issued or cancelled
after such record date otherwise than as part of such HEARx Common Stock Reorganization) including, in the case where
securities exchangeable or convertible into HEARx Common Stock are distributed, the number of shares of HEARx Common
Stock that would have been outstanding had such securities been exchanged for or converted into HEARx Common Stock on
such record date,

is divided by

(ii) the number of shares of HEARx Common Stock outstanding on such record date before giving effect to the HEARx Common

Stock Reorganization;

if at any time HEARX shall fix a record date for the issuance of rights, options or warrants to the holders of all or substantially all of
the shares of HEARx Common Stock entitling them to subscribe for or to purchase shares of HEARx Common Stock (or securities of
HEARX convertible into shares of HEARx Common Stock) at a price per share of HEARx Common Stock (or having a conversion
price per HEARx Common Stock) less than the Current Market Price on such record date, unless HCI is permitted under applicable
law without a vote of its shareholders to issue, and shall simultaneously issue, equivalent numbers of such rights, options or warrants,
adjusted if necessary in accordance with the Current HEARx Common Stock Equivalent at such record date, or the economic
equivalent thereof on a per share basis, to the holders of Exchangeable Shares (any such event being herein referred to as a Rights
Offering ), then the Current HEARx Common Stock Equivalent then in effect shall be adjusted immediately after such record date by
multiplying the Current HEARx Common Stock Equivalent in effect on such record date by the quotient obtained when:

@) the sum of the number of shares of HEARx Common Stock outstanding on such record date and the number of additional shares
of HEARx Common Stock offered for subscription or purchase under the Rights Offering (or the number of shares of HEARx
Common Stock into which the securities so offered are convertible)
is divided by

(ii) the sum of the number of shares of HEARx Common Stock outstanding on such record date and the number determined by

dividing the aggregate price of the total number of additional shares of HEARx Common Stock offered for subscription or
purchase under the Rights Offering (or the aggregate conversion price of the convertible securities so offered) by the Current
Market Price on such record date.

Any shares of HEARx Common Stock owned by or held for the account of HEARX shall be deemed not to be outstanding for the purpose
of any such computation. If such rights, options or warrants are not so issued or if, at the date of expiry of the rights, options or warrants subject
to the Rights Offering, less than all the rights, options or warrants have been exercised, then the Current HEARx Common Stock Equivalent
shall be readjusted effective immediately after the date of expiry (or determination by the Board of Directors of HEARX that the issue will not
take place) to the Current HEARx Common Stock Equivalent that would
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have been in effect if such record date had not been fixed or to the Current HEARx Common Stock Equivalent that would then be in effect on
the date of expiry if the only rights, options or warrants issued had been those that were exercised, as the case may be;

(c) if HEARX shall fix a record date for the making of a distribution (including a distribution by way of stock dividend) to the holders of
all or substantially all its outstanding shares of HEARx Common Stock of

@) shares of HEARX of any class other than HEARx Common Stock (excluding shares convertible into HEARx Common Stock
referred to in (a)(C) above),

(ii) rights, options or warrants (excluding a Rights Offering),
(iii) evidences of its indebtedness (excluding indebtedness convertible into HEARx Common Stock referred to in (a)(C) above) or

@iv) any other assets (other than any of the distributions referred to in (i), (ii) or (iii), dividends paid in the ordinary course, a Rights
Offering or a HEARx Common Stock Reorganization)

unless HCI is permitted under applicable law without a vote of its shareholders to distribute, and shall simultaneously distribute, the same
number of shares, rights, options or warrants, evidences of indebtedness or other assets, as the case may be, adjusted if necessary in accordance
with the Current HEARx Common Stock Equivalent, as at such record date, or the economic equivalent thereof on a per share basis, to the
holders of Exchangeable Shares (any such event being herein referred to as a Special Distribution ) then, in each such case, the Current HEARx
Common Stock Equivalent shall be adjusted effective immediately after the record date at which the holders of HEARx Common Stock are
determined for the purposes of the Special Distribution by multiplying the Current HEARx Common Stock Equivalent in effect on such record
date by the quotient obtained when:

(A) the product obtained when the number of shares of HEARx Common Stock outstanding on the record date is multiplied by the Current
Market Price on such date,
is divided by

(B) the difference obtained when the amount by which the aggregate fair market value (as determined by the Board of Directors, which
determination shall be conclusive) of the shares, rights, options, warrants, evidences of indebtedness or assets, as the case may be,
distributed in the Special Distribution exceeds the fair market value (as determined by the Board of Directors, which determination
shall be conclusive) of the consideration, if any, received therefore by HEARX, is subtracted from the product obtained when the
number of shares of HEARx Common Stock outstanding on the record date is multiplied by the Current Market Price on such date,

provided that no such adjustment shall be made if the result of such adjustment would be to decrease the Current HEARx Common Stock
Equivalent in effect immediately before such record date. Any share of HEARx Common Stock owned by or held for the account of HEARx
shall be deemed not to be outstanding for the purpose of any such computation. Such adjustment shall be made successively whenever such a
record date is fixed. To the extent that such distribution is not so made, the Current HEARx Common Stock Equivalent shall be readjusted
effective immediately to the Current HEARx Common Stock Equivalent which would then be in effect based upon such shares or rights, options
or warrants or evidences of indebtedness or assets actually distributed.

Notwithstanding any of the foregoing definition of Current HEARx Common Stock Equivalent , in no event may any one distribution,
issuance of securities or other event be deemed to be more than one of a HEARx Common Stock Reorganization, Rights Offering or Special
Distribution.

Current Market Priceneans, in respect of a share of HEARx Common Stock on any date, the closing sale price of a share of HEARx
Common Stock on such date (or, if no trades of any HEARx Common Stock occurred on such date, on the last trading day prior thereto on
which such trades occurred) reported on The American Stock Exchange or, if shares of HEARx Common Stock are not then quoted on The
American
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Stock Exchange, on such other stock exchange or automated quotation system on which shares of HEARx Common Stock are listed or quoted,
as the case may be, as may be selected by the Board of Directors for such purpose; provided, however, that if in the opinion of the Board of
Directors the public distribution or trading activity of HEARx Common Stock during such period does not create a market that reflects the fair
market value of HEARx Common Stock, then the Current Market Price of a share of HEARx Common Stock shall be determined by the Board
of Directors based upon the advice of such qualified independent financial advisors as the Board of Directors may deem to be appropriate, and
provided further that any such selection, opinion or determination by the Board of Directors shall be conclusive and binding.

Effective Datdas the meaning ascribed thereto in the Plan of Arrangement.

Exchangeable Sharesneans the non-voting Exchangeable Shares of HCI having the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions set forth
herein.

HEARxmeans HEARX Ltd., a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware, and any successor corporation.

HEARx Common Stockneans the common stock of HEARX, with a par value of U.S.$0.10 per share and having one vote per share, and
any other securities into which such shares may be changed.

HEARx Common Stock Reorganizatiothas the meaning ascribed thereto in the definition of Current HEARx Common Stock Equivalent
in section 1.1 of these share provisions.

HEARX Dividend Declaration Dateneans the date on which the board of directors of HEARx declares any dividend on the HEARx
Common Stock.

HEARX Special Shareneans the one share of the Special Voting Preferred Stock of HEARx with a par value of U.S.$1.00 and having
voting rights at meetings of holders of shares of HEARx Common Stock equal to the number of Exchangeable Shares outstanding from time to
time (other than Exchangeable Shares held by HEARX or its Affiliates) to be issued to, and voted by, the Trustee pursuant to the Voting and
Exchange Trust Agreement.

HEARX Shareholders Rights Plammeans the Amended and Restated Rights Agreement dated as of December 14, 1999, as amended and
restated as of 1, 2002, as further amended from time to time, between HEARx and The Bank of New York.

Helixneans Helix Hearing Care of America Corp., a corporation existing under the laws of Canada.

Liemmeans a mortgage, lien, pledge, change or encumbrance of any kind or character.

Liquidation Amounhas the meaning ascribed thereto in section 5.1 of these share provisions.

Liquidation Call Righhas the meaning ascribed thereto in the Plan of Arrangement.

Liquidation Datdas the meaning ascribed thereto in section 5.1 of these share provisions.

NSULGneans HEARx Acquisition ULC, a corporation existing under the laws of the Province of Nova Scotia.
NSULC Call Notichas the meaning ascribed thereto in section 6.3 of these share provisions.

Persomnncludes any individual, firm, partnership, joint venture, venture capital fund, association, trust, trustee, executor, administrator,
legal personal representative, estate, group, body corporate, corporation, unincorporated association or organization, government body, syndicate
or other entity, whether or not having legal status.

Plan of Arrangementneans the plan of arrangement relating to the arrangement of Helix under section 192 of the CBCA, to which plan
these share provisions are attached.
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Redemption Dateneans the date determined by the Board of Directors for the redemption of Exchangeable Shares pursuant to Article VII
of these share provisions at any time after the earlier of: (i) the fifth (5th) anniversary of the Effective Date; and (ii) the date on which the
Income Tax Act (Canada) is amended to permit holders of Exchangeable Shares who are Canadian residents and who hold their Exchangeable
Shares as capital property for the purpose of the Income Tax Act (Canada) to dispose of Exchangeable Shares to NSULC pursuant to the
Redemption Call Right in exchange for HEARx Common Stock on a tax-deferred basis.

Redemption Prichas the meaning ascribed thereto in section 7.1 of these share provisions.

Retraction Call Rightneans the right of a holder of Retracted Shares to require HCI to redeem the Retracted Shares for the Retraction
Price.

Retraction Datdas the meaning ascribed thereto in section 6.1 of these share provisions.

Retraction Periodneans the period (including the beginning and ending dates) from the Effective Date to the Redemption Date.
Retraction Pricdas the meaning ascribed thereto in section 6.1 of these share provisions.

Retraction Requeshas the meaning ascribed thereto in section 6.1 of these share provisions.

Retracted Sharesas the meaning ascribed thereto in section 6.1 of these share provisions.

Rights Offeringas the meaning ascribed thereto in the definition of Current HEARx Common Stock Equivalent in section 1.1 of these
share provisions.

Special Distributiorhas the meaning ascribed thereto in the definition of Current HEARx Common Stock Equivalent in section 1.1 of
these share provisions.

Support Agreementneans the Support Agreement between HEARx, NSULC and HCI, made as of 1.

Transfer Agentneans Computershare Trust Company of Canada or such other person as may from time to time be the registrar and
transfer agent for the Exchangeable Shares.

Trusteeneans Computershare Trust Company of Canada, a corporation organized and existing under the laws of Canada and any
successor trustee appointed under the Voting and Exchange Trust Agreement.

Voting and Exchange Trust Agreementneans the Voting and Exchange Trust Agreement between HCI, NSULC, HEARX and the
Trustee, made as of 1.

1.2 All amounts required to be paid, deposited or delivered hereunder shall be paid, deposited or delivered after deduction of any amount
required by applicable law to be deducted or withheld on account of tax and the deduction of such amounts and remittance to the applicable tax
authorities shall, to the extent thereof, satisfy such requirement to pay, deposit or deliver hereunder.

ARTICLE II

Ranking of Exchangeable Shares

2.1 The Exchangeable Shares shall rank senior to the Class A Special Shares, Common Shares and any other shares ranking junior to the
Exchangeable Shares, with respect to the payment of dividends and the distribution of assets in the event of the liquidation, dissolution or
winding-up of HCI, whether voluntary or involuntary, or any other distribution of the assets of HCI among its shareholders for the purpose of
winding-up its affairs.
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ARTICLE III

Dividends

3.1 A holder of an Exchangeable Share shall be entitled to receive and the Board of Directors shall, subject to applicable law, declare a
dividend on each Exchangeable Share (a) in the case of a cash dividend declared on the HEARx Common Stock, in an amount in cash for each
Exchangeable Share equal to the cash dividend declared on the HEARx Common Stock multiplied by the Current HEARx Common Stock
Equivalent on the HEARx Dividend Declaration Date (as determined by the Board of Directors in accordance with section 11.1) or (b) in the
case of a stock dividend declared on the HEARx Common Stock to be paid in shares of HEARx Common Stock, in such whole number of
Exchangeable Shares for each of the Exchangeable Shares held by each holder as is equal to the number of whole shares of HEARx Common
Stock to be paid as a dividend on the equivalent number of shares of HEARx Common Stock multiplied by the Current HEARx Common Stock
Equivalent on the HEARx Dividend Declaration Date or (c) in the case of a dividend declared on the shares of HEARx Common Stock to be
paid in property other than cash or HEARx Common Stock (including without limitation other securities of HEARXx (unless HCI has given
notice that it will redeem the Exchangeable Shares on the Redemption Date pursuant to ARTICLE VII hereof or NSULC has exercised the
overriding Redemption Call Right), in such type and amount of property for each Exchangeable Share as is the same as or economically
equivalent (as determined by the Board of Directors in accordance with section 11.1) to the amount to be paid as a dividend on such number of
shares of HEARx Common Stock as is equal to the Current HEARx Common Stock Equivalent on the HEARx Dividend Declaration Date. Such
dividends shall be paid out of money, assets or property of HCI properly applicable to the payment of dividends, or out of authorized but
unissued Exchangeable Shares. To the extent that HCI complies with this section 3.1, any HEARX dividend contemplated by this section 3.1
shall in no event be deemed to be a HEARx Common Stock Reorganization, Rights Offering or Special Distribution.

3.2 Cheques of HCI payable at par at any branch of the bankers of HCI shall be issued in respect of any cash dividends contemplated by
subsection 3.1(a) hereof or in respect of any cash amount payable in lieu of a fractional Exchangeable Share in connection with any stock
dividends contemplated by subsection 3.1(b) hereof and the sending of such a cheque to each holder of an Exchangeable Share shall satisfy the
cash dividend represented thereby unless the cheque is not paid on presentation. Certificates registered in the name of the registered holder of
Exchangeable Shares shall be issued or transferred in respect of any stock dividends contemplated by subsection 3.1(b) hereof and the sending of
such a certificate to each holder of an Exchangeable Share shall satisfy the stock dividend represented thereby. Such other type and amount of
property in respect of any dividends contemplated by subsection 3.1(c) hereof shall be issued, distributed or transferred by HCI in such manner
as it shall determine and the issuance, distribution or transfer thereof by HCI to each holder of an Exchangeable Share shall satisfy the dividend
represented thereby. No holder of an Exchangeable Share shall be entitled to recover by action or other legal process against HCI any dividend
that is represented by a cheque that has not been duly presented to HCI s bankers for payment or that otherwise remains unclaimed for a period of
six years from the date on which such dividend was payable.

3.3  The record date for the determination of the holders of Exchangeable Shares entitled to receive payment of, and the payment date for,
any dividend declared on the Exchangeable Shares under section 3.1 hereof shall be the same dates as the record date and payment date,
respectively, for the corresponding dividend declared on the shares of HEARx Common Stock.

3.4 If on any payment date for any dividends declared on the Exchangeable Shares under section 3.1 hereof the dividends are not paid in
full on all of the Exchangeable Shares then outstanding, any such dividends that remain unpaid shall be paid on a subsequent date or dates
determined by the Board of Directors on which HCI shall have sufficient moneys, assets or property properly applicable to the payment of such
dividends.
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ARTICLE IV

Certain Restrictions

4.1 So long as any of the Exchangeable Shares not owned by HEARX or its Affiliates are outstanding, HCI shall not at any time without,
but may at any time with, the approval of the holders of the Exchangeable Shares given as specified in section 10.2 of these share provisions:

(a) pay any dividends on the Class A Special Shares, the Common Shares or any other shares ranking junior to the Exchangeable Shares,
other than stock dividends payable in Class A Special Shares, Common Shares or any such other shares ranking junior to the
Exchangeable Shares, as the case may be;

(b) redeem or purchase or make any capital distribution in respect of Class A Special Shares, Common Shares or any other shares ranking
junior to the Exchangeable Shares with respect to the distribution of assets in the event of a liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of
HCI whether voluntary or involuntary or any other distribution of the assets of HCI among its shareholders for the purpose of
winding-up its affairs;

(c) redeem or purchase any other shares of HCI ranking equally with the Exchangeable Shares with respect to the payment of dividends or
on any liquidation distribution; or

(d) 1issue any Exchangeable Shares or any other shares of HCI ranking equally with, or superior to the Exchangeable Shares other than:
(i) by way of stock dividends to the holders of such Exchangeable Shares; (ii) otherwise pro rata to the holders of Exchangeable
Shares; (iii) as contemplated by the Support Agreement; (iv) pursuant to a shareholders right plan adopted by HCI; or (v) pursuant to
any agreements or rights in existence at the Effective Date;
provided that the restrictions in subsections 4.1(a), 4.1(b), 4.1(c) and 4.1(d) shall not apply if all dividends on the outstanding Exchangeable
Shares corresponding to dividends declared to date on the HEARx Common Stock shall have been declared on the Exchangeable Shares and, if
paid to holders of HEARx Common Stock, paid in full.

ARTICLE V

Distribution on Liquidation

5.1 In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of HCI or any other distribution of the assets of HCI among its shareholders
for the purpose of winding up its affairs, a holder of Exchangeable Shares shall be entitled, subject to applicable law and subject to the exercise
by NSULC of the Liquidation Call Right, to receive from the assets of HCI in respect of each Exchangeable Share held by such holder on the
effective date (the Liquidation Date ) of such liquidation, dissolution or winding-up, before any distribution of any part of the assets of HCI
among the holders of the Class A Special Shares, the Common Shares or any other shares ranking junior to the Exchangeable Shares, an amount
per share equal to: (a) the Current Market Price multiplied by the Current HEARx Common Stock Equivalent, in each case determined on the
Liquidation Date, which shall be satisfied in full by HCI causing to be delivered to such holder such number of shares of HEARx Common
Stock as is equal to the Current HEARx Common Stock Equivalent, plus (b) the aggregate of all declared and unpaid dividends on each such
Exchangeable Share up to the Liquidation Date (collectively the Liquidation Amount ), without interest.

5.2 On or promptly after the Liquidation Date, and subject to the exercise by NSULC of the Liquidation Call Right, HCI shall cause to be
delivered to the holders of the Exchangeable Shares the Liquidation Amount for each such Exchangeable Share upon presentation and surrender
of the certificates representing such Exchangeable Shares, together with such other documents and instruments as may be required to effect a
transfer of Exchangeable Shares under the CBCA and the Articles of Incorporation and the by-laws of HCI and such additional documents and
instruments as the Transfer Agent may reasonably require, at the registered office of HCI or at any office of the Transfer Agent as may be
specified by HCI by
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notice to the holders of the Exchangeable Shares. Payment of the total Liquidation Amount for all of the Exchangeable Shares held by a holder
thereof shall be made by delivery to each such holder, at the address of the holder recorded in the securities register of HCI for the Exchangeable
Shares or by holding for pick-up by the holder at the registered office of HCI or at any office of the Transfer Agent as may be specified by HCI
by notice to the holders of Exchangeable Shares, on behalf of HCI of certificates representing the shares of HEARx Common Stock to be
delivered in payment thereof (which shares shall be duly issued as fully paid and non-assessable and shall be free and clear of any Liens) and a
cheque of HCI payable at any branch of the bankers of HCI in respect of all declared and unpaid dividends comprising part of the total
Liquidation Amount for all outstanding Exchangeable Shares without interest. On and after the Liquidation Date, the holders of the
Exchangeable Shares shall cease to be holders of such Exchangeable Shares and shall not be entitled to exercise any of the rights of holders in
respect thereof, other than the right to receive the total Liquidation Amount in respect of their Exchangeable Shares, unless payment of the total
Liquidation Amount for such Exchangeable Shares shall not be made upon presentation and surrender of share certificates in accordance with
the foregoing provisions, in which case the rights of the holders shall remain unaffected until the total Liquidation Amount for their
Exchangeable Shares has been paid in the manner hereinbefore provided. HCI shall have the right at any time on or after the Liquidation Date to
deposit or cause to be deposited the total Liquidation Amount in respect of the Exchangeable Shares represented by certificates that have not at
the Liquidation Date been surrendered by the holders thereof in a custodial account with any chartered bank or trust company in Canada. Upon
such deposit being made, the rights of the holders of such Exchangeable Shares after such deposit shall be limited to receiving the total
Liquidation Amount (without interest) for such Exchangeable Shares so deposited, against presentation and surrender of the said certificates held
by them, respectively, in accordance with the foregoing provisions. Upon such payment or deposit of the total Liquidation Amount, the holders
of the Exchangeable Shares shall thereafter be considered and deemed for all purposes to be holders of the HEARx Common Stock delivered to
them or the custodian on their behalf.

5.3  After HCI has satisfied its obligations to pay the holders of the Exchangeable Shares the Liquidation Amount per Exchangeable Share
pursuant to section 5.1 of these share provisions, such holders shall not be entitled to share in any further distribution of the assets of HCI or
have any other rights as holders of Exchangeable Shares.

ARTICLE VI

Retraction of Exchangeable Shares by Holder

6.1 A holder of Exchangeable Shares shall be entitled during any Retraction Period, subject to the exercise by NSULC of the Retraction
Call Right and otherwise upon compliance with the provisions of this ARTICLE VI, to require HCI to redeem any or all of the Exchangeable
Shares registered in the name of such holder (the Retracted Shares ) for an amount for each Retracted Share equal to (a) the Current Market
Price multiplied by the Current HEARx Common Stock Equivalent, in each case determined on the Retraction Date, which shall be satisfied in
full in respect of a Retracted Share by HCI causing to be delivered to such holder such number of shares of HEARx Common Stock as is equal
to the Current HEARx Common Stock Equivalent, plus (b) the aggregate of all dividends declared and unpaid on each Retracted Share up to the
Retraction Date (collectively the Retraction Price ), provided that if the record date for any such declared and unpaid dividend occurs on or after
the Retraction Date the Retraction Price shall not include such declared and unpaid dividends). To effect such redemption, the holder shall
present and surrender at the registered office of HCI or at any office of the Transfer Agent as may be specified by HCI by notice to the holders
of Exchangeable Shares, the certificate or certificates representing the Exchangeable Shares which the holder desires to have HCI redeem,
together with such other documents and instruments as may be required to effect a transfer of Exchangeable Shares under the CBCA and the
Articles of Incorporation and the by-laws of HCI and such additional documents and instruments as the Transfer Agent may reasonably require,
and together with a duly executed statement (the Retraction Request ) in the form of Schedule A hereto or in such other form as may be
acceptable (in their sole discretion) to HCI, the Transfer Agent, NSULC and HEARX:
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(a) specifying that the holder desires to have the Retracted Shares represented by such certificate or certificates redeemed by HCI;

(b) stating the Business Day on which the holder desires to have HCI redeem the Retracted Shares (the Retraction Date ), provided that
the Retraction Date shall not be less than six Business Days after the date on which the Retraction Request is received by HCI and
further provided that, in the event that no such Business Day is specified by the holder in the Retraction Request, the Retraction Date
shall be deemed to be the sixth Business Day after the date on which the Retraction Request is received by HCI; and

(c) acknowledging the Retraction Call Right of NSULC to purchase all but not less than all the Retracted Shares directly from the holder
and that the Retraction Request shall be deemed to be a revocable offer by the holder to sell the Retracted Shares to NSULC in
accordance with the Retraction Call Right.

6.2  Subject to the exercise by NSULC of the Retraction Call Right, upon receipt by HCI or the Transfer Agent in the manner specified in
section 6.1 hereof of a certificate or certificates representing the number of Exchangeable Shares which the holder desires to have HCI redeem,
together with such other documents and instruments as may be required pursuant to section 6.1 and a Retraction Request, and provided that the
Retraction Request is not revoked by the holder in the manner specified in section 6.7, HCI shall redeem the Retracted Shares effective at the
close of business on the sixth Business Day after the Retraction Request is received and shall cause to be delivered to such holder the total
Retraction Price with respect of all such Retracted Shares. If only a part of the Exchangeable Shares represented by any certificate is redeemed
(or purchased by NSULC pursuant to the Retraction Call Right), a new certificate for the balance of such Exchangeable Shares shall be issued to
the holder at the expense of HCI.

6.3  Upon receipt by HCI or the Transfer Agent of a Retraction Request, HCI or the Transfer Agent shall immediately notify HEARx and
NSULC thereof. In order to exercise the Retraction Call Right, NSULC must notify HCI or the Transfer Agent of its determination to do so (the
NSULC Call Notice ) within 5 Business Days of notification to HCI or the Transfer Agent by NSULC of the receipt by HCI or the Transfer
Agent of the Retraction Request. If NSULC does not notify HCI or the Transfer Agent within such 5 Business Day period, HCI or the Transfer

Agent will notify the holder as soon as possible thereafter that NSULC will not exercise the Retraction Call Right. If NSULC delivers the
NSULC Call Notice within such 5 Business Day period, and provided that the Retraction Request is not revoked by the holder in the manner
specified in section 6.7, the Retraction Request shall thereupon be considered only to be an offer by the holder to sell the Retracted Shares to
NSULC, in accordance with the Retraction Call Right. In such event, HCI shall not redeem the Retracted Shares and NSULC shall purchase
from such holder and such holder shall sell to NSULC on the Retraction Date the Retracted Shares for an amount equal to the Retraction Price
per share. For greater certainty, it is hereby confirmed that such holder shall also continue to be entitled to receive from HCI on the designated
payment date therefor, the full amount of all declared but unpaid dividends on those Retracted Shares held by such holder on any dividend
record date which occurred prior to the Retraction Date and, to the extent such amount is not paid by HCI on the designated date for payment,
such amount shall be paid by NSULC on such date for and on behalf of HCI. For the purposes of completing a purchase pursuant to the
Retraction Call Right, NSULC shall deposit with the Transfer Agent, on or before the Retraction Date, certificates representing HEARx
Common Stock. If required by the preceding provisions, NSULC shall also deposit with the Transfer Agent, on or before the date for payment
thereof a cheque or cheques of NSULC payable at par at any branch of the bankers of NSULC representing the aggregate unpaid dividend
amount. Provided that NSULC has complied with the second preceding sentence, the closing of the purchase and sale of the Retracted Shares
pursuant to the Retraction Call Right shall be deemed to have occurred as at the close of business on the Retraction Date and, for greater
certainty, no redemption by HCI of such Retracted Shares shall take place on the Retraction Date. In the event that NSULC does not deliver a
NSULC Call Notice within such 5 Business Day period, and provided that the Retraction Request is not revoked by the holder in the manner
specified in section 6.7, HCI shall redeem the Retracted Shares on the Retraction Date and in the manner otherwise contemplated in this
ARTICLE VI
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6.4 If a Retraction Request is received by the Transfer Agent pursuant to section 6.1 and NSULC has not exercised the Retraction Call
Right, HCI shall deliver or cause the Transfer Agent to deliver to the holder of the Retracted Shares, at the address of the holder recorded in the
securities register of HCI for the Exchangeable Shares or at the address specified in the holder s Retraction Request or by holding for pick-up by
the holder at the registered office of HCI or at any office of the Transfer Agent as may be specified by HCI by Notice to the holders of
Exchangeable Shares, certificates representing the shares of HEARx Common Stock to be delivered to the holder in payment of the total
Retraction Price for all of the Retracted Shares (or the portion thereof payable in HEARx Common Stock, as the case may be) (which shares
shall be duly issued as fully paid and non assessable and shall be free and clear of any Liens) registered in the name of the holder or in such
other name as the holder may request, if applicable and on or before the payment date therefor, and a cheque of HCI payable at par at any branch
of the bankers of HCI in payment of the remaining portion, if any, of the total Retraction Price (or, if any part of the Retraction Price consists of
dividends payable in property, such property or property that is the same as or economically equivalent to such property), and such delivery of
such certificates and cheque (and property, if any) on behalf of HCI by the Transfer Agent shall be deemed to be payment of and shall satisfy
and discharge all liability for the total Retraction Price for all of the Retracted Shares, to the extent that the same is represented by such share
certificates and cheque (and property, if any), unless such cheque is not paid on due presentation.

6.5 On and after the close of business on the Retraction Date, the holder of the Retracted Shares shall cease to be a holder of such
Retracted Shares and shall not be entitled to exercise any of the rights of a holder in respect thereof, other than the right to receive the total
Retraction Price for all of the Retracted Shares, unless upon presentation and surrender of certificates in accordance with the foregoing
provisions, payment of the total Retraction Price for all of the Retracted Shares shall not be made, in which case the rights of such holders shall
remain unaffected until the total Retraction Price has been paid in the manner hereinbefore provided. On and after the close of business on the
Retraction Date, provided that presentation and surrender of certificates and payment of the total Retraction Price for all of the Retracted Shares
has been made in accordance with the foregoing provisions, the holder of the Retracted Shares so redeemed by HCI be purchased by NSULC
shall thereafter be considered and deemed for all purposes to be a holder of the shares of HEARx Common Stock delivered to it.

6.6 Notwithstanding any other provision of this ARTICLE VI, HCI shall not be obligated to redeem Retracted Shares specified by a
holder in a Retraction Request to the extent that such redemption of Retracted Shares would be contrary to solvency requirements or other
provisions of applicable law. If HCI believes that on any Retraction Date it would not be permitted by any of such provisions to redeem the
Retracted Shares tendered for redemption on such date, and provided that NSULC shall not have exercised the Retraction Call Right with
respect to the Retracted Shares, HCI shall be obligated to redeem Retracted Shares specified by holders in Retraction Requests only to the extent
of the maximum number that may be so redeemed (rounded down to a whole number of shares) as would not be contrary to such provisions on a
pro rata basis and shall notify the relevant holders at least five (5) Business Days prior to the Retraction Date as to the number of Retracted
Shares which will not be redeemed by HCI. In any case in which the redemption by HCI of Retracted Shares would be contrary to solvency
requirements or other provisions of applicable law and provided the Retraction Request is not revoked by the holder in the manner specified in
section 6.7, HCI shall redeem Retracted Shares in accordance with section 6.2 of these share provisions on a pro rata basis and HCI shall issue to
each holder of Retracted Shares a new certificate, at the expense of HCI, representing the Retracted Shares not redeemed by HCI pursuant to
section 6.2 hereof. Provided that the Retraction Request is not revoked by the holder in the manner specified in section 6.7, the holder of any
such Retracted Shares not redeemed by HCI pursuant to section 6.2 of these share provisions as a result of solvency requirements of applicable
law shall be deemed by giving the Retraction Request to require NSULC to purchase such Retracted Shares from such holder pursuant to the
Exchange Right (as defined in the Voting and Exchange Trust Agreement) on the Retraction Date or as soon as practicable thereafter on
payment by NSULC to such holder of the Retraction Price for each such Retracted Share, all as more specifically provided in the Voting and
Exchange Trust Agreement.
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6.7 A holder of Retracted Shares may, by notice in writing given by the holder to HCI before the close of business on the Business Day
immediately preceding the Retraction Date, withdraw its Retraction Request, in which event such Retraction Request shall be null and void and,
for greater certainty, the revocable offer constituted by the Retraction Request to sell the Retracted Shares to NSULC shall be deemed to have
been revoked.

6.8  Subject to the Support Agreement, the Voting and Exchange Trust Agreement and to the rights of holders of Exchangeable Shares
(other than HEARX or its subsidiaries or affiliates), in the event NSULC acquires Exchangeable Shares pursuant to the Retraction Call Right or
the Redemption Call Right, NSULC shall be entitled to exchange such Exchangeable Shares for Common Shares on terms approved by the
Board of Directors.

ARTICLE VII

Redemption of Exchangeable Shares

7.1  Subject to applicable law and provided NSULC has not exercised the Redemption Call Right, HCI shall on the Redemption Date
redeem all but not less than all of the then outstanding Exchangeable Shares for an amount per share equal to: (a) the Current Market Price
multiplied by the Current HEARx Common Stock Equivalent, in each case determined on the Redemption Date, which shall be satisfied in full
in respect of an Exchangeable Share by HCI causing to be delivered to such a holder such number of shares of HEARx Common Stock as is
equal to the Current HEARx Common Stock Equivalent, plus (b) the aggregate of all declared and unpaid dividends thereon up to the
Redemption Date (collectively the Redemption Price , provided that if the record date for any such declared and unpaid dividends occurs on or
after the Redemption Date, the Redemption Price shall not include such declared and unpaid dividends).

7.2 In any case of a redemption of Exchangeable Shares under this ARTICLE VII, HCI shall, at least 60 days before the Redemption
Date, send or cause to be sent to each holder of Exchangeable Shares a notice in writing of the redemption by HCI or the purchase by NSULC
under the Redemption Call Right, as the case may be, of the Exchangeable Shares held by such holder.

7.3  On or after the Redemption Date and subject to the exercise by NSULC of the Redemption Call Right, HCI shall cause to be
delivered to the holders of the Exchangeable Shares the Redemption Price for each such Exchangeable Share upon presentation and surrender at
the registered office of HCI or at any office of the Transfer Agent as may be specified by HCI in such notice of the certificates representing such
Exchangeable Shares, together with such other documents and instruments as may be required to effect a transfer of Exchangeable Shares under
the CBCA and the Articles of Incorporation and the by-laws of HCI and such additional documents and instruments as the Transfer Agent may
reasonably require. Payment of the total Redemption Price for all of the Exchangeable Shares held by a holder shall be made by delivery to such
holder, at the address of the holder recorded in the securities register of HCI or by holding for pick up by the holder at the registered office of
HCI or at any office of the Transfer Agent as may be specified by HCI in such notice, on behalf of HCI of certificates representing the shares of
HEARx Common Stock to be delivered to the holder in payment of the Redemption Price for all of the Exchangeable Shares held by such holder
(or the portion thereof payable in HEARx Common Stock, as the case may be) (which shares shall be duly issued as fully paid and
non-assessable and shall be free and clear of any Liens) and a cheque of HCI payable at any branch of the bankers of HCI in respect of all
declared and unpaid dividends comprising part of the total Redemption Price for all of the Exchangeable Shares held by such holder (or, if any
of such dividends are payable in property, such property). On and after the Redemption Date, the holders of the Exchangeable Shares called for
redemption shall cease to be holders of such Exchangeable Shares and shall not be entitled to exercise any of the rights of holders in respect
thereof, other than the right to receive the total Redemption Price for their Exchangeable Shares, unless payment of the total Redemption Price
for such Exchangeable Shares shall not be made upon presentation and surrender of certificates in accordance with the foregoing provisions, in
which case the rights of the holders shall remain unaffected until the total Redemption Price for such shares has been paid in the manner
hereinafter provided. HCI shall have the right at any time after the sending of notice of its intention to redeem the Exchangeable Shares as
aforesaid to deposit or cause
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to be deposited the total Redemption Price of the Exchangeable Shares so called for redemption, or of such of the said Exchangeable Shares
represented by certificates that have not at the date of such deposit been surrendered by the holders thereof in connection with such redemption,
in a custodial account with any chartered bank or trust company in Canada named in such notice. Upon the later of such deposit being made and
the Redemption Date, the Exchangeable Shares in respect whereof such deposit shall have been made shall be redeemed and the rights of the
holders thereof after such deposit or Redemption Date, as the case may be, shall be limited to receiving the total Redemption Price for such
Exchangeable Shares so deposited, against presentation and surrender of the said certificates held by them, respectively, in accordance with the
foregoing provisions. Upon such payment or deposit of the total Redemption Price, the holders of the Exchangeable Shares shall thereafter be
considered and deemed for all purposes to be holders of the HEARx Common Stock delivered to them or the custodian on their behalf.

ARTICLE VIII

Purchase for Cancellation

8.1 Subject to applicable law and notwithstanding section 8.2, HCI may at any time and from time to time purchase for cancellation all or
any part of the outstanding Exchangeable Shares by private agreement with any holder of Exchangeable Shares, for consideration consisting of
HEARx Common Stock.

8.2  Subject to applicable law and the Articles of Incorporation of HCI, HCI may at any time and from time to time purchase for
cancellation all or any part of the outstanding Exchangeable Shares at any price by tender to all the holders of record of Exchangeable Shares
then outstanding. For greater certainty, it is hereby confirmed that, notwithstanding the purchase for cancellation of Exchangeable Shares
pursuant to this ARTICLE VIII, holders whose Exchangeable Shares are subject to purchase shall continue to be entitled to all declared but
unpaid dividends thereon for which the record date has occurred prior to the date of purchase. If in response to an invitation for tenders under the
provisions of this section 8.1, more Exchangeable Shares are tendered at a price or prices acceptable to HCI than HCI is prepared to purchase,
the Exchangeable Shares to be purchased by HCI shall be purchased as nearly as may be pro rata according to the number of shares tendered by
each holder who submits a tender to HCI, provided that when shares are tendered at different prices, the pro rating shall be effected
(disregarding fractions) only with respect to the shares tendered at the price at which more shares were tendered at lower prices. If only part of
the Exchangeable Shares represented by any certificate shall be purchased, a new certificate for the balance of such shares shall be issued at the
expense of HCIL.

ARTICLE IX
Voting Rights

9.1 Except as required by applicable law and the provisions of section 4.1, 10.1 and 12.2 hereof, the holders of the Exchangeable Shares
shall not be entitled as such to receive notice of or to attend any meeting of the shareholders of HEARX or to vote at any such meeting.

9.2 The holders of Exchangeable Shares shall be entitled to vote separately as a class in any voluntary liquidation, dissolution or
winding-up of HCL.

ARTICLE X

Amendment and Approval

10.1 The rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attaching to the Exchangeable Shares may only be added to, changed or removed
with the approval of the holders of the Exchangeable Shares given as hereinafter specified.

10.2  Any approval given by the holders of the Exchangeable Shares to add to, change or remove any right, privilege, restriction or
condition attaching to the Exchangeable Shares or any other matter requiring the
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approval or consent of the holders of the Exchangeable Shares shall be deemed to have been sufficiently given if it shall have been given in
accordance with applicable law subject to a minimum requirement that such approval be evidenced by resolution passed by not less than
two-thirds of the votes cast on such a resolution by those shareholders entitled to vote the Exchangeable Shares at a meeting of holders of
Exchangeable Shares duly called and held at which the holders of at least 20% of the outstanding Exchangeable Shares at that time (whether or
not such holders are entitled to vote their Exchangeable Shares) are present or represented by proxy. If at any such meeting the holders of at least
20% of the outstanding Exchangeable Shares at that time are not present or represented by proxy within one half hour after the time appointed
for such meeting, then the meeting shall be adjourned to such date not less than 10 days thereafter and to such time and place as may be
designated by the Chairman of such meeting. At such adjourned meeting the holders of Exchangeable Shares present or represented by proxy
thereat may transact the business for which the meeting was originally called and a resolution passed thereat by the affirmative vote of not less
than two-thirds of the votes cast on such resolution at such meeting shall constitute the approval or consent of the holders of the Exchangeable
Shares.

ARTICLE XI

Economic Equivalence; Changes Relating to HEARx

11.1 The Board of Directors shall determine, in good faith and in its sole discretion (with the assistance of such reputable and qualified
independent financial advisors and/or other experts as the Board of Directors may require) economic equivalence for the purposes of any
provision herein that requires such a determination and each such determination shall be conclusive and binding on HEARx and the holders of
Exchangeable Shares, where applicable.

11.2  Each holder of an Exchangeable Share acknowledges that HEARx will not, without the prior approval of HCI and the prior approval
of the holders of the Exchangeable Shares given in accordance with section 10.2 of these share provisions:

(a) 1issue or distribute HEARx Common Stock (or securities exchangeable for or convertible into or carrying rights to acquire HEARx
Common Stock) to the holders of all or substantially all of the then outstanding HEARx Common Stock by way of stock dividend or
other distribution, other than an issue of HEARx Common Stock (or securities exchangeable for or convertible into or carrying rights
to acquire HEARx Common Stock) to holders of HEARx Common Stock who exercise an option to receive dividends in HEARx
Common Stock (or securities exchangeable for or convertible into or carrying rights to acquire HEARx Common Stock) in lieu of
receiving cash dividends;

(b) issue or distribute rights, options or warrants to the holders of all or substantially all of the then outstanding HEARx Common Stock
entitling them to subscribe for or to purchase HEARx Common Stock (or securities exchangeable for or convertible into or carrying
rights to acquire HEARx Common Stock); or

(c) 1issue or distribute to the holders of all or substantially all of the then outstanding HEARx Common Stock:

@) shares or securities of HEARx of any class other than HEARx Common Stock (other than shares convertible into or
exchangeable for or carrying rights to acquire HEARx Common Stock);

(i1) rights, options or warrants other than those referred to in section 11.2(b) above;
(iii) evidences of indebtedness of HEARX; or

@iv) assets of HEARX,

unless the economic equivalent on a per share basis of such rights, options, securities, shares, evidences of indebtedness or other assets is issued
or distributed simultaneously to holders of the Exchangeable Shares.
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11.3  Each holder of an Exchangeable Share acknowledges that HEARx will not without the prior approval of HCI and the prior approval
of the holders of the Exchangeable Shares given in accordance with section 10.2 of these share provisions:

(a) subdivide, redivide or change the then outstanding HEARx Common Stock into a greater number of HEARx Common Stock;

(b) reduce, combine, consolidate or change the then outstanding HEARx Common Stock into a lesser number of HEARx Common Stock;
or

(c) reclassify or otherwise change the HEARx Common Stock or effect an amalgamation, merger, reorganization or other transaction
affecting the HEARx Common Stock,
unless the same or an economically equivalent change shall simultaneously be made to, or in, the rights of the holders of the Exchangeable
Shares. The aforesaid provisions shall not be changed without the approval of the holders of the Exchangeable Shares given in accordance with
section 10.2 of these provisions.

11.4  If at any time there is a capital reorganization of HEARX or a consolidation, merger, arrangement or amalgamation (statutory or
otherwise) of HEARx with or into another entity (any such event being called a Capital Reorganization ) that is not provided for in the
definitions of HEARx Common Stock Reorganization , Rights Offering or Special Distribution , any holder of Exchangeable Shares whose
Exchangeable Shares have not been exchanged for shares of HEARx Common Stock in accordance with the provisions hereof or the provisions
of the Plan of Arrangement or of the Voting and Exchange Trust Agreement prior to the record date for such Capital Reorganization shall be
entitled to receive and shall accept, upon any such exchange occurring pursuant to the provisions hereof or thereof at any time after the record
date for such Capital Reorganization in lieu of the shares of HEARx Common Stock that he would otherwise have been entitled to receive
pursuant to the provisions hereof, the number of shares or other securities of HEARX or of the body corporate resulting, surviving or continuing
from the Capital Reorganization, or other property, that such holder would have been entitled to receive as a result of such Capital
Reorganization if, on the record date, he had been the registered holder of the number of shares of HEARx Common Stock to which he was then
entitled upon any exchange of his Exchangeable Shares into HEARx Common Stock in accordance with the provisions hereof, subject to
adjustment thereafter in the same manner, as nearly as may be possible, as is provided for in the definition of Current HEARx Common Stock
Equivalent ; provided that no such Capital Reorganization shall be carried into effect unless all necessary steps shall have been taken so that each
holder of Exchangeable Shares shall thereafter be entitled to receive, upon any exchange of his Exchangeable Shares pursuant to the provisions
hereof, such number of shares or other securities of HEARX or of the body corporate resulting, surviving or continuing from the Capital
Reorganization, or other property.

11.5 In the case of a reclassification of, or other change in, the outstanding shares of HEARx Common Stock other than a HEARx
Common Stock Reorganization, Rights Offering, Special Distribution or a Capital Reorganization, such changes shall be made in the rights
attaching to the Exchangeable Shares, without any action on the part of HCI or the holders of the Exchangeable Shares to the extent permitted by
applicable law, effective immediately following the record date for such reclassification or other change, to the extent necessary to ensure that
holders of Exchangeable Shares shall be entitled to receive, upon the occurrence at any time after such record date of any event whereby they
would receive HEARx Common Stock pursuant to the previous provisions hereof or the provisions of the Plan of Arrangement or the Voting
and Exchange Trust Agreement, such shares, securities or rights as they would have received if their Exchangeable Shares had been exchanged
for HEARx Common Stock pursuant to the provisions hereof or thereof immediately prior to such record date, subject to adjustment thereafter in
the same manner, as nearly as may be possible, as is provided for in the definition Current HEARx Common Stock Equivalent .

11.6  No certificates or scrip representing fractional HEARx Common Stock shall be delivered to holders of Exchangeable Shares
pursuant to the provisions hereof.
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ARTICLE XII

Actions by HCI Under Supporting Agreements

12.1 HCI will take all such actions and do all such things as shall be necessary or advisable to perform and comply with and to ensure
performance and compliance by HEARx and NSULC with all provisions of the Support Agreement and the Voting and Exchange Trust
Agreement applicable to HCI, NSULC and HEARX, respectively, in accordance with the terms thereof including, without limitation, taking all
such actions and doing all such things as shall be necessary or advisable to enforce to the fullest extent possible for the direct benefit of HCI and
the holders of Exchangeable Shares all rights and benefits in favour of HCI under or pursuant to such agreements.

12.2  HCI shall not propose, agree to or otherwise give effect to any amendment to, or waiver or forgiveness of its rights or obligations
under, the Support Agreement and the Voting and Exchange Trust Agreement without the approval of the holders of the Exchangeable Shares
given in accordance with section 10.2 of these share provisions other than such amendments, waivers and/or forgiveness as may be necessary or
advisable for the purposes of:

(a) adding to the covenants of the other party or parties to such agreement for the protection of HCI or the holders of Exchangeable
Shares; or

(b) making such provisions or modifications not inconsistent with such agreements as may be necessary or desirable with respect to
matters or questions arising thereunder which, in the opinion of the Board of Directors, it may be expedient to make, provided that the
Board of Directors shall be of the opinion, after consultation with counsel, that such provisions and modifications will not be
prejudicial to the interests of the holders of the Exchangeable Shares; or

(c) making such changes in or corrections to such agreements which, on the advice of counsel to HCI, are required for the purpose of
curing or correcting any ambiguity or defect or inconsistent provision or clerical omission or mistake or manifest error contained
therein, provided that the Board of Directors shall be of the opinion, after consultation with counsel, that such changes or corrections
will not be prejudicial to the interests of the holders of the Exchangeable Shares.

ARTICLE XIII

Legend

13.1 The certificates evidencing the Exchangeable Shares shall contain or have affixed thereto a legend, in form and on terms approved
by the Board of Directors, with respect to the Support Agreement, the provisions of the Plan of Arrangement relating to the Retraction Call
Right, the Liquidation Call Right, the Redemption Call Right and the Voting and Exchange Trust Agreement (including the provisions with
respect to the voting rights, exchange rights and automatic exchange rights thereunder).

13.2  Each holder of an Exchangeable Share, whether of record or beneficial, by virtue of becoming and being such a holder shall be
deemed to acknowledge each of the Liquidation Call Right, the Retraction Call Right and the Redemption Call Right, in each case, in favor of
NSULC, and the overriding nature thereof in connection with the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of HCI or the retraction or redemption
of Exchangeable Shares, as the case may be, and to be bound thereby in favor of NSULC as therein provided.

13.3 HCI, NSULC, HEARXx and the Transfer Agent shall be entitled to deduct and withhold from any dividend or consideration otherwise
payable to any holder of Exchangeable Shares such amounts as HCI, NSULC, HEARXx or the Transfer Agent is required to deduct and withhold
with respect to such payment under the Income Tax Act (Canada), the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986 or any provision of
provincial, state, local or foreign tax law, in each case, as amended. To the extent that amounts are so withheld, such withheld amounts shall be
treated for all purposes hereof as having been paid to the holder of the Exchangeable Shares in respect of which such deduction and withholding
was made, provided that such withheld amounts are actually remitted to the appropriate taxing authority. To the extent that the amounts so
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required or permitted to be deducted or withheld from any payment to a holder exceeds a cash portion of the consideration otherwise payable to
the holder, HCI, NSULC, HEARX and the Transfer Agent are hereby authorized to sell or otherwise dispose of such portion of the consideration
as is necessary to provide sufficient funds to HCI, NSULC, HEARx and the Transfer Agent, as the case may be, to enable it to comply with such
deduction or withholding requirement and HCI, NSULC, HEARXx or the Transfer Agent shall notify the holder thereof and remit any unapplied
balance of the net proceeds of such sale.

ARTICLE XIV

Notices

14.1  Any notice, request or other communication to be given to HCI by a holder of Exchangeable Shares shall be in writing and shall be
valid and effective if given by mail (postage paid) or by telecopy or by delivery to the registered office of HCI and addressed to the attention of
the President. Any such notice, request or other communication, if given by mail, telecopy or delivery, shall only be deemed to have been given
and received upon actual receipt thereof by HCI.

14.2  Any presentation and surrender by a holder of Exchangeable Shares to HCI or the Transfer Agent of certificates representing
Exchangeable Shares in connection with the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of HCI or the retraction or redemption of Exchangeable
Shares shall be made by registered mail (postage prepaid) or by delivery to the registered office of HCI or to such office of the Transfer Agent as
may be specified by HCI, in each case addressed to the attention of the President of HCI. Any such presentation and surrender of certificates
shall only be deemed to have been made and to be effective upon actual receipt thereof by HCI or the Transfer Agent, as the case may be. Any
such presentation and surrender of certificates made by registered mail shall be at the sole risk of the holder mailing the same.

143  Any notice, request or other communication to be given to a holder of Exchangeable Shares by or on behalf of HCI or NSULC shall
be in writing and shall be valid and effective if given by mail (postage prepaid) or by delivery to the address of the holder recorded in the
securities register of HCI or, in the event of the address of any such holder not being so recorded, then at the last known address of such holder.
Any such notice, request or other communication, if given by mail, shall be deemed to have been given and received on the fifth Business Day
following the date of mailing and, if given by delivery, shall be deemed to have been given and received on the date of delivery. Accidental
failure or omission to give any notice, request or other communication to one or more holders of Exchangeable Shares shall not invalidate or
otherwise alter or affect any action or proceeding to be taken by HCI or NSULC pursuant thereto.
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SCHEDULE A

NOTICE OF RETRACTION

TO: HEARx Ltd. ( HEARx ), HEARx Acquisition ULC ( NSULC ) and HEARx Canada Inc. ( HCI )

This notice is given pursuant to ARTICLE VI of the provisions attaching to the Exchangeable Shares of HCI represented by this certificate
(the Share Provisions ). All capitalized words and expressions used in this notice that are defined in the Share Provisions have the meanings
ascribed to such words and expressions in such Share Provisions.

The undersigned hereby notifies HCI that, subject to the Retraction Call Right referred to below, the undersigned desires to have HCI
redeem, in accordance with ARTICLE VI of the Share Provisions, all shares represented by this certificate, or share(s) only.
The Retraction Date shall be

The undersigned acknowledges the Retraction Call Right of NSULC to purchase all but not less than all the Retracted Shares from the
undersigned and that this notice is and shall be deemed to be a revocable offer (subject as hereinafter provided) by the undersigned to sell the
Retracted Shares to NSULC in accordance with the Retraction Call Right on the Retraction Date for the Retraction Price and on the other terms
and conditions set out in Section 6.3 of the Share Provisions. If NSULC determines not to exercise the Retraction Call Right, HCI will notify the
undersigned of such fact as soon as possible. If this notice is not effective pursuant to section 6.1 of the Share Provisions, whether as a result of
the postponement of a Retraction Period or otherwise, this notice of retraction, and the offer contained in this notice may be revoked by the
undersigned by a further notice in writing addressed to HCI, NSULC and HEARX at any time before the close of business on the Business Day
immediately preceding the Retraction Date, specifically referencing this Notice of Retraction and delivered to the Transfer Agent.

The undersigned acknowledges that if, as a result of solvency provisions of applicable law or otherwise, HCI fails to redeem all Retracted
Shares or NSULC has not exercised the Retraction Call Right with respect to the Retracted Shares, the undersigned will be deemed to have
exercised the Exchange Right (as defined in the Voting and Exchange Trust Agreement) so as to require NSULC to purchase the unredeemed
Retracted Shares.

The undersigned hereby represents and warrants to HCI, NSULC and HEARX that the undersigned has good title to, and owns, the share(s)
represented by this certificate to be acquired by HCI, NSULC or HEARYX, as the case may be, free and clear of all Liens.

(Date) (Signature of Shareholder) (Guarantee of Signature)
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o Please check box if the securities and any cheque(s) resulting from the retraction or purchase of the Retracted Shares are to be held for
pick-up by the shareholder at the principal transfer office of the Transfer Agent in Toronto, failing which the securities and any
cheque(s) will be mailed to the last address of the shareholder as it appears on the register of holders of Exchangeable Shares.

NOTE: This panel must be completed and this certificate, together with such additional documents as the Transfer Agent may require, must be
deposited with the Transfer Agent at its principal transfer office in Toronto. The securities and any cheque(s) resulting from the
retraction or purchase of the Retracted Shares will be issued and registered in, and made payable to, respectively, the name of the
shareholder as it appears on the register of HCI and the securities and cheque(s) resulting from such retraction or purchase will be
delivered to such shareholder as indicated above, unless the form appearing immediately below is duly completed.

Name of Person in Whose Name Securities or Cheque(s) Are to Be Date

Registered, Issued or Delivered

(please print)

Street Address or P.O. Box Signature of Shareholder
City-Province Signature Guaranteed by

NOTE: If the notice of retraction is for less than all of the share(s) represented by this certificate, a certificate representing the remaining
shares of HCI will be issued and registered in the name of the shareholder as it appears on the register of HCI, unless the Share
Transfer Power on the share certificate is duly completed in respect of such shares.
K-30

Table of Contents 196



Edgar Filing: PROASSURANCE CORP - Form 4

Table of Contents
ANNEX B
HEARx Canada Inc. ( HCI )
SHARE PROVISIONS

PROVISIONS ATTACHING TO THE CLASS A SPECIAL SHARES

The Class A Special Shares of HCI shall have attached thereto the following rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions:
ARTICLE I

Ranking of Class A Special Shares

1.1  The Class A Special Shares shall rank senior to the Common Shares and junior to the Exchangeable Shares and any other shares of
HCI with respect to the payment of dividends and the repayment of capital.

ARTICLE II

Dividends

2.1 The holders of the Class A Special Shares shall be entitled, subject to the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attaching to
any other class of shares of HCI, to receive any dividend declared by HCI.

ARTICLE III

Distribution on Liquidation

3.1 In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of HCI, whether voluntary or involuntary, the holders of the Class A Special
Shares shall be entitled to receive in respect of each such share, after distribution to the holders of Exchangeable Shares but before any
distribution of any part of the assets of HCI among the holders of any other class of shares of HCI ranking junior to the Class A Special Shares,
an amount equal to the Redemption Price as defined in section 4.2.

ARTICLE IV

Redemption of Class A Special Shares

4.1 Subject to applicable law, HCI shall, at its option, be entitled to redeem at any time or times all or any part of the Class A Special
Shares registered in the name of any holder of any such Class A Special Shares on the books of HCI with or without the consent of such holder
by giving notice in writing to such holder specifying:

(a) that HCI desires to redeem all or any part of the Class A Special Shares registered in the name of such holder;

(b) if part only of the Class A Special Shares registered in the name of such holder is to be redeemed, the number thereof to be so
redeemed;

(c) the business day (in this paragraph referred to as the Redemption Date ) on which HCI desires to redeem such Class A Special Shares.
Such notice shall specify the Redemption Date which shall not be less than thirty (30) days after the date on which the notice is given
by HCI or such shorter period of time as HCI and the holder of any such Class A Special Shares may agree; and

(d) the place of redemption.
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4.2 HCI shall, on the Redemption Date, redeem such Class A Special Shares by paying to such holder an amount equal to one dollar
($1.00) for each Class A Special Share (the Redemption Amount ) plus all dividends declared thereon and unpaid as of such date and no more
(together, the Redemption Price ) on presentation and surrender of the certificate(s) for the Class A Special Shares so called for redemption at
such place as may be specified in such notice. The certificate(s) for such Class A Special Shares shall thereupon be cancelled and the Class A
Special Shares represented thereby shall thereupon be redeemed. Such payment shall be made by delivery to such holder of a cheque payable in
the amount of or at the option of HCI, a demand note with a principal amount equal to the aggregate Redemption Price for the Class A Special
Shares to be redeemed. From and after the redemption date the holder thereof shall not be entitled to exercise any of the rights of holders of
Class A Special Shares in respect thereof unless payment of the said Redemption Price, is not made on the redemption date, or on presentation
and surrender of the certificate(s) for the Class A Special Shares so called for redemption, whichever is later in which case the rights of the
holder of the said Class A Special Shares shall remain unaffected until payment in full of the Redemption Price.

4.3  Where at any time some but not all of such Class A Special Shares are to be redeemed the Class A Special Shares to be redeemed
shall be selected by lot in such manner as the Board of Directors determines, or as nearly as may be in proportion to the number of Class A
Special Shares registered in the name of each holder, or in such other manner as the Board of Directors determines.

ARTICLE V

Retraction of Class A Special Shares

5.1 Subject to the CBCA, a holder of any Class A Special Shares shall be entitled to require HCI to redeem at any time or times any
Class A Special Shares registered in the name of such holder on the books of HCI by tendering to HCI at its registered office a share certificate
or certificates representing the Class A Special Shares which the holder desires to have HCI redeem together with a request in writing specifying
(in this paragraph referred to as a redemption demand ):

(i) that the holder desires to have the Class A Special Shares represented by such certificate redeemed by HCI; and

(i) the business day (in this paragraph referred to as the Redemption Date ) on which the holder desires to have HCI redeem such Class A
Special Shares. The Redemption Demand shall specify the Redemption Date which shall not be less than thirty (30) days after the date
on which the Redemption Demand is tendered to HCI or such other date as the holder and HCI may agree.

5.2 HCI shall, on such Redemption Date, subject to section 5.3 below, redeem all Class A Special Shares required to be redeemed by
paying to such holder an amount equal to the aggregate Redemption Price therefor on presentation and surrender of the certificate(s) for the
Class A Special Shares to be so redeemed at the registered office of HCI. The certificate(s) for such Class A Special Shares shall thereupon be
cancelled and the Class A Special Shares represented thereby shall thereupon be redeemed. Such payment shall be made by delivery to such
holder of a cheque in the amount of or, at the option of HCI, a demand note with a principal amount equal to the aggregate Redemption Price for
the Class A Special Shares to be redeemed. From and after the Redemption Date, such Class A Special Shares shall cease to be entitled to
dividends and the holder thereof shall not be entitled to exercise any of the rights of holders of Class A Special Shares in respect thereof unless
payment of the said Redemption Price is not made on the Retraction Date, in which case the rights of the holder of the said Class A Special
Shares shall remain unaffected until payment in full of the Redemption Price.

5.3 If less than all Class A Special Shares represented by a certificate are redeemed, the holder shall be entitled to receive, at the expense
of HCI, a new certificate representing the Class A Special Shares which have not been redeemed.
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ARTICLE VI
Voting Rights

6.1 Except as required by applicable law, the holders of the Class A Special Shares shall not be entitled to receive notice of, or to attend
any meeting of the shareholders of HCI or to vote at any such meeting.
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ANNEX C
HEARx Canada Inc. ( HCI )
SHARE PROVISIONS

PROVISIONS ATTACHING TO THE COMMON SHARES

The Common Shares of HCI shall have attached thereto the following rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions:
ARTICLE I

Ranking of Common Shares

1.1 The Common Shares shall rank junior to the Exchangeable Shares, the Class A Special Shares and any other shares of HCI with
respect to the payment of dividends and the repayment of capital.

ARTICLE II

Dividends

2.1 The holders of the Common Shares shall be entitled, subject to the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attaching to any other
class of shares of HCI, to receive any dividend declared by HCI.

ARTICLE III

Distribution on Liquidation

3.1 The holders of the Common Shares shall be entitled, subject to the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attaching to any other
class of shares of HCI, to receive the remaining property of HCI on a liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of HCI, whether voluntary or
involuntary.

ARTICLE IV
Voting Rights

4.1 Each holder of Common Shares shall be entitled to receive notice of and to attend all meetings of shareholders of HCI and to vote
thereat, except meetings at which only holders of a specified class of shares (other than Common Shares) or specified series of shares are entitled
to vote. At all meetings of which notice must be given to the holders of the Common Shares, each holder of Common Shares shall be entitled to
one vote in respect of each Common Share held by him or her.
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INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS
Item 20. Indemnification of Directors and Officers

Indemnification of Directors and Officers

The Delaware General Corporation Law permits the indemnification by a Delaware corporation of its directors, officers, employees and
other agents against expenses (including attorneys fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement in connection with specified actions,
suits or proceedings, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative (other than derivative actions which are by or in the right of the
corporation) if they acted in good faith and in a manner they reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the corporation,
and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe their conduct was unlawful. A similar standard of care
is applicable in the case of derivative actions, except that indemnification only extends to expenses (including attorneys fees) incurred in
connection with defense or settlement of such an action and requires court approval before there can be any indemnification where the person
seeking indemnification has been found liable to the corporation.

As permitted by Delaware law, the certificate of incorporation of HEARX provides that no director will be personally liable to HEARX or its
stockholders for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty as a director, except for liability (a) for any breach of duty of loyalty to HEARx
or to its stockholders, (b) for acts or omissions not in good faith or that involve intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law, (c) under
Section 174 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, or (d) for any transaction from which the director derived an improper personal benefit.

The certificate of incorporation of HEARX further provides that we must indemnify our directors and executive officers and may indemnify
our other officers and employees and agents to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law. We believe that indemnification under our
certificate of incorporation covers negligence and gross negligence on the part of indemnified parties.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitted to our directors, officers and controlling
persons pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, we have been advised that in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange Commission
such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Act and is, therefore, unenforceable.

Item 21. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) Exhibits
Exhibit No. Description

2.1 The Amended and Restated Merger Agreement, dated November 6, 2001, between HEARx and Helix Hearing Care

of America Corp. (included as Annex A to the joint proxy statement/prospectus).
) Interim Order issued by the Superior Court of Quebec (included as Annex B to the joint proxy statement/prospectus).

23 Plan of Arrangement, including exchangeable share provisions (included as Annex K to this joint proxy statement/
prospectus).

3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of HEARx Ltd., including certain certificates of designations, preference and

rights of certain preferred stock of the Company. [3] Filed as an exhibit to the Company s Current Report on

Form 8-K, filed May 17, 1996, as the exhibit number indicated in brackets, and incorporated herein by reference.
32 Amendment to Restated Certificate of Incorporation. [3.1A]. Filed as an exhibit to the Company s Quarterly Report

on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 28, 1996, as the exhibit number indicated in brackets, and incorporated

herein by reference.
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Description

3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6

3.7

3.8

3.9

3.10

3.11

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.5

4.6

4.7

Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of the Company s 1997 Convertible Preferred Stock. [3]. Filed as
an exhibit to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed March 26, 1997, as the exhibit number indicated in
brackets, and incorporated herein by reference.

Amended and Restated By-Laws of HEARx Ltd. [3.4]. Filed as an exhibit to the Company s Annual Report on

Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1999, as the exhibit number indicated in brackets, and incorporated
herein by reference.

Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of the Company s 1998 Convertible Preferred Stock. [3]. Filed as
an exhibit to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed August 27, 1998, as the exhibit number indicated in
brackets, and incorporated herein by reference.

Amendment to Restated Certificate of Incorporation including one for ten reverse stock split and reduction of
authorized shares. [3.5]. Filed as an exhibit to the Company s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ending
July 2, 1999, as the exhibit number indicated in brackets, and incorporated herein by reference.

Certificate of Designation of the Company s 1999 Series H Junior Participating Preferred Stock. [4]. Filed as an
exhibit to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed December 17, 1999, as the exhibit number indicated in
brackets, and incorporated herein by reference.

Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of the Company s 2000 Series I Convertible Preferred Stock. [3].
Filed as an exhibit to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed May 9, 2000, as the exhibit number indicated
in brackets, and incorporated herein by reference.

Form of Amendment to Restated Certificate of Incorporation including increase in authorized shares and change of
name.***

Form of Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of the Company s Special Voting Preferred Stock.***
Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of the Company s Series J Preferred Stock. [4.1] Filed as an
Exhibit to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed December 26, 2001, as the exhibit number indicated in
brackets, and incorporated herein by reference.

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated March 17, 1997, between HEARx Ltd. and each of the purchasers set forth on
the signature pages thereto. [4.1]. Filed as an exhibit to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed May 17,
1996, as the exhibit number indicated in brackets, and incorporated herein by reference.

Registration Rights Agreement, dated March 17, 1997, between HEARX Ltd. and each of the purchasers set forth on
the signature pages thereto. [4.2]. Filed as an exhibit to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on

March 26, 1997, as the exhibit number indicated in brackets, and incorporated herein by reference.

Form of Placement Agent Warrant (to purchase up to 850,000 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price equal to
$5.00 per share). [4.3]. Filed as an exhibit to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on March 26, 1997, as
the exhibit number indicated in brackets, and incorporated herein by reference.

Specimen of Certificate representing Common Stock. [4.1]. Filed as an exhibit to the Company s Registration
Statement on Form S-18 (Registration No. 33-17041-NY), filed September 4, 1987, as the exhibit number indicated in
brackets, and incorporated herein by reference.

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated August 27, 1998, between HEARx Ltd. and each purchaser set forth on the
signature pages thereto. [4.1]. Filed as an exhibit to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed August 27,
1998, as the exhibit number indicated in brackets, and incorporated herein by reference.

Registration Rights Agreement, dated August 27, 1998, between HEARX Ltd. and each purchaser set forth on the
signature pages thereto. [4.2]. Filed as an exhibit to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed August 27,
1998, as the exhibit number indicated in brackets, and incorporated herein by reference.
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Description

4.8

4.9

*4.9.1

4.10

4.11

4.12

*5.1
8.1
8.2
9.1

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

Form of Placement Agent Warrant (to purchase up to 1,125,000 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price equal
to $1.80 per share). [4.3]. Filed as an exhibit to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed August 27, 1998,
as the exhibit number indicated in brackets, and incorporated herein by reference.

Rights Agreement, dated December 14, 1999, between HEARX and the Rights Agent, which includes the Certificate
of Designations, Preferences and Rights of the Company s 1999 Series H Junior Participating Preferred Stock. [4].
Filed as an exhibit to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed December 17, 1999, as the exhibit number
indicated in brackets, and incorporated herein by reference.

Form of Amended and Restated Rights Agreement, between HEARx and the Rights Agent, which includes an
amendment to the Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of the Company s 1999 Series H Junior
Participating Preferred Stock.

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated May 9, 2000, between HEARX Ltd. and each of the purchasers set forth on the
signature pages thereto. [4.1]. Filed as an exhibit to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed May 9, 2000,
as the exhibit number indicated in brackets, and incorporated herein by reference.

Registration Rights Agreement, dated May 9, 2000, between HEARx Ltd. and each of the purchasers set forth on the
signatures pages thereto. [4.2]. Filed as an exhibit to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed May 9, 2000,
as the exhibit number indicated in brackets, and incorporated herein by reference.

Form of Placement Agent Warrant (to purchase up to 203,390 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price equal to
$4.46 per share). [4.3]. Filed as an exhibit to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed May 9, 2000, as the
exhibit number indicated in brackets, and incorporated herein by reference.

Opinion of Bryan Cave LLP regarding the legality of the securities being registered.

Opinion of Bryan Cave LLP as to tax matters.

Opinion of Fraser Milner Casgrain LLP as to tax matters.

Form of Voting and Exchange Trust Agreement among HEARX Ltd., HEARx Canada Inc., HEARx Acquisition
ULC and Computer Share Trust Company of Canada (included as Annex C to the joint proxy statement/prospectus).
Form of Consulting Agreement, dated January 1, 1987, as of June 1, 1986, by and between HEARx Ltd. and each of
the members of the Company s Scientific Advisory Board. [10.1]. Filed as an exhibit to the Company s Registration
Statement on Form S-18 (Registration No. 33-17041-NY), filed September 4, 1987, as the exhibit number indicated
in brackets, and incorporated herein by reference.

HEARXx Ltd. 1987 Stock Option Plan. [10.11].# Filed as an exhibit to the Company s Registration Statement on
Form S-18 (Registration No. 33-17041-NY), filed September 4, 1987, as the exhibit number indicated in brackets,
and incorporated herein by reference.

(a) HEARXx Ltd. Stock Option Plan for Non-Employee Directors and (b) Form of Option Agreement. [10.35]
[10.48].# Filed as an exhibit to Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to the Company s Registration Statement on

Form S-18, filed on October 16, 1987, as the exhibit number indicated in brackets, and incorporated herein by
reference.

1995 Flexible Employee Stock Plan [4].# Filed as an exhibit to the Company s 1995 Proxy Statement, filed on

May 15, 1995, as the exhibit number indicated in brackets, and incorporated herein by reference.

Executive Employment Agreement, dated December 14, 1999, with Dr. Paul A. Brown. [10.10]. Filed as an exhibit
to the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed March 28, 2000, as the exhibit number indicated in brackets,
and incorporated herein by reference.

Executive Employment Agreement, dated December 14, 1999, with Stephen J. Hansbrough. [10.11]. Filed as an
exhibit to the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed March 28, 2000, as the exhibit number indicated in
brackets, and incorporated herein by reference.
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Exhibit No. Description

10.7 Letter of Intent dated April 23, 2001 by and between HEARx Ltd. and Siemens Hearing Instruments, Inc. [10.1].
Filed as an exhibit to the Company s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2001, as the
exhibit number indicated in brackets, and incorporated herein by reference.

10.8 Stockholders Agreement, dated July 27, 2001, between HEARX Ltd. and each stockholder set forth on the signature
pages thereto (included as Annex E to the joint proxy statement/ prospectus).

10.9 Form of HearUSA 2002 Flexible Stock Plan.***#

10.10 Credit Agreement, dated December 7, 2001, between HEARx Ltd. and Siemens Hearing Instruments, Inc. [10.1].
Filed as an exhibit to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed December 26, 2001, as the exhibit number
indicated in brackets, and incorporated by reference herein.

10.11 Security Agreement, dated December 7, 2001, between HEARX Ltd. and Siemens Hearing Instruments, Inc. [10.2].
Filed as an exhibit to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed December 26, 2001, as the exhibit number
indicated in brackets, and incorporated by reference herein.

10.12 Supply Agreement, dated December 7, 2001, between HEARx Ltd. and Siemens Hearing Instruments, Inc. [10.3].
Filed as an exhibit to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed December 26, 2001, as the exhibit number
indicated in brackets, and incorporated by reference herein.**

10.13 Exchange and Redemption Agreement, dated December 4, 2001, between HEARx Ltd. and Advantage Fund II Ltd.
[10.1]. Filed as an exhibit to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed December 26, 2001, as the exhibit
number indicated in brackets, and incorporated by reference herein.

10.14 Escrow Agreement, dated December 13, 2001, by and among HEARx Ltd., Advantage Fund II Ltd. and American
Stock Transfer & Trust Company, as Escrow Agent. [10.2]. Filed as an exhibit to the Company s Current Report on
Form 8-K, filed December 26, 2001, as the exhibit number indicated in brackets, and incorporated by reference
herein.

10.15 Registration Rights Agreement, dated December 13, 2001, between HEARx Ltd. and Advantage Fund II Ltd.
[10.3]. Filed as an exhibit to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed December 26, 2001, as the exhibit
number indicated in brackets, and incorporated by reference herein.

10.16 Release, dated December 13, 2001, between HEARx Ltd. and Advantage Fund II Ltd. [10.4]. Filed as an exhibit to
the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed December 26, 2001, as the exhibit number indicated in brackets,
and incorporated by reference herein.

10.17 Subscription Agreement, dated January 14, 2002, between HEARx Ltd. and Helix Hearing Care of America
Corp.**%*

21 List of subsidiaries. [21] Filed as an exhibit to the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed March 23, 2001,
as the exhibit number indicated in brackets, and incorporated herein by reference.

*23.1 Consent of Bryan Cave LLP (included in Exhibit 5.1).

232 Consent of Fraser Milner Cosgrain (included in Exhibit 8.2).

233 Consent of BDO Seidman, LLP.

234 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP.

23.5 Consent of Raymond James & Associates, Inc.

23.6 Consent of Ernst & Young Corporate Finance Inc.

23.7 Consent of Yorkton Securities Inc.

24.1 Power of Attorney (included on signature page).***

99.1 Form of Proxy Card for HEARX Ltd.***

99.2 Form of Proxy Card for Helix Hearing Care of America Corp.***
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99.3 Form of Support Agreement among HEARx Ltd., HEARx Canada Inc. and HEARx Acquisition ULC (included as
Annex D to the joint proxy statement/ prospectus).

o To be filed by amendment.
oK HEARX Ltd. has requested confidential treatment for certain portions of this exhibit.
*##%  Previously filed.

# Denotes compensatory plan or arrangement for Company Officer or Director.
(b) Financial Statement Schedules

Schedule IT Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Balance at Balance at
Beginning End
of Period Additions Deductions of Period
December 29, 2001
Allowance for doubtful accounts $212,657 $125,206 $(152,049)(1) $185,814
| | | |
Allowance for sales returns $772,976 $(272,196) $500,780
December 29, 2000
Allowance for doubtful accounts $535,609 $377,500 $(700,452)(1) $212,657
| | | |
Allowance for sales returns $497,412 $275,564 $772,976
December 31, 1999
Allowance for doubtful accounts $588,509 $568,135 $(621,035)(1) $535,609
| | | |
Allowance for sales returns $300,708 $196,704 $497,412

(1) Uncollectible accounts written off, net of recoveries.
(¢) Reports, Opinions or Appraisals

The fairness opinions of Raymond James Associates, Inc., Ernst & Young Corporate Finance Inc. and Yorkton Securities Inc. are included
in the joint proxy statement/prospectus as Appendices G, H and I.

Item 22. Undertakings
(a) HEARX hereby undertakes as follows:
(1) To file, during any period in which offers or sales are being made, a post-effective amendment to this registration statement:
(i) To include any prospectus required by Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act of 1933;

(ii) To reflect in the prospectus any facts or events arising after the effective date of the registration statement (or the most
recent post-effective amendment thereof) which, individually or in the aggregate, represent a fundamental change in the
information set forth in the registration statement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any increase or decrease in volume of securities
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offered (if the total dollar value of securities offered would not exceed that which was registered) and any deviation from the low

or high end of the estimated maximum offering range may be reflected in the form of prospectus filed with the Commission

pursuant to Rule 424(b) if, in the aggregate, the changes in volume and price represent no more than 20 percent change in the

maximum aggregate offering price set forth in the Calculation of Registration Fee table in the effective registration statement;
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(iii) To include any material information with respect to the plan of distribution not previously disclosed in the registration
statement or any material change to such information in the registration statement.

(2) That, for the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each such post-effective amendment shall be
deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall
be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.

(3) To remove from registration by means of a post-effective amendment any of the securities being registered which remain
unsold at the termination of the offering.

(4) If the registrant is a foreign private issuer, to file a post-effective amendment to the registration statement to include any
financial statements required by Item 8.A. of Form 20-F at the start of any delayed offering or throughout a continuous offering.
Financial statements and information otherwise required by Section 10(a)(3) of the Act need not be furnished, provided, that the
registrant includes in the prospectus, by means of a post-effective amendment, financial statements required pursuant to this paragraph
(a)(4) and other information necessary to ensure that all other information in the prospectus is at least as current as the date of those
financial statements. Notwithstanding the foregoing, with respect to registration statements on Form F-3, a post-effective amendment
need not be filed to include financial statements and information required by Section 10(a)(3) of the Act of Rule 3-19 of this chapter if
such financial statements and information are contained in periodic reports filed with or furnished to the Commission by the registrant
pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 that are incorporated by reference in Form F-3.

(b) The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes as follows: that prior to any public reoffering of the securities registered hereunder
through use of a prospectus which is a part of this registration statement, by any person or party who is deemed to be an underwriter within
the meaning of Rule 145(c), the issuer undertakes that such reoffering prospectus will contain the information called for by the applicable
registration form with respect to reofferings by persons who may be deemed underwriters, in addition to the information called for by the
other items of the applicable form.

(c) The registrant undertakes that every prospectus: (i) that is filed pursuant to paragraph (b) immediately preceding, or (ii) that purports
to meet the requirements of Section 10(a)(3) of the Act and is used in connection with an offering of securities subject to Rule 415, will be
filed as a part of an amendment to the registration statement and will not be used until such amendment is effective, and that, for purposes of
determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each such post-effective amendment shall be deemed to be a new registration
statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide
offering thereof.

(d) The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes to respond to requests for information that is incorporated by reference into the
prospectus pursuant to Item 4, 10(b), 11, or 13 of this form, within one business day of receipt of such request, and to send the incorporated
documents by first class mail or other equally prompt means. This includes information contained in documents filed subsequent to the
effective date of the registration statement through the date of responding to the request.

(e) The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes to supply by means of a post-effective amendment all information concerning a
transaction, and the company being acquired involved therein, that was not the subject of and included in the registration statement when it
became effective.

1I-6

Table of Contents 207



Edgar Filing: PROASSURANCE CORP - Form 4

Table of Contents

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant has duly caused this Amendment No. 3 to this registration
statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized in the City of West Palm Beach, State of Florida, on the 2nd

day of April, 2002.

HEARx Ltd.

By /s/ PAUL A. BROWN

Name: Paul A. Brown, M.D.
Title: Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this Amendment No. 3 to this registration statement has been signed by the

following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Name Title

Date

/s/ PAUL A. BROWN Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and
Director

Paul A. Brown, M.D.

/s/ STEPHEN J. HANSBROUGH President, Chief Operating Officer and Director

Stephen J. Hansbrough

/s/ JAMES W. PEKLENK Vice President-Finance and Chief Financial Officer
(principal accounting officer)

James W. Peklenk

% Director

Joseph L. Gitterman, III

* Director

David J. McLachlan

& Director

Thomas W. Archibald

*By: /s/ PAUL A. BROWN

Paul A. Brown,
(Attorney-in-Fact)
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